

Programme Grants for Applied Research

Volume 8 • Issue 2 • January 2020 ISSN 2050-4322

Screening and brief interventions for adolescent alcohol use disorders presenting through emergency departments: a research programme including two RCTs

Paolo Deluca, Simon Coulton, Mohammed Fasihul Alam, Sadie Boniface, Kim Donoghue, Eilish Gilvarry, Eileen Kaner, Ellen Lynch, Ian Maconochie, Paul McArdle, Ruth McGovern, Dorothy Newbury-Birch, Robert Patton, Tracy Pellatt-Higgins, Ceri Phillips, Thomas Phillips, Rhys Pockett, Ian T Russell, John Strang and Colin Drummond



DOI 10.3310/pgfar08020

Screening and brief interventions for adolescent alcohol use disorders presenting through emergency departments: a research programme including two RCTs

Paolo Deluca,^{1*} Simon Coulton,² Mohammed Fasihul Alam,³ Sadie Boniface,¹ Kim Donoghue,¹ Eilish Gilvarry,^{4,5} Eileen Kaner,⁵ Ellen Lynch,⁵ Ian Maconochie,⁶ Paul McArdle,⁴ Ruth McGovern,⁵ Dorothy Newbury-Birch,⁷ Robert Patton,⁸ Tracy Pellatt-Higgins,² Ceri Phillips,⁹ Thomas Phillips,^{1,10} Rhys Pockett,⁹ Ian T Russell,¹¹ John Strang^{1,12} and Colin Drummond^{1,12†}

¹Addictions Department, National Addiction Centre, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, UK ²Centre for Health Services Studies, University of Kent, Canterbury, UK ³Department of Public Health, College of Health Sciences, Qatar University, Qatar ⁴Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK ⁵Institute of Health and Society, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK ⁶Paediatric Emergency Medicine, Imperial College London, London, UK ⁷School of Health and Social Care, Teesside University, Middlesbrough, UK ⁸School of Psychology, University of Surrey, Guildford, UK

⁹Swansea Centre for Health Economics, College of Human and Health Sciences, Swansea University, Swansea, UK

¹⁰Institute for Clinical and Applied Health Research, University of Hull, Hull, UK ¹¹Medical School, Swansea University, Swansea, UK

¹²South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK

*Corresponding author †Chief investigator and senior author

Declared competing interests of authors: Paolo Deluca acknowledges past and current research funding from the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), the Medical Research Council (MRC) and the European Commission. Paolo Deluca is also supported by South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SIaM) and by the NIHR Biomedical Research Centre (BRC) for Mental Health at King's College London and SIaM. Simon Coulton acknowledges past and current research funding as chief investigator and co-investigator from NIHR, Alcohol Research UK, Dunhill Medical Trust, MRC, Lundbeck Ltd (St Albans, UK) and Kent County Council. Mohammed Fasihul Alam acknowledges past and current research funding from

Qatar University Internal Grant, NIHR and Community Pharmacy Wales. Kim Donoghue acknowledges past and current research funding from NIHR. Eilish Gilvarry acknowledges grants from NIHR during the conduct of the study. Eileen Kaner is a senior scientist in the NIHR School of Primary Care Research and NIHR School of Public Health Research as part of Fuse, a UK Clinical Research Collaboration (UKCRC) Centre of Excellence in Translation Public Health Research. Eileen Kaner also acknowledges past and current research funding as chief investigator and co-investigator from NIHR, the MRC Public Health Intervention Development Scheme (PHIND), the Department of Health and Social Care, The British Academy, Public Health England, European Research Area Network on Illicit Drugs (ERANID), Policing Research Partnership, North Yorkshire County Council, the Institute of Local Governance, Alcohol Research UK, MRC, the European Commission, Sunderland Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), the Health Foundation, Research Capability Funding, Diabetes UK and Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. Ian Maconochie acknowledges grants from NIHR during the conduct of the study. Paul McArdle reports grants from NIHR during the conduct of the study. Ruth McGovern acknowledges past and current research from NIHR, Public Health England, North East and North Cumbria, North Yorkshire County Council, ERANID, the Department of Health and Social Care, the Institute of Local Governance, N8 Policing Research Partnership, Alcohol Research UK, The Children's Society, Mental Health Research Network – North East Hub and Sunderland CCG. Dorothy Newbury-Birch acknowledges past and current research funding from Public Health England, North Yorkshire County Council, Healum, Alcohol Research UK, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust, The Children's Foundation, NIHR, MRC PHIND, Forces in Mind Trust, the Joseph Rowntree Foundation, The Children's Society, the European Commission, British Skin Foundation Small Grant and Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. Robert Patton acknowledges past and current research funding from NIHR, Surrey County Council, the Software Sustainability Institute, Alcohol Research UK and the Higher Education Academy. Ceri Phillips acknowledges past and current research funding from the National Institute for Social Care and Health Research, NIHR, United European Gastroenterology and Asthma UK. Thomas Phillips was funded by a NIHR Clinical Doctoral Research Fellowship. Ian T Russell acknowledges grants from NIHR during the conduct of the study and personal fees from Swansea University outside the submitted work. John Strang reports grants and other funding from Martindale Pharma (Ashton Gate, UK), grants and other funding from Mundipharma (Cambridge, UK), and grants and other funding from Braeburn (Plymouth Meeting, PA, USA) outside the submitted work. In addition, John Strang has a patent Euro-Celtique issued and a patent King's College London pending, is supported by the NIHR Biomedical Research Centre for Mental Health at South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London, and is in receipt of a NIHR Senior Investigator Award. He has also worked with a range of governmental and non-governmental organisations and with pharmaceutical companies to seek to identify new or improved treatments from which he and his employer (King's College London) have received honoraria, travel costs and/or consultancy payments. This includes work with, during the past 3 years, Martindale, Reckitt Benckiser/Indivior (Slough, UK), Mundipharma and Braeburn/Medpace (Cincinnati, OH, USA) and trial medication supply from iGen Networks Corp. (Las Vegas, NV, USA) (iGen/Atral-Cipan, Castanheira do Ribatejo, Portugal). His employer, King's College London, has registered intellectual property on a novel buccal naloxone formulation, and he has also been named in a patent registration by a pharmaceutical company as inventor of a concentrated nasal naloxone spray. John Strang also acknowledges past and current research funding as chief investigator and co-investigator from NIHR, Mundipharma, MRC, The Pilgrim Trust, Martindale Pharma, the Alcohol and Education Research Council, the Institute of Social Psychiatry and the University of London Central Research Fund. Colin Drummond is partly funded by the NIHR Biomedical Research Centre for Mental Health at SLaM and King's College London, and partly funded by the NIHR Collaborations for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care South London at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. In addition, Colin Drummond is in receipt of a NIHR Senior Investigator Award. Colin Drummond acknowledges past and current research funding as chief investigator and co-investigator from NIHR, MRC, Guy's and St Thomas' Charity, Nuffield Foundation, European Union Directorate-General for Justice and Consumers (JUST), Alcohol Research UK, NHS England, the Department of Health Policy Research Programme, World Health Organization, the European Commission and the Alcohol Education and Research Council.

Published January 2020 DOI: 10.3310/pgfar08020

This report should be referenced as follows:

Deluca P, Coulton S, Alam MF, Boniface S, Donoghue K, Gilvarry E, *et al.* Screening and brief interventions for adolescent alcohol use disorders presenting through emergency departments: a research programme including two RCTs. *Programme Grants Appl Res* 2020;**8**(2).

Programme Grants for Applied Research

ISSN 2050-4322 (Print)

ISSN 2050-4330 (Online)

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

The full PGfAR archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/pgfar. Print-on-demand copies can be purchased from the report pages of the NIHR Journals Library website: www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Criteria for inclusion in the Programme Grants for Applied Research journal

Reports are published in *Programme Grants for Applied Research* (PGfAR) if (1) they have resulted from work for the PGfAR programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

Programme Grants for Applied Research programme

The Programme Grants for Applied Research (PGfAR) programme, part of the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), was set up in 2006 to produce independent research findings that will have practical application for the benefit of patients and the NHS in the relatively near future. The Programme is managed by the NIHR Central Commissioning Facility (CCF) with strategic input from the Programme Director.

The programme is a national response mode funding scheme that aims to provide evidence to improve health outcomes in England through promotion of health, prevention of ill health, and optimal disease management (including safety and quality), with particular emphasis on conditions causing significant disease burden.

For more information about the PGfAR programme please visit the website: http://www.nihr.ac.uk/funding/programme-grants-for-applied-research.htm

This report

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by PGfAR as project number RP-PG-0609-10162. The contractual start date was in June 2011. The final report began editorial review in June 2017 and was accepted for publication in February 2019. As the funder, the PGfAR programme agreed the research questions and study designs in advance with the investigators. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The PGfAR editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' report and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the final report document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this report.

This report presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, CCF, NETSCC, PGfAR or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, NETSCC, the PGfAR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Prepress Projects Ltd, Perth, Scotland (www.prepress-projects.co.uk).

NIHR Journals Library Editor-in-Chief

Professor Ken Stein Professor of Public Health, University of Exeter Medical School, UK

NIHR Journals Library Editors

Professor John Powell Chair of HTA and EME Editorial Board and Editor-in-Chief of HTA and EME journals. Consultant Clinical Adviser, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE), UK, and Senior Clinical Researcher, Nuffield Department of Primary Care Health Sciences, University of Oxford, UK

Professor Andrée Le May Chair of NIHR Journals Library Editorial Group (HS&DR, PGfAR, PHR journals) and Editor-in-Chief of HS&DR, PGfAR, PHR journals

Professor Matthias Beck Professor of Management, Cork University Business School, Department of Management and Marketing, University College Cork, Ireland

Dr Tessa Crilly Director, Crystal Blue Consulting Ltd, UK

Dr Eugenia Cronin Senior Scientific Advisor, Wessex Institute, UK

Dr Peter Davidson Consultant Advisor, Wessex Institute, University of Southampton, UK

Ms Tara Lamont Director, NIHR Dissemination Centre, UK

Dr Catriona McDaid Senior Research Fellow, York Trials Unit, Department of Health Sciences, University of York, UK

Professor William McGuire Professor of Child Health, Hull York Medical School, University of York, UK

Professor Geoffrey Meads Professor of Wellbeing Research, University of Winchester, UK

Professor John Norrie Chair in Medical Statistics, University of Edinburgh, UK

Professor James Raftery Professor of Health Technology Assessment, Wessex Institute, Faculty of Medicine, University of Southampton, UK

Dr Rob Riemsma Reviews Manager, Kleijnen Systematic Reviews Ltd, UK

Professor Helen Roberts Professor of Child Health Research, UCL Great Ormond Street Institute of Child Health, UK

Professor Jonathan Ross Professor of Sexual Health and HIV, University Hospital Birmingham, UK

Professor Helen Snooks Professor of Health Services Research, Institute of Life Science, College of Medicine, Swansea University, UK

Professor Ken Stein Professor of Public Health, University of Exeter Medical School, UK

Professor Jim Thornton Professor of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, University of Nottingham, UK

Professor Martin Underwood Warwick Clinical Trials Unit, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, UK

Please visit the website for a list of editors: www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/about/editors

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

Abstract

Screening and brief interventions for adolescent alcohol use disorders presenting through emergency departments: a research programme including two RCTs

Paolo Deluca,^{1*} Simon Coulton,² Mohammed Fasihul Alam,³ Sadie Boniface,¹ Kim Donoghue,¹ Eilish Gilvarry,^{4,5} Eileen Kaner,⁵ Ellen Lynch,⁵ Ian Maconochie,⁶ Paul McArdle,⁴ Ruth McGovern,⁵ Dorothy Newbury-Birch,⁷ Robert Patton,⁸ Tracy Pellatt-Higgins,² Ceri Phillips,⁹ Thomas Phillips,^{1,10} Rhys Pockett,⁹ Ian T Russell,¹¹ John Strang^{1,12} and Colin Drummond^{1,12†}

 ¹Addictions Department, National Addiction Centre, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, UK
²Centre for Health Services Studies, University of Kent, Canterbury, UK
³Department of Public Health, College of Health Sciences, Qatar University, Qatar
⁴Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK
⁵Institute of Health and Society, Newcastle University, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK
⁶Paediatric Emergency Medicine, Imperial College London, London, UK
⁷School of Health and Social Care, Teesside University, Middlesbrough, UK
⁸School of Psychology, University of Surrey, Guildford, UK
⁹Swansea Centre for Health Economics, College of Human and Health Sciences, Swansea University, Swansea, UK
¹⁰Institute for Clinical and Applied Health Research, University of Hull, Hull, UK
¹¹Medical School, Swansea University, Swansea, UK
¹²South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK

*Corresponding author paolo.deluca@kcl.ac.uk †Chief investigator and senior author

Background: Alcohol consumption and related harm increase steeply from the ages of 12–20 years. Adolescents in the UK are among the heaviest drinkers in Europe. Excessive drinking in adolescents is associated with increased risk of accidents, injuries, self-harm, unprotected or regretted sex, violence and disorder, poisoning and accidental death. However, there is lack of clear evidence for the most clinically effective and cost-effective screening and brief interventions for reducing or preventing alcohol consumption in adolescents attending emergency departments (EDs).

Objectives: To estimate the distribution of alcohol consumption, alcohol-related problems and alcohol use disorders in adolescents attending EDs; to develop age-appropriate alcohol screening and brief intervention tools; and to evaluate the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of these interventions.

Design: The research has been conducted in three linked stages: (1) a prevalence study, (2) intervention development and (3) two linked randomised controlled trials (RCTs).

Setting: Twelve EDs in England (London, North East, and Yorkshire and The Humber).

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Participants: A total of 5376 participants in the prevalence study [mean age 13.0 years, standard deviation (SD) 2.0 years; 46.2% female] and 1640 participants in the two linked RCTs (mean age 15.6 years, SD 1.0 years; 50.7% female).

Interventions: Personalised feedback and brief advice (PFBA) and personalised feedback plus electronic brief intervention (eBI), compared with alcohol screening alone. These age-appropriate alcohol interventions were developed in collaboration with the target audience through a series of focus groups and evaluations during stage 2 of the research programme and following two literature reviews.

Main outcome measures: Total alcohol consumed in standard UK units (1 unit = 8 g of ethanol) over the previous 3 months at 12-month follow-up, assessed using the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test, Consumption (3 items) (AUDIT-C).

Results: In the prevalence study, 2112 participants (39.5%) reported having had a drink of alcohol that was more than a sip in their lifetime, with prevalence increasing steadily with age and reaching 89.5% at the age of 17 years. The prevalence of at-risk alcohol consumption was 15% [95% confidence interval (CI) 14% to 16%] and the optimum cut-off point of the AUDIT-C in identifying at-risk drinking was \geq 3. Associations of alcohol consumption and early onset of drinking with poorer health and social functioning were also found. In the RCT, the analysis of the primary outcome (average weekly alcohol consumption at month 12) identified no significant differences in effect between the three groups in both trials. In the high-risk drinking trial, the mean difference compared with control was 0.57 (95% CI –0.36 to 1.70) for PFBA and 0.19 (95% CI –0.71 to 1.30) for eBI. In the low-risk drinking trial, the mean difference compared with control was 0.03 (95% CI –0.07 to 0.13) for PFBA and 0.01 (95% CI –0.10 to 0.11) for eBI. The health economic analysis showed that eBI and PFBA were not more cost-effective than screening alone.

Conclusions: The ED can offer an opportunity for the identification of at-risk alcohol use in adolescents. A simple, short, self-completed screening instrument, the AUDIT-C, is an effective tool for identifying adolescents who are at risk of alcohol-related problems. Associations of alcohol consumption and earlier onset of drinking with poorer health and social functioning were observed in the prevalence study. The trials were feasible to implement and exceeded the recruitment target and minimum follow-up rates. However, PFBA and eBI were not found to be more effective than screening alone in reducing or preventing alcohol consumption in 14- to 17-year-olds attending EDs.

Limitations and future work: Only one-third of participants engaged with the application program; this is likely to have limited the effect of the intervention. We recommend that future research should focus on methods to maximise engagement with digital interventions and evaluate the effect of such engagement on clinical outcomes.

Trial registration: Current Controlled Trials ISRCTN45300218.

Funding: This project was funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Programme Grants for Applied Research programme and will be published in full in *Programme Grants for Applied Research*; Vol. 8, No. 2. See the NIHR Journals Library website for further project information.

Contents

List of tables	xi
List of figures	xiii
List of abbreviations	xv
Plain English summary	xvii
Scientific summary	xix
SYNOPSIS Setting the scene Alcohol screening Alcohol brief interventions in health settings Summary	1 1 2 3
Work package 1: screening prevalence study of alcohol consumption and alcohol use disorders in adolescents aged 10–17 years attending emergency departments Introduction Aims Methods Patient and public involvement in work package 1 iPad data collection tool Participants Procedure Measures Results Characteristics analysis of screening tools (aim 1) Prevalence of alcohol consumption (aim 2) Relationship between alcohol consumption and harm (aim 3) Discussion	5 5 6 6 8 8 10 10 11
Work package 2: exploratory modelling of the interventions Systematic review of electronic alcohol interventions A review of alcohol screening and brief interventions for adolescents Patient and public involvement in work package 2	13 13 14 15
Work package 3: linked randomised controlled trials of face-to-face and electronic brief intervention methods to prevent alcohol-related harm in young people aged 14–17 years presenting to emergency departments Background Objectives <i>Primary objective</i> <i>Secondary objectives</i> Methods Study setting and participants	17 17 18 18 18 18 18

Eligibility criteria Inclusion criteria	18 19
Exclusion criteria	19
Consent procedure	19
Screening and baseline assessment	20
Randomisation	22
Interventions	22
Screening only group: treatment as usual	22
Personalised feedback and brief advice	22
Personalised feedback plus a smartphone- or web-based brief intervention	22
Intervention fidelity	25
Follow-up assessments	26
Outcome measures	26
Primary outcome measure	26
Secondary outcome measures	28
Economic outcome measures	28
Process outcome measures	20
Analysis	20
Sample size calculation	20
	20
Cost offortivonoss analysis	29
Cost-effectiveness analysis	20
Sensitivity analysis	30
Valuation of resource use	30
	30
INHS and non-INHS COSTS	30
Missing data	30
Results	31
Low-risk drinkers trial	31
High-risk drinkers trial	36
Discussion	41
Exploring adolescent perspectives on participation in alcohol intervention research based in emergency care (the SIPS Junior trials): a qualitative study	43
Overall conclusions	47
Recommendations for future research	4 7 /18
Implication for practice	40 /10
	49
Dissemination	49
Acknowledgements	51
References	57
Appendix 1 Unpublished tables	69
Appendix 2 Published research content	71
Appendix 2 Published research content Appendix 3 Incremental cost-effectiveness ratios tables	71 89

List of tables

TABLE 1 Demographic and baseline outcomes by allocated group in the low-risk trial	33
TABLE 2 Adjusted least mean squares and 95% CI for outcomes at 6 and12 months by allocated group in the low-risk trial	34
TABLE 3 Adjusted least mean squares difference vs. control and 95% CI foroutcomes at 6 and 12 months by allocated group in the low-risk trial	34
TABLE 4 Results of the cost-effectiveness analysis, societal perspective,in the low-risk trial	35
TABLE 5 Results of the cost-effectiveness analysis, NHS/PSS perspective, in the low-risk trial	35
TABLE 6 Results of the PSA, societal perspective, in the low-risk trial	35
TABLE 7 Results of the PSA, NHS/PSS perspective, in the low-risk trial	35
TABLE 8 Demographic and baseline outcomes by allocated group in the high-risk trial	36
TABLE 9 Adjusted least mean squares and 95% CI for outcomes at 6 and12 months by allocated group in the high-risk trial	37
TABLE 10 Adjusted differences from control and 95% Cls for outcomes by allocated group	38
TABLE 11 Results of bootstrapped cost-effectiveness analysis from societal perspective	38
TABLE 12 Results of bootstrapped cost-effectiveness analysis from NHS/PSS perspective	39
TABLE 13 Results of the PSA, societal perspective, in the high-risk trial	39
TABLE 14 Results of the PSA, NHS/PSS perspective, in the high-risk trial	40
TABLE 15 Exploratory prognostic linear regression of pre-randomisationfactors on mean weekly alcohol consumption at month 12	69
TABLE 16 Details of costs	89
TABLE 17 Incremental cost-effectiveness ratios for interventions vs. control:low-risk population	93
TABLE 18 Incremental cost-effectiveness ratios for interventions vs. control:high-risk population	93

List of figures

FIGURE 1 Screenshot of the data collection app developed for the programme and available from the authors	7
FIGURE 2 Flow of research questions	9
FIGURE 3 Percentage of participants who had a drink of alcohol that was more than a sip in their lifetime by current age	11
FIGURE 4 Decision tree for consent	20
FIGURE 5 Baseline sequence	21
FIGURE 6 Brief advice leaflet	23
FIGURE 7 SIPS Jr Street app with full view of East and West Streets	24
FIGURE 8 List of tools and order of presentation at 6-month follow-up	26
FIGURE 9 List of tools and order of presentation at 12-month follow-up	27
FIGURE 10 The CONSORT flow diagram of the linked trials	32
FIGURE 11 Cost-effectiveness plane: PFBA vs. control, societal perspective, in the high-risk trial	39
FIGURE 12 Cost-effectiveness plane: PFBA vs. control, NHS/PSS perspective, in the high-risk trial	40

List of abbreviations

A&E	accident and emergency	MI	motivational interviewing
арр	application program	MINI-KID	Mini International Neuropsychiatric
AUD	alcohol use disorder		Interview for Children and Adolescents
AUDIT	Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test	NICE	National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
AUDIT-C	Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test, Consumption (3 items)	OR	odds ratio
CI	confidence interval	PFBA	personalised feedback and brief advice
CRAFFT	Car, Relax, Alone, Forget, Friends, Trouble	PMG	Programme Management Group
CSRI	Client Service Receipt Inventory	PSA	probabilistic sensitivity analysis
eBl	electronic brief intervention	PSS	Personal and Social Services
ED	emergency department	QALY	quality-adjusted life-year
EO-5D-5L	EuroOol-5 Dimensions, five-level	RCT	randomised controlled trial
	version	SBI	screening and brief intervention
eSBI	electronic screening and brief	SD	standard deviation
	intervention	SE	standard error
ESPAD	European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs	SIPS	Screening and Intervention to Promote Sensible drinking
GP	general practitioner	SMS	short message service
ICD-10	International Classification of Diseases, Tenth Edition	WTP	willingness to pay
ICER	incremental cost-effectiveness ratio		

Plain English summary

A dolescents in the UK are among the heaviest-drinking adolescents in Europe. Drinking in adolescence is associated with alcohol-related harms, and early drinking is linked to intellectual impairment and more serious alcohol problems later on in life.

This research was conducted in three stages and targeted adolescents presenting to emergency departments to identify the size of the problem and develop and evaluate age-appropriate interventions.

First, we surveyed 5000 adolescents attending emergency departments, 40% of whom had drunk more than a sip of alcohol in their lifetime. Drinking earlier was linked to poorer health, and to alcohol and social problems. We found that a short questionnaire can identify adolescents who are drinking at risky levels.

Second, we reviewed published research and developed interventions. We met adolescents and parents to design the third stage of our research.

We then did two studies: (1) a study among adolescents drinking little who were aiming to delay starting drinking and (2) a study among adolescents drinking more who were aiming to reduce their consumption. Participants were allocated to one of three groups by chance: (1) screening only and care as usual, (2) feedback and brief alcohol advice, and (3) feedback and an application program with alcohol advice.

We successfully ran both studies and exceeded targets for recruitment and follow-up. However, we found that neither of our interventions was effective in reducing alcohol consumption in adolescents drinking high quantities of alcohol, or in delaying drinking in those drinking less or not drinking, compared with screening alone. Moreover, these interventions did not represent value for money compared with screening alone.

We later interviewed adolescents in the studies to explore their understanding and experience of taking part. Adolescents felt that they should know more about the risks of alcohol, that the advice was helpful and that emergency departments were a useful setting.

Scientific summary

Background

Alcohol consumption is a major public health concern. Although the main burden of chronic alcoholrelated disease is in adults, its foundations often lie in adolescence. Alcohol consumption and related harm increase steeply from the age of 12 years, and although the proportion of young people in England aged between 11 and 15 years who reported that they had drunk alcohol had decreased in the last 30 years, the mean amount consumed by those who drank doubled. About 10% of 11- to 15-year-olds and 33% of 15- to 16-year-olds in England had reported alcohol intoxication in the past month.

Alcohol use and alcohol use disorders (AUDs) are relatively uncommon in early adolescence. Nevertheless, alcohol has a disproportionate effect on younger adolescents, for example by predisposing them to alcohol dependence in later life and damage to the developing brain. In middle adolescence (ages 15–17 years), binge drinking emerges. Although binge drinking does not necessarily meet the criteria for an AUD, it is associated with an increased risk of unprotected or regretted sexual activity, criminal and disorderly behaviour, suicidality and self-harm, injury, drink driving, alcohol poisoning and accidental death.

In 2009, the Chief Medical Officer for England provided recommendations on alcohol consumption in young people based on an evidence review (Donaldson L. *Guidance on the Consumption of Alcohol by Children and Young People*. London: Department of Health and Social Care; 2009). These recommendations stated that children should abstain from alcohol before the age of 15 years and that 15- to 17-year-olds should not drink, but, if they do drink, then they should consume no more than the recommended limits for adults (currently 14 units per week).

Alcohol screening and brief interventions in health settings

Opportunistic alcohol screening and brief interventions (SBIs) in emergency departments (EDs) capitalise on the 'teachable moment' when a connection can be made between alcohol consumption and ED attendance. SBIs in EDs have shown efficacy in adults and adolescents, and evidence of cost-effectiveness in adults. However, although there has been an increase in SBIs for adults, adolescents remain a comparatively neglected group.

Several alcohol screening methods have been developed in the USA but not evaluated in the UK. Questionnaires were found to perform better than blood markers or breath alcohol concentration in all age groups. However, most of these had low sensitivity and specificity and are therefore suboptimal for effective screening.

The validity of alcohol screening methods in younger adolescents is also unclear. Existing approaches do not sufficiently take account of the age and developmental stage of adolescents.

Moreover, a systematic review of brief alcohol interventions in young people attending health settings identified nine randomised controlled trials (RCTs) between 1999 and 2008. Eight were based in the USA and one was based in Australia. Six trials tested brief interventions based on one or two sessions of motivational interviewing (MI) that lasted between 20 and 45 minutes. One trial tested a more intensive programme of four MI sessions over 1 month. Two studies used information technology to deliver brief interventions, one using an audio programme in primary care and the other using an interactive computer program in a minor injury unit.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: INIRH Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Five trials reported significant positive effects of brief interventions on a range of alcohol consumption measures, whereas three trials reported null effects after brief interventions. One trial reported an increase in alcohol use and binge drinking among brief intervention subjects, which is a possible adverse effect.

Therefore, there is a need to develop more effective alcohol screening tools and interventions for adolescents in the ED that are age appropriate and cover a wider range of alcohol consumption and alcohol-related problems than do existing methods. Although evidence suggests that brief interventions may be beneficial for adolescents, particularly in EDs, there is a clear need for a UK trial to examine this further.

This research programme was designed to address these key gaps in the evidence base for the most clinically effective and cost-effective SBIs for at-risk adolescent heavy drinkers, and prevent alcohol uptake or increased alcohol consumption in low-risk adolescents attending EDs.

Work package 1: prevalence study of alcohol consumption and alcohol use disorders in adolescents aged 10–17 years attending emergency departments

This work package investigated the prevalence of alcohol consumption in adolescents presenting to EDs and the association between that consumption, age at onset, and health and social behaviours. In addition, we assessed the diagnostic performance of brief screening tools.

Methods

We included 5376 consecutive attenders, aged 10–17 years, at 10 EDs. We collected information on alcohol use, alcohol-related health and social consequences, general health and social functioning, and quality of life.

Results

Nearly 40% of adolescents reported that their consumption of alcohol was more than a sip in their lifetime. First alcohol consumption before the age of 15 years was associated with tobacco use [odds ratio (OR) 2.8, 95% confidence interval (CI) 1.8 to 4.2; p < 0.001], lower quality of life (OR 1.5, 95% CI 0.5 to 2.6; p = 0.003) and diagnosis of AUD (OR 2.4, 95% CI 1.3 to 4.4; p = 0.002). It was also associated with impaired general social functioning [presence of conduct disorder (OR 4.5, 95% CI 1.8 to 11.4; p < 0.001) and hyperactivity (OR 2.6, 95% CI 1.4 to 4.8; p < 0.001)], alcohol-related health and social consequences [accidents (OR 1.8, 95% CI 1.0 to 3.2; p = 0.046), and problems with parents (OR 4.4, 95% CI 1.3 to 15.4; p = 0.017), school (OR 3.7, 95% CI 1.2 to 11.3; p = 0.0117) or police (OR 13.5, 95% CI 1.7 to 102.4; p = 0.012)].

We tested the screening properties of the questionnaire against the standard (Timeline Followback) criteria for at-risk drinking, heavy episodic alcohol consumption and the *International Classification of Diseases*, Tenth Edition (ICD-10), for hazardous alcohol use and dependence. We identified appropriate cut-off points for each instrument. An Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test, Consumption (3 items) (AUDIT-C) score of \geq 3 was the optimal cut-off point for at-risk drinking (sensitivity 0.89, 95% CI 0.89 to 0.91; specificity 0.97, 95% CI 0.96 to 0.97), monthly episodic alcohol use (sensitivity 0.76, 95% CI 0.73 to 0.80; specificity 0.98, 95% CI 0.97 to 0.98) and alcohol abuse (sensitivity 0.91, 95% CI 0.85 to 0.95; specificity 0.90, 95% CI 0.88 to 0.91). A score of 7 for the full Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test was considered the optimal cut-off point for identifying alcohol dependence (sensitivity 0.96, 95% CI 0.89 to 0.99; specificity 0.90, 95% CI 0.88 to 0.91).

Conclusions

We found associations of alcohol consumption and earlier onset of drinking with poorer health and social functioning. EDs offer opportunities to identify at-risk alcohol use in adolescents. A simple, short, self-completed screening instrument, the AUDIT-C, is an effective tool for identifying adolescents who are at risk of alcohol-related problems, or engage in monthly heavy episodic alcohol use or in harmful alcohol use, according to the ICD-10 criteria. A score of 7 on the AUDIT-C is effective in identifying adolescents who are alcohol dependent.

Work package 2: exploratory modelling of the interventions

This work package developed age-appropriate alcohol interventions in collaboration with the target audience through a series of focus groups and evaluations.

Personalised feedback and brief advice

The personalised feedback and brief advice (PFBA) intervention is structured brief advice that takes approximately 5 minutes to deliver. It is based on an advice leaflet from Screening and Intervention to Promote Sensible drinking (SIPS), Brief Advice About Alcohol Risk, and was adapted for the target age group in this study. The advice covers recommended levels of alcohol consumption for young people; summarises the screening test results and their meaning; provides normative comparative information on prevalence rates of high- and low-risk drinking in young people; summarises the risks of drinking and highlights the benefits of stopping or reducing alcohol consumption; outlines strategies that the young person might employ to help stop or reduce alcohol consumption; and indicates where to obtain further help if they are unsuccessful or need more support.

Electronic brief intervention based on smartphone or web

The electronic brief intervention (eBI) smartphone intervention is an offline-capable mobile web application that works on a variety of platforms, but it was optimised for recent iPhone (Apple Inc., Cupertino, CA, USA) and Android (Google Inc., Mountain View, CA, USA) phones. It has been developed using the concept of gamification so that users can navigate, explore, learn facts and figures about alcohol, receive personalised feedback and set goals in an engaging format. The content adapts to provide the most pertinent information and advice for high- or low-risk drinkers. Game components of the web application supported high-risk drinkers to reduce or stop their alcohol consumption and low-risk users to maintain abstinence or low-risk drinking.

Work package 3: linked randomised controlled trials of face-to-face and electronic brief intervention methods to prevent alcohol-related harm in young people aged 14–17 years presenting to emergency departments

In work package 3, we conducted two linked RCTs to evaluate the clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of PFBA and eBI (the two alcohol interventions described above), compared with screening alone, in 14- to 17-year-olds attending 10 EDs in England. One trial focused on at-risk adolescent drinkers (AUDIT-C score of \geq 3) and the other focused on abstinent or low-risk drinkers (AUDIT-C score of < 3). Our primary (null) hypothesis was similar for both trials: PFBA and personalised feedback plus eBI are as effective as screening alone in reducing or preventing alcohol consumption, in standard UK units (1 unit = 8 g of ethanol), over the past 3 months, at 12 months after randomisation, as measured with the AUDIT-C. Our secondary (null) hypothesis for related health economics states that PFBA and eBI are as cost-effective as screening alone.

Methods

We undertook participant recruitment, baseline data collection, randomisation, intervention delivery and follow-up electronically via an ad hoc, secure computer tablet application developed as part of this programme. We recruited 1639 participants into the trials from 10 EDs: 756 high-risk drinkers and 883 low-risk drinkers or abstainers. Follow-up at 6 and 12 months was 82.9% and 73.0%, respectively.

Results

The mean age of participants was 16.1 [standard deviation (SD) 0.9] years in the high-risk study and 15.2 (SD 1.0) years in the low-risk study. There was a similar proportion of male and female participants, with 50.7% female overall. Primary analysis employed an intention-to-treat approach, in which participants were allocated as members of their allocated group irrespective of the treatment received. Analysis of the primary outcome, namely average weekly alcohol consumption in standard UK units (1 unit = 8 g of ethanol) at month 12, was conducted using analysis of covariance, adjusting for baseline values, age and gender. There were no significant differences between the three groups in either trial: in the high-risk trial, the mean difference compared with control was 0.57 (95% CI –0.36 to 1.70) for PFBA and 0.19 (95% CI –0.71 to 1.30) for eBI; in the low risk trial, the mean difference compared with control was 0.57 (95% CI –0.36 to 1.70) for PFBA and 0.19 (95% CI –0.71 to 0.13) for PFBA and 0.01 (95% CI –0.10 to 0.11) for eBI. No significant interactions were observed between baseline alcohol consumption and allocated intervention. Alcohol consumption at 12 months was predicted at baseline by higher alcohol consumption, younger age at first drink, older age, being female, greater positive alcohol expectancy and greater alcohol-related problems. Health economic analysis supported the null hypothesis that neither PFBA nor eBI is more cost-effective than screening alone in both trials.

Conclusions

Findings from this research indicate that both face-to-face and electronic interventions were neither more effective nor more cost-effective than screening alone in reducing or preventing alcohol consumption in 14- to 17-year-olds attending EDs.

Qualitative study

Once follow-up was completed for all trials, we interviewed a sample of participating adolescents to explore their understanding of the study, as well as their views about the information and advice they received.

Methods

We interviewed 27 adolescents aged 14–17 years. Audio-recorded interviews were transcribed verbatim and thematically analysed, guided by four ethical principles (autonomy, beneficence, non-maleficence and justice).

Results

Participants were broadly positive about their experience of being approached and involved in the research process, and the emergency care context was felt to be acceptable. Participants reported a 'need to know' about risks from alcohol consumption, as this behaviour was seen to be common among young people. However, the presence of a primary caregiver during screening procedures could influence a young person's disclosure about alcohol use. The majority of participants demonstrated a high degree of moral agency, that is, an awareness and capacity to be responsible for actions related to their own health and well-being, and this extended to providing consent, on their own behalf, to participate in the relevant clinical trial.

Conclusions

There is limited evidence regarding effective behaviour change interventions for young people attending health services owing to concerns about involving vulnerable adolescents in research. However, even relatively young adolescents reported the capacity to provide informed consent and showed a clear interest in research that was relevant to them and had potential to benefit young people like them.

Discussion

The results of both the low- and the high-risk trials showed that we were able to recruit a sufficient number of participants to each trial to meet our target. We were also able to exceed the minimum follow-up targets in both trials. However, in both trials no significant differences in outcome were found between groups on either primary or secondary outcome measures. This supported the null hypothesis that PFBA and eBI are no more effective in preventing or reducing alcohol consumption in either low- or high-risk drinkers than screening alone.

In both trials, we found that engagement with the eBI was low among participants randomised to eBI. Only one-third of participants engaged with the eBI platform after leaving the ED. This may have limited the impact of the eBI compared with the control intervention. However, as these were pragmatic trials, this is likely to be the level of engagement expected in the typical patient recruited from an ED.

Low application program (app) usage or engagement is a common issue. The vast majority of apps, and other online interventions, are not used 1 month after they are downloaded. We also know that patients are less likely to engage in extended interventions when the onus to engage is on them.

A large proportion of the literature based on eBI has focused on the provision of websites, as opposed to smartphone apps. Arguably, the most important problem with developing an effective eBI app is engaging participants enough for them to find it useful.

Further research should explore strategies to improve engagement with the intervention.

Patient and public involvement

We worked closely with the British Youth Council and the Family and Parenting Institute, which facilitated focus group workshops in London and Newcastle. About 150 members of our target age group contributed to both methodology and materials. This activity changed our screening and intervention, notably the use of tablet computers for consent and data collection, and the design of specific materials, notably our PFBA brief advice leaflet and SIPS City app (version 2.1, King's College London, London, UK). We now maintain a database of young people interested in taking this work forward, whom we intend to engage in disseminating study findings.

Overall conclusions

This research programme was designed to address key gaps in the evidence base for the most clinically effective and cost-effective SBIs for adolescents attending EDs. The research has advanced our understanding of the nature and prevalence of AUDs in adolescents, and provided a firm foundation for future research to improve care for this population. We established the prevalence of AUDs and consequences of drinking in young people attending EDs using validated research tools. We developed age-appropriate and acceptable interventions for this population, in partnerships with national and local organisations, and tested them in two linked randomised trials.

Trial registration

This trial is registered as ISRCTN45300218.

Funding

This project was funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Programme Grants for Applied Research programme and will be published in full in *Programme Grants for Applied Research*; Vol. 8, No. 2. See the NIHR Journals Library website for further project information.

SYNOPSIS

Setting the scene

The excessive consumption of alcohol is a major global public health issue,¹ and, in Europe, alcohol accounted for 6.5% of deaths and 11.6% of disability-adjusted life-years in 2004.² Although the main burden of chronic alcohol-related disease is in adults, its foundations often lie in adolescence.³ The proportion of young people in England aged between 11 and 15 years who reported that they had drunk alcohol decreased from 62% to 54% between 1988 and 2007, but the mean amount consumed by those who drank doubled (from 6.4 to 12.7 units of alcohol per week) between 1994 and 2007.⁴ About 10% of 11- to 15-year-olds and 33% of 15- to 16-year-olds in England report alcohol intoxication in the past month.^{5,6} Adolescents in the UK are now among the heaviest drinkers in Europe.⁶ The Chief Medical Officer for England provided recommendations on alcohol consumption in young people in 2009,⁷ based on an evidence review.⁸ These advise that children abstain from alcohol before the age of 15 years and that 15- to 17-year-olds should not drink, but, if they do drink, then they should consume no more than the recommended limits for adults (currently 14 units per week).⁷

Alcohol consumption and related harm increase steeply from the age of 12 to 20 years.⁹ In early adolescence, alcohol use and alcohol use disorders (AUDs) (alcohol abuse, harmful alcohol use and alcohol dependence) are relatively uncommon. However, alcohol has a disproportionate effect on younger adolescents, for example by predisposing them to alcohol dependence in later life^{10,11} and damage to the developing brain.¹² In middle adolescence (ages 15–17 years), binge drinking emerges. Although binge drinking does not necessarily meet the criteria for AUDs, it is associated with increased risk of unprotected or regretted sexual activity, criminal and disorderly behaviour, suicidality and self-harm, injury, drink driving, alcohol poisoning and accidental death.^{6,13–16}

Alcohol screening

Opportunistic alcohol screening and brief interventions (SBIs) in emergency departments (EDs) capitalise on the 'teachable moment' when a connection can be made between alcohol consumption and ED attendance.^{17–20} Alcohol SBI in EDs has shown efficacy in adults²⁰ and adolescents,^{17,18,21} with evidence of cost-effectiveness in adults.²² Over the past 15 years, the World Health Organization, the US Surgeon General, the American Medical Association and the American Academy of Pediatrics have called for practitioners to carry out SBIs for adolescent drinkers.^{23–26} The alcohol strategies for both England and Scotland identify adolescents as a key target group in which to reduce alcohol consumption and related harm.^{27,28} However, although there has been an increase in alcohol SBIs for adults, adolescents remain a neglected group. A recent audit of EDs in Scotland found that only 5% of alcohol-related attenders aged < 18 years receive an alcohol intervention before discharge, and that ED staff focus more on those young people presenting with acute intoxication or self-harm.²⁹ Of the 12 EDs in the north-east of England and London approached during our research programme, none used routine alcohol screening in 10- to 17-year-olds and only three did so in adults.

Several alcohol screening methods have been developed in the USA but have not been evaluated in the UK. A recent systematic review of alcohol SBIs in young people (aged 10–17 years) and adults (aged \geq 18 years), conducted for the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE),³⁰ examined 51 studies of alcohol screening. Questionnaires were found to perform better than blood markers or breath alcohol concentration in all age groups. In adolescents ,the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) questionnaire was found to have greater sensitivity and specificity than other questionnaires, including CAGE (Cut Down, Annoyed, Guilty, Eye Opener), TWEAK (Tolerance, Worried, Eye-opener, Amnesia, K/Cut Down),

CRAFFT (Car, Relax, Alone, Forget, Friends, Trouble), RAPS4-QF (Rapid Alcohol Problems Screen – Quantity Frequency), FAST (Fast Alcohol Screening Test), RUFT (Cut-Riding, Unable, Family/Friends, Trouble, Cut down) and POSIT (Problem Oriented Screening Instrument for Teenagers). AUDIT sensitivities for adolescents range from 54% to 87% and specificities range from 65% to 97%.³¹ However, the majority were at the lower end of these ranges and are therefore suboptimal for effective screening.

Additional shortcomings of existing alcohol screening methods for adolescents have been identified.³¹ Existing approaches do not sufficiently take into account the age and developmental stage of adolescents. Any alcohol consumption under 15 years of age is of concern, whereas the identification of AUDs is more relevant in older adolescents. There is therefore a need for screening methods that are sensitive to the developmental stage of the adolescent to maximise opportunities for intervention. Alcohol screening has been mostly studied in older adolescents and young adults of college age (18–24 years). Therefore, the validity of alcohol screening methods in younger adolescents is unclear. Questionnaires such as the AUDIT may be too lengthy (10 items) to implement in busy EDs, pointing to the need for briefer tools for routine clinical practice. Methods to increase compliance, particularly by younger adolescents, are also needed. The use of computer screening and interviewing adolescents confidentially and separately from parents has shown some promise in the USA.^{32,33}

Alcohol brief interventions in health settings

Several systematic reviews have noted the effectiveness of SBIs in adults in health settings.^{34–38} Less research in this area has been conducted in adolescents. A systematic review of brief alcohol interventions for young people attending health settings identified nine randomised controlled trials (RCTs) between 1999 and 2008.³⁰ Eight were based in the USA^{17–19,21,39–41} and one was based in Australia.⁴² Most trials were considered to be methodologically sound, although two were considered to be weak in randomisation and allocation concealment.^{40,42} Sample sizes ranged from 34 to 655 and ages ranged from 12 to 24 years. Three trials^{40–42} targeted socioeconomically disadvantaged groups among whom drug and alcohol misuse were more prevalent. Four trials^{17–19,21} were based in EDs to maximise the potential for 'teachable moments' when the connection between alcohol consumption and its adverse consequences can be more readily highlighted. Two studies^{39,40} recruited adolescents during routine general check-ups in primary care and one⁴³ recruited in a university health centre. The remaining trials targeted homeless adolescents⁴¹ and those attending a youth centre that delivered health services.⁴²

Six trials^{17,18,21,40,41,43} tested brief interventions based on one or two sessions of motivational interviewing (MI) that lasted between 20 and 45 minutes. Delivery was carried out by a range of trained professionals, including physicians, nurse practitioners, psychologists, addiction clinicians and youth workers. One trial tested a more intensive programme of four MI sessions over 1 month.⁴² Two studies used information technology to deliver brief interventions, one using an audio programme in primary care³⁹ and the other using an interactive computer program in a minor injury unit.¹⁹ The length of follow-up ranged from 2 to 12 months. Loss to follow-up was generally low (0–20%), although the authors of one study⁴⁰ reported that 34% of their study population were lost to follow-up.

Five trials^{17,18,21,42,43} reported significant positive effects of brief interventions on a range of alcohol consumption measures. Bailey *et al.*⁴² reported that brief intervention participants showed increased readiness to reduce alcohol consumption, an initial reduction in alcohol consumption and an improvement in knowledge of alcohol and related problems, compared with control subjects. Schaus *et al.*⁴³ also reported reductions in blood alcohol concentration, number of drinks per week and risk-taking behaviour. Monti *et al.*¹⁸ reported that brief intervention subjects were less likely than control subjects to drink and drive or to experience alcohol-related injury, although both treatment groups significantly reduced their alcohol consumption. A subsequent trial, conducted by the same research group,¹⁷ reported that alcohol consumption also significantly decreased in both the brief intervention group and the control group. Last, Spirito *et al.*²¹

and the control group. However, adolescents who screened positive for alcohol problems at baseline reported more change after MI than the control subjects.

Three trials reported null effects after brief intervention.^{19,40,41} One trial that used an audio-taped programme with 12- to 17-year-old adolescents³⁹ reported an increase in alcohol use and binge drinking among brief intervention subjects, representing a possible adverse effect of this type of intervention.

Summary

In summary, there is a need to develop more effective alcohol screening tools for adolescents in the ED, which are age appropriate and cover a wider range of alcohol consumption and alcohol-related problems than do existing methods. Furthermore, as most of the existing research has been conducted in the USA, screening methods appropriate to EDs are needed in the UK context of the NHS.

Moreover, the majority of alcohol SBI studies among adolescents in health-care settings were conducted in EDs and reported positive outcomes. However, three trials reported alcohol consumption reductions in both the intervention group and the control group, and three more trials reported no effect of brief intervention. None of these trials was in the UK and few studies were conducted in young adolescents. Thus, although there is evidence to suggest that brief intervention may be beneficial for adolescents, particularly in EDs, there is a clear need for a UK trial of this.

This monograph describes the results of our findings linked to the original programme objectives (a full list of publications arising from our programme of work can be found in *Overall conclusions, Dissemination*).

Work package 1: screening prevalence study of alcohol consumption and alcohol use disorders in adolescents aged 10–17 years attending emergency departments

Introduction

Adolescence is a critical period of development, during which the initiation and continuing use of alcohol may have detrimental consequences for the young person.⁴⁴ Several adverse health and social consequences of alcohol use in young people are widely reported in research and health policy, including an increase in depressive feelings, an increase in sexual risk taking, a reduction in educational performance, difficulties in maintaining relationships with peers and friends, and an increase in vulnerability to becoming a victim of crime.⁸ Although it is difficult to establish a direct causal relationship between alcohol use in adolescents and social and behavioural problems, several studies have shown that earlier consumption is associated with alcohol-related problems in later life.^{45–51} A recent review⁵² recommended further research to establish the advantages of delaying the onset in drinking when establishing guidelines for drinking in adolescence.

The identification of adolescents who consume alcohol at problematic levels is a key element of any screening and intervention strategy. To offer such interventions, practitioners need access to screening tools that are high in both sensitivity and specificity and are quick and easy to apply at minimal cost. Biochemical markers of alcohol use, such as gamma-glutamyl transferase, aspartate aminotransferase, erythrocyte mean cell volume and carbohydrate-deficient transferrin, are impractical and of little use in this population, and have been found to be inferior to short screening questionnaires in adult populations.⁵³

The AUDIT⁵⁴ is a 10-item self-completion questionnaire with established diagnostic properties for hazardous and harmful alcohol use in adults. It addresses three domains: alcohol consumption, harmful consequences and symptoms of dependence. AUDIT is one of the few screening instruments that specifically incorporates consumption into the scoring algorithm and may be particularly suitable for adolescents who are more likely to experience a range of alcohol-related harms as a result of consumption rather than experiencing symptoms of alcohol dependence. Furthermore, it may be the case that the three specific alcohol consumption questions constituting the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test, Consumption (3 items) (AUDIT-C) may be as efficient and brief a screening instrument as the full AUDIT. Previous studies suggest that the AUDIT may be more useful than other brief screening instruments in adolescent populations, but there is limited evidence regarding appropriate cut-off points for different severities of alcohol misuse,⁵⁵⁻⁶⁰ and no previous research has compared the relative effectiveness of AUDIT with that of AUDIT-C in adolescent populations.

Aims

This work package had three principal aims:

- to estimate and compare the sensitivity, specificity and diagnostic odds ratios (ORs) of the AUDIT and AUDIT-C in identifying at-risk alcohol use, monthly heavy episodic alcohol use, alcohol abuse and alcohol dependence in the context of an opportunistic screening programme for adolescents attending EDs in England
- 2. to examine the prevalence of alcohol consumption among adolescents (aged 10–17 years) presenting to hospital EDs in England
- 3. to determine the association between alcohol consumption and age at onset of alcohol consumption with health and social consequences among adolescents presenting to EDs in England.

Findings from aim 1 have been published in Coulton *et al.*⁶¹ and findings covering aims 2 and 3 have been published in Donoghue *et al.*⁶² These are summarised here and reproduced in full in the appendices.

Methods

Patient and public involvement in work package 1

For work package 1, we collaborated with three organisations to ensure that both parents and young people were engaged in the development of our methodology and materials (the British Youth Council, Parenting UK and the Family and Parenting Institute). We organised focus groups in the north and south of England, at which we presented our planned protocols and then engaged the public to critique our plans and to make suggestions for change. Our work with the parent groups helped to shape the study protocol in terms of the optimal way to introduce the study and obtain informed consent. Consultation with the young people indicated that electronic data capture methods would be better received than interview or paper-and-pencil approaches and, as a consequence, we developed an iPad-based screening and data collection tool (Apple Inc., Cupertino, CA, USA) that we utilised throughout the entire programme of research.

The initial intention of the prevalence study was to examine the prevalence of alcohol consumption and AUDs among adolescents presenting to EDs. The questionnaire included demographic and lifestyle questions, attitude scales and a range of alcohol measures to determine which to use in the main trial, and it was expected to be around 30 pages in length. The patient and public involvement showed that adolescents were unlikely to consent to such a survey and, if consent was given, completion was not likely. A tablet interface and shorter questionnaire were more acceptable and would encourage participation in the study.

iPad data collection tool

Following a consultation stage with the target groups, we decided to develop an iPad application to better engage adolescents in the prevalence study and to facilitate data collection and improve data quality. The iPad application for the prevalence study has been developed for this research by the software developer Codeface Ltd (Hove, UK) in collaboration with the research team. Codeface Ltd, study investigators and target groups have all been actively involved in its development, testing and piloting. The application provided a flexible approach to conduct the prevalence study and was an innovative method to administer a relatively long battery of measures to this target group (*Figure 1*). It also had the advantage of automating the routing through the questionnaire, showing the respondent only applicable questions in an engaging and clear layout. Moreover, encrypted data were uploaded securely onto a secure server and could be monitored by the co-ordinating centre in real time. This allowed the research team to check daily when quotas for each year group had been reached. It also reduced the time needed for data entry and cleaning, negating the need for manual data entry for most of the data collected. This data collection application program (app) was further developed and adapted for the data collection and randomisation of participants in the RCTs as part of work package 3.

Participants

Data collection took place between December 2012 and May 2013. Participants were aged between their 10th and 18th birthdays and were attending 1 of 10 participating EDs across England: in the North East, Yorkshire and The Humber, and London. To be eligible for inclusion in the research, the participant had to be alert and orientated and able to speak sufficient English to complete the research assessments. Participants were not eligible for inclusion if they had a severe injury, were suffering from a serious mental health problem or were grossly intoxicated (as determined by ED staff). Participants were also not eligible to take part if they or their parent or guardian (as applicable) were unable or unwilling to provide informed consent.

We excluded grossly intoxicated patients on the basis that they would not be able to provide informed consent. Clinical protocols for young people presenting to accident and emergency (A&E) departments in a grossly intoxicated state would involve escalation to consider safeguarding concerns and potentially referral



Participant details for 4 test12

Inclusion & Exclusion criteria

Does the patient fulfill all of these criteria?

The patient		
Is aged between 14 – 17 years*	🗹 Yes	□ No
Is alert & orientated*	🕑 Yes	□ No
Is able to speak & understand English *	🕑 Yes	□ No
Is capable of providing informed consent to participate*	Yes	□ No
Has a Smartphone or access to the internet at home*	🗹 Yes	□ No
Lives within 20 miles of this A&E*	🕑 Yes	□ No
Is NOT suffering from a serious mental health issue*	🕑 Yes	□ No
Is NOT grossly intoxicated*	🕑 Yes	□ No
Is NOT receiving specialist service input due to social or psychological need*	🕑 Yes	□ No
Either NOT currently or in the last 6 months has received treatment for an alcohol or drug use disorder*	Ves	□ No
Is NOT currently involved in this or any other alcohol research*	✓ Yes	□ No

Save and continue later

Next

FIGURE 1 Screenshot of the data collection app developed for the programme and available from the authors.

to specialist services in most of the hospitals involved in this programme of research. Therefore, the brief interventions being studied in this programme would have been less than the minimal intervention considered necessary for this group.

However, if those patients sobered up during their stay in A&E, then they were approached at a later stage about participating in the research, provided that there were no other clinical concerns or reasons for exclusion.

Procedure

Following clearance by ED staff, a researcher approached consecutive ED attenders meeting the study criteria every day of the week between 8 a.m. and midnight. For those participants aged < 16 years and unaccompanied by a parent or guardian, Gillick competence was assessed by a member of ED staff. Those assessed as Gillick competent were approached by the researcher and invited to provide informed consent for participation.⁶³

We extended Gillick competency to consent for participation in research on the grounds of minimal/no risk in taking part in this prevalence study.⁶⁴

Those aged 16 or 17 years provided informed consent without recourse to a parent or guardian.

Participants completed the study questionnaires independently in a private area of the ED. The researcher was available in case clarification of questions or help with the software program was required. The study data were anonymised and collected using an iPad electronic tablet device, with the exception of the Timeline Followback questionnaire, which was manually administered by the researcher. A £5 gift voucher was given to all participants at the end of the interview to thank them for their time. All young people participating in the study were also given age-appropriate material containing information on alcohol and local services and helplines providing further support.

Measures

Figure 2 illustrates the flow of research questions. Demographic data, including age, gender and ethnicity, were collected for all participants, as was information on general health behaviours and lifestyle, including tobacco smoking. Health-related quality of life was assessed using the health-related quality-of-life questionnaire for children and young people and their parents (Kidscreen);⁶⁵ this is a 10-item generic health-related quality-of-life measure, with established validity and reliability in this population. Behavioural and emotional functioning was measured using the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire.^{66,67} In addition, several questions relating to age-relevant service use, including questions on previous use of health and social services, school attendance and contact with the criminal justice system, were asked.

Results

Among participants who reported any alcohol consumption, the age of first consumption in years was recorded using a single question ['how old were you when you had your first drink of alcohol (beer, cider, alcopops wine, etc.)?'], and further questions about whether or not they had consumed alcohol in the past 3 months and past 24 hours were asked. In addition, all participants who had ever drunk alcohol were asked question 19 ('experienced alcohol intoxication in your lifetime?') and question 21 ('personal experience of alcohol?') from the European School Survey Project on Alcohol and other Drugs (ESPAD).⁶⁸ Further questions were included to assess the feasibility of conducting a future alcohol intervention study, including whether or not the participant wanted further information or advice about alcohol, and whether or not they were willing to participate in an intervention and follow-up study, if this was offered. They were also asked how easy they had found it to complete the questionnaire electronically.



FIGURE 2 Flow of research questions. Q1, Demographics. Q2, Health and Lifestyle questionnaire. Q3, Filter question 1: have you ever drunk alcohol? Do not include just a sip of somebody else's drink. Q4, Filter question 2: have you ever drunk alcohol in the past 3 months? Do not include just a sip of somebody else's drink. Q5, Have you had a drink of alcohol in the past 24 hours? Q6, Have you consumed any alcohol prior to attendance at ED? Q7, How old were you when you had your first sip of alcohol (beer, cider, alcopops, wine, etc.)? Q8, European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs Q19 (alcohol intoxication). Q9, Timeline Followback 90.ª.c Q10, Beverage Specific Quantity Frequency Questionnaire.^{a.c} Q11, AUDIT.^{b.c} Q12, Mini International Neuropsychiatry Interview for Children and Adolescents (MINI-KID) Alcohol.^{b,c} Q13, European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs Q21. Q14, European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs Q22. Q15, Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ). Q16, health-related quality of life questionnaire for children and young people and their parents (Kidscreen). Q17, service utilisation. Q18, cognitive debrief. Q19, future participation details. BSQF, Beverage Specific Quantity Frequency; ESP19, European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs Q19; L, Level; Q, Question; SDQ, Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire; TLFB, Timeline Followback. a, The order of presentation of quantity-frequency measures (Timeline Followback and Beverage Specific Quantity Frequency Questionnaire) were allocated at random, stratified by age group. b, The order of presentation of diagnostic measures (AUDIT and MINI-KID) were allocated at random, stratified by age group. c, The order of presentation of quantity-frequency measures and diagnostic measures were allocated at random, stratified by age group.

Those participants who indicated that they had consumed alcohol that was 'more than a sip' in the past 3 months were asked additional questions about alcohol use. Hazardous alcohol use, harmful alcohol use and harmful alcohol dependence were assessed using the three-item AUDIT-C,⁵⁴ the full 10-item AUDIT and the alcohol section of the Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview for Children and Adolescents (MINI-KID), respectively.⁶⁹ Quantity of alcohol consumed in the past 90 days was derived from the Timeline Followback Form 90⁷⁰ and converted to standard units, for which one unit was the equivalent of 8 g of pure ethanol. In addition, beverage-specific quantity and frequency questions were asked for consumption of beer, cider, alcopops, spirits and wine. This is an ad hoc tool developed for this study. The Beverage Specific Quantity Frequency Questionnaire's measure of alcohol consumption is derived from methods used to measure consumption in adolescent populations⁶ and conforms with European guidance on the standardisation of measurement of consumption. This questionnaire measures total quantity and frequency of consumption of specific beverages and episodes of excessive consumption over a 90-day period.

The AUDIT has been validated in adolescent populations in EDs in the USA.^{56,58} As part of the current programme of research, the shorter, three-question AUDIT-C was validated with a cut-off point of 3 [see *Characteristics analysis of screening tools (aim 1)*]. The Timeline Followback Form 90 has been validated for use among this population.^{71–73} Perceived consequences of alcohol consumption were assessed by question 22 of ESPAD: 'because of your own alcohol use, how often during the last 12 months have you experienced the following?'.⁶⁸

Overall, 5781 participants were asked to participate in the survey, of whom 5377 (93%) consented to participate across the 10 EDs. The mean age of participants was 13.3 [standard deviation (SD 2.1)] years, with similar proportions of male (53.7%) and female (46.3%) participants and a majority of white participants (72.6%). Overall, 2112 (39.3%) participants had consumed alcohol at some time in the past and 1378 (25.6%) participants had consumed alcohol in the past 3 months. Those who had consumed alcohol tended to be older (14.8 years vs. 12.3 years) and were more likely to be white (83.4% vs. 65.6%).

Characteristics analysis of screening tools (aim 1)

A significant positive correlation was identified for AUDIT score for the total number of standard drinks consumed in the past 3 months [Spearman's r = 0.72, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.71 to 0.73; p < 0.001] and a similar correlation was identified for AUDIT-C score (Spearman's r = 0.69, 95% CI 0.68 to 0.70; p < 0.001).

Screening properties of the AUDIT-C and the 10-item AUDIT questionnaire were tested against the gold-standard criteria for at-risk drinking, heavy episodic alcohol consumption, alcohol abuse and alcohol dependence, and appropriate cut-off points were identified for each instrument.

The optimum cut-off point for AUDIT in identifying either at-risk drinking, monthly heavy episodic drinking or alcohol abuse was a score of \geq 4; this provided acceptable sensitivity, specificity and diagnostic odds. An AUDIT-C score of \geq 3 demonstrated almost identical diagnostic properties but with a significantly better sensitivity for at-risk drinking.

An AUDIT score of \geq 7 provided a significantly more effective cut-off point for alcohol dependence than any other cut-off point, and demonstrated significantly better diagnostic properties than an AUDIT-C score of \geq 5.

Sensitivity analysis that incorporated age, gender and ED into the analysis as covariates indicated no influence of these covariates on the observed outcomes.

Prevalence of alcohol consumption (aim 2)

A total of 2112 (39.3%) of the 5377 participants who consented to take part in the research reported having had a drink of alcohol that was more than a sip in their lifetime, with prevalence increasing steadily with age (*Figure 3*).


FIGURE 3 Percentage of participants who had a drink of alcohol that was more than a sip in their lifetime by current age. Reproduced from Donoghue *et al.*⁶² Reprinted from Journal of Adolescent Health, vol. 60, Donoghue K, Rose H, Boniface S, Deluca P, Coulton S, Alam MF, *et al.* Alcohol consumption, early-onset drinking, and health-related consequences in adolescents presenting at emergency departments in England pp. 438–446, 2017, with permission from Society for Adolescent Health and Medicine.

A total of 1374 participants (25.6% of the whole sample) reported drinking more than a sip of alcohol in the previous 3 months. The average age of first alcoholic drink was 12.9 years, ranging from 5 to 17 years of age (17 years was the upper limit for inclusion in this study). The prevalence of at-risk drinking was 14.8% (95% CI 13.9% to 15.8%), of monthly heavy episodic alcohol use was 10.6% (95% CI 9.8% to 11.4%), of alcohol abuse was 2.4% (95% CI 2.0% to 2.8%) and of alcohol dependence was 1.2% (95% CI 0.9% to 1.5%). Among the sample of those who had consumed alcohol in the past 3 months, the prevalence of these behaviours was significantly higher.

Relationship between alcohol consumption and harm (aim 3)

Alcohol consumption in the previous 3 months was associated with older age, being female, being white and having smoked tobacco. In addition, those who had consumed alcohol within the previous 3 months were more likely to report a lower quality of life and to have peer and social problems.

We also found that total alcohol consumed in the previous 90-day period was associated with tobacco use, lower quality of life, poorer general social functioning (conduct and hyperactivity), and the ESPAD questions on health and social problems.

Further analysis investigated the association between age of first alcohol consumption and psychological and social problems. Only participants aged 16 or 17 years who had consumed alcohol in the past 3 months (N = 609, n = 316 female) were included in this analysis. This analysis showed that consumption of alcohol before the age of 15 years was associated with an increased risk of a number of health and social problems. These included a greater risk of smoking tobacco (p < 0.001), lower quality of life (p = 0.003) and a diagnosis of an AUD, as indicated by the MINI-KID (p = 0.002). Consumption of alcohol before the age of 15 years was also associated with a greater risk of experiencing conduct (p = 0.001) and hyperactivity problems (p = 0.001), and more alcohol-related social problems, including having an accident (p = 0.046), problems with a parent (p = 0.017), school problems (p = 0.0117) and experiencing problems with the police (p = 0.012).

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Discussion

In this work package, we investigated for the first time the screening properties of a short tool, the prevalence of alcohol consumption, the relationship with emotional and behavioural problems, and alcohol-related harms in adolescents presenting to the ED. The strengths of this study include the large sample size, the wide age range of those studied who were not seeking alcohol treatment and the broad spread of study across 10 EDs in England.

We found that a simple, short three-item self-completed screening instrument, the AUDIT-C, is overall more effective than the longer 10-item AUDIT in identifying adolescents who engage in at-risk alcohol consumption, monthly heavy episodic alcohol use and fulfil the ICD-10 criteria for alcohol abuse. Furthermore, the AUDIT with a cut-off score of 7 is more efficient than the AUDIT-C in identifying adolescents with alcohol dependence. In addition, the AUDIT-C and the AUDIT are widely employed as screening tools for adults in clinical and non-clinical settings and these can be applied equally to adolescent populations with these lower cut-off scores. We conclude that the AUDIT-C should be employed with this population with a cut-off score of 3 as a positive screen for at-risk drinking, monthly heavy episodic alcohol use and alcohol abuse. For those who score \geq 5 on the AUDIT-C, we recommend that the additional seven questions constituting the full AUDIT be administered. Those scoring \geq 7 should be clinically assessed for alcohol dependence.

We also found that nearly 40% of the adolescents presenting to the study EDs in England reported that they had consumed a drink of alcohol that was more than a sip in their lifetime. Rates of consumption increased considerably with age, ranging from just 4% for those aged 10 years to 90% for those aged 17 years. Among adolescents who had consumed alcohol in the past 3 months, 14.8% of drinkers screened positive for hazardous alcohol use (\geq 3 on the AUDIT-C).

This work package shows an association between earlier alcohol consumption and harm in adolescents. The prevalence of a diagnosis of harmful alcohol use or dependence was considerably higher among participants who started drinking before the age of 15 years, but it remains to be established whether or not these persist into adulthood. Although the results of this work package do not establish causality, effective interventions to reduce alcohol consumption in this population could potentially mitigate the harmful consequences related to alcohol that are experienced from a young age in this group.

This study identified a high prevalence of AUDs in adolescents attending EDs; we suggest that this setting is relevant for research on alcohol screening in young people. The ED also has a high level of staff expertise, which is well placed to initiate safeguarding procedures when required and provide a good point of onward referral to specialist services. The possibility of conducting alcohol screening among adolescents presenting to the ED and the potential for providing interventions to help reduce alcohol consumption in this population was investigated further in the following work packages of this programme.

The use of technology to collect data was successful in this study, and it is known that technology shows promise as a tool to deliver interventions.

Work package 2: exploratory modelling of the interventions

This work package focuses on the development of age-appropriate alcohol interventions for adolescents. These interventions have been developed with extensive patient and public involvement through a series of focus groups and evaluation work; a review of reviews to explore the evidence base on alcohol SBI for adolescents to determine age-appropriate screening tools; and a systematic review of electronic alcohol interventions.

Systematic review of electronic alcohol interventions

We conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis of the available literature to determine the effectiveness of electronic screening and brief interventions (eSBIs) over time in non-treatment-seeking hazardous/harmful drinkers.

This systematic review has been published in Donoghue et al.74

The widespread use of computers, the internet and smartphones has led to the development of electronic systems to deliver alcohol SBIs that can potentially address some of the barriers to implementation of traditional face-to-face SBIs. eSBIs have the potential to offer greater flexibility and anonymity for the individual and to reach a larger proportion of the in-need population. For both adults and adolescents, eSBIs (computer, web and phone based) can offer effective delivery of interventions in both educational and health-care settings, which may prove to be more acceptable than more traditional (face-to-face) approaches.^{75–77} In addition, eSBIs could offer a more cost-effective alternative to face-to-face interventions.

A systematic search of the literature was conducted in May 2013 (with no restriction on publication date) to identify RCTs investigating the effectiveness of eSBIs to reduce alcohol consumption through searching the electronic databases PsycINFO, MEDLINE and EMBASE. Two members of the study team independently screened studies for inclusion criteria and extracted data. Studies reporting data that could be transformed into grams of ethanol per week were included in the meta-analysis. The mean difference in grams of ethanol per week between eSBI and control groups was weighted using the random-effects method based on the inverse-variance approach to control for differences in sample size between studies.

We defined an eSBI as an electronic intervention aimed at providing information and advice designed to achieve a reduction in hazardous/harmful alcohol consumption, with no substantial face-to-face therapeutic component. A SBI was defined as screening followed by a brief intervention composed of a single session, ranging from 5 to 45 minutes in duration, and up to a maximum of four sessions aimed at providing information and advice designed to achieve a reduction in hazardous/harmful alcohol consumption. Studies were not deemed eligible for inclusion if participants were alcohol dependent, mandated to complete eSBIs or part of a preselected specific group (e.g. pregnant women). There were no restrictions on age.

A total of 23 studies^{78–101} were deemed eligible for inclusion in this systematic review. All study interventions were either computer or web based. The content of the interventions included an assessment followed by personalised and/or normative feedback. Control conditions generally consisted of an assessment with no further feedback, but four studies^{82,85,90,91} included general information on alcohol consumption for those in the control conditions. There was some variation in the dose of the intervention, with the reported time taken to complete the intervention ranging from < 5 minutes⁹¹ to 45 minutes.⁹⁴ The dose of exposure to the intervention could also be increased through repeated access during the study period⁸¹ and/or a printed copy of the personalised feedback provided.^{83,88,93,95,97,100} The attrition rate was highly variable between studies, ranging from 1% or 2%⁸⁷ to > 50%.⁹⁹

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

We found that there was a statistically significant mean difference in grams of ethanol consumed per week between those receiving an eSBI and those in the control group at up to 3 months (mean difference –32.74, 95% CI –56.80 to –8.68), from 3 months' to < 6 months' (mean difference –17.33, 95% CI –31.82 to –2.84), and from 6 months' to < 12 months' follow-up (mean difference –14.91, 95% CI –25.56 to –4.26). No statistically significant difference was found at a follow-up period of \geq 12 months (mean difference –7.46, 95% CI –25.34 to 10.43).

The results of this systematic review and meta-analysis suggest that eSBIs are effective in reducing alcohol consumption in the follow-up post-intervention period between 3 months and < 12 months, but not in the longer-term follow-up period of \geq 12 months.

A review of alcohol screening and brief interventions for adolescents

In addition to the systematic review, we conducted a review of reviews to explore the evidence base on alcohol SBIs for adolescents, and to determine age-appropriate screening tools, effective brief interventions and appropriate locations to undertake these activities, in order to address the lack of consensus about the most effective components of effective interventions. This review of reviews has been published¹⁰² and is reproduced in full in *Appendix 4*.

We conducted a review of reviews based on publications from 2003 to 2013 identified through a search of electronic databases (e.g. PubMed, Web of Science). These were judged to capture all trials of alcohol SBIs in an adolescent population. Thirteen review papers^{76,77,103–113} were identified and summarised. We also found five additional studies^{114–118} of alcohol SBIs for adolescents (all published between 2010 and 2012) that were not included in any of the published systematic reviews, and these were also included in this review. Studies that focused on primary prevention of alcohol use were excluded from this review.

Various alcohol screening methods for adolescents have been developed in the USA but have not been evaluated in the UK. Questionnaires were found to perform better than blood markers or breath alcohol concentration in all age groups. The CRAFFT and AUDIT tools are recommended for identification of 'at-risk' adolescents. In particular, the AUDIT questionnaire⁵⁴ was found to have greater sensitivity and specificity than other tools. AUDIT sensitivities for adolescents ranged from 54% to 87% and specificities ranged from 65% to 97%.³¹

A number of reviews on effective interventions for adolescents identified as being in need of help or advice about their drinking have now been published; the most recent of these have focused on the use of internet, computer and mobile phone technologies, collectively referred to as electronic brief interventions (eBls). These reviews present limited evidence that eBls significantly reduce alcohol consumption compared with minimal or no intervention controls,^{76,77,104} and our review presented in the previous section extends this work, indicating effectiveness of eBls in a meta-analysis.⁷⁴ However, some caution should be exercised when interpreting these findings, as an earlier meta-analysis by Carey *et al.*,¹¹⁹ which compared eBls with a more traditional face-to-face delivery of interventions, concluded that face-to-face delivery was superior. Indeed, motivational interventions delivered over one or more sessions and based in health-care or educational settings are effective in reducing levels of consumption and alcohol-related harm.¹⁰⁷

Further research to develop age-appropriate screening tools needs to be undertaken. The effect of SBI activity should be investigated in settings in which young people are likely to present; further assessment at venues such as paediatric EDs, sexual health clinics and youth offending teams should be evaluated. The use of electronic (web-/smartphone-based) screening and intervention shows promise and should be another focus of future research.

Overall, this review of reviews and recent RCTs suggests that, despite an increasing interest in applying SBIs to an adolescent population, there are no clear indications of which target population, setting,

screening tool or intervention approach can be recommended. The relationship between age, alcohol consumption and harm is complex, and further research is required to establish guidelines for consumption and thresholds of harm for different age groups.

Patient and public involvement in work package 2

In addition to the reviews described above, we engaged with a number of youth organisations (British Youth Council, The Well Centre and Redthread) to help refine our methodology and interventions. There was a clear indication that the stepped care motivational enhancement therapy approach that we had proposed during the application stage was not well received by our target group. As a result, we adopted their suggestions to undertake brief ED-based interaction and to use technology, and we developed a smartphone-based intervention app and a personalised feedback and brief advice (PFBA) (leaflet-based) condition for use in the intervention trials. We have involved young people in the design and content of the app and the leaflet, and have found this to be a particularly useful exercise that has helped us to achieve credibility with young people and to engage young people with our proposed interventions.

The second phase of the patient and public involvement was conducted to develop the interventions. Initially, we had planned to screen adolescents (using the optimal screening method from work package 1) and invite them to participate in a prospective RCT, using therapist-guided brief interventions and, where indicated, intensive motivational enhancement therapy (stepped care intervention). These interventions were to be compared with treatment as usual. The patient and public involvement work showed that young people felt electronic screening and consent was acceptable. A face-to-face brief intervention was acceptable in the ED, but any form of extensive intervention was not. An educational app was recommended by our focus group participants. Furthermore, the prevalence study showed that the questionnaire was too long to be acceptable to participants.

As a result, the iPad screening tool was shortened and refined to include the consent procedure to improve participant management. Participants and parents were e-mailed the information leaflets instead of being given paper copies, with laminated versions kept in the ED for reference. The iPad app was also developed to randomise participants to the different arms of the trial and to record a random sample of brief interventions for fidelity purposes.

The study design was revised so that the intervention comprised a brief intervention (PFBA) with a web-enabled smartphone app (eBI). The smartphone app was not in the initial plan for the trial but was included on the basis of the patient and public involvement, as young people had said that an educative app would be better received than our planned interventions. Adolescents had a preference for images over text, and it was suggested to make the app look and feel like a game.

The eBI takes the form of an app called 'SIPS City' [Screening and Intervention to Promote Sensible drinking (SIPS)]. The app home screen is a cartoon street with different places for young people to visit (and learn facts about alcohol), and includes gamification features that encourage participants to find and collect coins. It is designed to be engaging and educational, and to provide ongoing feedback and advice about alcohol consumption. It is loosely based on the FRAMES (Feedback of personalized risks: Responsibility, Advice, Menu of options, Empathy, Self-efficacy) motivational brief intervention approach.¹²⁰ A demonstration version of the SIPS City app was installed on iPads in the EDs to show to participants randomised to the eSBI arm of the trial, who were not able to access the app on their own smartphone while in the ED. Participants without a smartphone but were not able to use it while in the ED were sent a link to download the app later.

The final phase of the patient and public involvement was conducted to develop an online self-completion form of the retrospective Timeline Followback-28 (alcohol consumption in the past 28 days), which was later modified in favour of a shorter outcome measure (AUDIT-C).

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Work package 3: linked randomised controlled trials of face-to-face and electronic brief intervention methods to prevent alcohol-related harm in young people aged 14–17 years presenting to emergency departments

Background

A number of trials^{17,18,42,43,117,118} focusing on young people (aged 12–21 years) have reported significant positive effects of brief interventions on a range of alcohol consumption measures. Our systematic review (reported in *Work package 2: exploratory modelling of the interventions*) suggested that eBIs can significantly reduce alcohol consumption compared with minimal or no intervention controls, and have the added advantage of being more acceptable and easier to implement than more traditional face-to-face interventions. Our study of the prevalence of risky drinking among an adolescent population (aged 10–17 years) reported in *Work package 1: screening prevalence study of alcohol consumption and alcohol use disorders in adolescents aged 10–17 years attending emergency departments* found that about one in four young people presenting to EDs was consuming three or more drinks on one or more occasion over the preceding month, and that this level of consumption was associated with increased physical, social and educational adverse consequences. We also observed a steep transition in drinking prevalence between 13 and 17 years of age.

Several school-based interventions¹²¹ that target non-drinking adolescents have been found to delay the onset of drinking behaviours, and a recent study of adolescents¹²² found lower rates of substance misuse initiation among those exposed to a web-based intervention. Web-based alcohol interventions for adolescents also demonstrated significantly greater reductions in consumption and harm among 'high-risk' drinkers.¹²³ However, changes in risk status at follow-up for non-drinkers or low-risk drinkers have not been assessed in controlled trials of brief intervention.

Recruitment of both 'high-risk' and 'low-risk' drinkers has the additional benefit of addressing a major concern among both young people and parents, namely that participation in a trial of this nature may identify the young person as drinking at a level that warrants concern and intervention. Young people interviewed as part of our patient and public involvement work in work package 2 indicated that they would prefer to take part in a trial if there was no implication that they had an 'alcohol problem' and were assured that information about their drinking would not be disclosed to parents or health-care staff. Recruitment of both high- and low-risk-drinking young people was more acceptable to both young people and their parents, as was emphasising participant confidentiality.

Thus, we conducted two linked RCTs that included both high- and low-risk drinkers and abstainers, informing them that the study sought to prevent alcohol-related harm in young people. In addition, embedded within the proposed study was an internal feasibility study conducted prior to proceeding to the main trial.

The trials protocol has been published in Deluca *et al.*¹²⁴ and parts of this section have been reproduced from Deluca *et al.*¹²⁴ This article is published under license to BioMed Central Ltd. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

the original work is properly credited. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

Objectives

Primary objective

The primary objective was to conduct two linked RCTs to evaluate the clinical effectiveness and costeffectiveness of brief intervention strategies compared with screening alone. One trial focused on high-risk adolescent drinkers attending EDs and the other focused on those identified as low risk or abstinent from alcohol. In both trials our primary outcome measure was quantity of alcohol consumed at 12 months after randomisation.

Secondary objectives

The secondary objectives of each study were:

- to identify key predictors of recruitment to the trials
- to explore the process of intervention through key psychological constructs that may lead to further refinement of the proposed interventions
- to identify prognostic factors related to better outcomes
- to explore interactions between participant factors, setting factors, treatment allocation and outcomes.

Our primary (null) hypothesis was similar for both trials: PFBA and personalised feedback plus eBIs is no more effective than screening alone in reducing alcohol consumed at 12 months after randomisation as measured with the AUDIT-C. Our secondary (null) hypothesis relating to health economics states that PFBA and eBIs are no more cost-effective than screening alone.

Methods

The linked trials were granted ethics approval by the National Research Ethics Service London – Fulham (reference 14/LO/0721). The trials comply with the Declaration of Helsinki¹²⁵ and Good Clinical Practice¹²⁶ and have been registered as ISRCTN45300218.

Study setting and participants

The trials were carried out in 10 EDs across three regions of England: North East, Yorkshire and The Humber, and London. Data collection was carried out from 10 a.m. to 10 p.m., 7 days per week, over an 8-month period (October 2014–May 2015). During these screening hours, consecutive ED attenders who were between their 14th and 18th birthdays and who met the inclusion criteria but none of the exclusion criteria were approached by a researcher and invited to participate in the study once cleared by ED staff to do so.

Eligibility criteria

Inclusion and exclusion criteria were chosen to maintain a balance between ensuring the sample was representative of the ED population while also able to engage with both the relevant interventions and follow-up.

Inclusion criteria

The inclusion criteria were being aged between 14 and 17 years inclusive; being alert and orientated; being able to speak English sufficiently well to complete the research assessment; living within 20 miles of the ED; being able and willing to provide informed consent to screening, intervention and follow-up; if under aged < 16 years, being 'Gillick competent' or having a parent or guardian who was able and willing to provide informed consent to screen to screen to screen to screen to screen to make a screen to screen t

Exclusion criteria

The exclusion criteria were having a severe injury; suffering from a serious mental health problem; being grossly intoxicated; specialist services being involved because of social or psychological needs; receiving treatment for an AUD or substance use disorder within the past 6 months; or currently participating in other alcohol-related research.

The inclusion and exclusion criteria were discussed with hospital nurses/doctors before a potential participant was approached and after clinical staff assessed the participant. We relied on their knowledge and professional judgement.

Those who were grossly intoxicated on attendance were not the population of interest. The study addressed those who consumed alcohol at levels at risk to their health, rather than alcohol-related attendances. Although it is possible that these two groups overlapped, we were mindful of the issue of informed consent for those who presented as grossly intoxicated; however, if their intoxicated state reduced to an acceptable level while they were in the ED, they were approached.

Those who met the inclusion criteria and none of the exclusion criteria and scored \geq 3 on the screening questionnaire, AUDIT-C, were eligible for the high-risk study; those who scored < 3 on AUDIT-C were eligible for the low-risk study.

Consent procedure

The study was introduced to patients, and to their parent or guardian if they were aged < 16 years, as a study about alcohol, lifestyle and health, with the focus on preventing alcohol-related harm in all young people attending ED irrespective of their alcohol consumption. Patients aged < 16 years attending the ED without their parent or guardian were also approached to take part if ED staff confirmed that they were 'Gillick competent'. We extended Gillick competency to consenting for participation in research on the grounds of minimal/no risk in taking part in this study, the potential direct benefit that they would gain from the advice received and the potential benefit to the wider society in the roll-out of the findings.⁶⁴

The study was first introduced by ED staff and then explained in more detail by research staff, both verbally and using the patient information sheet. If the patient was under the age of 16 years and accompanied by a parent or guardian, the parent or guardian would also receive the patient information sheet. Patients, and parents or guardians if applicable, had up to 4 hours to ask any questions about the study and to decide whether or not to take part. To obtain the most valid self-report data, patients were told as part of the informed consent procedure that their answers, including those on alcohol consumption, would not be disclosed to their parent or guardian or the ED staff without their consent (*Figure 4*).

If patients agreed to participate, their informed consent was recorded using an electronic device (iPad), overseen by a research assistant who also introduced and delivered the allocated intervention to each patient in a private area of the ED. Consent to participate included permission to give the patient's data and contact details to the research staff, to provide the research team with access to the patient's ED records, and to participate in follow-up at 6 and 12 months after recruitment.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.



FIGURE 4 Decision tree for consent. PIS, patient information sheet.

Screening and baseline assessment

After consent was given by the patient or their parent or guardian, as appropriate, the participant completed a screening and baseline assessment (*Figure 5* shows the sequence of tools administration). All participants scoring \geq 3 on the AUDIT-C (high-risk drinkers) were randomised between three groups [two intervention groups (PFBA and eBIs) and the control group receiving screening alone]. Of those scoring < 3 on the AUDIT-C (low-risk drinkers or abstainers), one in three was randomly selected to continue with the study and then randomised between three analogous groups. Participants who scored < 3 but were not selected for the trial were thanked for their participation, given a £5 voucher and returned to the care of the ED staff.

The screening and baseline assessment includes demographic information and contact details; health and lifestyle questions; the AUDIT-C;⁵⁴ questions 19, 21 and 22 from ESPAD;⁶⁸ the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire,¹²⁷ the EuroQol-5 Dimensions, five-level version (EQ-5D-5L);¹²⁸ and a short service use questionnaire.¹²⁹ This took approximately 10 minutes to complete.

To simplify and enhance data collection, we used a bespoke electronic interface (developed in work package 1), which automated question routing, showing participants only relevant questions. To maximise completion rates, we used an attractive graphical interface. Participants were able to skip questions or withdraw consent at any stage. All of the instruments have been designed and validated for those aged 14–17 years. The screening and baseline assessment was conducted by trained researchers with experience of working with adolescents, and all researchers had completed enhanced Disclosure and Barring Service checks prior to working in the ED. All information that participants gave was treated in confidence.



BA – APP arms – 1 : 5 randomisation to audio-recording

FIGURE 5 Baseline sequence. APP, SIPS Jr City app; BA, brief advice; EQ-5D-5L, EuroQol-5 Dimensions, five-level version; ESP19, European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs Q19; ESP19-C, European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs Q19c; ESP21, European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs Q21; ESP22, European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs Q22; Q, question; SDQ, Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire; SU, Service Use Questionnaire.

Participants were remotely randomised with equal probability, stratified by centre, between a screening only control group and one of the two interventions: a single session of face-to-face PFBA or personalised feedback plus a smartphone- or web-based brief intervention (eBI). All participants were eligible to receive treatment as usual in addition to any trial intervention.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIRR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Randomisation

Randomisation to trial participant or non-participant was conducted using a simple block randomisation, with a one in three probability of selection. For those selected as participants, randomisation to study group was conducted using strings of randomly selected block sizes, three or six, stratified by ED and gender. Each iPad within a centre had a separate pre-programmed allocation sequence derived by an independent party and made secure using encryption. Researchers engaged in the baseline assessment were not aware of allocated group until after outcomes had been completed. Participants were not blind to allocated group.

Interventions

Screening only group: treatment as usual

After completing the baseline assessment, participants in the screening arm were thanked for their participation, reminded that a member of the research team would contact them in 6 and 12 months to conduct a follow-up interview and returned to the care of the ED staff for usual care.

Personalised feedback and brief advice

The PFBA intervention is structured brief advice that takes approximately 5 minutes to deliver (*Figure 6*) in one session. It is based on an advice leaflet adapted for the target age group in this study from the SIPS brief advice about alcohol risk intervention.^{130,131} It is based on the FRAMES model:¹³²

Feedback: Give feedback on the risks and negative consequences of alcohol use. Seek the patient's reaction and listen.

Responsibility: Emphasise that the individual is responsible for making his or her own decision about his/her alcohol use.

Advice: Give straightforward advice on modifying alcohol use.

Menu of options: Give menus of options to choose from, fostering the patient's involvement in decision-making.

Empathy: Be empathic, respectful and non-judgemental.

Self-efficacy: Express optimism that the individual can modify his or her alcohol use if they choose. Self-efficacy is one's ability to produce a desired result or effect.

It is conveyed verbally to the participant by trained research assistants or nurses and tailored to their risk status (high or low). It was delivered in a quiet room in the ED.

The advice covers recommended levels of alcohol consumption for young people; gives feedback on the screening results and their meaning; provides normative comparison information on prevalence rates of high- and low-risk drinking in young people; summarises the risks of drinking and highlights the benefits of stopping or reducing alcohol consumption; outlines strategies that they might employ to help stop or reduce alcohol consumption; highlights goals they might wish to consider; and indicates where to obtain further help if they are unsuccessful or need more support.

Each participant received a copy of the leaflet, which included additional information about alcohol intoxication, alcohol poisoning, and alcohol and the law.

Personalised feedback plus a smartphone- or web-based brief intervention

The eBI smartphone intervention SIPS City is an offline-capable mobile web application that works on a variety of platforms but is optimised for recent iPhone (Apple Inc., Cupertino, CA, USA) and Android (Google Inc., Mountain View, CA, USA) phones (*Figure 7*). It was developed for this research by the software developer Codeface Ltd (Hove, UK) in collaboration with the research team. It followed the recommendations from patient and public involvement, and it was developed using the concept of gamification so that users can navigate, explore, learn facts and figures about alcohol, receive personalised feedback and set goals in an engaging format. The content was adapted to provide the most pertinent information and advice for high-or



Young People and alcohol



The UK government recommend that an alcohol free childhood is the healthiest and best option

down your alcohol use?

What is 'At Risk Drinking'?

- You may have been told that you are an 'At Risk Drinker' this can mean that you are currently or recently have been drinking alcohol in a way that may increase your risk of problems.
- You might have used alcohol in large amounts or drank alcohol regularly enough to put you at risk of harms.
- It is advised that young people under 15 shouldn't drink alcohol. There is clear evidence that that alcohol can harm the developing brain, bones and hormones
- Drinking at age 15 can be hazardous to health. Binge drinking and heavy alcohol use puts young people at risk – from **injuries**, fights, regretted sexual activity and other substance misuse.
- It is advised that if you are pregnant you shouldn't drink alcohol as it can effect the unborn baby.

Why do young people drink?

Recause their

To cope with feelings

friends do To fit in

- For enjoyment To get drunk
- Make a party more enjoyable
- To celebrate
- To have fun



What are the benefits of cutting

- No hangovers More energy
- Able to concentrate
- Less risky situations 1 Better relationships Save money

✓ Less accidents

- 1
- term health
- more Better mood Better sleep
- Lose weight
- Reduce risk of long
- problems
- Set yourself realistic goals to reduce risks related to your drinking.
- If you are a young person drinking alcohol at levels that may cause harm it is advised that you aim to stop drinking altogether
- If you choose not to stop drinking it is advised that reducing your level and times you drink is better than continuing at your current level.
- If you are age under 15 years there is no safe level of drinking
- You may wish to use the following;
- · Plan to be busy at times when you normally drink • Limit or avoid the time spent with drinking
- friends Avoid situations which put you at risk of •
- drinking . Develop other interests such as: cinema.
- sports, gaming, etc Spend time with friends who don't drink
- alcohol, doing something you enjoy

FURTHER INFORMATION ABOUT ALCOHOL

The effects of alcohol intoxication

As alcohol levels in the body increase there are changes to how a person thinks and feels:

- Do things you later regret
- Increased risk of accidents Feeling of being drunk instead of relaxed
- Getting into rows, arguments, fights Slurring your words when you talk
- Not able to remember things properly
- Large amounts of alcohol can cause alcohol oning which is a dangerous condition that can kill you.

What is alcohol poisoning? Large amounts of alcohol overwhelm the organs and systems of the body and stop them from working properly. The signs of alcohol poisoning include: Person is confused/not able to wake up

- Vomiting which can cause choking Slow breathing (very few breaths per min)
- Breathing is not normal long gaps
- Low body temperature skin appears quite blue, pale
- Person may have a seizure/fit

What should you do if you suspect someone has alcohol poisoning?

Do: Know the signs of alcohol poisoning Do: Be aware the person who has passed out might die Do: Call for help, phone 999

- Do: Contact an adult
- Do: Stay with them until someone arrives
- Do: Try to keep the person awake and warm Don't: Wait for someone to have all the signs of
- alcohol poisoning before you act
- Don't: Leave them to sleep off alcohol
- Don't: Let the person drink any more alcohol

Alcohol and young people - the law

Under 18 years:

If you're under 18 and drinking alcohol in public, you can be stopped, fined or arrested by police.

- If you're under 18, it is against the law:
- for someone to sell you alcohol
- to buy or try to buy alcohol for an adult to buy or try to buy alcohol for you
- to drink alcohol in a pub/restaurant

16-17 years

If you're 16 or 17 and with an adult, you can drink beer, wine or cider with a meal. But you cannot buy alcohol

It's illegal to give alcohol to children under 5.

16 years or under:

You may be able to go to a pub if you're with an adult. Each pub, restaurant, etc has rules about young people so some pubs may allow this and others not.

> For further information and advice about drinking

Talk to FRANK <u>www.talktofrank.com</u> Speak to Drinkline: 0800 917 8282

For local support, contact:

Label/sticker

FIGURE 6 Brief advice leaflet.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.





FIGURE 7 SIPS Jr Street app with full view of East and West Streets.

low-risk drinkers and was similar in content to what was provided in the PFBA intervention arm described above in *Personalised feedback and brief advice*. Games components of the web application supported high-risk drinkers to reduce or stop their alcohol consumption and low-risk users to maintain abstinence or low-risk drinking.

The SIPS City app was formatted into a virtual reality of two streets, west and east, in which there were multiple buildings such as a general practice, a pub and a youth centre. To gain access to some buildings, participants had to collect a certain number of coins, which could be obtained from talking to characters on the street or by answering questions correctly. When interacting with people on the street, participants were directed to certain buildings depending on the problem that person was encountering, for example the doctor for alcohol poisoning. It was also possible to drive in the car of 'Rod McDuff's School of Motoring', and facts regarding the risks of alcohol and drinking were portrayed while inside the car.

The first building was the participants' home, where they could fill out a drinking diary and receive feedback from this. It was also possible to view information on units and a letter from the local A&E about the participant's drinking. Interaction with a health worker at the general practice allowed a user to follow-up the A&E letter and set personal alcohol goals. There was a sexual health clinic building that provided information on the increase of sexual health risks with increased alcohol intake. After two coins had been obtained, access to East Street was granted. The pharmacy was here, which provided information on how to reduce the effects of a hangover. The school provided information on the harmful effects of alcohol in relation to education, which provided relatable information to those in the age group in this study.

Whenever possible, the app was installed, with the help of a research assistant/nurse, on the participant's smartphone while they were attending A&E and the participant was encouraged to use it. In the instances when they did not have access to their phone (e.g. flat battery, left at home, no data plan), patients were introduced to a demonstration version of the app on a study device (iPad) and allowed to play with it while in A&E. An e-mail and short message service (SMS) were also sent to the patient within 24 hours with instructions on how to download and install the app on their smartphone once they were at home.

Two further remainders (e-mail and SMS) were sent in the following 2 weeks to those who had failed to install the app on their smartphone.

For participants without access to a smartphone but with access to the internet through other computerised devices, access to a web-based version of the application was provided along with appropriate instructions for its use.

After receiving their allocated intervention (including the screening only group), all participants were thanked for their participation, reminded that a member of the research team would contact them in 6 and 12 months to conduct a follow-up interview, given a £5 voucher to thank them for their time and returned to the care of the ED staff.

Intervention fidelity

Research assistants were responsible for recruiting participants and delivering the interventions. The research assistants were trained during a 2-hour training session, which covered the rationale and procedures of the trial, the importance of reducing alcohol consumption and the correct delivery of the interventions. Filmed examples of delivery were presented and discussed, and role-play sessions were undertaken.

During the trial, we assessed fidelity of the delivery of the PFBA interventions by audio-recording a random sample of 20% of intervention sessions for each researcher. Each recording was assessed by a senior clinician member of the team on whether or not key aspects of the intervention were delivered as intended against a predefined checklist. When necessary, feedback was provided to researchers to improve fidelity. These recordings were prespecified in the protocol analysis plan.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Follow-up assessments

All participants were followed up with a brief set of questions at 6 months after randomisation (*Figure 8*), and then at 12 months for a full assessment (*Figure 9*). Follow-up interviews were conducted over the telephone, face to face or electronically via self-completion web survey, as preferred by the participant. The telephone and face-to-face follow-ups were conducted by research assistants trained in the administration of the assessment tools and blinded to the group allocation of the participants. Letters of thanks were sent to participants after each follow-up stage. On completion of each follow-up interview, participants were sent a gift token for £5 by post in recognition of their participation. On completion of the 12-month follow-up, participants were additionally entered in to a prize draw to win an iPad Air (Apple Inc., Cupertino, CA, USA), iPad mini (Apple Inc., Cupertino, CA, USA) or iPod (Apple Inc., Cupertino, CA, USA).

Outcome measures

Primary outcome measure

The primary outcome was the total amount of alcohol consumed in standard UK units (1 unit = 8 g of ethanol) over the previous 3 months, measured at the 12-month follow-up using the AUDIT-C, which was either self-completed by web survey or administered by researchers blinded to treatment allocation.



FIGURE 8 List of tools and order of presentation at 6-month follow-up. Q, question; SU, service utilisation.



FIGURE 9 List of tools and order of presentation at 12-month follow-up. B, items A (lifetime) and B (last 12 months) in question 19; CSRI, Client Service Receipt Inventory; EQ-5D-5L, EuroQol-5 Dimensions, five-level version; ESP19, European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs Q19; ESP21, European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs Q21; ESP22, European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs Q22; Q, question; SDQ, Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire; TranQ, transition question.

In the published protocol¹²⁴ we intended to use the Timeline Followback interview (28-day version). However, this was subsequently changed to the AUDIT-C to facilitate completion rate at follow-up. The AUDIT-C is a much shorter tool (three items) and can be self-administered.

Calculation of weekly units from the AUDIT-C was conducted as follows. The extended AUDIT-C asked two questions regarding frequency and quantity of alcohol consumed. Question 1 asks about frequency, and these values are converted to weekly frequency using the following algorithm: never (0), monthly (0.25), two to four times per month (0.75), two or three times per week (2.5), four or five times per week (4.5) and six or more times per week (6.6). Question 2 asks about quantity on each drinking occasion and is converted to standard units using the following algorithm: none (0), one or two (1.5), three or four (3.5),

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIRR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

five or six (5.5), seven to nine (8), ten to twelve (11), 13 to 15 (14) and 15 or more (15). Weekly units are calculated by multiplying converted values for frequency and quantity.

This value allocates participants to 1 of 35 categories of consumption. An ordinal is one in which values are ranked, A is greater than B, but the relative magnitude of A relative to B is unknown. The weekly consumption calculation not only ranks participants but also allows a derivation of the relative difference between participant drinking levels. The large number of data points and the ability to assess relative magnitude means that the weekly consumption can be taken as a continuous measurement variable. This implicit assumption was tested as part of the overall analysis.

Moreover, any ordinal scale with > 11 data points can be treated as continuous.¹³³

Secondary outcome measures

Participants were also asked questions about the consequences of alcohol consumption using questions 19, 21 and 22 from ESPAD.⁶⁸ Hazardous alcohol use was assessed using the extended AUDIT-C questionnaire⁵⁴ at baseline and after 6 and 12 months. General health and functioning was measured using the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire¹²⁷ at baseline and 12 months.

Economic outcome measures

The primary outcome measure for the economic evaluation in the trial was a preference-based measure calculated from the EQ-5D-5L. The EQ-5D-5L quality-of-life instrument is preferred by NICE for the economic evaluation of NHS interventions. The tool focuses on five dimensions of health: mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression.¹²⁸ The original EuroQol-5 Dimensions had three response categories (EuroQol-5 Dimensions, three-level version) for each dimension. A newly released validated version with five response categories (EQ-5D-5L) for each dimension, providing enhanced discriminatory power, was used in the study.¹³⁴ EQ-5D-5L requires no more than a few minutes to complete and thus imposes minimal burden on participants.

The EQ-5D-5L scores were converted to health utilities (1 = perfect health, 0 = equivalent to dead) using a tariff provided by the EuroQol group derived from UK social preference surveys. Resulting utilities were combined with survival data (unlikely to be affected by the service) and expressed in quality-adjusted life-years (QALYs). The estimated incremental cost per QALY from the service can be compared with the willingness-to-pay (WTP) threshold of £20,000–30,000 per extra QALY currently used by NICE to determine whether or not an intervention is 'cost-effective' and hence recommended for use in the NHS.¹³⁵

Process outcome measures

Expectancy was measured using the ESPAD question 21⁶⁸ at baseline and 12 months after randomisation. Adherence to the eBI was assessed by monitoring remotely either when the smartphone device was connected to the internet or when the web application was accessed.

Analysis

Sample size calculation

For both studies, the sample size addresses the effect of interventions on the primary outcome measure (alcohol consumption at 12 months after randomisation). We aimed to detect a meaningful effect size difference of ≥ 0.3 , based on literature relating to adults and similar to differences observed for adolescents; this would equate with a difference in weekly consumption between intervention and control of 0.1 units in the low-risk trial and 2 units in the high-risk trial.¹³⁶ To detect this with a significance level of 5% and statistical power of 80% when using a two-sided continuity-corrected test requires 175 in each of the three groups, yielding a target of 525 analysable participants in each of the two trials.

As there was little prior research in this specific area, our sample size calculation was based on similar UK RCTs^{137,145} addressing alcohol use in primary care populations. These RCTs reported effect size differences between brief interventions and minimal intervention of 0.36 and 0.27.^{138,145} Similar effects have been reported from studies in the USA, and an effect size of 0.3 is considered clinically important for alcohol brief intervention studies.¹³⁹ As there is no literature on what might be a clinically important difference for the low-risk trial, we hypothesised that a small effect size difference, of a similar magnitude to or greater than that for the high-risk trial, could be interpreted as an important effect.

Predicting that follow-up at 12 months would be 70%, we needed to randomise 750 high-risk drinkers and 750 low-risk drinkers. Based on the estimated prevalence of 24.2% for high-risk drinking (namely AUDIT-C \geq 3) from our earlier survey, and a consent rate of 60% (see *Work package 1: screening prevalence study of alcohol consumption and alcohol use disorders in adolescents aged 10–17 years attending emergency departments*), we estimated a number needed to approach of 5165 potential participants over the recruitment period. Of these participants, our survey predicts that 2350 will be low-risk drinkers consenting to the study.

Statistical analysis

The outcomes for both trials were analysed in a similar manner. Analysis was conducted using an intention-to-treat principle, whereby participants were analysed as members of their allocated group irrespective of treatment received. All analysis was conducted using SAS® software 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA) and conducted blind to allocated group.

The analytical approach employed a mixed-effects model, with a fixed effect for allocated group and a random effect for ED. The covariates age, gender and baseline alcohol consumption were included as baseline covariates, as these are known to influence outcome. The distribution of the primary outcome was assessed prior to analysis and, if necessary, appropriate transformations were undertaken. A sensitivity analysis was undertaken using a non-parametric approach and assessed change in consumption. Wilcoxon rank-sum indices were generated and analysed using a similar mixed-effects approach. The influence of missing data was assessed using a series of multiple imputation models, and these were synthesised to assess the sensitivity of the observed results to missing data. Secondary outcomes were assessed using a similar mixed-model approach and adjusting for respective baseline values. To explore the value of the findings, we performed a post hoc analysis and calculated the Bayes' factor of the primary outcome, comparing eBI and PFBA with control.

Two exploratory analyses were undertaken. The first was to investigate the relationship between potential prognostic pre-randomisation factors and alcohol consumption at 12 months. The factors included were alcohol expectancy, alcohol-related problems and demographics, and any interaction between these factors and intervention group. An initial analysis explored the relationship between alcohol consumption and each factor individually, with factors or interaction terms with a *p*-value of < 0.2 combined to create a full model. Backward elimination was used, retaining factors with a *p*-value of < 0.2 in the final model. If an interaction term had a *p*-value of < 0.2 but the *p*-value for the main effect was > 0.2, both terms were retained in the model. A second exploratory analysis explored the relationship between eBI usage and alcohol consumption at month 12 for those allocated to eBI using a linear regression approach, controlling for baseline alcohol consumption and gender.

We estimated in a sample size calculation that we would assess 70% of those allocated at baseline and we achieved this end. In our analysis, we explored the nature of missing data at 12 months post randomisation using multiple imputation and assessed the impact of these imputation models on the observed outcome using sensitivity analyses. The derived models, which assume potential bias in loss to follow-up, had no effect on the outcomes observed, so these data without imputation were employed for the primary analysis.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Cost-effectiveness analysis

Individual-level data were used to estimate mean differential costs between interventions. As data were not normally distributed, 95% CIs were calculated using a non-parametric bootstrapped method.¹⁴⁰ This was also done for effects, the EQ-5D-5L score and QALYs at 6- and 12-month follow-up. Difference in QALYs was estimated using the area under the curve method.

Sensitivity analysis

Cost-effectiveness results [mean total costs and effects, hence the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER)] are subject to uncertainty or sampling error. A joint uncertainty in costs and effects was investigated via a stochastic sensitivity analysis. Using a large number of non-parametric bootstrapped replications (n = 10,000) of costs and effects (jointly), this uncertainty was quantified through a 95% CI of the ICER.^{141,142} Based on the above bootstrapped replications, a two-dimensional cost-effectiveness plane was created, plotting the joint uncertainty in costs and effects between two groups. Furthermore, a cost-effectiveness acceptability curve was undertaken to show the probability that an intervention was cost-effective at a range of WTP values (£20,000 and £30,000 per QALY gain in the UK).

Valuation of resource use

All NHS resource use was reported in appropriate physical units and valued using relevant unit costs.¹⁴³ All figures were based on 2014 costs. As costs were incurred only over 12 months, discounting was not necessary. The cost of screening and delivering the two interventions were ascertained by prospectively monitoring resource inputs to each arm of the trial at 6- and 12-month follow-up, including training, and valued using standard methods.¹⁴¹

Training costs

All resources involved in training were costed, including:

- (a) trainer time in preparing for training sessions, in travelling to training sessions and in delivering the training sessions (and anything else); this was costed by using the number of trainers and their salary or university/NHS grade/band
- (b) trainee time in travelling to training session and in attending training session; costed accordingly as in (a)
- (c) expenses incurred by trainers or trainees (e.g. train/bus fares, taxis, parking); for car travel, the travel time reported above was be converted into motoring costs
- (d) cost of any materials used (either described or in pounds sterling spent).

NHS and non-NHS costs

Effects on NHS and non-NHS costs was based on information gathered on patient contact with primary care, secondary care, specialist health services, social service and criminal justice, and other resources. These were collected prospectively using the appropriately modified version of the Client Service Receipt Inventory (CSRI). The CSRI captures any resource implication for the last 6 months. Service utilisation in CSRI was valued using local costs and, when possible, supplemented by national resources and information from previous alcohol studies.^{130,144,145} Appropriate unit costs were used to derive a cost of any NHS resource [e.g. hospitalisation, general practitioner (GP) visit] or non-NHS resource (e.g. cost of criminal offence) use.¹⁴³

Missing data

Multiple imputation was used to handle missing values related to individual EQ-5D-5L input variables, with EQ-5D-5L utility values calculated from the imputed variables. Ten imputations were calculated. For missing costs, it was first determined whether costs were truly missing or truly zero, and for the truly missing costs the average costs for each intervention were imputed.

Results

Low-risk drinkers trial

Participant flow

Participant progress throughout the trial is presented in the CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) flow diagram (*Figure 10*). Of the 7854 attendees, 5016 were approached (63.9%). All reasons for exclusion are reported in *Figure 10*. Approximately 1% (n = 83) were intoxicated at the time of presentation and not approached for participation in the study. Twenty-five patients were excluded, because they did not own a smartphone or have internet access to receive the intervention. Of the patients approached, a total of 3326 met all of the inclusion criteria and consented to be screened (66%). Of these patients, 2571 (77.3%) scored < 3 on the AUDIT-C and were eligible for the low-risk study. One-third of these potential participants (n = 884) were selected at random and randomly allocated into one of the three groups.

Sample characteristics

Demographic and outcome variables were similar across all three groups at baseline (*Table 1*). Overall, the mean age of those participating in the study was 15.1 years, 51% were female and 62.5% of the sample classified their ethnicity as white. Participants' mean age at the time of first drink was 13.8 years and mean weekly alcohol consumption was low at 0.14 units of alcohol.

Main outcomes in the low-risk trial

The primary outcome, weekly alcohol units consumed at month 12, was derived from the AUDIT-C. As consumption was positively skewed, we explored transformations using the Box–Cox transformation approach and identified a cube-root transformation as appropriate to fit the data.

Outcomes at 6 and 12 months were back-transformed and are presented in *Table 2*. Mean differences and associated 95% CIs are presented in *Table 3*. No differences were observed between the groups for the primary outcome at 6 or 12 months. A sensitivity analysis employing the Wilcoxon rank-sum of the change score demonstrated similar results, as did an assessment of multiple imputation of missing values. A similar pattern was observed for secondary outcomes.

A post hoc analysis was also performed for the Bayes' factor comparing eBI and PFBA with control: 0.05 [standard error (SE) 0.13] and 0.05 (SE 0.18), respectively. These results indicate that the null result is a true null finding of no effect of either intervention.

An analysis exploring potential interactions between quantity of alcohol consumption at baseline and allocated group found no significant interactions for the low-risk study (F = 1.78; p = 0.17).

Our exploratory analysis of prognostic factors that may impact on alcohol consumption at month 12 identified a number of significant positive predictors: higher baseline consumption, lower age of first drink, older age, being female, greater positive alcohol expectancy and greater alcohol-related problems (see *Table 15, Appendix 1*).

For those allocated to eBI, 103 (35.0%) participants actually engaged with the intervention after leaving the ED. No relationship was identified between engagement with the intervention and alcohol consumption at month 12.

Cost-effectiveness analysis in the low-risk trial

Cost-effectiveness analysis compared both the eBI and PFBA intervention groups with the control group for all societal costs (*Table 4*) and for NHS/Personal and Social Services (PSS) costs only (*Table 5*). The analyses show that, for both the societal cost perspective and the narrower NHS/PSS perspective, the eBI is dominated by the control, whereas the PFBA intervention generates ICERs of £130,822 (societal) and £120,693 (NHS/PSS) per QALY gained, respectively.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: INIRH Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.



FIGURE 10 The CONSORT flow diagram of the linked trials.

Demographic	Control (<i>n</i> = 304)	PFBA (<i>n</i> = 285)	eBl (<i>n</i> = 294)
Mean age in years (SD)	15.2 (1.1)	15.1 (1.0)	15.2 (1.0)
Mean age (years) of first drink (SD)	13.8 (1.7)	13.6 (1.9)	13.9 (1.8)
Male (%)	47.4	50.9	48.6
White (%)	61.5	64.9	61.2
Smoker (%)	10.3	7.1	8.7
Alcohol use			
Mean weekly alcohol consumption (SD) ^a	0.14 (0.28)	0.14 (0.28)	0.15 (0.29)
Mean AUDIT-C score (SD)	0.38 (0.66)	0.40 (0.71)	0.43 (0.72)
Monthly episodic alcohol use (%) ^b	2.6	7.4	6.4
Ever intoxicated (%) ^c	34.7	35.4	34.7
Intoxicated in past 12 months (%) ^c	25.0	26.6	26.0
Intoxicated in past 30 days (%) ^c	6.0	7.5	8.0
Alcohol-related problem (%)			
Ever fighting	10.9	9.2	5.4
Ever accident or injury	16.7	14.1	10.9
Ever parent problem	10.9	7.0	6.1
Ever peer problem	10.3	11.3	6.8
Ever school problem	9.0	9.2	6.8
Ever victim of theft	5.8	2.1	4.1
Ever police problem	3.8	4.9	5.4
Ever hospitalised	10.8	7.9	6.8
Ever unprotected sex	4.5	2.8	6.1
Ever regretted sex	2.5	2.1	3.4
Strengths and difficulties, mean (SD)			
Total score	10.9 (5.7)	10.7 (5.5)	11.0 (5.7)
Emotional symptom score	3.0 (2.2)	3.1 (2.3)	3.2 (2.4)
Conduct problem score	2.0 (1.7)	1.9 (1.6)	2.0 (1.6)
Hyperactivity score	3.7 (2.3)	3.8 (2.3)	3.7 (2.2)
Peer problem score	2.1 (1.6)	1.9 (1.6)	2.1 (1.6)
Prosocial behaviour score	7.8 (1.8)	7.9 (1.8)	7.8 (1.7)

TABLE 1 Demographic and baseline outcomes by allocated group in the low-risk trial

SD, standard deviation.

a Measured in standard drinks, in which one standard drink equates to 8 g of ethanol.

b Assessed as six or more standard drinks on a single drinking episode.

c Intoxication is self-defined.

From the societal cost perspective, probabilistic sensitivity analysis (PSA) indicated that approximately 9% of the simulations for eBI compared with control were cost-effective at both the £20,000 and the £30,000 WTP thresholds, whereas approximately 26% and 30% of the simulations for PFBA compared with control were cost-effective at the £20,000 and £30,000 WTP thresholds, respectively (*Table 6*).

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Measure	Control (<i>n</i> = 304)	PFBA (<i>n</i> = 285)	eBI (<i>n</i> = 294)		
Alcohol use Weekly alcohol consumption ^a					
Month 6	0.06 (0.03 to 0.10)	0.04 (0.02 to 0.07)	0.05 (0.03 to 0.09)		
Month 12	0.10 (0.05 to 0.18)	0.12 (0.06 to 0.21)	0.10 (0.05 to 0.19)		
AUDIT-C score					
Month 6	0.14 (0.08 to 0.22)	0.08 (0.04 to 0.14)	0.06 (0.19 to 0.21)		
Month 12	0.22 (0.12 to 0.36)	0.21 (0.11 to 0.35)	0.21 (0.11 to 0.35)		
Strengths and difficulties (12 mon	ths)				
Total score	10.8 (10.2 to 11.4)	10.2 (9.58 to 10.8)	10.4 (9.76 to 11.0)		
Emotional symptom score	3.32 (3.07 to 3.57)	3.06 (2.81 to 3.30)	3.14 (2.90 to 3.39)		
Conduct problem score	1.58 (1.40 to 1.77)	1.59 (1.41 to 1.77)	1.75 (1.57 to 1.93)		
Hyperactivity score	3.48 (3.21 to 3.75)	3.35 (3.08 to 3.61)	3.23 (2.97 to 3.50)		
Peer problem score	2.41 (2.20 to 2.61)	2.17 (1.96 to 2.37)	2.29 (2.08 to 2.49)		
Prosocial behaviour score	7.95 (7.71 to 8.19)	7.98 (7.74 to 8.22)	7.75 (7.51 to 7.99)		
a Measured in standard drinks, in which one standard drink equates to 8 g of ethanol.					

TABLE 2 Adjusted least mean squares and 95% CI for outcomes at 6 and 12 months by allocated group in the low-risk trial

TABLE 3 Adjusted least mean squares difference vs. control and 95% CI for outcomes at 6 and 12 months by allocated group in the low-risk trial

Measure	РГВА	eBl
Alcohol use Weekly alcohol consumption ^a		
Month 6	-0.06 (-0.14 to 0.03)	-0.02 (-0.10 to 0.06)
Month 12	0.03 (-0.07 to 0.13)	0.01 (-0.10 to 0.11)
AUDIT-C score		
Month 6	-0.08 (-0.18 to 0.02)	-0.03 (-0.13 to 0.07)
Month 12, Bayes' factor (SE)	-0.01 (-0.12 to 0.11), 0.05 (0.13)	-0.01 (-0.12 to 0.11), 0.05 (0.18)
Strengths and difficulties (12 months)		
Total score	-0.58 (-1.45 to 0.28)	-0.40 (-1.26 to 0.46)
Emotional symptom score	-0.27 (-0.62 to 0.09)	–0.18 (–0.53 to 0.17)
Conduct problem score	0 (-0.25 to 0.26)	0.16 (-0.09 to 0.42)
Hyperactivity score	-0.14 (-0.52 to 0.24)	-0.25 (-0.63 to 0.13)
Peer problem score	-0.24 (-0.50 to 0.03)	-0.12 (-0.38 to 0.15)
Prosocial behaviour score	0.03 (-0.27 to 0.33)	-0.20 (-0.51 to 0.10)

SE, standard error.

a Measured in standard drinks, in which one standard drink equates to 8 g of ethanol.

	Control	eBl	Difference
Total costs (£)	1132	1884	751
Total QALYs	0.90	0.89	-0.01
ICER (£/QALY gained)	eBI dominated		
	Control	PFBA	Difference
Total costs (£)	1132	1735	603
Total QALYs	0.90	0.91	0.005
ICER (f/OALY gained)	130.822		

TABLE 4 Results of the cost-effectiveness analysis, societal perspective, in the low-risk trial

TABLE 5 Results of the cost-effectiveness analysis, NHS/PSS perspective, in the low-risk trial

	Control	eBl	Difference
Total costs (£)	912	1683	771
Total QALYs	0.90	0.89	-0.01
ICER (£/QALY gained)	eBI dominated		
	Control	PFBA	Difference
Total costs (£)	Control 912	PFBA 1468	Difference 556
Total costs (£) Total QALYs	Control 912 0.90	PFBA 1468 0.91	Difference 556 0.005

TABLE 6 Results of the PSA, societal perspective, in the low-risk trial

	WTP	
	£20,000	£30,000
eBI vs. control (%)	8.7	8.8
PFBA vs. control (%)	26.4	30.2

From the NHS/PSS cost perspective, PSA again indicated that approximately 9% of the simulations for eBI compared with control were cost-effective at both the £20,000 and the £30,000 WTP thresholds, whereas approximately 31% and 33% of the simulations for PFBA compared with control were cost-effective at the £20,000 and £30,000 WTP thresholds, respectively (*Table 7*).

The deterministic analyses and PSA show that it is highly unlikely that either intervention is cost-effective at either the £20,000 or the £30,000 WTP threshold when compared with the control intervention in low-risk patients.

TABLE 7 Results of the PSA, NHS/PSS perspective, in the low-risk trial

	WTP	
	£20,000	£30,000
eBI vs. control (%)	9.1	8.8
PFBA vs. control (%)	30.6	33.2

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

High-risk drinkers trial

Participant flow: high-risk trial

Participant progress throughout the trial is presented in the flow diagram (see *Figure 10*). Of the 7854 attendees, 5016 (63.9%) were approached. A total of 3326 participants consented to be screened (66.0%) and, of these, 756 (22.7%) participants scored \geq 3 on the AUDIT-C and were eligible for the high-risk study.

Sample characteristics: high-risk trial

Demographic and outcome variables were similar across all three groups at baseline (*Table 8*). Overall, the mean age of those participating into the high-risk study was 16.1 years, 50.2% were female and 84.9% of the sample classified their ethnicity as white. Mean age at first drink was 13.5 years and mean weekly alcohol consumption was higher than in the low-risk trial, at 4.7 units of alcohol.

Main outcomes in the high-risk trial

The primary outcome, weekly alcohol units consumed at month 12, was derived from the AUDIT-C. As consumption was positively skewed, we explored transformations using the Box–Cox transformation approach and identified a cube-root transformation as appropriate to fit the data.

Demographic	Control (<i>n</i> = 241)	PFBA (<i>n</i> = 263)	eBl (<i>n</i> = 252)
Mean age in years (SD)	16.1 (0.9)	16.0 (0.9)	16.1 (0.9)
Mean age (years) at first drink (SD)	13.4 (2.1)	13.7 (1.7)	13.3 (2.2)
Male (%)	51.9	48.3	49.2
White (%)	85.9	84.8	84.1
Smoker (%)	40.3	36.1	38.2
Alcohol use			
Mean weekly alcohol consumption (SD) ^a	5.01 (7.82)	4.33 (8.96)	4.55 (7.43)
Mean AUDIT-C score (SD)	4.86 (1.80)	4.77 (1.93)	4.87 (1.88)
Monthly episodic alcohol use (%) ^b	37.8	34.6	42.1
Ever intoxicated (%) ^c	80.7	80.8	82.5
Intoxicated in past 12 months (%) ^c	70.6	70.9	72.4
Intoxicated in past 30 days (%) ^c	31.4	30.7	27.2
Alcohol-related problem (%)			
Ever fighting	17.1	17.6	22.6
Ever accident or injury	32.8	32.4	33.3
Ever parent problem	17.0	15.0	19.7
Ever peer problem	22.8	23.4	28.3
Ever school problem	10.0	17.9	15.1
Ever victim of theft	15.9	17.6	17.5
Ever police problem	7.5	11.8	15.5
Ever hospitalised	14.9	13.3	12.4
Ever unprotected sex	19.1	14.9	24.3
Ever regretted sex	13.4	14.8	18.8

TABLE 8 Demographic and baseline outcomes by allocated group in the high-risk trial

Demographic	Control (<i>n</i> = 241)	PFBA (<i>n</i> = 263)	eBI (<i>n</i> = 252)
Strengths and difficulties, mean (SD)			
Total score	12.0 (5.6)	11.9 (6.1)	12.6 (5.9)
Emotional symptom score	3.4 (2.4)	3.3 (2.4)	3.4 (2.5)
Conduct problem score	2.3 (1.7)	2.3 (1.7)	2.6 (1.8)
Hyperactivity score	4.2 (2.2)	4.3 (2.3)	4.4 (2.3)
Peer problem score	2.2 (1.7)	2.0 (1.7)	2.3 (1.6)
Prosocial behaviour score	7.3 (1.9)	7.3 (2.0)	7.5 (2.0)

TABLE 8 Demographic and baseline outcomes by allocated group in the high-risk trial (continued)

a Measured in standard drinks, in which one standard drink equates to 8 g of ethanol.

b Assessed as six or more standard drinks on a single drinking episode.

c Intoxication is self-defined.

Outcomes at 6 and 12 months were back-transformed and are presented in *Table 9*. Mean differences and associated 95% CIs are presented in *Table 10*. No differences were observed between the groups for the primary outcome at 6 or 12 months. A sensitivity analysis employing the Wilcoxon rank-sum of the change score demonstrated similar results, as did an assessment of multiple imputation of missing values. A similar pattern was observed for secondary outcomes.

We computed the Bayes' factor comparing eBI and PFBA with control: 0.08 (SE 0.16) and 0.08 (SE 0.36), respectively. These results indicate that the null result is a true null finding of no effect of either intervention.

An analysis exploring potential interactions between quantity of alcohol consumption at baseline and allocated group found no significant interactions for the high-risk study (F = 0.27; p = 0.76).

Measure	Control	РҒВА	eBl
Alcohol use Weekly alcohol consumption ^a			
Month 6	2.42 (1.84 to 3.11)	2.13 (1.62 to 2.74)	2.33 (1.77 to 3.00)
Month 12	2.99 (2.38 to 3.70)	3.56 (2.90 to 4.32)	3.18 (2.50 to 3.97)
AUDIT-C score			
Month 6	4.64 (4.17 to 5.11)	4.30 (3.85 to 4.75)	4.64 (4.18 to 5.11)
Month 12	5.04 (4.65 to 5.44)	5.25 (4.87 to 5.63)	5.12 (4.70 to 5.54)
Strengths and difficulties (12 months)			
Total score	11.0 (10.2 to 11.7)	10.9 (10.2 to 11.6)	10.9 (10.1 to 11.6)
Emotional symptom score	3.14 (2.82 to 3.46)	3.23 (2.91 to 3.54)	3.09 (2.75 to 3.43)
Conduct problem score	1.90 (1.70 to 2.10)	1.74 (1.55 to 1.94)	1.86 (1.65 to 2.07)
Hyperactivity score	3.54 (3.23 to 3.84)	3.73 (3.43 to 4.02)	3.87 (3.55 to 4.19)
Peer problem score	2.30 (2.06 to 2.54)	2.21 (1.97 to 2.44)	2.05 (1.80 to 2.30)
Prosocial behaviour score	7.91 (7.66 to 8.16)	8.21 (7.97 to 8.45)	7.75 (7.49 to 8.01)

TABLE 9	Adjusted least mean	۱ squares and 95%	CI for	outcomes at 6 and	12 months by	y allocated	group in the
high-risk	trial						

a Measured in standard drinks, in which one standard drink equates to 8 g of ethanol.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

asure	РҒВА	eBl
cohol use eekly alcohol consumption ^a		
onth 6	-0.286 (-0.903 to 0.478)	-0.0886 (-0.756 to 0.737)
onth 12	0.570 (-0.362 to 1.70)	0.186 (-0.714 to 1.30)
DIT-C score		
onth 6	-0.334 (-0.858 to 0.189)	0.00685 (-0.528 to 0.542)
onth 12	0.206 (-0.334 to 0.747)	0.0818 (-0.488 to 0.652)
engths and difficulties (12 months)		
al score	-0.0170 (-1.02 to 0.981)	-0.0998 (-1.14 to 0.945)
otional symptom score	0.0891 (-0.340 to 0.518)	-0.0523 (-0.501 to 0.396)
nduct problem score	-0.161 (-0.436 to 0.113)	-0.0426 (-0.330 to 0.245)
peractivity score	0.193 (-0.232 to 0.618)	0.334 (-0.111 to 0.779)
er problem score	-0.0901 (-0.386 to 0.206)	-0.249 (-0.559 to 0.0608)
social behaviour score	0.293 (–0.0406 to 0.626)	-0.165 (-0.514 to 0.183)
Inth 6 Inth 12 DIT-C score DIT-C score Inth 6 Inth 12 Inth 12	-0.286 (-0.903 to 0.478) 0.570 (-0.362 to 1.70) -0.334 (-0.858 to 0.189) 0.206 (-0.334 to 0.747) -0.0170 (-1.02 to 0.981) 0.0891 (-0.340 to 0.518) -0.161 (-0.436 to 0.113) 0.193 (-0.232 to 0.618) -0.0901 (-0.386 to 0.206) 0.293 (-0.0406 to 0.626) tandard drink equates to 8 a of ethanol	0.0886 (-0.756 to 0.7 0.186 (-0.714 to 1.30) 0.00685 (-0.528 to 0.5 0.0818 (-0.488 to 0.65 -0.0998 (-1.14 to 0.94 -0.0523 (-0.501 to 0.3 -0.0426 (-0.330 to 0.2 0.334 (-0.111 to 0.775 -0.249 (-0.559 to 0.06 -0.165 (-0.514 to 0.18

TABLE 10 Adjusted differences from control and 95% CIs for outcomes by allocated group

Our exploratory analysis of prognostic factors that may impact on alcohol consumption at month 12 identified a number of significant positive predictors: higher baseline consumption, lower age of first drink, older age, being female, greater positive alcohol expectancy and greater alcohol-related problems (see Table 15, Appendix 1).

For those allocated to eBI, 84 (33.3%) actually engaged with the intervention after leaving the ED. No relationship was identified between engagement with the intervention and alcohol consumption at month 12.

Cost-effectiveness analysis

Cost-effectiveness analysis compared both the eBI and PFBA intervention groups with the control group for all societal costs (Table 11) and for NHS/PSS costs only (Table 12). The analyses show that, for both the societal cost perspective and the narrower NHS/PSS perspective, the eBI is dominated by the control, whereas the PFBA intervention generates ICERs of £7580 (societal) and £6213 (NHS/PSS) per QALY gained, respectively.

	Screening only	eBl	Difference®	
Total costs	£1703 (SD £6049)	£2110 (SD £7040)	£406 (95% CI –£1334 to £2331)	
Total QALYs	0.900 (SD 0.096)	0.892 (SD 0.105)	-0.008 (95% CI -0.038 to 0.021)	
ICER (£/QALY gained)	Screening dominates eBI			
	Control	PFBA	Difference ^a	
Total costs	£1703.65 (SD £6049)	£1726.39 (SD £6152)	£22.74 (95% CI –£1860 to £1663)	
Total QALYs	0.900 (SD 0.096)	0.903 (SD 0.089)	0.003 (95% CI -0.023 to 0.028)	
ICER (£/QALY gained)	£7580 (95% CI from -£1,088,865 to £794,373) (not at all significant)			
a Difference = intervention – control.				

TABLE 11 Results of bootstrapped cost-effectiveness analysis from societal perspective

	Screening only	eBl	Difference	
	Bootstrapped mean (bootstrapped SD)		Intervention – control (bootstrapped 95% CI)	
Total costs	£1552 (SD £6019)	£1953 (SD £6960)	£401 (95% CI -£1424 to +£2346)	
Total QALYs	0.900 (SD 0.096)	0.892 (SD 0.105)	-0.008 (95% CI -0.037 to +0.019)	
ICER (£/QALY gained)	Screening dominates eBI			
	Control	PFBA	Difference ^a	
Total costs	£1552.69 (SD £6019)	£1571.33 (SD £6114)	£18.64 (95% CI -£1752 to +£1586)	
Total QALYs	0.900 (SD 0.096)	0.903 (SD 0.089)	0.003 (95% CI -0.023 to +0.026)	
ICER (£/QALY gained)	£6213 (95% CI from –£736,843 to £812,884) (not at all significant)			
a Difference = intervention - control.				

TABLE 12 Results of bootstrapped cost-effectiveness analysis from NHS/PSS perspective

From the societal cost perspective, PSA indicated that approximately 28% of the simulations for eBI compared with control were cost-effective at the £20,000 WTP threshold and 27% at the £30,000 WTP threshold; whereas approximately 54% and 55% of the simulations for PFBA compared with control were cost-effective at the £20,000 WTP thresholds, respectively (*Table 13*). Although PFBA has a chance of being cost-effective when compared with control, the distribution of the bootstrapped ICERs show that there is a wide distribution (*Figure 11*).

TABLE 13 Results of the PSA, societal perspective, in the high-risk trial

	WTP	WTP		
	£20,000	£30,000		
eBI vs. control (%)	28.3	26.9		
PFBA vs. control (%)	54.2	55.2		





© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

From the NHS/PSS cost perspective, PSA again indicated that approximately 30% of the simulations for eBI compared with control were cost-effective at the £20,000 WTP threshold and 29% at the £30,000 threshold; whereas approximately 54% and 56% of the simulations for PFBA compared with control were cost-effective at the £20,000 WTP thresholds, respectively (*Table 14*). Again, although PFBA has a chance of being cost-effective when compared with control, the distribution of the bootstrapped ICERs show that there is a wide distribution (*Figure 12*).

The deterministic analyses and PSA show that it is highly unlikely that the eBI is cost-effective at either the £20,000 or the £30,000 WTP threshold when compared with the control intervention in high-risk patients, although there is an approximately 55% chance that the PFBA intervention is cost-effective compared with the control.

TABLE 14 Results of the PSA, NHS/PSS perspective, in the high-risk trial

	WTP	
	£20,000	£30,000
eBl vs. control (%)	29.9	29.4
PFBA vs. control (%)	54.0	55.6



FIGURE 12 Cost-effectiveness plane: PFBA vs. control, NHS/PSS perspective, in the high-risk trial.

Discussion

The results of both the low- and the high-risk trials showed that we were able to recruit a sufficient number of participants to each trial to meet our target recruitment informed by the power calculation. We were also able to exceed the minimum follow-up targets in both trials. Both trials were therefore adequately powered to detect significant differences between intervention groups on our primary outcome measure.

Analyses of baseline characteristics comparing different intervention groups showed that the groups were well matched based on our randomisation methods reducing the risk of bias in detecting effects in both trials. To further mitigate potential bias, we also controlled for key baseline characteristics in outcome analyses.

In the low-risk trial, no significant differences in outcome were found between groups on either primary or secondary outcome measures. The additional post hoc calculation of the Bayes' factor supported the null hypothesis that PFBA and eBI are no more effective in reducing alcohol consumption in low-risk drinkers than screening alone. However, we did find that higher baseline consumption, lower age of first drink, older age, being female, greater positive alcohol expectancy and greater alcohol-related problems at baseline predicted higher levels of drinking at 12 months follow-up, which is similar to previous research findings.

The economic analysis undertaken for the low-risk cohort showed that, from both the societal and the NHS/PSS perspectives, the eBI generated more costs and slightly fewer QALYs and was thus dominated by the control, whereas the PFBA intervention generated higher costs and slightly more QALYs than the control, resulting in unacceptably large ICERs.

Probabilistic sensitivity analysis showed that the eBI was cost-effective in between 8% and 9% of simulations at the £20,000 and £30,000 WTP thresholds, respectively, for both the social and the NHS/PSS perspectives, and between 26% and 33% of simulations at the £20,000 and £30,000 WTP thresholds, respectively, for the PFBA intervention.

As there was very little difference observed in utility between the interventions and the control, the differences observed in the cost-effectiveness analyses were driven by costs. There was also very little difference observed in resource use between the intervention groups and the control group, therefore the difference observed in costs was due to the cost of the intervention. The health economic analysis supported the null hypothesis that neither PFBA nor eBI is more cost-effective than screening alone in low-risk drinkers.

In the high-risk trial, no significant differences in outcome were found between the intervention groups on either primary or secondary outcome measures. The additional post hoc calculation of the Bayes' factor supported the null hypothesis that PFBA and eBI are not more effective in reducing alcohol consumption in high-risk drinkers than screening alone. The health economic analysis also supported the null hypothesis that PFBA and eBI are not more effective in high-risk drinkers. Predictors of increased alcohol consumption at 12 months were similar to those in the low-risk study: higher baseline consumption, being female, older age, younger age at first drink, greater alcohol-related positive expectancy and greater alcohol-related problems.

The economic analysis undertaken for the high-risk cohort showed that, from both the societal and NHS/PSS perspectives, the eBI generated more costs and slightly less QALYs and was thus dominated by the control; whereas the PFBA intervention generated higher costs and QALYs of negligible difference than the control, resulting in ICERs of £7580 and £6213 per QALY, respectively.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: INIRH Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Probabilistic sensitivity analysis showed that the eBI was cost-effective in between 26% and 30% of simulations at the £20,000 and £30,000 WTP thresholds, respectively, for both the social and the NHS/PSS perspectives, and between 54% and 56% of simulations at the £20,000 and £30,000 WTP thresholds, respectively, for the PFBA intervention.

Although the analyses showed that the PFBA intervention has a chance of being cost-effective when compared with control, the distribution of the bootstrapped ICERs showed that there is a wide distribution due to a large level of variability and uncertainty in the model parameters.

As there was very little difference observed in utility between the interventions and the control, the differences observed in the cost-effectiveness analyses were, again, driven by costs. In general, very little difference was observed in the resource use between the intervention groups and the control group, though social care resulted in some large observed costs.

In both trials, we found that engagement with the eBI was low in participants randomised to eBI. One-third of participants engaged with the eBI platform after leaving EDs. This may have limited the impact of the eBI compared with the control intervention. However, as these were pragmatic trials, this is likely to be the level of engagement expected in the typical patient recruited from an ED.

Low app usage or engagement is a common issue. The vast majority of apps, and other online interventions, are not used 1 month after they are downloaded.¹⁴⁶ We also know that patients are less likely to engage in extended interventions when the onus to engage is on them.^{131,147,148}

A large proportion of the literature based on eBI has focused on the provision of websites as opposed to smartphone apps.⁷⁴ Arguably, the most important problem with developing an effective eBI app is engaging participants enough for them to find it useful.

Engagement can be defined as how a user interacts with and experiences the technology in question.¹⁴⁹ The method of measuring engagement varies depending on what subjects are being engaged with. For example, engagement and usage patterns of smartphone apps can be measured using the pattern of downloads, number of page visits and average session lengths. Usage patterns can be used to determine the most and least useful features of an app and identify user's preferences to improve engagement and outcomes. Bewick *et al.*¹⁵⁰ demonstrated the value of participant engagement with a web based electronic intervention in achieving a reduction in the consumption of alcohol. Further evidence has emerged on user preferences for content, features and style, and strategies to improve engagement.^{149,151,152} However, recent findings from two personalised alcohol interventions apps [Drinks Metre (version 2.5.0, Global Drug Survey Ltd, London, UK) and OneTooMany] for young adults have found no impact on their risky drinking.¹⁵³

Exploring adolescent perspectives on participation in alcohol intervention research based in emergency care (the SIPS Junior trials): a qualitative study

The aim of this part of the work programme was to explore the acceptability of trial tools and processes to young people presenting to EDs. Although assessments of acceptability have received increasing focus in recent years,¹⁵⁴ there is no clear consensus as to how acceptability should be defined and measured.¹⁵⁴ In this work the authors consider that, to be acceptable, research and intervention processes should be not only appropriate, comprehensible, effective and well received by participants but also ethical. The latter is particularly key in work with young adolescents, as there is debate about the extent to which they can and should participate in treatment and also in research about treatment and care.^{155–157} In addition, the issue of whether or not adolescents should rely on parental consent to participate in research (or indeed treatment per se) is increasingly contested, with a growing view that adolescents should have the opportunity to contribute to these decisions themselves, albeit with due consideration of their developmental capacity to understand the implication that participation might have for them.^{157,158}

Although there is a distinction between clinical and research ethics,¹⁵⁹ recent work that has argued that the distinction between what is research and what is care can be overemphasised,¹⁶⁰ especially when it comes to pragmatic effectiveness research,^{161,162} which is embedded in clinical practice and ultimately aims to achieve practical, timely care improvement.¹⁶¹ As this study was based in routine practice, the contemporary view that clinical and research ethics are relatively indistinct was taken and the widely accepted four principles of biomedical ethics outlined by Beauchamp and Childress¹⁶³ were deemed to provide a suitable and crucially simple framework to guide our analysis and data interpretation.

As such, this section draws on the four key principles of research ethics – autonomy, beneficence, non-maleficence and justice¹⁶³ – to explore adolescents' perspectives about their participation in two linked alcohol intervention trials described above. We considered these principles in relation to two key aspects of the research process:

- consent and enrolment procedures, which governed how young people were approached, how they
 experienced explanation of the study and how consent was understood and given for individuals to
 become research participants
- SBI activities, which related to the actual study procedures that were delivered to and experienced by young participants and which varied according to the trial arm to which they had been randomly allocated.

Four principles of research ethics outlined by Beauchamp and Childress:¹⁶³

autonomy – the right of an individual to make their own choice beneficence – the principle of acting with the best interest of the other in mind non-maleficence – do no harm, as stated in the Hippocratic Oath justice – a concept that emphasises fairness and equality among individuals.

A purposive sample of participants was selected from the pool of participants in the two linked trials, across the three intervention arms, for interviews about their experience of being involved in the research and the acceptability of receiving the interventions.

We used semistructured interviews to structure the conversations, covering issues relating to consent by young people aged 14–17 years; alcohol screening; the baseline questionnaire and the burden on emergency care; and young people's experiences of intervention delivery.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Individual interviews were preferred to focus groups for practical reasons, as it would have been too difficult to organise a focus group meeting with participants from 10 different geographical areas.

An initial framework for coding based on participants' experience and understanding of the different stages of the research process (approach, screening, intervention and follow-up) was developed and employed to analyse interview transcripts. The four guiding principles of biomedical ethics were then employed to structure coding, data analysis and interpretation and to provide a framework for discussing the findings.

A paper incorporating an extended analysis has been submitted for publication¹⁶⁴ and is reproduced in full in *Appendix 2*.

Our analysis shows that the majority of participants understood the context of the study, including the fact that participation was voluntary, and they seemed to grasp most aspects of the complex SBI procedures. Participant reports focused on the ease of process as well as the benefits of employing technology. Furthermore, the study interventions were generally seen as acceptable, relevant and helpful to participants, who welcomed having something to do while waiting for treatment in the ED.

Although findings do not differ greatly from those we would expect in adult populations, interviews were often fairly brief, with more curtailed responses than one might expect when working with adult participants. Harden *et al.*¹⁶⁵ query the assumption that a young person who talks less during an interview has provided fewer data, suggesting instead that this young person has provided an account in their own words. In this case, the shorter responses are interpreted as offering an authentic account of adolescents' participation in the research and also a demonstration of the lack of demand characteristics influencing interview responses. Indeed, comparison across interviews reveal that older participants, who were approaching adulthood, tended to provide longer, more in-depth responses than younger participants. For example, when asked how clearly the researcher had explained the study and if they knew that taking part was voluntary, a 17-year-old participant responded:

Yes, everything was made clear to me. All the ethical considerations were made clear to me, that I could pull out at any point.

Male, 17, south, high-risk, control

By contrast, a 14-year-old simply stated, 'Yeah' (female, 14, north, high-risk, control), and repeated this response when probes such as 'did you know that you didn't have to take part if you didn't want to?' were used to explore understanding in more depth.

The findings have implications for future trials. Although the majority of participants showed good understanding of the study, there were some instances of a lack of recall about the study and understanding of the randomisation procedure was particularly limited. Thus, it is imperative that information be provided in a clear succinct manner, that opportunities for participants to seek clarification are provided and that researchers check participants' understanding before proceeding. When complex research designs are employed, this may be just as important when working with adults as it is with young people.

All participants seemed to be in favour of young people participating in research, even on a potentially sensitive topic such as alcohol use. It is possible that participants who agreed to be interviewed were those who were more engaged with the research and may have held better informed or more positive views about our trial or research participation in general. Nevertheless, it was striking across our range of narrative accounts that the young people in our study displayed good understanding about research participation and the ability to assess the scope for benefit and harm, not only for themselves but also potentially for other people. This should offer reassurance for those seeking to conduct research with adolescents.

There are also implications for future intervention research. Previous research in the field of brief interventions, and especially those related to alcohol use, has tended to focus on adult populations.¹⁶⁶ The need for more research in this area is illustrated by the fact that over half (n = 15) of our participants were identified as drinking at risky levels and enrolled in the high-risk trial, and young people who had not started to consume alcohol accepted the intervention as useful for 'when' (not 'if') they eventually started drinking alcohol. That alcohol consumption was already framed as inevitable at the time of screening in our trial makes it seem crucial that young people have access to high-quality information and advice that can enable them to take steps to reduce potential health risk in the future.

We found no indication that brief intervention methods cannot or should not be employed with young people. The participants interviewed were able to understand what was being proposed and were able to provide informed consent, and welcomed being treated with respect for their autonomy. There was no evidence to support fears that talking about alcohol with young people will necessarily lead to early initiation of alcohol consumption or have a negative effect on existing drinking behaviours. On the contrary, a number of participants identified that education in this area is important because alcohol is a part of adolescents' lives. Most of our participants already appeared to possess a clear sense that alcohol use could pose a health risk to them. Davison *et al.*¹⁶⁷ coined the term 'lay epidemiology' to describe the way in which beliefs and values about health and causes of disease are gained from one's own experiences, as well as what is witnessed through popular media, family and social networks.¹⁶⁸ Although such knowledge may have some utility, it is important that young people are provided with accurate information from reputable sources to combine with the knowledge gained from other areas, to allow them to make informed decisions about their own health behaviour.

However, parental presence during screening and intervention may limit disclosure or lead to socially desirable responding. The involvement of parents or carers in the process was accepted by many, especially if the young person was not currently drinking or if their alcohol use was already known. Yet some young people were less comfortable about parental involvement or gate-keeping within the study and felt this might inhibit both their own and others' ability to speak or participate freely. Although parental involvement could create a home environment with increased parental supervision and a clear awareness of alcohol risk, which has been shown to influence adolescent alcohol consumption^{169,170} where the presence of parents restricts disclosure, it may also restrict intervention delivery for those who could benefit most. The fact that young people were able to provide consent under Gillick competence means that intervention procedures need not always involve parents, which should encourage more confidence when working with young people.

Even in the absence of parents, there was indication that some participants may have felt the need to provide socially desirable responses or to hide the reason they were attending the ED. Therefore, researchers need to find ways of explaining (or reassuring adolescents) that being open in the research process will not lead to them being judged and, wherever possible, provide a private environment in which confidentiality can be assured.

Young people aged 14–17 years seemed to be enthusiastic about receiving information about alcohol use that they felt to be relevant to their current and future lifestyles. The participants in this study also reported that the ED was a suitable context both for the delivery of interventions and for the conduction of research. Young people welcomed the invitation to participate in research, especially when it specifically related to their age group. They demonstrated the ability to understand the implications of participation, making informed decisions by weighing the costs and benefits both to themselves and to wider society. Further research exploring the effectiveness of brief interventions for alcohol use in adolescent populations is recommended.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.
Overall conclusions

This research programme was designed to address key gaps in the evidence base for the most effective and cost-effective screening, and brief interventions for at-risk adolescent heavy drinkers in EDs. As a consequence of extensive engagement with young people and parents, we changed the direction of the research considerably from that originally planned. In particular, this patient and public involvement identified the greater acceptability and potential of electronic data collection and intervention delivery with adolescents, which had not been considered at the application stage. Although eSBIs have been previously studied, they have received limited attention to date in younger adolescents. A systematic review and meta-analysis conducted as part of this programme revealed promising findings about the efficacy of eSBIs.

Consequently, in collaboration with application developers, we developed two electronic applications for use in this programme: (1) a bespoke data collection and trial management tool and (2) an eBI, SIPS City app. The data collection and trial management tool much reduced the cost of conducting several aspects of the research, which in turn allowed us to carry out two linked RCTs that were larger than planned in the original budget.

Our first work package carried out a large-scale prevalence study of 5376 10- to 17-year-olds attending 10 EDs across England. Again, the patient and public involvement work facilitated successful implementation. It influenced our informed consent procedures for adolescents aged < 16 years and was helpful in obtaining NHS research ethics approval. We followed up this issue in work package 3, a qualitative study with a sample of participants in the RCTs, to explore participants' experience of taking part in research and investigate whether or not we achieved the ethics requirements for clinical research. We found that young people welcomed invitations to participate in research, especially when it related to their own age group. They clearly understood the implications of participation, making informed decisions by weighing the costs and benefits both to themselves and to wider society. This will be helpful in informing future research in this age group.

In work package 1, we established the prevalence of hazardous drinking and AUDs in young people attending EDs, using validated research tools delivered mostly by an electronic application. We were further able to validate short alcohol screening tools, AUDIT and AUDIT-C, against standard research interview methods (Timeline Followback), and establish age-appropriate cut-off points. These tools will have wide application in the NHS, as the validity of these short screening approaches in this population was previously unknown. Indeed, Public Health England has already issued clinical guidance to EDs on alcohol screening in adolescents based on this research.¹⁷¹

Beyond validation of short screening tools against research standard methods, we were also able to explore the clinical significance of hazardous and harmful drinking levels in this population. We found that the clinical cut off for hazardous drinking derived from this research was strongly associated with a wide range of adverse health and social consequences. This research also provided support for the Chief Medical Officer's guidance on alcohol consumption before the age of 15 years, showing that any consumption before this age was strongly associated with increased risk of a wide range of health and social adverse consequences.⁷

In work package 2, we again made extensive use of our partnerships with national and local organisations to develop age-appropriate and acceptable interventions for this population. This radically changed the approaches proposed in the original application through feedback from young people and parents. In particular, we were able to develop an age-appropriate electronic alcohol brief intervention application in collaboration with young people and specialist application developers. We produced an age-appropriate brief intervention that could be disseminated for use in the NHS. We also developed a bespoke SIPS Trial Management app (version 3.14, King's College London, London, UK) for use on iPads and other electronic platforms; this was acceptable to patients and much reduced the cost of conducting the clinical trials. It also allowed us to conduct two linked randomised trials in work package 3, which were considerably

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

larger than planned in the original application. The application also allowed us to manage trial recruitment and data collection much more efficiently in real time by uploading trial data to a central server.

In work package 3, we had the benefit of our previous prevalence study in refining our recruitment methods to include 14- to 17-year-olds. The trial management application we developed for work package 3, built on our screening application from work package 1. Questionnaire content was adapted for the trials, and we developed additional consent and randomisation features and the capability to record a random sample of interventions to examine the fidelity of delivering the interventions. We extensively piloted this with patient and public involvement representatives before the trial went live, thus achieving effective implementation of the trial protocol across the 10 EDs. In total, we recruited 1640 participants to the two trials: 756 high-risk drinkers and 884 low-risk drinkers or abstainers. Together with higher follow-up than predicted at 6 and 12 months, this provided two adequately powered RCTs, both of which compared two forms of brief intervention with screening alone. To our knowledge, these were the first large effectiveness trials in this population, and the study design addressed many of the shortcomings of previous trials. However, face-to-face PFBA and eBI were no more clinically effective or cost-effective than screening alone. We are conducting further analysis of both the application usage data and qualitative interviews with participants to gain greater understanding of how the interventions were perceived and used by participants. This will inform further development of the interventions for study in future research.

Hence, the research programme has advanced our understanding of the nature and prevalence of AUDs in adolescents and provided a firm foundation for future research to improve care for this population. Based on this work, we have conducted a new programme of research on eSBI and young adults and developed a new alcohol screening and intervention app (BRANCH). This was conducted as part of the National Institute for Health Research Collaborations for Leadership in Applied Health Research South London. This research was informed by our earlier work on eSBI in this programme and explored strategies to enhance engagement with digital interventions in young adults.

Recommendations for future research

- We found that the risks of drinking are not restricted to those with an early onset. Future studies should explore how the risks associated with drinking alcohol vary by age at onset in more detail.
- A limitation of the eBI was that only one-third of participants engaged with the application after leaving the ED; this is likely to have limited the effect of the eBI. We recommend that future research focus on methods to maximise engagement with digital interventions and evaluate the effect of such engagement on clinical outcomes.
- Our study identified only a small proportion of young people who attended EDs in an intoxicated state, about 1%, and in workstream 1 a proportion of those surveyed exhibited symptoms associated with alcohol dependence. Although this proportion is smaller than similarly intoxicated adults presenting to ED, they have substantial alcohol-related health, psychological and social problems and consume more health and social care resources than young people in general. Research is needed to identify clear treatment pathways and liaison with external agencies to address the needs of this population.
- There is a paucity of research addressing the longitudinal epidemiology of alcohol using young people, and research that employs large-scale longitudinal data sets has the potential to provide additional information on the relationship between drinking in adolescence and future health, social and economic costs.
- Our qualitative research showed that young people welcome invitations to participate in research. This should encourage greater clinical research in this population rather than speculatively extrapolating research findings from adult populations to adolescents.
- A greater consensus in the reporting of outcome measures and more uniform reporting of the content and theoretical basis of eSBIs would generate more robust conclusions on the effectiveness of eSBIs in reducing alcohol consumption and alcohol-related harms in the longer term.

Implication for practice

A simple three-item self-completed screening instrument, the AUDIT-C, is generally more effective than the full 10-item AUDIT in identifying adolescents who engage in at-risk alcohol consumption or heavy episodic alcohol use and fulfil the ICD-10 criteria for harmful alcohol use. Furthermore, the 10-item AUDIT with a cut-off score of 7 is more efficient than the AUDIT-C in identifying adolescents with alcohol dependence. In addition, the AUDIT-C and AUDIT are widely employed as screening tools for adults in clinical and non-clinical settings and these can be applied to adolescent populations with lower cut-off scores. We conclude that the AUDIT-C could be used with this population with a cut-off score of 3 as a positive screen for at-risk drinking, monthly heavy episodic alcohol use and harmful alcohol use. For those who score \geq 5 on the AUDIT-C, we recommend the use of the additional seven questions constituting the full AUDIT. Those scoring \geq 7 should be clinically assessed for alcohol dependence.

We also found that face-to-face PFBA and eBIs were no more clinically effective or cost-effective than screening alone in reducing alcohol consumption in the high-risk group and preventing it in the low-risk group. Hence, the roll-out of these interventions is not supported by evidence.

Dissemination

A range of dissemination activities occurred throughout the programme to facilitate the progress of the programme. These included presentations to national and international conferences and the setting up of a dedicated website at URL: www.sipsjunior.net (accessed 17 May 2019).

The main public/policy and academic dissemination activities are listed in Acknowledgements, Publications.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank the NHS clinical and nursing staff at our study sites, study participants and their families for their help and support in the prosecution of this research programme, as well as those who contributed to the production of this report.

Patient and public involvement organisations

Parenting UK, Family and Parenting Institute, British Youth Council and The Well Centre/Redthread.

Participating emergency departments

Prevalence study in work package 1

St Thomas' Hospital, London; King's College Hospital, London; University Hospital Lewisham, London; Ealing Hospital, London; Hull Royal Infirmary, Hull; Darlington Memorial Hospital, Darlington; Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Gateshead; University Hospital of North Tees, Hartlepool; South Tyneside District Hospital, South Shields; and James Cook University Hospital, Middlesbrough.

Randomised controlled trials in work package 3

St Thomas' Hospital, London; King's College Hospital, London; Ealing Hospital, London; Croydon University Hospital, Croydon; Hull Royal Infirmary, Hull; Darlington Memorial Hospital, Darlington; Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Gateshead; University Hospital of North Tees, Hartlepool; South Tyneside District Hospital, South Shields; and Sunderland Royal Hospital, Sunderland.

List of researchers who participated in the data collection of work package 1

Sadie Boniface, Zoe Davey, Kideshini Widyaratna, Ashley Brewer, Natasha Muzengi, Victoria Brooks, Catherine Elzerbi, Jurate Dudley, Natalie Wood, Andri Kyriacou, Kwame Appiah-Dwomoh, Hannah Boardman, Charlene Colegate, Miriam Adesokan, Mohamed Pujeh, Ruth Brennen, Rachelle Tipler, Lewis Owusu-afriyie, Adrianne Appiah-dwomoh, Carlene Parchment, Natalie Appiah-Dwomoh, Lorraine Omari-Asor, Amy Wolstenholme, Abimbola Alabi, Helen Rand, Victoria Ratti, Melissa Ashe, Adeyinka Kumuyui, Angelica Kakouratos, Theodorah Nago, Miriam Cottle, Alissa Williams, Hazel Harrop, Abel Jalloh, Shari Chitando, Jade Jones, Fiona Watson, Caroline Mckenna, James Martin, Clare Gray, Andrea Mulligan, Alison Cairns, Lucy Adamson, Cherry Raymond, Rebecca Reed, Joanne Boyd, Dot Turton, Jane Weston, Carly Forbes, Christine Mayne, Lynne Hayward, Liz Fowles, Louisa Atkinson, Gillian Lathan, Leanne Collins, Monica Jullian, Michelle Allen, Anne Gourlay, Karen Lindsau, Jacqui Jones, Jill Mcmillan, Susan Beech, Sarah Dean, Rebecca Collinson, Stephanie Harrison, Arantxa Baglietto, Karen Bibbings, Ruth Mcgovern, Dee Lewis, Graeme Wilson, Amy O'Donnell, Julie Dickinson, Steph O'Neil, Kath Parkinson, Thomas Phillips, Rachel Simpson, Cara Gates, Emma Medford, Laura Hermann, Meg Beadle, Kelly Nelson, Paul Burnett, Sian Copeland, John Tomlinson, Marie Burdett, Paul Bryan, Julie Caldwell, Steve Lundie, Tim Turner, Sarah Hurst, Angie Newman, Paul Williams, James Tovell, Isaac Narh, Vicky Taylor, Heather Marley, Sharon Stevens, Wendy Cheadle, Tarn Nozedar, Amanda Cowton, Andrea Whitehouse, Elaine Garrett, Jill Deane, Sheila Blenkin, Lorna Morgan, Glynis Rose, Gil Horner, Julie Colarossi, Claire Martin, Irene Sambath, Sue Leach, Philippa Laverick, Linda Mcnamee, Linder Tinkler, Carly Brown, Paul Coyne, Jackie Stove, Shelia Blenkin, Natasha Newell, Lisa Wayman, Sarah Welsh, Karen Woode, Lisa Godwin, Tracey Gore, Amy Bennison, Marie Presgrave, Dorothy Newbury-Birch, June Battram, Lindsey Hines, Georgina Forden, Delah Akomah, Simon Flynn, Megan Lawrence, Carole Milburn, Gemma Musson and Ursula Balderson.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

List of researchers who have participated in the data collection and follow-up stages of work package 3

Ruth McGovern, Jen Bradley, Matt Breckons, Emma Simpson, Hayley Alderson, Kirsten Hall, Jen Birch, Paul Corrigan, Jamie Rea, Emily Clare, Carly Brown, Andrea Mulligan, Lisa McDougall, Kenn Walker, Jan Milner, Steph Ogilvie, Steven Elliott, Gillian Lathan, Ashley Lowe, Nicola Connor, Lisa Dingwall, Samantha Nesbitt, Joanne Firman, Alice Hunt, Amanpreet Banga, Amy Wolstenholme, Delah Akomah, Ellen McDonald, Hannah Rose, Jon Jezak, Jordan Quinn, Kim Mihaljevic, Lauren Schumacher, Melissa Ashe, Rebecca McDonald, Sadi Boniface, Saira Shamim, Sarah Feehan, Tajinder Rai, Vera Forjaz, Vicky Brooks, Michelle Lee, Abel Jalloh, Paul Burnett, Carol Taylor, Helen Garvey, Lydia Bromley, Kate Cheung, Paul Williams, Hilary Thornton, Thomas Phillips, Gayle Clifford, Madeleine Duffy, Lyndsey Dixon, Sue Leach, Deborah Smart, Liam Spencer, Anne Marie Ianzito, Louise Carr, Mohamed Pujeh, Sarah Chamberlin, Chidimma Onyejiaka, Tara Harvey, Antionette McNulty, Pat Daly, Val Dun-Toroosian, Lorraine O'Connell, Lesley Haley, Danielle Walker, Anthony Kennedy, Lesley Alderton, Sheila Blenkin, Jill Deane, Amanda Cowton, Tarn Nozedar, Emma Grey, Chloe Barclay, Mandy Porritt, Natasha Newell, Elaine Garett, Kirsty Banham, Julie Gray, Susan Crawford, Debbie Wilson, Wendy Cheadle, June Battram, Julie Colarossi, Claire Irish, Gabrielle Osborne, Heather Marley, Jason Pickering, Karolina Bogdanowicz, Catherine Elzerbi, Susan Kelsey, Hannah Kaner, Andrea Mulligan, Rebecca Reed, Stephanie Ogilvie, Erin Graybill, Sasha Taylor, Wendy Hall, Louise Tam, Naomi Bateman, Liz Jacques, Khatiba Raja, Tom Bramhall, Samantha Lovely and Simon Flynn.

Members of the Independent Steering Committee

Chairperson, Professor Paul Wallace; members, Professor Ian White, Dr Lynn Owens, Professor Jim McCambridge, Professor Mat Hickman and Professor Jonathan Chick.

Software developer

We also thank Richard McGregor and Danny Berzon at Codeface Ltd (Hove, UK) for developing the trial management app and the eBI app (SIPS City).

Contributions of authors

Paolo Deluca (Senior Research Fellow/Senior Lecturer) was a co-applicant and the programme manager. He contributed to study design and protocol writing. He was responsible for study management, oversight of study conduct, and the writing and final editing of the report. He co-led the development of the SIPS Jr City app, as well as the trial management app, and is the corresponding author.

Simon Coulton (Professor of Health Services Studies) was a co-applicant. He contributed to study design and writing the protocol. He contributed to study management as a member of the Programme Management Group (PMG) and contributed to the writing and final editing of the report. He led the methodological and statistical aspects, wrote the statistical analysis plan, provided statistical support and performed the statistical analysis of the study.

Mohammed Fasihul Alam (Research Fellow, Health Economist) contributed to study design, particularly the health economics, and writing the protocol. He contributed to study management as a member of the PMG, and to the writing and final editing of the report.

Sadie Boniface (Research Fellow) was the local trial co-ordinator. She contributed to data collection and study management as a member of the PMG, and to the writing and final editing of the report.

Kim Donoghue (Research Fellow) contributed to study design and writing the protocol, contributed to study management as a member of the PMG, and to the writing and final editing of the report.

Eilish Gilvarry (Consultant Psychiatrist in Addictions) was a co-applicant. She contributed to study design and writing the protocol, provided clinical advice, contributed to study management as a member of the PMG, and to the writing and final editing of the report.

Eileen Kaner (Professor of Public Health and Primary Care Research) was a co-applicant. She contributed to study design and writing the protocol, contributed to study management as a member of the PMG, contributed to the writing and final editing of the report, and led on the qualitative components.

Ellen Lynch (Research Fellow) was the local trial co-ordinator. She contributed to data collection and study management as a member of the PMG, and to the writing and final editing of the report.

Ian Maconochie (Consultant in Paediatric Emergency Medicine) was a co-applicant. He contributed to study design and writing the protocol, provided clinical advice, contributed to study management as a member of the PMG, and to the writing and final editing of the report.

Paul McArdle (Child and Adolescent Psychiatrist) was a co-applicant. He contributed to study design and writing the protocol, provided clinical advice, contributed to study management as a member of the PMG, and to the writing and final editing of the report.

Ruth McGovern (Senior Research Associate) was the local trial co-ordinator. She contributed to data collection and study management as a member of the PMG, contributed to the writing and final editing of the report, and led on patient and public involvement and engagement activities in Newcastle.

Dorothy Newbury-Birch (Professor of Alcohol and Public Research) was a co-applicant. She contributed to study design and writing the protocol, contributed to study management as a member of the PMG, and to the writing and final editing of the report.

Robert Patton (Research Fellow/Lecturer in Clinical Psychology) was a co-applicant and local trial co-ordinator. He contributed to study design and writing the protocol, contributed to study management as a member of the PMG, and to the writing and final editing of the report. He led on patient and public involvement and engagement activities in London and co-led the development of the SIPS Jr City app, as well as the Trial Management app.

Tracy Pellatt-Higgins (Senior Research Fellow and Statistician) was responsible for the statistical analysis and reporting of the data. This included presenting summaries of the data and primary and secondary analysis results and the interpretation of results. She contributed to the writing and final editing of the report.

Ceri Phillips (Professor of Health Economics) contributed to study design and writing the protocol, contributed to study management as a member of the PMG, and to the writing and final editing of the report. She led the health economics components of the programme and provided health economic supervision and advice.

Thomas Phillips (National Institute for Health Research Research Fellow and Deputy Director for Nursing and Quality) was a co-applicant. He contributed to study design and writing the protocol, to study management as a member of the PMG, and to the writing and final editing of the report. He co-led the development of the SIPS Jr City app, as well as the Trial Management app, and provided clinical advice.

Rhys Pockett (Epidemiologist) contributed to the health economic components and the health economic analysis plan, and conducted the health economic analysis. He contributed to study management as a member of the PMG, and to the writing and final editing of the report.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: INIRH Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Ian T Russell (Professor of Clinical Trials) was a co-applicant. He contributed to study design and writing the protocol, to study management as a member of the PMG, and to the writing and final editing of the report.

John Strang (Professor of Psychiatry of Addictions) was a co-applicant. He contributed to study design and writing the protocol, contributed to study management as a member of the PMG, and to the writing and final editing of the report.

Colin Drummond (Professor of Addiction Psychiatry) was the chief investigator for this programme. He contributed to study design and protocol writing, study management, oversight of study conduct, and to the initial writing and final editing of the report.

All authors also provided a critical review and final approval of the report. They all agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work.

Publications

Donoghue K, Patton R, Phillips T, Deluca P, Drummond C. The effectiveness of electronic screening and brief intervention for reducing levels of alcohol consumption: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Med Internet Res* 2014;**16**:e142.

Patton R, Deluca P, Kaner E, Newbury-Birch D, Phillips T, Drummond C. Alcohol screening and brief intervention for adolescents: the how, what and where of reducing alcohol consumption and related harm among young people. *Alcohol Alcohol* 2014;**49**:207–12.

Deluca P, Coulton S, Alam MF, Cohen D, Donoghue K, Gilvarry E, *et al.* Linked randomised controlled trials of face-to-face and electronic brief intervention methods to prevent alcohol related harm in young people aged 14-17 years presenting to Emergency Departments (SIPS junior). *BMC Public Health* 2015;**15**:345.

Elzerbi C, Donoghue K, Drummond C. A comparison of outcomes for brief interventions to reduce hazardous and harmful alcohol consumption between European and non-European countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Addiction* 2015;**110**:1082–91.

Rose H, Coulton S, Lynskey M, Drummond C. Adolescent alcohol beverage preferences and related harms: a latent class analysis. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2015;**39**:139A.

Deluca P, Drummond C, Coulton S, Boniface S, Donoghue K, Gilvarry E, *et al.* Optimal screening tool for underage drinking: findings from the SIPS Jr programme. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2016;**40**:237A.

Milward J, Deluca P, Khadjesari Z, Watson R, Fincham-Campbell S, Drummond C. Making electronic interventions engaging: Development of a smartphone app targeting harmful drinking in young adults. *Addict Sci Clin Pract* 2016;**11**:A27.

Milward J, Khadjesari Z, Fincham-Campbell S, Deluca P, Watson R, Drummond C. User preferences for content, features, and style for an app to reduce harmful drinking in young adults: analysis of user feedback in app stores and focus group interviews. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth* 2016;**4**:e47.

Deluca P, Coulton S, Alam F, Cohen D, Donoghue K, Gilvarry E, et al. Effectiveness and Cost effectiveness of a Smartphone Based Electronic Alcohol Intervention for Adolescents. Findings From the SIPS JR Trials. International Network on Brief Interventions for Alcohol and Other Drugs, 13–15 September 2017, New York, NY, USA, conference abstract.

Donoghue K, Rose H, Boniface S, Deluca P, Coulton S, Alam M, *et al.* Risk of alcohol and other health-related consequences with increased consumption and early onset of drinking among adolescents presenting at emergency departments. *J Adolesc Health* 2017;**60**:438–46.

Elzerbi C, Donoghue K, Boniface S, Drummond C. Variance in the efficacy of brief interventions in emergency departments to reduce hazardous and harmful alcohol consumption between injury and non-injury patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *Ann Emerg Med* 2017;**70**:714–23.

Coulton S, Alam MF, Boniface S, Deluca P, Donoghue K, Gilvarry E, *et al.* Opportunistic screening for alcohol use problems in adolescents attending emergency departments: an evaluation of screening tools. *J Public Health* 2019;**41**:e53–60.

Lynch E, McGovern R, Elzerbi C, Breckons M, Deluca P, Drummond C, *et al.* Adolescent perspectives about their participation in alcohol intervention research in emergency care: a qualitative exploration using ethical principles as an analytical framework. *PLOS ONE* 2019;**14**:e0217855.

Data-sharing statement

All data requests should be submitted to the corresponding author for consideration. Access to anonymised data may be granted following review. Exclusive use will be retained until the publication of major outputs.

Patient data

This work uses data provided by patients and collected by the NHS as part of their care and support. Using patient data is vital to improve health and care for everyone. There is huge potential to make better use of information from people's patient records, to understand more about disease, develop new treatments, monitor safety, and plan NHS services. Patient data should be kept safe and secure, to protect everyone's privacy, and it's important that there are safeguards to make sure that it is stored and used responsibly. Everyone should be able to find out about how patient data are used. #datasaveslives You can find out more about the background to this citation here: https://understandingpatientdata.org.uk/data-citation.

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

References

- 1. Ofori-Adjei D, Casswell S, Drummond DC, Wei H, Medina-Mora ME, Ranganathan S, et al. World Health Organization Expert Committee on Problems Related to Alcohol Consumption. Second Report. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2007.
- Rehm J, Mathers C, Popova S, Thavorncharoensap M, Teerawattananon Y, Patra J. Global burden of disease and injury and economic cost attributable to alcohol use and alcohol-use disorders. *Lancet* 2009;**373**:2223–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60746-7
- Bellis MA, Phillips-Howard PA, Hughes K, Hughes S, Cook PA, Morleo M, et al. Teenage drinking, alcohol availability and pricing: a cross-sectional study of risk and protective factors for alcohol-related harms in school children. BMC Public Health 2009;9:380. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-9-380
- 4. Fuller E. *Drug Use, Smoking and Drinking Among Young People in England in 2007*. London: National Centre for Social Research, National Foundation for Educational Research; 2008.
- 5. Fuller E. Smoking, Drinking and Drug Use Among Young People in England in 2011. Leeds: NHS Digital; 2012.
- 6. Hibbell B, Guttormsson U, Ahlstrom S, Balakireva O, Bjarnason T, Kokkevi A, et al. The 2007 ESPAD Report: Substance Use Among Students in 35 European Countries. Sweden: ESPAD; 2009.
- 7. Donaldson L. *Guidance on the Consumption of Alcohol by Children and Young People*. London: Department of Health and Social Care; 2009.
- Newbury-Birch D, Gilvarry E, McArdle P, Stewart S, Walker J, Lock C, et al. The Impact of Alcohol Consumption on Young People: A Review of Reviews. London: Department of Children Schools and Families; 2009.
- NHS Digital. Statistics on Alcohol: England, 2008. Leeds: NHS Digital; 2008. URL: www.digital.nhs.uk/ data-and-information/publications/statistical/statistics-on-alcohol/2008 (accessed 20 May 2019).
- Dawson DA, Goldstein RB, Chou SP, Ruan WJ, Grant BF. Age at first drink and the first incidence of adult-onset DSM-IV alcohol use disorders. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2008;**32**:2149–60. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1530-0277.2008.00806.x
- Hingson RW, Heeren T, Winter MR. Age at drinking onset and alcohol dependence: age at onset, duration, and severity. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2006;160:739–46. https://doi.org/10.1001/ archpedi.160.7.739
- Zeigler DW, Wang CC, Yoast RA, Dickinson BD, McCaffree MA, Robinowitz CB, Sterling ML, Council on Scientific Affairs, American Medical Association. The neurocognitive effects of alcohol on adolescents and college students. *Prev Med* 2005;**40**:23–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed. 2004.04.044
- McCloud A, Barnaby B, Omu N, Drummond C, Aboud A. Relationship between alcohol use disorders and suicidality in a psychiatric population: in-patient prevalence study. *Br J Psychiatry* 2004;**184**:439–45. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.184.5.439
- Rehm J, Room R, Monteiro M, Gmel G, Graham K, Rehn N, et al. Alcohol as a risk factor for global burden of disease. Eur Addict Res 2003;9:157–64. https://doi.org/10.1159/000072222
- Thunström M. The alcohol intoxicated child and its prognosis. Acta Paediatr Scand 1988;77:3–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1651-2227.1988.tb10589.x
- 16. Rogers PD, Harris J, Jarmuskewicz J. Alcohol and adolescence. *Pediatr Clin North Am* 1987;**34**:289–303. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-3955(16)36215-0

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- Monti PM, Barnett NP, Colby SM, Gwaltney CJ, Spirito A, Rohsenow DJ, Woolard R. Motivational interviewing versus feedback only in emergency care for young adult problem drinking. *Addiction* 2007;**102**:1234–43. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2007.01878.x
- Monti PM, Colby SM, Barnett NP, Spirito A, Rohsenow DJ, Myers M, et al. Brief intervention for harm reduction with alcohol-positive older adolescents in a hospital emergency department. J Consult Clin Psychol 1999;67:989–94. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.67.6.989
- Maio RF, Shope JT, Blow FC, Gregor MA, Zakrajsek JS, Weber JE, Nypaver MM. A randomized controlled trial of an emergency department-based interactive computer program to prevent alcohol misuse among injured adolescents. *Ann Emerg Med* 2005;45:420–9. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2004.10.013
- Crawford MJ, Patton R, Touquet R, Drummond C, Byford S, Barrett B, et al. Screening and referral for brief intervention of alcohol-misusing patients in an emergency department: a pragmatic randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 2004;**364**:1334–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(04)17190-0
- Spirito A, Monti PM, Barnett NP, Colby SM, Sindelar H, Rohsenow DJ, et al. A randomized clinical trial of a brief motivational intervention for alcohol-positive adolescents treated in an emergency department. J Pediatr 2004;145:396–402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2004.04.057
- Barrett B, Byford S, Crawford M, Patton R, Drummond C, Henry J, et al. Cost-effectiveness of screening and referral to an alcohol health worker in alcohol misusing patients attending an accident and emergency department: a decision-making approach. *Drug Alcohol Depen* 2006;81:47–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2005.05.015
- 23. Stevens NG, Lyle S. Guidelines for adolescent preventive services: a critical review. The American Medical Association Department of Adolescent Health. J Am Board Fam Pract 1994;**7**:421–30.
- 24. Hingson R, White A. New research findings since the 2007 Surgeon General's Call to Action to Prevent and Reduce Underage Drinking: a review. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs* 2014;**75**:158–69. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsad.2014.75.158
- 25. World Health Organization. *Orientation Programme on Adolescent Health for Healthcare Providers*. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2006.
- 26. American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Substance Abuse. *Alcohol Use and Abuse*. Washington, DC: American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Substance Abuse; 2001.
- 27. Department of Health and Social Care. *Safe, Sensible, Social Consultation on Further Action*. London: Department of Health and Social Care; 2008.
- 28. Scottish Government. Changing Scotland's Relationship with Alcohol: A Framework for Action. Edinburgh: Scottish Government; 2013.
- 29. NHS Scotland. Understanding Alcohol Misuse in Scotland. Harmful Drinking. Five: Alcohol and Young People. Glasgow: NHS Scotland; 2008.
- Jackson R, Johnson M, Campbell F, Messina J, Guillaume L, Purshouse R, et al. Screening and Brief Interventions: Effectiveness Review to the National Institute for Health & Clinical Excellence. Sheffield: School of Health and Related Research, University of Sheffield; 2009.
- Clark DB, Moss HB. Providing alcohol-related screening and brief interventions to adolescents through health care systems: obstacles and solutions. *PLOS Med* 2010;**7**:e1000214. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000214
- Gregor MA, Shope JT, Blow FC, Maio RF, Weber JE, Nypaver MM. Feasibility of using an interactive laptop program in the emergency department to prevent alcohol misuse among adolescents. *Ann Emerg Med* 2003;**42**:276–84. https://doi.org/10.1067/mem.2003.265

- Ford CA, Millstein SG, Halpern-Felsher BL, Irwin CE. Influence of physician confidentiality assurances on adolescents' willingness to disclose information and seek future health care. A randomized controlled trial. JAMA 1997;278:1029–34. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1997. 03550120089044
- Kaner EF, Beyer F, Dickinson HO, Pienaar E, Campbell F, Schlesinger C, et al. Effectiveness of brief alcohol interventions in primary care populations. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2007;2:CD004148. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD004148.pub3
- 35. Poikolainen K. Effectiveness of brief interventions to reduce alcohol intake in primary health care populations: a meta-analysis. *Prev Med* 1999;**28**:503–9. https://doi.org/10.1006/pmed.1999.0467
- Bertholet N, Daeppen JB, Wietlisbach V, Fleming M, Burnand B. Reduction of alcohol consumption by brief alcohol intervention in primary care: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arch Intern Med* 2005;**165**:986–95. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.165.9.986
- Ballesteros JA, Duffy JC, Querejeta I, Arino J, Gonzalez-Pinto A. Efficacy of brief interventions for hazardous drinkers in primary care: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2004;28:608–18. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ALC.0000122106.84718.67
- 38. Carter MA. Review: brief multicontact behavioural counselling interventions in primary care reduce risky or harmful alcohol use. *Evid Based Nurs* 2004;**7**:108. https://doi.org/10.1136/ebn.7.4.108
- Boekeloo BO, Jerry J, Lee-Ougo WI, Worrell KD, Hamburger EK, Russek-Cohen E, Snyder MH. Randomized trial of brief office-based interventions to reduce adolescent alcohol use. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2004;158:635–42. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpedi.158.7.635
- D'Amico EJ, Miles JN, Stern SA, Meredith LS. Brief motivational interviewing for teens at risk of substance use consequences: a randomized pilot study in a primary care clinic. J Subst Abuse Treat 2008;35:53–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2007.08.008
- Peterson PL, Baer JS, Wells EA, Ginzler JA, Garrett SB. Short-term effects of a brief motivational intervention to reduce alcohol and drug risk among homeless adolescents. *Psychol Addict Behav* 2006;**20**:254–64. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-164X.20.3.254
- Bailey KA, Baker AL, Webster RA, Lewin TJ. Pilot randomized controlled trial of a brief alcohol intervention group for adolescents. *Drug Alcohol Rev* 2004;23:157–66. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 09595230410001704136
- Schaus JF, Sole ML, McCoy TP, Mullett N, O'Brien MC. Alcohol screening and brief intervention in a college student health center: a randomized controlled trial. J Stud Alcohol Drugs Suppl 2009;16:131–41. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsads.2009.s16.131
- 44. Degenhardt L, Chiu WT, Sampson N, Kessler RC, Anthony JC, Angermeyer M, *et al.* Toward a global view of alcohol, tobacco, cannabis, and cocaine use: findings from the WHO World Mental Health Surveys. *PLOS Med* 2008;**5**:e141. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.0050141
- Baird AA, Gruber SA, Fein DA, Maas LC, Steingard RJ, Renshaw PF, et al. Functional magnetic resonance imaging of facial affect recognition in children and adolescents. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1999;38:195–9. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199902000-00019
- DeWit DJ, Adlaf EM, Offord DR, Ogborne AC. Age at first alcohol use: a risk factor for the development of alcohol disorders. *Am J Psychiatry* 2000;**157**:745–50. https://doi.org/10.1176/ appi.ajp.157.5.745
- Hingson RW, Edwards EM, Heeren T, Rosenbloom D. Age of drinking onset and injuries, motor vehicle crashes, and physical fights after drinking and when not drinking. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2009;**33**:783–90. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2009.00896.x

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: INIRH Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- Guttmannova K, Bailey JA, Hill KG, Lee JO, Hawkins JD, Woods ML, Catalano RF. Sensitive periods for adolescent alcohol use initiation: predicting the lifetime occurrence and chronicity of alcohol problems in adulthood. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs* 2011;**72**:221–31. https://doi.org/10.15288/ jsad.2011.72.221
- 49. Odgers CL, Caspi A, Nagin DS, Piquero AR, Slutske WS, Milne BJ, *et al.* Is it important to prevent early exposure to drugs and alcohol among adolescents? *Psychol Sci* 2008;**19**:1037–44. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02196.x
- Armstrong TD, Costello EJ. Community studies on adolescent substance use, abuse, or dependence and psychiatric comorbidity. J Consult Clin Psychol 2002;70:1224–39. https://doi.org/ 10.1037/0022-006X.70.6.1224
- 51. Grant BF, Stinson FS, Harford TC. Age at onset of alcohol use and DSM-IV alcohol abuse and dependence: a 12-year follow-up. *J Subst Abuse* 2001;**13**:493–504. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0899-3289(01)00096-7
- 52. Maimaris W, McCambridge J. Age of first drinking and adult alcohol problems: systematic review of prospective cohort studies. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2014;**68**:268–74. https://doi.org/ 10.1136/jech-2013-203402
- Coulton S, Drummond C, James D, Godfrey C, Bland JM, Parrott S, Peters T, Stepwice Research Team. Opportunistic screening for alcohol use disorders in primary care: comparative study. *BMJ* 2006;**332**:511–17. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.38743.421574.7C
- Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Babor TF, de la Fuente JR, Grant M. Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO Collaborative Project on Early Detection of Persons with Harmful Alcohol Consumption – II. Addiction 1993;88:791–804. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1360-0443.1993.tb02093.x
- 55. Aertgeerts B, Buntinx F, Bande-Knops J, Vandermeulen C, Roelants M, Ansoms S, Fevery J. The value of CAGE, CUGE, and AUDIT in screening for alcohol abuse and dependence among college freshmen. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2000;**24**:53–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2000. tb04553.x
- Chung T, Colby SM, Barnett NP, Rohsenow DJ, Spirito A, Monti PM. Screening adolescents for problem drinking: performance of brief screens against DSM-IV alcohol diagnoses. *J Stud Alcohol* 2000;61:579–87. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.2000.61.579
- 57. Demartini KS, Carey KB. Optimizing the use of the AUDIT for alcohol screening in college students. *Psychol Assess* 2012;**24**:954–63. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028519
- Kelly TM, Donovan JE, Kinnane JM, Taylor DM. A comparison of alcohol screening instruments among under-aged drinkers treated in emergency departments. *Alcohol Alcohol* 2002;**37**:444–50. https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/37.5.444
- Knight JR, Sherritt L, Harris SK, Gates EC, Chang G. Validity of brief alcohol screening tests among adolescents: a comparison of the AUDIT, POSIT, CAGE, and CRAFFT. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res* 2003;27:67–73. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ALC.0000046598.59317.3A
- Santis R, Garmendia ML, Acuña G, Alvarado ME, Arteaga O. The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) as a screening instrument for adolescents. *Drug Alcohol Depend* 2009;**103**:155–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2009.01.017
- Coulton S, Alam MF, Boniface S, Deluca P, Donoghue K, Gilvarry E, et al. Opportunistic screening for alcohol use problems in adolescents attending emergency departments: an evaluation of screening tools. J Public Health 2019;41:e53–60. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdy049

- 62. Donoghue K, Rose H, Boniface S, Deluca P, Coulton S, Alam M, et al. Risk of alcohol and other health-related consequences with increased consumption and early onset of drinking among adolescents presenting at emergency departments. J Adolesc Health 2017;60:438–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.11.017
- 63. *Gillick v West Norfolk and Wisbech Area Health Authority* [1985] 3 All ER 402. URL: www.hrcr.org/ safrica/childrens_rights/Gillick_WestNorfolk.htm (accessed 20 May 2019).
- 64. Hunter D, Pierscionek BK. Children, Gillick competency and consent for involvement in research. *J Med Ethics* 2007;**33**:659–62. https://doi.org/10.1136/jme.2006.018853
- 65. Ravens-Sieberer U, Erhart M, Rajmil L, Herdman M, Auquier P, Bruil J, et al. Reliability, construct and criterion validity of the KIDSCREEN-10 score: a short measure for children and adolescents' well-being and health-related quality of life. Qual Life Res 2010;**19**:1487–500. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11136-010-9706-5
- 66. Goodman R, Scott S. Comparing the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire and the child behavior checklist: is small beautiful? *J Abnorm Child Psychol* 1999;**27**:17–24.
- 67. Muris P, Meesters C, Eijkelenboom A, Vincken M. The self-report version of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: its psychometric properties in 8- to 13-year-old non-clinical children. *Br J Clin Psychol* 2004;**43**:437–48. https://doi.org/10.1348/0144665042388982
- Hibell B, Guttormsson U, Ahstom S, et al. The 2011 ESPAD Report; Substance Use Among Students in 36 European Countries. URL: www.espad.org/sites/espad.org/files/The_2011_ESPAD_ Report_FULL_2012_10_29.pdf (accessed 20 May 2019).
- 69. Sheehan DV, Sheehan KH, Shytle RD, Janavs J, Bannon Y, Rogers JE, *et al.* Reliability and validity of the Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview for Children and Adolescents (MINI-KID). *J Clin Psychiatry* 2010;**71**:313–26. https://doi.org/10.4088/JCP.09m05305whi
- Sobell LC, Sobell B. Time-Line Follow Back: A Technique for Assessing Self-Reported Alcohol Consumption. In Litten Z, Allen P, editors. *Measuring Alcohol Consumption: Psychosocial and Biological Methods*. Totowa, NJ: Human Press; 1992. pp. 41–72. https://doi.org/10.1007/ 978-1-4612-0357-5_3
- Waldron HB, Slesnick N, Brody JL, Turner CW, Peterson TR. Treatment outcomes for adolescent substance abuse at 4- and 7-month assessments. J Consult Clin Psychol 2001;69:802–13. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.69.5.802
- Brown SA, Tapert SF, Tate SR, Abrantes AM. The role of alcohol in adolescent relapse and outcome. J Psychoactive Drugs 2000;32:107–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/02791072.2000. 10400216
- Donohue B, Azrin NH, Strada MJ, Silver NC, Teichner G, Murphy H. Psychometric evaluation of self- and collateral timeline follow-back reports of drug and alcohol use in a sample of drug-abusing and conduct-disordered adolescents and their parents. *Psychol Addict Behav* 2004;**18**:184–9. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-164X.18.2.184
- 74. Donoghue K, Patton R, Phillips T, Deluca P, Drummond C. The effectiveness of electronic screening and brief intervention for reducing levels of alcohol consumption: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Med Internet Res* 2014;**16**:e142. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.3193
- Bewick BM, Trusler K, Barkham M, Hill AJ, Cahill J, Mulhern B. The effectiveness of web-based interventions designed to decrease alcohol consumption – a systematic review. *Prev Med* 2008;47:17–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.01.005
- Champion KE, Newton NC, Barrett EL, Teesson M. A systematic review of school-based alcohol and other drug prevention programs facilitated by computers or the internet. *Drug Alcohol Rev* 2013;**32**:115–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-3362.2012.00517.x

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- Newton AS, Dong K, Mabood N, Ata N, Ali S, Gokiert R, *et al.* Brief emergency department interventions for youth who use alcohol and other drugs: a systematic review. *Pediatr Emerg Care* 2013;29:673–84. https://doi.org/10.1097/PEC.0b013e31828ed325
- Cunningham JA, Wild TC, Cordingley J, van Mierlo T, Humphreys K. A randomized controlled trial of an internet-based intervention for alcohol abusers. *Addiction* 2009;**104**:2023–32. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2009.02726.x
- 79. Cunningham JA, Wild TC, Cordingley J, Van Mierlo T, Humphreys K. Twelve-month follow-up results from a randomized controlled trial of a brief personalized feedback intervention for problem drinkers. *Alcohol Alcohol* 2010;**45**:258–62. https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agq009
- Araki I, Hashimoto H, Kono K, Matsuki H, Yano E. Controlled trial of worksite health education through face-to-face counseling vs. e-mail on drinking behavior modification. *J Occup Health* 2006;**48**:239–45. https://doi.org/10.1539/joh.48.239
- Blankers M, Koeter MW, Schippers GM. Internet therapy versus internet self-help versus no treatment for problematic alcohol use: a randomized controlled trial. J Consult Clin Psychol 2011;79:330–41. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023498
- Boon B, Risselada A, Huiberts A, Riper H, Smit F. Curbing alcohol use in male adults through computer generated personalized advice: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2011;13:e43. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1695
- Butler LH, Correia CJ. Brief alcohol intervention with college student drinkers: face-to-face versus computerized feedback. *Psychol Addict Behav* 2009;23:163–7. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014892
- Cunningham JA, Hendershot CS, Murphy M, Neighbors C. Pragmatic randomized controlled trial of providing access to a brief personalized alcohol feedback intervention in university students. *Addict Sci Clin Pract* 2012;**7**:21. https://doi.org/10.1186/1940-0640-7-21
- Ekman DS, Andersson A, Nilsen P, Ståhlbrandt H, Johansson AL, Bendtsen P. Electronic screening and brief intervention for risky drinking in Swedish university students – a randomized controlled trial. Addict Behav 2011;36:654–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2011.01.015
- Hansen AB, Becker U, Nielsen AS, Grønbæk M, Tolstrup JS, Thygesen LC. Internet-based brief personalized feedback intervention in a non-treatment-seeking population of adult heavy drinkers: a randomized controlled trial. *J Med Internet Res* 2012;**14**:e98. https://doi.org/10.2196/ jmir.1883
- Hester RK, Delaney HD, Campbell W. The college drinker's check-up: outcomes of two randomized clinical trials of a computer-delivered intervention. *Psychol Addict Behav* 2012;**26**:1–12. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024753
- Hester RK, Squires DD, Delaney HD. The Drinker's Check-up: 12-month outcomes of a controlled clinical trial of a stand-alone software program for problem drinkers. J Subst Abuse Treat 2005;28:159–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2004.12.002
- Kypri K, Hallett J, Howat P, McManus A, Maycock B, Bowe S, Horton NJ. Randomized controlled trial of proactive web-based alcohol screening and brief intervention for university students. *Arch Intern Med* 2009;**169**:1508–14. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinternmed.2009.249
- Kypri K, Langley JD, Saunders JB, Cashell-Smith ML, Herbison P. Randomized controlled trial of web-based alcohol screening and brief intervention in primary care. *Arch Intern Med* 2008;**168**:530–6. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinternmed.2007.109
- Kypri K, McCambridge J, Vater T, Bowe SJ, Saunders JB, Cunningham JA, Horton NJ. Web-based alcohol intervention for Māori university students: double-blind, multi-site randomized controlled trial. Addiction 2013;108:331–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2012.04067.x

- 92. Kypri K, Saunders JB, Williams SM, McGee RO, Langley JD, Cashell-Smith ML, Gallagher SJ. Web-based screening and brief intervention for hazardous drinking: a double-blind randomized controlled trial. Addiction 2004;99:1410–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2004.00847.x
- Lewis MA, Neighbors C, Oster-Aaland LO, Kirkeby BS, Larimer ME. Indicated prevention for incoming freshmen: personalised normative feedback and high risk drinking. *Addict Behav* 2007;**32**:2495–508. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2007.06.019
- Murphy JG, Dennhardt AA, Skidmore JR, Martens MP, McDevitt-Murphy ME. Computerized versus motivational interviewing alcohol interventions: impact on discrepancy, motivation, and drinking. *Psychol Addict Behav* 2010;**24**:628–39. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021347
- Neighbors C, Larimer ME, Lewis MA. Targeting misperceptions of descriptive drinking norms: efficacy of a computer-delivered personalized normative feedback intervention. J Consult Clin Psychol 2004;72:434–47. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.72.3.434
- Neighbors C, Lewis MA, Atkins DC, Jensen MM, Walter T, Fossos N, et al. Efficacy of web-based personalized normative feedback: a two-year randomized controlled trial. J Consult Clin Psychol 2010;78:898–911. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0020766
- Neumann T, Neuner B, Weiss-Gerlach E, Tønnesen H, Gentilello LM, Wernecke KD, et al. The effect of computerized tailored brief advice on at-risk drinking in subcritically injured trauma patients. J Trauma 2006;61:805–14. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ta.0000196399.29893.52
- Palfai TP, Zisserson R, Saitz R. Using personalized feedback to reduce alcohol use among hazardous drinking college students: the moderating effect of alcohol-related negative consequences. *Addict Behav* 2011;**36**:539–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2011.01.005
- Spijkerman R, Roek MA, Vermulst A, Lemmers L, Huiberts A, Engels RC. Effectiveness of a web-based brief alcohol intervention and added value of normative feedback in reducing underage drinking: a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2010;12:e65. https://doi.org/ 10.2196/jmir.1465
- 100. Wagener TL, Leffingwell TR, Mignogna J, Mignogna MR, Weaver CC, Cooney NJ, Claborn KR. Randomized trial comparing computer-delivered and face-to-face personalized feedback interventions for high-risk drinking among college students. J Subst Abuse Treat 2012;43:260–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2011.11.001
- Walters ST, Vader AM, Harris TR, Field CA, Jouriles EN. Dismantling motivational interviewing and feedback for college drinkers: a randomized clinical trial. J Consult Clin Psychol 2009;77:64–73. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0014472
- 102. Patton R, Deluca P, Kaner E, Newbury-Birch D, Phillips T, Drummond C. Alcohol screening and brief intervention for adolescents: the how, what and where of reducing alcohol consumption and related harm among young people. *Alcohol Alcohol* 2014;**49**:207–12. https://doi.org/ 10.1093/alcalc/agt165
- Pilowsky DJ, Wu LT. Screening instruments for substance use and brief interventions targeting adolescents in primary care: a literature review. *Addict Behav* 2013;38:2146–53. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.addbeh.2013.01.015
- 104. Mitchell SG, Gryczynski J, O'Grady KE, Schwartz RP. SBIRT for adolescent drug and alcohol use: current status and future directions. J Subst Abuse Treat 2013;44:463–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jsat.2012.11.005
- 105. Haug S, Sannemann J, Meyer C, John U. [Internet and mobile phone interventions to decrease alcohol consumption and to support smoking cessation in adolescents: a review.] Gesundheitswesen 2012;74:160–77. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0030-1268446

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- 106. Yuma-Guerrero PJ, Lawson KA, Velasquez MM, von Sternberg K, Maxson T, Garcia N. Screening, brief intervention, and referral for alcohol use in adolescents: a systematic review. *Pediatrics* 2012;**130**:115–22. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2011-1589
- 107. Carney T, Myers B. Effectiveness of early interventions for substance-using adolescents: findings from a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy* 2012;**7**:25. https://doi.org/10.1186/1747-597X-7-25
- 108. Jackson C, Geddes R, Haw S, Frank J. Interventions to prevent substance use and risky sexual behaviour in young people: a systematic review. Addiction 2012;107:733–47. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03751.x
- 109. Calabria B, Shakeshaft AP, Havard A. A systematic and methodological review of interventions for young people experiencing alcohol-related harm. *Addiction* 2011;**106**:1406–18. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03418.x
- Lemstra M, Bennett N, Nannapaneni U, Neudorf C, Warren L, Kershaw T, et al. A systematic review of school-based marijuana and alcohol prevention programs targeting adolescents aged 10–15. Addict Res Theory 2010;**18**:84–96. https://doi.org/10.3109/16066350802673224
- 111. Wachtel T, Staniford M. The effectiveness of brief interventions in the clinical setting in reducing alcohol misuse and binge drinking in adolescents: a critical review of the literature. J Clin Nurs 2010;**19**:605–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2702.2009.03060.x
- 112. Deas D. Evidence-based treatments for alcohol use disorders in adolescents. *Pediatrics* 2008;**121**(Suppl. 4):348–54. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2007-2243G
- 113. Carey KB, Henson JM, Carey MP, Maisto SA. Which heavy drinking college students benefit from a brief motivational intervention? *J Consult Clin Psychol* 2007;**75**:663–9. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.75.4.663
- 114. Gmel G, Venzin V, Marmet K, Danko G, Labhart F. A quasi-randomized group trial of a brief alcohol intervention on risky single occasion drinking among secondary school students. *Int J Public Health* 2012;**57**:935–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-012-0419-0
- 115. Winters KC, Fahnhorst T, Botzet A, Lee S, Lalone B. Brief intervention for drug-abusing adolescents in a school setting: outcomes and mediating factors. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2012;**42**:279–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2011.08.005
- 116. Segatto ML, Andreoni S, de Souza e Silva R, Diehl A, Pinsky I. Brief motivational interview and educational brochure in emergency room settings for adolescents and young adults with alcohol-related problems: a randomized single-blind clinical trial. *Braz J Psychiatry* 2011;**33**:225–33. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1516-44462011000300004
- 117. Walton MA, Chermack ST, Shope JT, Bingham CR, Zimmerman MA, Blow FC, Cunningham RM. Effects of a brief intervention for reducing violence and alcohol misuse among adolescents: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 2010;**304**:527–35. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2010.1066
- 118. Bernstein J, Heeren T, Edward E, Dorfman D, Bliss C, Winter M, Bernstein E. A brief motivational interview in a pediatric emergency department, plus 10-day telephone follow-up, increases attempts to quit drinking among youth and young adults who screen positive for problematic drinking. Acad Emerg Med 2010;17:890–902. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1553-2712.2010.00818.x
- 119. Carey KB, Scott-Sheldon LA, Elliott JC, Garey L, Carey MP. Face-to-face versus computer-delivered alcohol interventions for college drinkers: a meta-analytic review, 1998 to 2010. *Clin Psychol Rev* 2012;**32**:690–703. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.08.001
- 120. Center for Substance Abuse Treatment. Chapter 2 Motivation and Intervention. In: Enhancing Motivation for Change in Substance Abuse Treatment. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US); 1999.

- 121. Conrod PJ, Castellanos N, Mackie C. Personality-targeted interventions delay the growth of adolescent drinking and binge drinking. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 2008;49:181–90. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01826.x
- 122. Walton MA, Resko S, Chermack ST, Bingham CR, Shope J, Zimmerman MA, *et al.* Computerized screening and brief intervention for alcohol use and violence among adolescents in the inner-city emergency department. *Acad Emerg Med* 2009;**16**:1193–207. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1553-2712.2009.00513.x
- 123. Doumas DM, Andersen LL. Reducing alcohol use in first-year university students: evaluation of a web-based personalized feedback program. *J Coll Couns* 2009;**12**:18–32. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1882.2009.tb00037.x
- 124. Deluca P, Coulton S, Alam MF, Cohen D, Donoghue K, Gilvarry E, et al. Linked randomised controlled trials of face-to-face and electronic brief intervention methods to prevent alcohol related harm in young people aged 14–17 years presenting to emergency departments (SIPS junior). BMC Public Health 2015;**15**:345. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-1679-4
- 125. World Medical Association. *Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects.* 1964. URL: www.wma.net/policies-post/wma-declaration-of-helsinkiethical-principles-for-medical-research-involving-human-subjects/ (accessed 11 June 2019).
- 126. Medical Research Council. *Ethics Series. Good Research Practice: Principles and Guidelines.* URL: https://mrc.ukri.org/research/policies-and-guidance-for-researchers/good-research-practice/ (accessed 11 June 2019).
- 127. Goodman R, Meltzer H, Bailey V. The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: a pilot study on the validity of the self-report version. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 1998;**7**:125–30. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s007870050057
- 128. EuroQol Group. EQ-5D-5L. Rotterdam: EuroQol Group; 2013.
- 129. Chisholm D, Knapp MR, Knudsen HC, Amaddeo F, Gaite L, van Wijngaarden B. Client socio-demographic and service receipt inventory – European version: development of an instrument for international research. EPSILON study 5. European psychiatric services: inputs linked to outcome domains and needs. *Br J Psychiatry Suppl* 2000;**39**:s28–33. https://doi.org/ 10.1192/bjp.177.39.s28
- 130. Coulton S, Perryman K, Bland M, Cassidy P, Crawford M, Deluca P, et al. Screening and brief interventions for hazardous alcohol use in accident and emergency departments: a randomised controlled trial protocol. BMC Health Serv Res 2009;9:114. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-9-114
- 131. Drummond C, Deluca P, Coulton S, Bland M, Cassidy P, Crawford M, et al. The effectiveness of alcohol screening and brief intervention in emergency departments: a multicentre pragmatic cluster randomized controlled trial. PLOS ONE 2014;9:e99463. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0099463
- 132. Hester RK, Miller WR. Handbook of Alcoholism Treatment Approaches. 2nd edn. Boston, MA: Allyn and Bacon; 1995.
- 133. Nunnally JC, Bernstein IH. Psychometric Theory. 3rd edn. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill College; 1994.
- 134. Janssen MF, Pickard AS, Golicki D, Gudex C, Niewada M, Scalone L, et al. Measurement properties of the EQ-5D-5L compared to the EQ-5D-3L across eight patient groups: a multicountry study. Qual Life Res 2013;22:1717–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-012-0322-4
- 135. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Guide to the Methods of Technology Appraisal*. London: National Institute of Health and Care Excellence; 2013.

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- 136. Tanner-Smith EE, Lipsey MW. Brief alcohol interventions for adolescents and young adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2015;**51**:1–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2014.09.001
- Wallace P, Cutler S, Haines A. Randomized controlled trial of general practitioner intervention in patients with excessive alcohol consumption. *BMJ* 1988;297:663–68. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmj.297.6649.663
- 138. Cutler S, Haines A. Randomized controlled trial of general practitioner intervention in patients with excessive alcohol consumption. *BMJ* 1988;**297**:663–68.
- Moyer A, Finney JW, Swearingen CE, Vergun P. Brief interventions for alcohol problems: a metaanalytic review of controlled investigations in treatment-seeking and non-treatment-seeking populations. *Addiction* 2002;**97**:279–92. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1360-0443.2002.00018.x
- 140. Tibshirani EA. An Introduction to the Bootstrap. New York, NY: Chapman and Hall; 1993.
- 141. Drummond M, Stoddart G, Torrance G. *Methods for the Economic Evaluation of Health Care Programmes.* Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1999.
- 142. Briggs A. Handling Uncertainty in Economic Evaluation and Presenting the Results. In McGuire MDaA, editor. *Economic Evaluation in Health Care: Merging Theory with Practice*. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2001. pp. 172–214.
- 143. Curtis L. *Unit Costs of Health and Social Care 2013*. Canterbury: Personal Social Services Research Unit, University of Kent; 2014.
- 144. Coulton S, Watson J, Bland M, Drummond C, Kaner E, Godfrey C, et al. The effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of opportunistic screening and stepped care interventions for older hazardous alcohol users in primary care (AESOPS) – a randomised control trial protocol. BMC Health Serv Res 2008;8:129. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-8-129
- 145. Drummond C, Coulton S, James D, Godfrey C, Parrott S, Baxter J, et al. Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of a stepped care intervention for alcohol use disorders in primary care: pilot study. Br J Psychiatry 2009;195:448–56. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.108.056697
- 146. Kohl LF, Crutzen R, de Vries NK. Online prevention aimed at lifestyle behaviors: a systematic review of reviews. J Med Internet Res 2013;**15**:e146. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.2665
- 147. Kaner E, Bland M, Cassidy P, Coulton S, Dale V, Deluca P, et al. Effectiveness of screening and brief alcohol intervention in primary care (SIPS trial): pragmatic cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2013;346:e8501. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.e8501
- 148. Khadjesari Z, Murray E, Kalaitzaki E, White IR, McCambridge J, Thompson SG, *et al.* Impact and costs of incentives to reduce attrition in online trials: two randomized controlled trials. *J Med Internet Res* 2011;**13**:e26. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1523
- 149. Alkhaldi G, Hamilton FL, Lau R, Webster R, Michie S, Murray E. The effectiveness of prompts to promote engagement with digital interventions: a systematic review. *J Med Internet Res* 2016;**18**:e6. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.4790
- 150. Bewick BM, West R, Gill J, O'May F, Mulhern B, Barkham M, Hill AJ. Providing web-based feedback and social norms information to reduce student alcohol intake: a multisite investigation. J Med Internet Res 2010;12:e59. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.1461
- 151. Milward J, Khadjesari Z, Fincham-Campbell S, Deluca P, Watson R, Drummond C. User preferences for content, features, and style for an app to reduce harmful drinking in young adults: analysis of user feedback in app stores and focus group interviews. *JMIR Mhealth Uhealth* 2016;**4**:e47. https://doi.org/10.2196/mhealth.5242

- 152. Crane D, Garnett C, Brown J, West R, Michie S. Behavior change techniques in popular alcohol reduction apps: content analysis. *J Med Internet Res* 2015;**17**:e118. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.4060
- 153. Davies EL, Lonsdale AJ, Hennelly SE, Winstock AR, Foxcroft DR. Personalized digital interventions showed no impact on risky drinking in young adults: a pilot randomized controlled trial. *Alcohol Alcohol* 2017;**52**:671–6. https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agx051
- 154. Sekhon M, Cartwright M, Francis JJ. Acceptability of healthcare interventions: an overview of reviews and development of a theoretical framework. *BMC Health Serv Res* 2017;**17**:88. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2031-8
- 155. Christensen PM, James A. Research with Children: Perspectives and Practices. New York, NY: Routledge; 2008. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203964576
- 156. Jans M. Children as citizens: towards a contemporary notion of child participation. *Childhood* 2004;**11**:27–44. https://doi.org/10.1177/0907568204040182
- 157. Sanci LA, Sawyer SM, Weller PJ, Bond LM, Patton GC. Youth health research ethics: time for a mature-minor clause? *Med J Aust* 2004;**180**:336–8.
- 158. Nuffield Council on Bioethics. *Children and Clinical Research: Ethical Issues*. London: Nuffield Council on Bioethics; 2015. URL: http://nuffieldbioethics.org/wp-content/uploads/Children-and-clinical-research-full-report.pdf (accessed 26 April 2018).
- 159. Levine RJ. *Ethics and Regulation of Clinical Research: Second Edition*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press; 1988.
- Beauchamp TL, Saghai Y. The historical foundations of the research-practice distinction in bioethics. *Theor Med Bioeth* 2012;33:45–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11017-011-9207-8
- 161. Faden RR, Kass NE, Goodman SN, Pronovost P, Tunis S, Beauchamp TL. An ethics framework for a learning health care system: a departure from traditional research ethics and clinical ethics. *Hastings Cent Rep* 2013;**Spec**:S16–27. https://doi.org/10.1002/hast.134
- 162. Kass NE, Faden RR, Goodman SN, Pronovost P, Tunis S, Beauchamp TL. The research-treatment distinction: a problematic approach for determining which activities should have ethical oversight. *Hastings Cent Rep* 2013;**Spec**:S4–S15. https://doi.org/10.1002/hast.133
- 163. Beauchamp TL, Childress JF. *Principles of Biomedical Ethics*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 2001.
- 164. Lynch E, McGovern R, Elzerbi C, Breckons M, Deluca P, Drummond C, et al. Adolescent perspectives about their participation in alcohol intervention research in emergency care: a qualitative exploration using ethical principles as an analytical framework. PLOS ONE 2019;14:e0217855. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0217855
- Harden J, Scott S, Backett-Milburn K, Jackson S. Can't talk, won't talk?: Methodological issues in researching children. Sociol Res Online. 2000;5:1–12. https://doi.org/10.5153/sro.486
- 166. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Alcohol-use Disorders Preventing the Development of Hazardous and Harmful Drinking. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence; 2010.
- 167. Davison C, Smith GD, Frankel S. Lay epidemiology and the prevention paradox: the implications of coronary candidacy for health education. *Sociol Health Illn* 1991;**13**:1–19. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1467-9566.1991.tb00085.x
- 168. Allmark P, Tod A. How should public health professionals engage with lay epidemiology? J Med Ethics 2006;**32**:460–3. https://doi.org/10.1136/jme.2005.014035

[©] Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

- 169. Clark DB, Neighbors BD, Lesnick LA, Lynch KG, Donovan JE. Family functioning and adolescent alcohol use disorders. *J Fam Psychol* 1998;**12**:81. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-3200.12.1.81
- 170. Clark DB, Winters KC. Measuring risks and outcomes in substance use disorders prevention research. J Consult Clin Psychol 2002;**70**:1207–23. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.70.6.1207
- 171. Public Health England. Young People's Hospital Alcohol Pathways. Support Pack for A&E Departments. London: Public Health England; 2014.
- 172. Department of Health and Social Care. *Reference Costs 2013–14*. URL: www.gov.uk/government/ publications/nhs-reference-costs-2013-to-2014 (accessed on 18 June 2019).
- 173. Department for Education. Exclusion from Maintained Schools, Academies and Pupil Referral Units in England: Statutory Guidance for Those with Legal Responsibilities in Relation to Exclusion. London: Department for Education; 2017. URL: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/ government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/641418/20170831_Exclusion_Stat_ guidance_Web_version.pdf (accessed 20 May 2019).
- 174. Journalism.co.uk. *Private Tuition Fees: New Data on UK Tutor Rates*. Press release, 25 January 2016. URL: www.journalism.co.uk/press-releases/private-tuition-fees-new-data-on-uk-tutor-rates/ s66/a604769/ (accessed 9 May 2019).
- 175. Department for Education. *Teaching Salaries*. URL: https://getintoteaching.education.gov.uk/ teachers-salary-and-teaching-benefits/teacher-salaries (accessed 9 May 2019).
- 176. The National Police Chiefs' Council. National Policing Guidelines on Charging for Police Services: Mutual Aid Cost Recovery. URL: www.npcc.police.uk/documents/finance/2018/Charging%20for% 20Police%20Services_July_2018.pdf (accessed 20 May 2019).
- 177. Crown Prosecution Service. *Application for Costs Against Convicted Defendants Scales of Cost.* URL: www.cps.gov.uk/legal/a_to_c/costs/annex_1_-_scales_of_cost/ (accessed 9 May 2019).
- 178. Alexander S. Night in a prison cell costs more than a night at the Ritz hotel. *Mirror*, 20 April 2015. URL: www.mirror.co.uk/news/night-prison-cell-costs-more-5555031 (accessed 9 May 2019).

Appendix 1 Unpublished tables

 TABLE 15 Exploratory prognostic linear regression of pre-randomisation factors on mean weekly alcohol consumption at month 12

Effect	Residual	<i>p</i> -value
Baseline alcohol consumption	20.42	<.001
Age in years	64.37	<.001
Sex	3.97	0.05
Ethnicity	2.06	0.06
Smoking status	1.77	0.13
Consume fruit	1.15	0.33
Age (years) at first drink	2.14	0.01
Alcohol-related problems		
Fighting	1.93	0.10
Parents	1.40	0.22
Friends	2.53	0.04
Police	2.14	0.10
Alcohol expectancy		
Feel more relaxed	5.60	0.01
More trouble with police	2.51	0.04
Forget problems	0.80	0.53
Unable to stop drinking	3.37	0.01
More friendly	3.09	0.02
Regretful activity	2.39	0.05

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Appendix 2 Published research content

Reproduced from Lynch *et al.*¹⁶⁴ © 2019 Lynch *et al.* This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

PLOS ONE



Citation: Lynch E, McGovern R, Elzerbi C, Breckons M, Deluca P, Drummond C, et al. (2019) Adolescent perspectives about their participation in alcohol intervention research in emergency care: A qualitative exploration using ethical principles as an analytical framework. PLoS ONE 14(6): e0217855. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0217855

Editor: Simone Rodda, University of Auckland, NEW ZEALAND

Received: January 16, 2019

Accepted: May 19, 2019

Published: June 12, 2019

Copyright: © 2019 Lynch et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: Due to ethical restrictions it is not possible to provide the full transcripts from the interviews. However, excerpts of data have been made available as a Supporting Information file. The authors confirm that the anonymised excerpts provided will give enough detail to replicate the findings of the study.

Funding: This work was supported by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Programme Grants for Applied Research at South London and RESEARCH ARTICLE

Adolescent perspectives about their participation in alcohol intervention research in emergency care: A qualitative exploration using ethical principles as an analytical framework

Ellen Lynch[®]¹, Ruth McGovern¹, Catherine Elzerbi², Matthew Breckons[®]¹, Paolo Deluca², Colin Drummond², Mohammed Fasihul Alam[®]³, Sadie Boniface[®]², Simon Coulton⁴, Eilish Gilvarry⁵, Paul McArdle⁵, Robert Patton⁶, Ian Russell[®]⁷, John Strang², Eileen Kaner¹*

 Institute of Health & Society, Newcastle University, United Kingdom, 2 Addictions Department, National Addiction Centre, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom, 3 Public Health Department, College of Health Sciences, Qatar University, Doha, Qatar,
 Centre for Health Services Studies, University of Kent, Canterbury, Kent, United Kingdom,
 Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust, Newcastle, United Kingdom, 6 School of Psychology, University of Surrey, Guildford, United Kingdom, 7 Swansea University Medical School, Swansea, United Kingdom

* eileen.kaner@newcastle.ac.uk

Abstract

Aims

To explore adolescents' experiences of consenting to, and participating in, alcohol intervention trials when attending for emergency care.

Methods

In-depth semi-structured interviews with 27 adolescents (16 males; aged 14–17 years $(M_{age} = 15.7)$) who had taken part in one of two linked brief alcohol intervention trials based in 10 accident and emergency departments in England. Interviews were transcribed verbatim and subject to thematic analysis.

Results

Research and intervention methods were generally found to be acceptable though confidentiality was important and parental presence could hinder truthful disclosures regarding alcohol use. Participants discussed the importance of being involved in research that was relevant to them and recognised alcohol consumption as a normative part of adolescence, highlighting the importance of having access to appropriate health information. Beyond this, they recognised the benefits and risks of trial participation for themselves and others with the majority showing a degree of altruism in considering longer term implications for others as well as themselves.

Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (RP-PG-0609-10162): https://www.nihr.ac.uk/. The study sponsor was King's College London: https://www. kcl.ac.uk/ioppn/research/office/index.aspx. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript. CD is partly funded by the NIHR Biomedical Research Centre for Mental Health at South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London and partly funded by the NIHR Collaborations for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care South London at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation. JS is supported by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Biomedical Research Centre for Mental Health at South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London. For a fuller account, see JS's web-page at http://www. kcl.ac.uk/ioppn/depts/addictions/people/hod.aspx.

Competing interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

Abbreviations: AUDIT, Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Tool; AUDIT-C, Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Tool Consumption; e-BI, Electronic Brief Intervention.

Conclusions

Alcohol screening and intervention in emergency care is both acceptable and relevant to adolescents but acceptability is reliant on confidentiality being assured and may be inhibited by parental presence.

Trial registration

ISRCTN Number: 45300218

Introduction

Although the proportion of young people who have never tried alcohol has increased in recent years, alcohol remains the most widely used psychoactive drug in this population [1]. Adolescence is the key period for alcohol initiation with over 70% of young people having their first alcoholic drink by the age of 15 [2] and normative increases in both frequency and quantity of alcohol consumption occur from early adolescence through to early adulthood [3]. Adolescents may be especially vulnerable to the adverse effects of alcohol use [4]. Adolescent alcohol use can influence brain development and resultant cognitive, emotional and social development [5]. Research has identified associations between adolescent alcohol use and: heightened family conflict and lower educational outcomes [6, 7]; poorer physical [8] and mental health [9]; the development of alcohol use disorders [9, 10]; and disease in adulthood [11].

Forty per cent of adolescents aged 10–17 attending emergency departments in England reported drinking significant amounts of alcohol [12] yet a large proportion of hospitals in the UK do not offer alcohol support for young people [13]. Thus, emergency care is a key setting for prevention-focused alcohol intervention work with adolescents.

Screening and brief alcohol intervention is effective in reducing risky drinking in adults when delivered in healthcare settings [14, 15]. Although brief interventions have been shown to benefit younger people, most trials have been conducted in educational settings [16] with participants aged 18 or more [17] or have been conducted outside the United Kingdom (UK) [18–20]. A previous trial of BI delivered to underage drinkers in the ED setting in the United States of America demonstrated benefits of both therapist and tablet delivered BI in bringing about reductions in alcohol consumption at 3 month follow up and reduced alcohol consequences at 3 and 12 months post intervention [21]. Additional analysis of this data [22, 23] have shown that those who are younger, lived with their parents, reported lower alcohol consumption and higher levels of readiness to change at baseline are more likely to show positive responses to BI. These findings show promise for the effectiveness of BI in UK adolescents who, given the lower drinking age of 18 years are more likely to be younger and still living with their parents.

Despite long-standing calls for more work on preventing or reducing underage drinking [24], there remains little specific evidence to guide the prevention of alcohol-related harms in adolescents in the UK [25] Historically, this absence of evidence was due, at least in part to concern about the vulnerability of children and debate about the reliability of data collected from them [26]. However, developments in children's rights [27] have led to greater focus on children contributing to decisions about their lives, care and treatment [28] and participation in research [29]. The challenges become most evident when research focuses on risk behaviours, as parental attitudes about the issues may hinder youth participation and thus

undermine research validity and applicability [30]. There is a growing focus on the importance of gaining consent from children, including how best to do so [31-33]. However, there has been less attention on hearing young people's direct views about participation in research [34] and little is known about the acceptability of alcohol screening and interventions methods to younger adolescents in healthcare settings in the UK.

The current study aimed to build on existing research by exploring the experiences of adolescents aged 14 to 17 who participated in two linked alcohol intervention trials (SIPS Junior) based in emergency care [35]. Although assessments of acceptability have received increasing focus in recent years [36] there is no clear consensus as to how acceptability should be defined and measured [36]. In this work the authors consider that to be acceptable research and intervention processes should not only be appropriate, comprehensible, effective and well received by participants but also ethical. The latter is particularly key in work with adolescents as there is debate as to the extent to which they can and should participate in treatment and also in research about treatment and care [28, 29].

We drew on the four principles of biomedical ethics—autonomy, beneficence, non-maleficence and justice [37]–as a framework within which to consider participants experiences of: consent and enrolment procedures; research design; and study interventions.

- **Respect for autonomy**: respecting the decision-making capacities of autonomous persons; enabling individuals to make reasoned informed choices.
- **Beneficence**: this balances the benefits of treatment against the risks and costs; the healthcare professional should act to benefit the patient.
- **Non maleficence**: avoiding causing harm; the healthcare professional should not harm the patient. Though all treatment risks harm, that should be proportionate to the benefits of treatment.
- Justice: distributing benefits, risks and costs fairly; patients in similar circumstances should be treated in a similar manner.

While a number of ethical guidelines have been developed to guide the ethical conduct of research and others for the provision care in an ethical manner this work was pragmatic in nature, based in routine practice and ultimately aimed to inform care improvement. As such, the contemporary view that the distinction between care and research can be overstated [38] especially in pragmatic healthcare research [39, 40] was adopted. Thus, the four widely accepted principles of biomedical ethics [37] were considered to provide an appropriate framework to guide the analysis and interpretation of data.

Materials and methods

Trial procedure

The randomised controlled trials aimed to evaluate the effectiveness and cost effectiveness of brief alcohol interventions for adolescents aged 14–17 who had attended 10 emergency departments in England; full protocol details have been published elsewhere [35].

Enrolled participants who scored less than 3 out of 12 on the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test: Consumption items (AUDIT-C) [41] were eligible for the low-risk trial whilst those scoring 3 or more were eligible for the high-risk trial. Within each trial, participants were randomised to one of: personalised feedback and brief face-to-face advice; or personalised feedback plus a smartphone or web-based electronic brief intervention (e-BI); or screening only (control group).

Those allocated to the screening only group were thanked for completing the baseline assessment and reminded that they would be contacted by the research team to complete follow—up in six and 12 months' time.

Both interventions aimed to motivate and support young people to either reduce their drinking or delay the onset of drinking (as applicable based on low or high risk status).

Participants allocated to the personalised feedback and brief face-to-face advice group were provided with: feedback on screening results; information on recommended levels of alcohol consumption for young people; normative comparison; information about the risks associated with drinking; the potential benefits of reducing, ceasing or delaying the onset of alcohol use (and strategies to achieve this. This advice took approximately five minutes to deliver. Participants also received a copy of a leaflet summarising this information and providing details of sources of further support.

Participants in the personalised feedback and e-BI group were provided with access to the 'SIPS City' web application which was co-produced with young people. This application allows the user to navigate around a 'city' learning facts about alcohol, recording and gaining feedback on their own alcohol consumption and setting goals. Participants were provided with a demonstration of the application either on their own phone or on the tablet used for baseline data collection.

Participants in both the intervention conditions were thanked for taking part and reminded that a researcher would contact them to conduct the trial follow up in 6 and 12 months' time.

All participants were followed up at 6 and 12 months after randomisation. Participants received a £5 gift voucher for completing the screening and baseline assessment and each follow up questionnaire. On completing 12 month follow up, participants were also entered into a prize draw to win an iPad.

Qualitative study procedure

Between March and November 2015 data were gathered through embedded qualitative interviews which explored young peoples' perceptions of participating in the trials after completion of the 12 months of follow-up. While interviews were scheduled to take place approximately 2 weeks after follow up this varied based on the number of contact attempts required and resultant period of time taken to contact each participant for follow up and interview. Each interview was conducted by one of two post-doctoral Research Associates, one male (MB) and one female (CE) both of whom had previous experience conducting qualitative interviews. At the beginning of each interview the researchers briefly introduced themselves giving their name and role on the project as well as the name of the institution where they were based. Both research associates were also involved in recruiting participants to the overall trials, to minimise any bias participants were never interviewed by the same researcher who recruited them.

Participants

The pool of potential participants included all those who had consented to take part in linked trials and who agreed to be contacted about participation in an interview. Purposive sampling was based on data regarding participants' characteristics that were collected in the parent trials. Sampling aimed to achieve a maximum variation sample based on the following criteria: age, gender, ethnicity, hospital from which they were recruited, high or low risk status, allocated intervention group, and whether a parent was present at screening. Young people in the e-BI intervention group were further sampled according to whether or not they had downloaded the intervention app. Sampled participants were posted a study information sheet along with a letter inviting them to take part in an interview. For those under 16, a parent or guardian was

Adolescent perspectives on alcohol interventions

also sent a letter telling them about the invitation. Follow-up phone calls, conducted on at most four separate occasions, were utilised to confirm willingness to participate. Consenting participants were offered the choice between an interview face to face or by telephone; all chose telephone interviews which have been shown to generate data similar to that collected in face-to-face interviews [42]. Interviews were arranged to take place at a time convenient for the young person and when they would be comfortable talking however it was left up to the young person to decide whether they wanted to be somewhere private at the time of the telephone interview. Attempts were made to contact 139 participants in total. Of the 139 contacted, 27 agreed to be interviewed. Among the remaining 112: 11 declined to take part; 2 parents declined on participants behalf; 6 agreed to telephone interview but then failed to answer, 12 were contactable but provided no definitive agreement to participate, 5 hung up following introduction, 5 contact details were no longer active, 71 contact details appeared active but voicemail, text and/or SMS contacts were not responded to. All interviewees received a £5 gift voucher.

The final sample comprised 11 females and 16 males aged 14–17 years ($M_{age} = 15.7$, standard deviation [SD] = 1.30). Fifteen were higher risk drinkers ($M_{AUDIT C \text{ score}} = 5.6$, SD = 0.70) and 12 low risk drinkers ($M_{AUDIT C \text{ score}} = 0.67$, SD = 0.26) at baseline assessment. Participants were predominantly white (22 White, 2 Asian, 1 black, 1 mixed, 1 other). Twelve received the brief intervention face to face, 8 received the electronic intervention (e-BI) and 7 were controls. Seven had a parent or guardian present during the screening and intervention conducted within the trial. As with the parent trials, interviewees from the low risk trial tended to be younger than those from the high risk trial. Among female interviewees, those from the high risk trial tended to have been allocated to the face to face intervention and those from the low risk trial had been allocated to the control or e-BI conditions.

Materials

To guide the interviews a semi-structured topic guide (see <u>S1 File</u>) was developed which explored young peoples' views about the research, screening and intervention processes. This guide predominantly focused on the acceptability of methods but was flexible, permitting the addition of issues emerging from earlier interviews and allowing participants to raise any issues they felt were important. The topic guide was not piloted but was revised following the completion of the first seven interviews. Some closed questions were amended to more open phrasing but no further changes were made.

Transcription and analysis

Length of interview varied from just 5 minutes to 45 minutes with the majority lasting between 10 and 25 minutes. All interviews were audio-recorded and transcribed verbatim before being anonymised. To minimise burden on participants' transcripts were not returned to them for comment. Framework analysis [43], an approach recommended for qualitative health research [44], was employed. An initial framework for coding based on participants' experience and understanding of the different stages of the research process (approach, screening, intervention and follow up) was developed and left flexible enough to accommodate additional issues emerging from the data. Initial application of this framework identified a number of emergent themes relating autonomy and beneficence with further ethical considerations emerging in codes relating to each stage of the research process. This led the research team to employ the four guiding principles of biomedical ethics to structure coding, data analysis and interpretation, and provide an overarching framework for discussing the findings. Three researchers (EL, CE, MB) independently read transcripts and coded data within this framework using

NVivo 10. Researchers and two senior staff (RMcG, EK) discussed codes on an on-going basis with emergent themes added to the framework and any disagreement in interpretations resolved. The initial descriptive account of the data was refined through further group discussions, leading to the final interpretation. Findings are supported by exemplar quotes (interviewees identified by gender, age, trial and intervention). Data saturation was considered to have been met when the first twenty interviews had been complete with no new themes or contradictory responses emerging, however recruitment continued to 27 participants to ensure diversity across the purposive sampling criteria.

Ethics and Governance

The studies were granted ethical approval by the National Research Ethics Service London— Fulham (ref:14/LO/0721). The trial registration reference was: ISRCTN45300218 dated 5th July 2014.

Results

Autonomy

The involvement of young people in research is in itself an acknowledgement of their autonomy. Many of the young people in this study voiced support for youth participation in research that was relevant to them. Some also explained the added benefit of engaging young people in the co-production of materials to ensure that they were appropriate and appealing to the target group:

I think it's a good idea to ask like the younger ones of what they would think would be best to pass on, more information to younger ones rather than asking like adults.

(Female/17/High-Risk/face-to-face)

Yeah I think so, I think they need to sort of be more involved and make it easier to understand for them because it sort of applies more to people their age.

(Male/17/Low-Risk/E-BI)

However, autonomy encompasses much more than just supporting the idea that an individual has something to offer in terms of research data. In order to be autonomous and provide informed consent young people must feel at ease about being approached, have a clear understanding of what participation will involve, what their rights are as a participant and what they are being asked to do. Young people in this study were happy to be approached whilst in emergency care and some thought it was a good place to capture a diverse sample:

I think it's a good way of like getting a good sample of people I guess.

(Male/16/High-Risk/E-BI)

I felt it was fine, I wasn't fazed by it at all

(Male/14/Low-Risk/Control)

Nevertheless, for some, the issue of being approached may not have been fully considered until the interview.

Adolescent perspectives on alcohol interventions

I: OK, and what did you think about being asked to be involved in a study about alcohol whilst you were in A&E?

P: Erm, I didn't really think about that.

I: Yeah.

P: It didn't really cross my mind

(Female/16/High-risk/face-to-face)

Adolescents reported understanding their rights as participants with specific references to confidentiality, right to refuse and right to withdraw. Much of this understanding appeared to be gained from the verbal explanations of the trials provided by research staff rather than the written information sheets that were given to participants:

Well she showed me what her like research like what it was the project was about [mmhhmm] and she explained that if I don't want to do it then it's totally up to me like and everything's confidential and I was totally agreed with her and I just said I would do it for her no bother and I just did it for her

(Female/14/Low-Risk/Control)

It was evident that participants were clear that the decision to participate was their own and that they could have time to consider their participation. There was no evidence in the interview transcripts that participants felt they should seek approval or guidance from parents or guardians when deciding whether to participate and no suggestion that they felt ill-equipped to make the decision alone:

she came to me holding my name, and was very pleasant and made it very clear from the start. She gave me a few minutes to sort of have a think about it. . . and I came back to her and agreed to take part. And then filled out all the information, and yeah she was nice and friendly, and very approachable so yeah

(Male/17/High Risk/Control)

Participants also identified that the research itself had been clearly described, or 'explained rather well'. In support of this they were also able to offer descriptions of the research study which broadly fitted its purpose and hence showed some understanding of the aims of the project and what participation would involve:

If I took part it would like help you get a better understanding of how it could pass information to younger people about the causes of drink and that.

(Female/17/High-Risk/Face-to-face)

However, none of the descriptions demonstrated a full understanding of the randomisation process or the differences between trial arms. Instead participants often spoke about participating in a 'survey' and seemed more focused on topic than study design:

I just thought it was a survey to ask about like young peoples' lifestyles and what they do.

(Female/17/High Risk/Face-to-face)

Adolescent perspectives on alcohol interventions

Similarly, participant descriptions of the research tended to focus on completion of the baseline measures and the initial trial visit with limited detail pertaining to follow up visits being offered even when specifically asked about this aspect of the trial:

I can't remember I think she might have put my details down...she said you'll probably get a letter through the post and I got that last week and then obviously I had the phone call yesterday

(Female/14/Low-Risk/Control)

Because participants were interviewed up to a year after being enrolled in the trials, recall inaccuracy may have contributed to misunderstanding. Some of the participants voiced this issue in interviews.

Oh god I can't remember, erm ah it's a long time ago.

(Male/14/Low-Risk/Control)

When asked during the qualitative interviews, participants could not think of any aspect of the approach or explanation of the research which could be improved. Nevertheless, it is clear that care needs to be taken when communicating the complex aspects of research design.

Participants identified that they had understood the screening questions; however, a small number of participants suggested that some questions could have been clearer. These participants reported seeking clarification from trial staff who were then able to provide the required assistance and enable continued participation.

Some of the questions were a bit erm confusing let's say, I mean I wasn't completely thrown by it but some of them you did have to think about.

(Male/17/High-Risk/Control)

Regarding the interventions specifically, the majority of participants were happy to receive information and advice about alcohol; with no suggestion of difficulties in understanding the advice provided.

I was given a leaflet and she explained the leaflet as well. . . I understood her, I understood what she was saying

(female/17/High-Risk/Face-to-Face)

Information was predominantly considered to be relevant, appropriate for the age group and some participants recognised the non-judgemental approach to delivery:

P: I was aware of the risks but it did highlight other key things that I wasn't aware of

INT: do you think that the information or how it's delivered could be improved at all?

P: no, no I think that was pretty good as well like she was just really nice about it like she didn't make me feel like I'd done anything wrong or anything

(Female/17/High-Risk/Face-to-Face)

Beneficence

Most participants expressed clear views about the importance of research being conducted with young people, particularly when the research subject was relevant to them; they often mentioned the benefits for others:

I think it helps not just themselves but everybody else out there. Just because we need to learn don't we

(Female/14/Low-Risk/Control)

Aside from a sense of altruism, some felt that participation in research was itself a positive experience:

It was quite nice to be involved in the study. I thought it was quite interesting, yeah.

(Male/16/High-Risk/E-BI)

With regards to the intervention, participants identified the availability and wide spread use of alcohol as a key reason for needing access to reliable and accurate information about alcohol. Further, participants recognised that being under the legal drinking age (18 years of age in the UK) does not protect one from this exposure to alcohol and thus younger adolescents should be included in interventions:

Because they're underage and they're like exposed to alcohol you know...Most people at that age actually drink alcohol a fair bit... Yeah, it's a good idea to involve under-ages.

(Male/17/High-Risk/Control)

One participant also identified the issue of screening and intervening before potentially problematic behaviours develop, highlighting the benefits of universal and targeted approaches:

We need to learn young before we get older and just think it's acceptable.

(Female/14/Low-Risk/Control)

Participants who received an intervention described the process as 'informative', 'relevant', 'good', 'helpful', or 'useful'. Many felt they had gained additional knowledge about alcohol, such as learning how many units were in a particular drink:

yeah it had some different things on like unit levels and things like that, stuff like that, that aren't really taught... I was aware of the risks but it did highlight other key things that I wasn't aware of

(Female/17/High-Risk/Face-to-face)

However, some participants described the content of interventions as already familiar to them from their parents and school lessons, with no additional knowledge or benefit having been gained with one stating:

alcohol erm like I know everything about it I think even though I don't drink it

(Male/14/Low-Risk/E-BI)

Despite this, the advice was typically seen as helpful to participants and could have wider reaching harm reduction effects with friends and peers also potentially benefiting:

if you are like having a drink and that and something does go wrong, what, what you should do... 'cos I know loads of people who don't actually have a clue and say someone like is absolutely mortal on the floor they actually just leave them because they don't know what to do.

(Male/17/High-Risk/Face-to-face)

Non-maleficence

When conducting research in healthcare settings one of the primary concerns of research staff is often ensuring that the research does not detract from or delay the care participants receive. No participants reported feeling they had experienced harm from participating in this research nor did they feel that it had influence their care:

it seemed totally harmless and you know I was happy to do it. . .I'm totally open to it.

(Male/16/High-Risk/E-BI)

It didn't prolong me or delay me in any way and so I thought that was alright.

(Male/17/High-Risk/Control)

Conversely, participation was seen to have the benefit of providing young people with something to do while waiting to be treated, something which did not necessarily extend to completion of the follow up sessions when some participants explained that they had other priorities:

when you sort of see someone in hospital, you know approach them, you haven't really got, what I mean I don't want to offend but you know that's all they've got to do really, sitting in the waiting room. But when you follow them up, I think a lot of people don't really want to give you their time

(Male/16/High-Risk/E-BI)

There was some evidence that those attending with alcohol-related injuries may have felt less comfortable taking part and that this may have resulted in socially desirable responses:

I actually fell down the stairs the night before because I had alcohol...I didn't tell the researcher at the time because it was very bad.

(Female/17/High-Risk/Face-to-face)

With regard to potential harm from participation the manner and approach adopted by research staff including interventionists appeared to be important. Participants' responses to staff approach and intervention delivery were positive with exchanges described as 'nice', 'lovely' 'positive' and 'very welcoming':

she was just really nice, she just asked us nicely if I wanted to take part and I didn't mind

(Female/17/High-Risk/Face-to-face)

Adolescent perspectives on alcohol interventions

Beyond this young people were primarily concerned with confidentiality. Alcohol use can be a sensitive subject with scope for embarrassment. Most participants, whether from high or low risk categories, reported that screening did not present a problem for them as long as confidentiality and privacy were assured:

I guess because all of the information is like private and everything you could erm, it is sort of erm, what's the word? Acceptable. Obviously if it wasn't kept secret and some information was leaked it could affect that person's, say, chances of getting a job or something. But I guess as it's a confidential study then it's alright, it's acceptable.

(Male/17/High-Risk/Control)

The importance of ensuring confidentiality is evidenced by the fact that some participants sought assurance from the researchers that their responses would be protected:

"I did ask her at the time and she said no one would know"

(Female/17/High-Risk/Face-to-Face)

Within this, a sub-theme of 'parental presence' also emerged from the data. When a parent is present during research, screening or intervention procedures the circle of confidentiality may be expanded to include not only the participant and the researcher but also the parent. In this work, there was no requirement for parents to be present during completion of the base-line measures or intervention delivery. Instead, participants attending the ED with a parent or guardian were offered the option of moving away from their parent or guardian during participation. Some accepted this offer while others declined. This potentially reflects the finding that opinion was split with regards to the acceptability of having a parent present during screening or intervention. Some described being 'absolutely fine' with having a parent present, while others explained they would 'prefer to do it without her [mother] there'. Although the majority of our participants reported feeling comfortable discussing alcohol use in front of a parent or guardian, some still expressed concern for others:

Some people [who] might not want their parents to know about that sort of thing but I'm not particularly fussed.

(Male/16/High-Risk/E-BI)

There was also evidence that the presence of a parent or guardian could inhibit participants' ability to talk freely or accurately about their alcohol use:

say if somebody like my parents were there, I would say that I don't drink at all. But when they're not there, I can be more honest so I think, what was it, a private interview or something

(Female/17/High-Risk/Face-to-face)

Completing the screening questions on an electronic device was seen to offer a greater sense of confidentiality and allow participants to protect their answers even in the presence of a parent:

no one can see what you're doing, which is pretty good... it was a bit personal if someone didn't want to, you know, especially with your mum there

(Male/17/High-Risk/Control)

Finally, participants considered, not only their own experiences but also those of others who might be more vulnerable than they perceived themselves to be, highlighting the importance of having appropriate and carefully considered inclusion criteria:

Because my injury was not like fatal, and I was alright, I was OK, it would be OK for me, but I think somebody was in a lot of pain and they're waiting for emergency, like serious, serious, then for somebody to approach them about something completely unrelated could be annoying to them and they might get angry.

(Female/17/High Risk/Face-to-face)

Justice

Participants did not report feeling 'singled out' and were aware that researchers were approaching all individuals within the age category for inclusion with one participant going so far as to identify the questions as 'standard practice':

Yeah, I mean it didn't really worry me at all, I wasn't thinking they were going to attribute something to me because I've got a broken leg, so. But no, it didn't feel like they came to me for a particular reason, I think it was just like a random sample, wasn't it? people between certain ages like, yeah

(Male/17/High-Risk/Control)

the questions didn't. you know. they didn't like offend or upset me [mmm] they just seemed like standard practice so that was fine.

(Male/16/High-Risk/E-BI)

The issue of facilitating widespread participation seemed to be of importance to many interviewees. In this case the intervention was seen to be useful and accessible to the target population though potentially of more use in the future:

I'll probably use it more in the future when I'm older and I drink more often... it was really good for the age category that it's aimed at 'cos there's not too much information that you get bored of reading it but there's enough so that you know exactly the importance of alcohol.

(Female/17/High Risk/E-BI)

Again, the importance of involving adolescents, in the co-production of materials was identified as potentially enabling effective communication with this age group:

Yeah I think so, I think they need to sort of be more involved and make it easier to understand for them

(Male/17/Low-Risk/E-BI)

Further to this, the use of technology was predominantly seen as helpful for those who had difficulties with reading or writing but participants identified that this would possibly have the opposite effect for research with older populations who were considered to be less familiar with technology:
PLOS ONE

people like me who've got dyslexia, it's probably a bit messy writing it down by hand so by doing it on the iPad it's a lot quicker and neater, so yeah.

(Male/17/High Risk/Control)

it depends on who your target audience is, because obviously I'm young, and young people wouldn't mind but if you were targeting a more older audience like people with diabetes and stuff and older people, they might sort of like, not know how to use the technology and stuff

(Female/14/Low-Risk/Control)

While young people generally saw the benefits of technology in widening participation there did appear to be some difficulties relating to accessing the e-BI intervention. Specifically, one participant had not downloaded the app and another had deleted it due to not having sufficient memory space on their phones, while one more explained that the app was not available in the app store so they had never downloaded it.

Discussion

In this study, many of the interviewees recognised the importance of young people having the opportunity to take part in research on topics of significance to them. The findings generally support the acceptability of alcohol screening, interventions and alcohol intervention research with adolescent populations in emergency care. We found no indication that alcohol intervention per se or the emergency care setting was viewed as unacceptable to participants.

However, acceptability was dependent on certain criteria being met. Firstly, the friendly, non-judgemental approach adopted by research staff appeared to be important and is something that should be maintained in future research and intervention work. Secondly, confidentiality must be assured. Some participants pointed to the benefit of completing questions on an ipad or tablet in affording them a greater sense of privacy and reducing concerns about the potential for their responses to be misplaced. In some cases maintaining confidentiality also meant having the option to complete screening and receive intervention without a parent present. Although the presence of parents or carers during consent and/or intervention activity seemed to be accepted by many participants, some were less comfortable about parental presence and felt this might inhibit their own and others' ability to speak freely. This could, in turn, limit identification of those who would benefit most from intervention delivery or identification of the most appropriate intervention to deliver. This finding supports previous research which reported that parental involvement could restrict adolescent uptake of healthcare [45] especially among those engaged in risky behaviours [46]. Future research should carefully weigh the benefits of having parents present during adolescent research participation against the potential for gaining more honest and open responses if participation is completed one to one. Although there was no evidence in this work that participants felt the need to defer to or consult their parents when making decisions about research participation consideration should also be given to how best offer participants a legitimate choice to complete research activities in private if they are attending treatment with a parent. Finally, it was important that young people were aware that they were not the only ones being approached and thus that they did not feel 'singled out'. This has direct implications for future intervention work: although targeted interventions allow the delivery of the most relevant information a universal approach to screening and identification is likely to be more acceptable to young people.

Most of the adolescents we interviewed appeared to have a good understanding of their rights as participants, including the fact that participation was voluntary, and of many aspects

PLOS ONE | https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0217855 June 12, 2019

PLOS ONE

of the trials procedures, particularly the subject matter, this is in line with previous research [47–49]. However, specifics relating to the technical design of the trials including randomisation procedures and follow up were less well reported. This may simply be a result of the time which elapsed between initial participation and interview, alternatively it may be an indication of limited understanding of these details. Although shortfalls in understanding are not uncommon in research with adult participants [50] this finding demonstrates the importance of providing information in a clear, succinct manner, and offering opportunities for participants to seek clarification to inform their decision making. In this work, much of the understanding of the research and research involvement appeared to be gained from the verbal explanations offered by staff rather than the written information sheets that participants were given. As such allocating additional time for researchers to verbally introduce research and discuss participation may enhance understanding more than provision of additional or alternative written guidance.

Similarly, where participants had difficulty understanding questions in the baseline questionnaire, this was overcome by seeking clarification from the researcher highlighting the importance of having researchers available to provide assistance and guidance if needed. Many young people in this work pointed to the benefits of involving young people in the co-production of research and intervention materials to ensure their acceptability to the target audience. Indeed, the co-produced intervention materials employed in this work were generally found to be appropriate for adolescent participants. As such, involving young people in the co-production of baseline questionnaires may help to overcome difficulties in understanding and interpretation but this can be problematic when existing validated tools, especially those that do not have child or adolescent specific variants available, are utilised. Finally, with poor recollection relating to follow up, using initial contact by text message, email or postal mail to prompt recall of study participation may facilitate completion of follow up visits.

In line with previous research, many of the young people also appeared able to assess possible implications of research participation and weigh up decisions about participating [51], based not only on relevance and helpfulness to themselves but also to other people [52], typically younger adolescents. The benefits identified included research participation itself as well as knowledge gained from the study interventions—generally seen as interesting, relevant and helpful to participants, who welcomed having something to do while waiting for treatment in the emergency department.

There was no evidence to suggest that participants experienced any harm as a result of involvement or that talking about alcohol with adolescents would lead to adverse consequence such as encouraging initiation of drinking or increased consumption. Over half of our participants were reportedly drinking at risky levels whilst the remainder had not really started to consume alcohol. Nevertheless, they all described alcohol as a normative behaviour—a view supported by other work (e.g.[12 53]). Many individuals in the low-risk trial described the intervention content as useful for 'when' (not 'if') they started drinking alcohol. That alcohol consumption was already framed as inevitable highlights the need for effective interventions to reduce future health risks.

Although some participant responses were more succinct than others this was considered to be typical of the way young adolescents speak and the assumption that a young person who talks less during an interview has provided less useful data has been queried [54]. These accounts not only appeared authentic but they also provide some reassurance about the possibility of social desirability during interviews. The primary limitation of this work is that participants who agreed to be interviewed had already participated in the trials and may be more positive about the issues being explored or better informed about the topic than those who elected not to take part. This may in part account for why participants offered few criticisms of

PLOS ONE I https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0217855 June 12, 2019

Adolescent perspectives on alcohol interventions

the trial or areas for improvement. Where those who decline initial participation are comfortable giving reasons for non-participation, collection and analysis of this data could provide additional insight and areas for improvement, though it is important for ethical research conduct that individuals not be required to provide such information. In this work, although purposive sampling was adopted, participants also self-selected in that they had to be contactable at the time of the interviews and had to agree to take part. Diversity was achieved across age, gender, high or low risk status and allocated intervention however, the final sample had limited diversity with relation to participant ethnicity (80% of participants identified as 'white'). Even taking into account the majority white participant pool in the parent trials non-white participants are still under represented in this sample. Further to this, a high number (n = 71)of those contacted did not respond to contact. This may be symptomatic of the minimal number of attempts made to contact each participant about the study (n = 3). While this helped reduce any pressure participants may have felt to participate it also means that only those who were easy to reach participated. The fact that interviews took place around a year after initial participation in the trial, something which likely contributed to limited recall of certain aspects of the research and potentially contributed to shorter, less detailed responses. A final limitation to consider related to the framework analysis employed. While the principles of biomedical ethics were adopted as an overarching structure based on the themes emerging from the data and all major codes were able to be captured within this framework an alternative approach to coding may have led to the identification of different themes.

Conclusions

The research and intervention methods were generally found to be acceptable. The perceived relevance of the study seemed to be a key influence on willingness to become involved. The universal approach to screening, assurances of confidentiality and the non-judgemental approach of researchers contributed to acceptability which may in turn be inhibited by parental presence. Typical adolescents in this study appeared to understand the implications of participating in research; they described a process of considering potential benefits and harms both for themselves and for other people during the consent processes. Nevertheless, it is clear that many of the adolescents in this study did not have a full understanding of the specific research design. Future work would benefit from engaging young people in identifying how to explain the technical aspects of research designs as well as in the co-production of study materials and processes.

Supporting information

S1 File. Appendix interview topic guide. (DOCX)

S2 File. Appendix excerpts from interview transcripts. (DOCX)

S3 File. COREQ checklist. (DOCX)

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Programme Grants for Applied Research at South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (RP-PG-0609-10162).

15/18

PLOS ONE

The authors wish to thank all members of the SIPS Junior research group specifically Prof. David Cohen, Dr Kim Donoghue, Prof. Dorothy Newbury-Birch, Dr Ceri Philips, Dr Ian Maconochie, Hannah Rose and Dr Thomas Phillips for their contributions to the design and conduct of the research programme.

Author Contributions

- **Conceptualization:** Ruth McGovern, Paolo Deluca, Colin Drummond, Mohammed Fasihul Alam, Sadie Boniface, Simon Coulton, Eilish Gilvarry, Paul McArdle, Robert Patton, Ian Russell, John Strang, Eileen Kaner.
- Data curation: Catherine Elzerbi, Matthew Breckons.
- Formal analysis: Ellen Lynch, Ruth McGovern, Catherine Elzerbi, Matthew Breckons, Eileen Kaner.
- Funding acquisition: Paolo Deluca, Colin Drummond, Mohammed Fasihul Alam, Simon Coulton, Eilish Gilvarry, Paul McArdle, Robert Patton, Ian Russell, John Strang, Eileen Kaner.

Investigation: Sadie Boniface.

- Methodology: Paolo Deluca, Colin Drummond, Mohammed Fasihul Alam, Eileen Kaner.
- Writing original draft: Ellen Lynch, Catherine Elzerbi, Matthew Breckons.
- Writing review & editing: Ellen Lynch, Ruth McGovern, Catherine Elzerbi, Matthew Breckons, Paolo Deluca, Colin Drummond, Mohammed Fasihul Alam, Sadie Boniface, Simon Coulton, Eilish Gilvarry, Paul McArdle, Robert Patton, Ian Russell, John Strang, Eileen Kaner.

References

- Johnston LD. Monitoring the future: National survey results on drug use, 1975–2008: Volume II: College students and adults ages 19–50: DIANe Publishing; 2010.
- NHS Digital. Smoking, Drinking and Drug Use Among Young People in England 2016. digital.nhs.uk/ catalogue/PUB30132; 2017.
- Schulenberg J, Maggs JL. Moving targets: Modeling developmental trajectories of adolescent alcohol misuse, individual and peer risk factors, and intervention effects. Appl Dev Sci. 2001; 5(4):237–53.
- 4. Spear LP. Alcohol's effects on adolescents. Alcohol Research & Health. 2002; 26(4):287-91.
- Crews F, He J, Hodge C. Adolescent cortical development: a critical period of vulnerability for addiction. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 2007; 86(2):189–99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2006.12.001</u> PMID: 17222895
- Englund MM, Egeland B, Oliva EM, Collins WA. Childhood and adolescent predictors of heavy drinking and alcohol use disorders in early adulthood: a longitudinal developmental analysis. Addiction. 2008; 103(s1):23–35.
- Pitkänen T, Kokko K, Lyyra AL, Pulkkinen L. A developmental approach to alcohol drinking behaviour in adulthood: a follow-up study from age 8 to age 42. Addiction. 2008; 103(s1):48–68.
- Oesterle S, Hill KG, Hawkins JD, Guo J, Catalano RF, Abbott RD. Adolescent heavy episodic drinking trajectories and health in young adulthood. J Stud Alcohol. 2004; 65(2):204–12. PMID: 15151351
- Rohde P, Lewinsohn PM, Kahler CW, Seeley JR, Brown RA. Natural course of alcohol use disorders from adolescence to young adulthood. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2001; 40(1):83–90. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1097/00004583-200101000-00020</u> PMID: <u>11195569</u>
- Grant BF, Dawson DA. Age at onset of alcohol use and its association with DSM-IV alcohol abuse and dependence: results from the National Longitudinal Alcohol Epidemiologic Survey. J Subst Abuse. 1997; 9:103–10. PMID: <u>9494942</u>
- Baranowski T, Cullen KW, Basen-Engquist K, Wetter DW, Cummings S, Martineau DS, et al. Transitions out of high school: time of increased cancer risk? Prev Med. 1997; 26(5):694–703.

PLOS ONE I https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0217855 June 12, 2019

Adolescent perspectives on alcohol interventions

- Donoghue K, Rose H, Boniface S, Deluca P, Coulton S, Alam MF, et al. Alcohol consumption, earlyonset drinking, and health-related consequences in adolescents presenting at emergency departments in England. J Adolesc Health. 2017.
- Alcohol Concern. Reducing underage alcohol harm in accident and emergency settings. See http://www.alcoholconcern.org.uk/pub-lications/other-publications/reducing-underage-alcohol-harm (last checked 31 August 2012). 2011.
- Kaner EFS, Dickinson HO, Beyer F, Pienaar E, Schlesinger C, Campbell F, et al. The effectiveness of brief alcohol interventions in primary care settings: a systematic review. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2009; 28 (3):301–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1465-3362.2009.00071.x PMID: 19489992
- Kaner E, Beyer FR, Muirhead C, Campbell F, Pienaar ED, Bertholet, et al. Effectiveness of brief alcohol interventions in primary care populations. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2018(Issue 2.): Art. No.: CD004148.
- 16. Carney T, Myers BJ, Louw J, Okwundu CI. Brief school-based interventions and behavioural outcomes for substance-using adolescents. Cochrane database of systematic reviews. 2014.
- Tanner-Smith EE, Risser MD. A meta-analysis of brief alcohol interventions for adolescents and young adults: variability in effects across alcohol measures. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse. 2016; 42(2):140–51. https://doi.org/10.3109/00952990.2015.1136638 PMID: 26905387
- Ahmed M, Mackway-Jones K. Towards evidence based emergency medicine: best BETs from the Manchester Royal Infirmary. Is ED-based brief intervention worthwhile in children and adolescents presenting with alcohol-related events? Emergency medicine journal: EMJ. 2007; 24(2):125–8. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1136/emj.2006.045237</u> PMID: 17251625
- Newton AS, Dong K, Mabood N, Ata N, Ali S, Gokiert R, et al. Brief emergency department interventions for youth who use alcohol and other drugs: a systematic review. Pediatr Emerg Care. 2013; 29(5):673– 84. https://doi.org/10.1097/PEC.0b013e31828ed325 PMID: 23640153
- Diestelkamp S, Drechsel M, Baldus C, Wartberg L, Arnaud N, Thomasius R. Brief in person interventions for adolescents and young adults following alcohol-related events in emergency care: a systematic review and European evidence synthesis. Eur Addict Res. 2016; 22(1):17–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/ 000435877</u> PMID: 26314693
- Cunningham RM, Chermack S.T., Ehrlich P.E., Carter P.M., Booth B.M., Blow, et al. Alcohol interventions among underage drinker in the ED: A randomized controlled trial. Pediatrics. 2015; 136:783–93.
- Walton MA, Ngo Q., Chermack S.T., Blow F.C., Erhlich P., Bonar, et al. Understanding Mechanisms of Change for Brief Alcohol Interventions among Youth: Examination of Within Session Interactions. Journal of Studies on Drugs and Alcohol. 2017; 78:725–34.
- Davis AK, Arterberry B. J., Bonar E. E., Chermack S. T., Blow F. C., Cunningham R. M., et al. Predictors of positive drinking outcomes among youth receiving an alcohol brief intervention in the emergency department. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2018; 188:102–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.03.044 PMID: 29758380
- Office of the Surgeon General. The surgeon general's call to action to prevent and reduce underage drinking. Rockville, MD: Office of the Surgeon General, Department of Health and Human Services. 2007.
- National Institute For Health And Clinical Excellence. Alcoholuse disorders: preventing the development of hazardous and harmful drinking. NICE Public Health Guidance 24. 2010:1–96.
- 26. Christensen P, James A. Research with children: Perspectives and practices: Routledge; 2008.
- United Nations. Convention on the Rights of the Child. Accessed 03/03/2016 http://www.uniceforguk/Documents/Publication-pdfs/UNCRC_PRESS200910webpdf 1989.
- Jans M. CHILDREN AS CITIZENS Towards a contemporary notion of child participation. Childhood. 2004; 11(1):27–44.
- Sanci LA, Sawyer SM, Weller PJ, Bond LM, Patton GC. Youth health research ethics: time for a mature-minor clause? Med J Aust. 2004; 180(7):336–8. PMID: <u>15059054</u>
- Nuffield Council on Bioethics. Children and clinical research: ethical issues. <u>http://nuffieldbioethics.org/project/children-research/</u>. 2015.
- Moore TP, McArthur M, Noble-Carr D. More a marathon than a hurdle: towards children's informed consent in a study on safety. Qual Res. 2017:1468794117700708.
- Graham A, Powell MA, Taylor N. Ethical research involving children: encouraging reflexive engagement in research with children and young people. Children & Society. 2015; 29(5):331–43.
- Barker J, Weller S. "Is it fun?" Developing children centred research methods. International journal of sociology and social policy. 2003; 23(1/2):33–58.
- 34. Hill M. Children's voices on ways of having a voice: Children's and young people's perspectives on methods used in research and consultation. Childhood. 2006; 13(1):69–89.

PLOS ONE I https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0217855 June 12, 2019

PLOS ONE

Adolescent perspectives on alcohol interventions

- Deluca P, Coulton S, Alam MF, Cohen D, Donoghue K, Gilvarry E, et al. Linked randomised controlled trials of face-to-face and electronic brief intervention methods to prevent alcohol related harm in young people aged 14–17 years presenting to Emergency Departments (SIPS junior). BMC Public Health. 2015; 15(1):1.
- Sekhon M, Cartwright M, Francis JJ. Acceptability of healthcare interventions: an overview of reviews and development of a theoretical framework. BMC Health Serv Res. 2017; 17(1):88. <u>https://doi.org/10. 1186/s12913-017-2031-8</u> PMID: 28126032
- 37. Beauchamp TL, Childress JF. Principles of biomedical ethics: Oxford University Press, USA; 2001.
- Beauchamp TL S Y. The historical foundations of the research-practice distinction in bioethics. Theor Med Bioeth. 2012; 33:45–56. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11017-011-9207-8 PMID: 22258893
- 39. Faden RR K N, Goodman SN, Pronovost P, Tunis S, Beauchamp TL. An Ethics Framework for a Learning Health Care System: A Departure from Traditional Research Ethics and Clinical Ethics, Ethical Oversight of Learning Health Care Systems Hastings Center Report Special Report. 2013; 43(no. 1): S16–S27.
- 40. Kass NE F R, Goodman SN, Pronovost PP, Tunis S, Beauchamp TL. The Research-Treatment Distinction: A Problematic Approach for Determining Which Activities Should Have Ethical Oversight, Ethical Oversight of Learning Health Care Systems, Hastings Center Report Special Report 2013; 43(no. 1): S4–15.
- Bush K, Kivlahan DR, McDonell MB, Fihn SD, Bradley KA. The AUDIT alcohol consumption questions (AUDIT-C): an effective brief screening test for problem drinking. Arch Intern Med. 1998; 158(16):1789– 95. PMID: 9738608
- Sturges JE, Hanrahan KJ. Comparing telephone and face-to-face qualitative interviewing: a research note. Qual Res. 2004; 4(1):107–18.
- Srivastava A, Thomson SB. Framework analysis: a qualitative methodology for applied policy research. 2009.
- 44. Pope C, Ziebland S, Mays N. Analysing qualitative data. Br Med J. 2000; 320(7227):114.
- Ford C, English A, Sigman G. Confidential health care for adolescents: position paper of the Society for Adolescent Medicine. J Adolesc Health. 2004; 35(2):160–7. PMID: 15298005
- Lehrer JA, Pantell R, Tebb K, Shafer M-A. Forgone health care among US adolescents: associations between risk characteristics and confidentiality concern. J Adolesc Health. 2007; 40(3):218–26. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2006.09.015 PMID: 17321421
- Weithorn LA. Children's capacities to decide about participation in research. Ethics & Human Research. 1983; 5(2):1–5.
- Scherer DG. The capacities of minors to exercise voluntariness in medical treatment decisions. Law Hum Behav. 1991; 15(4):431. PMID: <u>11660093</u>
- Abramovitch R, Freedman JL, Henry K, Van Brunschot M. Children's capacity to agree to psychological research: Knowledge of risks and benefits and voluntariness. Ethics Behav. 1995; 5(1):25–48. https:// doi.org/10.1207/s15327019eb0501_3 PMID: 11654169
- Flory J, Emanuel E. Interventions to improve research participants' understanding in informed consent for research: a systematic review. JAMA. 2004; 292(13):1593–601. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.292. 13.1593 PMID: 15467062
- 51. Weithorn LA, Scherer DG. Children's involvement in research participation decisions: Psychological considerations. 1994.
- 52. Hunter L, Sparrow E, Modi N, Greenough A. Advancing child health research in the UK: the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health Infants' Children's and Young People's Research Charter. BMJ Publishing Group Ltd and Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health; 2017.
- MacArthur GJ, Smith MC, Melotti R, Heron J, Macleod J, Hickman M, et al. Patterns of alcohol use and multiple risk behaviour by gender during early and late adolescence: the ALSPAC cohort. J Public Health. 2012; 34(suppl 1):i20–i30.
- Harden J, Scott S, Backett-Milburn K, Jackson S. Can't talk, won't talk?: methodological issues in researching children. Sociological Research Online. 2000; 5(2):1–12.

PLOS ONE | https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0217855 June 12, 2019

18/18

Appendix 3 Incremental cost-effectiveness ratios tables

able 16 outlines each of the resources costed for use within the cost-effectiveness analysis. It shows the cost identified for each resource, any assumption of calculation used and the reference for the costs. All costs were recorded in 2014 UK sterling prices. Resource use, their subsequent costs and any benefits observed were modelled over a 12-month time horizon. A discount rate of 3.5% was used.

TABLE 16 Details of costs

Contact with health professional	Unit cost (£)	Details of cost component(s)	Reference
Consultation with GP	46.00	11.7 minutes of consultation, including direct care staff costs, with qualification costs (p. 195)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Seen the practice nurse	13.69	£53 per hour for face-to-face consultation, including qualification costs. Average consultations last 15.5 minutes. Cost calculated as follows: £53/60 × 15.5 (p. 192)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Seen the health visitor	19.69	£76 per hour of patient-related work, including qualification costs. Average consultation time for a practice nurse (15.5 minutes). So, £1.27 per minute \times 15.5 = £19.69 (pp. 187, 189, 192)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Hospital inpatient elective stay	3375.42	National average unit cost	Department of Health and Social Care ¹⁷²
Hospital inpatient elective stay: excess bed days	326.90	National average unit cost	Department of Health and Social Care ¹⁷²
Hospital inpatient non-elective short stay (1–3 days)	602.52	National average unit cost	Department of Health and Social Care ¹⁷²
Hospital inpatient non-elective long stay (4–6 days)	2837.31	National average unit cost	Department of Health and Social Care ¹⁷²
Hospital inpatient non-elective excess bed-days (incurred for stays > 6 days)	275.05	National average unit cost	Department of Health and Social Care ¹⁷²
Hospital day case	697.55	National average unit cost	Department of Health and Social Care ¹⁷²
Regular day/night admission	400.23	National average unit cost	Department of Health and Social Care ¹⁷²
A&E visit	123.67	National average unit cost	Department of Health and Social Care ¹⁷²
Outpatient department visit	109.00	Weighted average of all outpatient attendances (p. 111)	Curtis ¹⁴³
			continued

continuea

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca et al. under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

TABLE 16 Details of costs (continued)

Contact with health professional	Unit cost (£)	Details of cost component(s)	Reference
Consulted or visited other health-care professional	34.67	Calculated average of hospital-based health-care staff, including qualification costs: physiotherapist (£37), occupational therapist (£36), SALT (£37), dietitian (£37), radiographer (£38), allied health professional support worker (£23) = £34.67 (pp. 235–241). Assumed 1-hour consultation, given that there is no average consultation time	Curtis ¹⁴³
Community services			
Visited optician	21.00	Average Specsavers cost	Curtis ¹⁴³
Visited family therapist	45.83	£50 per hour. Average consultations last 55 minutes. Cost calculated as follows: (£50/60) × 55 = £45.83 (p. 51)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Visited individual therapist	45.83	£50 per hour. Average consultations last 55 minutes. Cost calculated as follows: (£50/60) × 55 = £45.83 (p. 51)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Visited psychiatrist/ psychologist	69.00	£138 per hour for client-related work, including qualification costs. Average consultations last 30 minutes (assumption). Cost calculated as follows: (£138/60) × 30 = £69.00 (p. 183)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Visited social worker	39.50	£79 per hour for client-related work, including qualification costs. Average consultations last 30 minutes (assumption). Cost calculated as follows: (£79/60) × 30 = £39.50 (p. 207)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Home visit optician	31.00	Estimated cost of optician visit at £21.00 + £10.00 travel costs	
Home visit family therapist	70.83	£50 per hour. Average consultations last 55 minutes + 15 minutes each way travel costs (assumption). Cost calculated as follows: (£50/60) × 85 = £70.83 (p. 51)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Home visit individual therapist	70.83	£50 per hour. Average consultations last 55 minutes + 15 minutes each way travel costs (assumption). Cost calculated as follows: (\pm 50/60) × 85 = \pm 70.83 (p. 51)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Home visit psychiatrist/ psychologist	138.00	£138 per hour for client-related work, including qualification costs. Average consultations last 30 minutes + 15 minutes each way travel (assumption). Cost calculated as follows: (£138/60) × 60 = £138.00 (p. 183)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Home visit social worker	39.50	£79 per hour for client-related work, including qualification costs. Average consultations last 30 minutes (assumption). Cost calculated as follows: (£79/60) \times 30 = £39.50 (p. 207)	Curtis ¹⁴³

TABLE 16 Details of costs (continued)

Home visits Curtis ¹⁴³ GP 91.26 11.4-minutes home visit, plus 12-minutes travel time per visit on average. It minute of GP time is costead at 330 (including direct care staff costs with qualification costs) (in 159), his is minuted of GP time is costead at 330 (including qualification costs) (in 159), his is minute and average travel time for a GP (12 minutes) and to calculate cost can calculate cost can calculate cost or a GP (12 minutes) and to calculate cost can calculate cost or a GP (12 minutes) and to calculate cost can calculate cost. Average travel time for a GP (12 minutes) and to calculate cost. Science (15.5 minutes) and to be the same for home visit). Average travel time for a GP (12 minutes) used to calculate travel costs. Sci (13.70 mer 30.25 (pp. 187, 192, 194–5) Curtis ⁻⁴¹ Practice nurse 24.29 £75 per hour for face-to-face consultation at GP surgery, including qualification cost. Average travel time for a GP (12 minutes) used to calculate travel costs. Sci (5.3600 xt 15.5 = f13.69) + (53.600 xt 12.5 = f13.69) + (5	Contact with health professional	Unit cost (£)	Details of cost component(s)	Reference
GP 91.26 11.4-triinutes home visit, plus 12-minutes for the is coated at 7.300 (including direct care staff costs with qualification costs) (i. 195), this is millipled by 23.4 to estimate cost of home visit (plu. 194–5) Curtis ¹⁴¹ Community nurse 30.25 £66 per hour of patient-related work, influences of calculate cost or s CP (12) minutes) used to calculate cost (i. 55 minutes) and a calculate cost. Curtis ¹⁴¹ Practice nurse 24.29 £53 per hour for face-to-face consultation at CP surgery, including qualification costs. Average consultation slat 15.5 minutes) used to calculate costs. Curtis ¹⁴² Practice nurse 24.29 £53 per hour for face-to-face consultation at CP surgery, including qualification costs. Average travel time for a CP (12) minutes) used to calculate costs. Curtis ¹⁴² Health visitor 34.93 £76 per hour of patient-related work, consultation time for a protein access. Curtis ¹⁴³ Other health-care professional 48.48 Calculate cost consultation costs. Average travel time for a CP (12) minutes) used to calculate costs. Curtis ¹⁴⁴ Other health-care professional 48.48 Calculate daverage travel time for a CP (12) minutes) used to calculate costs. Curtis ¹⁴⁴ Differ hear of patient-related work, consultation costs. Average consultation time for a protein acce ensuse (15.5 minutes) and accelulate costs. Curtis ¹⁴⁴ Curtis ¹⁴⁵ 24.93 Calculate daverage travel time for a CP (12) minutes) So adcition costs. Curtis ¹⁴⁴ Differ	Home visits			
Community nurse30.25Efeb per hour of patient-related work, iclusing qualification costs. Average consultation time for a practice nurse q GP (110, 55 minutes) and average travel time for a GP (110, 10) per minute x 15.5 = f17.05) + (f1.10, 10, per f13.20) = f30.20 + (f1.20, per f10, per	GP	91.26	11.4-minutes home visit, plus 12-minutes travel time per visit on average. 1 minute of GP time is costed at £3.90 (including direct care staff costs with qualification costs) (p. 195), this is multiplied by 23.4 to estimate cost of home visit (pp. 194–5)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Practice nurse24.29£53 per hour for face-to-face consultation at GP surgery, including qualification suss and to be the same for home visits. Average consultation slast 1.5.5 minutes (assumed to be the same for home visits. Average travel time for a GP (12 minutes) used to calculate travel costs. So, (53/60 × 15.5 = £13.69) + (53/60 × 12 = £10.60) = £24.29 (pp. 192, 194–5)Curtis ¹⁴³ Health visitor34.93£76 per hour of patient-related work, including qualification costs. Average consultation time for a parcice nurse (15.5 minutes) and average travel time for a GP (12 minutes) used to calculate cost per visit. So, (£1.27 per minute × 15.5 = £19.69) + (£1.27 × 12 = £5.24) = £34.93 (pp. 187, 189, 192, 194–5)Curtis ¹⁴³ Other health-care professional48.48Calculated average of community-based health-care staff, including qualification costs: physiothrappist (£36), occupational therapist (£36), palliative care nurse specialist (£74), clinical support worker (£20) = £40.40. Then added travel costs, estimated by using GP travel travel costs, estimated by using GP travel travel costs (£40.40.060 × 12 = £8.08) (pp. 235-241). Assumed 1-hour consultation timeCurtis ¹⁴³ Defute table for (15.5 fact of face84.00CAMHS cost per hour ranges between fast and £115 per hour of face-to-face contact, depending on case mix. Average face-to-face meting lasts 60 minutes (assumption) (pp. 222-5)Curtis ¹⁴³ CAMHS telephone16.3811.7-minute consultation (average GP 	Community nurse	30.25	£66 per hour of patient-related work, including qualification costs. Average consultation time for a practice nurse (15.5 minutes) and average travel time for a GP (12 minutes) used to calculate cost per visit. So, (£1.10 per minute \times 15.5 = £17.05) + (£1.10 \times 12 = £13.20) = £30.25 (pp. 187, 192, 194–5)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Health visitor34.93£76 per hour of patient-related work, including qualification costs. Average consultation time for a practice nurse (15.5 minutes) and average travel time for a GP (12 minutes) used to calculate cost per visit. So, (£1.27 per minute x 15.5 = £19.69) + (£1.27 x 12 = £15.24) = £34.93 (pp. 187, 189, 192, 194-5)Curtis ¹⁴³ Other health-care professional48.48Calculate daverage of community-based health-care staff, including qualification costs: physiotherapist (£36), occupational threapist (£36), SALT (£36), pallative care average consultation alded travel cost, estimated by using GP travel time of 12 minutes. So, additional travel cost, estimated by using GP travelCurtis ¹⁴³ Drug and alcohol services 84.00CAMHS cost per hour range between oras verage consultation timeCurtis ¹⁴³ CAMHS face to face84.00CAMHS cost per hour range between consultation, given that there is no average consultation (average GP contact, depending on case mix. Average face-to-face meeting lasts 60 minutes (assumption) (pp. 222-25)Curtis ¹⁴³ CAMHS telephone16.38Assumed same as CAMHSCurtis ¹⁴³	Practice nurse	24.29	£53 per hour for face-to-face consultation at GP surgery, including qualification costs. Average consultations last 15.5 minutes (assumed to be the same for home visits). Average travel time for a GP (12 minutes) used to calculate travel costs. So, (53/60 × 15.5 = £13.69) + (53/60 × 12 = £10.60) = £24.29 (pp. 192, 194–5)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Other health-care professional48.48Calculated average of community-based health-care staff, including qualification costs: physiotherapist (£36), occupational therapist (£36), SALT (£36), palliative care nurse specialist (£74), clinical support worker (£20) = £40.40. Then added travel costs, estimated by using GP travel time of 12 minutes. So, additional travel cost = (40.40/60 × 12 = £8.08) (pp. 235–241). Assumed 1-hour consultation, given that there is no average consultation timeCurtis ¹⁴³ Drug and alcohol servicesEECAMHS face to face84.00CAMHS cost per hour ranges between fa84 and £115 per hour of face-to-face (costar, depending on case mix. Average face-to-face meeting lasts 60 minutes (assumption) (pp. 222–5)Curtis ¹⁴³ CAMHS telephone16.3811.7-minute consultation (average GP proportion of CAMHS costCurtis ¹⁴³ Other face to face84.00Assumed same as CAMHSCurtis ¹⁴³	Health visitor	34.93	£76 per hour of patient-related work, including qualification costs. Average consultation time for a practice nurse (15.5 minutes) and average travel time for a GP (12 minutes) used to calculate cost per visit. So, (£1.27 per minute \times 15.5 = £19.69) + (£1.27 \times 12 = £15.24) = £34.93 (pp. 187, 189, 192, 194–5)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Drug and alcohol servicesCAMHS face to face84.00CAMHS cost per hour ranges between £84 and £115 per hour of face-to-face contact, depending on case mix. Average face-to-face meeting lasts 60 minutes (assumption) (pp. 222–5)Curtis ¹⁴³ CAMHS telephone16.3811.7-minute consultation (average GP telephone consultation time) as a proportion of CAMHS costCurtis ¹⁴³ Other face to face84.00Assumed same as CAMHSCurtis ¹⁴³ Other telephone16.38Assumed same as CAMHSCurtis ¹⁴³	Other health-care professional	48.48	Calculated average of community-based health-care staff, including qualification costs: physiotherapist (£36), occupational therapist (£36), SALT (£36), palliative care nurse specialist (£74), clinical support worker (£20) = £40.40. Then added travel costs, estimated by using GP travel time of 12 minutes. So, additional travel cost = (40.40/60 × 12 = £8.08) (pp. 235–241). Assumed 1-hour consultation, given that there is no average consultation time	Curtis ¹⁴³
CAMHS face to face84.00CAMHS cost per hour ranges between £84 and £115 per hour of face-to-face contact, depending on case mix. Average face-to-face meeting lasts 60 minutes (assumption) (pp. 222–5)Curtis ¹⁴³ CAMHS telephone16.3811.7-minute consultation (average GP telephone consultation time) as a proportion of CAMHS costCurtis ¹⁴³ Other face to face84.00Assumed same as CAMHSCurtis ¹⁴³ Other telephone16.38Assumed same as CAMHSCurtis ¹⁴³	Drug and alcohol services			
CAMHS telephone16.3811.7-minute consultation (average GP telephone consultation time) as a proportion of CAMHS costCurtis ¹⁴³ Other face to face84.00Assumed same as CAMHSCurtis ¹⁴³ Other telephone16.38Assumed same as CAMHSCurtis ¹⁴³	CAMHS face to face	84.00	CAMHS cost per hour ranges between £84 and £115 per hour of face-to-face contact, depending on case mix. Average face-to-face meeting lasts 60 minutes (assumption) (pp. 222–5)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Other face to face84.00Assumed same as CAMHSCurtis143Other telephone16.38Assumed same as CAMHSCurtis143	CAMHS telephone	16.38	11.7-minute consultation (average GP telephone consultation time) as a proportion of CAMHS cost	Curtis ¹⁴³
Other telephone16.38Assumed same as CAMHSCurtis143	Other face to face	84.00	Assumed same as CAMHS	Curtis ¹⁴³
	Other telephone	16.38	Assumed same as CAMHS	Curtis ¹⁴³

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

TABLE 16 Details of costs (continued)

Contact with health professional	Unit cost (£)	Details of cost component(s)	Reference
Sick/truancy days			
School exclusion (permanent)	4000.00		Department for Education ¹⁷³
Educational help			
Individual tuition at home	35.00	Fees average between £29 and £41 per hour	Journalism.co.uk ¹⁷⁴
Individual tuition in some classes	14.26	£14.26 per hour, based on an average teaching salary of £27,813.5 and 37.5 hours per week of working time	Department for Education ¹⁷⁵
Lessons in a special unit in school	14.26	Assumed same as individual tuition in some classes	Department for Education ¹⁷⁵
School professionals			
School nurse (per contact)	53.00	£53 per contact, school-based children's health-care (other) services (p. 85)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Educational psychologist (per contact)	41.00	£41 per contact, educational psychologist (p. 156)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Educational welfare officer (per contact)	22.50	£22.50 per contact, EWO. Checklist completed by EWO £18 + TAC meeting attended by EWO £27. Average calculated (p. 155)	Curtis ¹⁴³
School counsellor/health advisor (per contact)	41.00	Assumed same as educational psychologist	Curtis ¹⁴³
Additional meetings with tutors (per minute)	0.24	£0.24 per minute, based on an average teaching salary of £27,813.5 and 37.5 hours per week of working time	Department for Education ¹⁷⁵
Other care			
Foster care (days)	427.86	£2995 establishment costs per week/ 7days = £427.86 per day (p. 86)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Residential care (days)	90.43	£633 establishment costs per week/ 7days = £90.43 per day (p. 64)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Supported accommodation (days)	90.43	Assumed same as residential care. £633 establishment costs per week/ 7days = £90.43 per day (p. 64)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Other (days)	90.43	Assumed same as residential care. £633 establishment costs per week/ 7days = £90.43 per day (p. 64)	Curtis ¹⁴³
Policing and crime			
Police contact (spoken to by)	21.85	Cost of police constable, per hour (p. 16)	NPCC ¹⁷⁶
Court appearance	100.00	Costs vary massively depending on type of court and whether the defendant pleads guilty or goes to trial. We have calculated the cost based on the lowest costed court attendance at a magistrates court. Costs exclude lawyers	Crown Prosecution Service ¹⁷⁷
Custody (day)	418.00		Alexander ¹⁷⁸

CAMHS, Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services; EWO, Educational Welfare Officer; NPCC, National Police Chiefs' Council; SALT, Speech and Language Therapist; TAC, Team Around the Child.

Incremental cost-effectiveness ratios for interventions compared with control for the low- and high-risk populations are given in *Tables 17* and *18*.

		Total		Difference		
Perspective	Trial group	QALY	Cost (£)	QALY	Cost (£)	ICER (£/QALY)
Societal	Control	0.904	1132	_	_	-
	PFBA	0.909	1735	0.005	603	130,822
	eBl	0.894	1884	-0.013	751	eBI dominated
NHS/PSS	Control	0.904	912	-	-	-
	PFBA	0.909	1468	0.005	556	120,693
	eBl	0.894	1683	-0.013	771	eBI dominated

TABLE 17 Incremental cost-effectiveness ratios for interventions vs. control: low-risk population

TABLE 18 Incremental cost-effectiveness ratios for interventions vs. control: high-risk population

		Total		Difference		
Population	Trial group	QALY	Cost (£)	QALY	Cost (£)	ICER (£/QALY)
Societal	Control	0.900	1704	-	-	-
	PFBA	0.903	1726	0.003	23	8683
	eBl	0.892	2110	-0.008	407	eBI dominated
NHS/PSS	Control	0.900	1553	-	-	-
	PFBA	0.903	1571	0.003	19	7115
	eBl	0.892	1953	-0.008	401	eBI dominated

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2020. This work was produced by Deluca *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This issue may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and extracts (or indeed, the full report) may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NIHR Journals Library, National Institute for Health Research, Evaluation, Trials and Studies Coordinating Centre, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Appendix 4 Copies of previously published papers

peproduced from Coulton et al.⁶¹ © The Author(s) 2018. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of N Faculty of Public Health. All rights reserved. For permissions, please e-mail: journals.permissions@oup.com. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted reuse, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Journal of Public Health | pp. 1-8 | doi:10.1093/pubmed/fdy049

Opportunistic screening for alcohol use problems in adolescents attending emergency departments: an evaluation of screening tools

Simon Coulton¹, M. Fasihul Alam², Sadie Boniface³, Paolo Deluca³, Kim Donoghue³, Eilish Gilvarry⁴, Eileen Kaner⁵, Ellen Lynch⁵, Ian Maconochie⁶, Paul McArdle⁴, Ruth McGovern⁵, Dorothy Newbury-Birch⁷, Robert Patton⁸, Ceri J. Phillips⁹, Thomas Phillips^{3,10}, Hannah Rose³, Ian Russell¹¹, John Strang³, Colin Drummond³

¹Centre for Health Services Studies, School of Social Science and Social Policy Research, George Allen Wing, University of Kent, Canterbury, Kent CT2 7NZ, UK ²College of Health Sciences, Qatar University, Doha, Qatar
³Addictions Department, National Addiction Centre, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, LOK ⁴Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust, Newcastle, UK ⁵Institute of Health and Society, Newcastle University, Newcastle, UK ⁶Paediatric Emergency Medicine, Imperial College London, London, UK ⁷School of Health and Social Care, Teesside University, Middlesbrough, UK ⁸School of Psychology, University of Surrey, Guildford, UK Swansea Centre for Health Economics, College of Human and Health Sciences, Swansea University, Swansea, UK ¹⁰University of Hull, Hull, UK
¹¹Swansea University Medical School, Swansea, UK

Address correspondence to Simon Coulton, E-mail: s.coulton@kent.ac.uk

ABSTRACT

Objective To estimate and compare the optimal cut-off score of Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) and AUDIT-C in identifying at-risk alcohol consumption, heavy episodic alcohol use, ICD-10 alcohol abuse and alcohol dependence in adolescents attending ED in England.

Design Opportunistic cross-sectional survey.

Setting 10 emergency departments across England.

Participants Adolescents (n = 5377) aged between their 10th and 18th birthday who attended emergency departments between December 2012 and May 2013.

Measures Scores on the AUDIT and AUDIT-C. At-risk alcohol consumption and monthly episodic alcohol consumption in the past 3 months were derived using the time-line follow back method. Alcohol abuse and alcohol dependence was assessed in accordance with ICD-10 criteria using the MINI-KID.

Findings AUDIT-C with a score of 3 was more effective for at-risk alcohol use (AUC 0.81; sensitivity 87%, specificity 97%), heavy episodic use (0.84; 76%, 98%) and alcohol abuse (0.98; 91%, 90%). AUDIT with a score of 7 was more effective in identifying alcohol dependence (0.92; 96%, 94%).

Conclusions The 3-item AUDIT-C is more effective than AUDIT in screening adolescents for at-risk alcohol use, heavy episodic alcohol use and alcohol abuse. AUDIT is more effective than AUDIT-C for the identification of alcohol dependence.

Keywords adolescent, alcohol, diagnosis, screening

Simon Coulton, Professor of Health Service Research	Ruth McGovern, Senior Research Associate
M. Fasihul Alam, Assistant Professor in Health Economics	Dorothy Newbury-Birch, Professor of Alcohol & Public Health Research
Sadie Boniface, Trial Manager	Robert Patton, Lecturer in Clinical Psychology
Paolo Deluca, Reader in Addictions Research	Ceri J. Phillips, Professor of Health Economics
Kim Donoghue, Trial Manager	Thomas Phillips, Professor of Nursing (Addictions)
Eilish Gilvarry, Hon Professor of Addictions and Consultant Psychiatrist	Hannah Rose, Research Assistant
Eileen Kaner, Professor of Public Health and Primary Care Research	Ian Russell, Professor Emeritus (Medicine)
Ellen Lynch, Research Associate	John Strang, Professor of Addiction Psychiatry
Ian Maconochie, Honorary Senior Lecturer and Consultant in Paediatric Emergency	Colin Drummond, Professor of Addiction Psychiatry
Medicine	
D 114 A H C 1 C 111 1 A 1 1 D 11 C	

C The Author(s) 2018. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of Faculty of Public Health. All rights reserved. For permissions, please e-mail: journals.permissions@oup.com

Introduction

The excessive consumption of alcohol is a major global public health issue^{1,2} and places a significant burden on international health systems. While the majority of this burden lies with adult populations, for many the roots of problematic alcohol use lies in adolescence.³ Adolescence is a critical developmental stage when young people make behavioural and lifestyle choices that have the potential to impact on their health and wellbeing into adulthood. Inappropriate risk-taking is significantly associated with health and social harm during adolescence.⁴ Young people are much more vulnerable than adults to the adverse effects of alcohol use due to a range of physical and psychological factors that often interact. Adolescence is also a unique period whereby neural proliferation and subsequent 'pruning' processes may leave brain structures particularly vulnerable to the effects of alcohol.^{5,6}

A recent survey of alcohol consumed by 14–15 years old across 36 European countries reported that in the United Kingdom (UK) 87% had consumed alcohol at least once in their lifetime and 57% had consumed alcohol at least once in the past month.⁷ The prevalence of consuming alcohol increases with age, with data from 2016 indicating that 9% of boys aged 11–15 years, and 11% of girls had consumed alcohol in the past 7 days. Of these, 1% of 11 years old consumed alcohol in the past 7 days, increasing to 24% at age 15. In terms of quantity of alcohol consumed in the past 7 days mean consumption was 10.3 units for boys and 8.9 units for girls aged 11–15 years.⁸

An evidence based review of the risks and harms of alcohol consumption in young people⁹ provided a basis for the Chief Medical Officer for England recommendations for alcohol consumption in young people—that young people up to the age of 15 abstain completely from drinking and those aged 15–17 are advised not to drink, but if they do drink, they should not exceed 2–3 standard drinks in any day and no more than once per week.¹⁰

While there is a body of evidence addressing the effects of school based interventions for delaying the onset of drinking in adolescents,¹¹ and some evidence for interventions to delay the age of onset or reduce alcohol consumption for adolescents in other settings,^{12,13} there exists a paucity of evidence of the effectiveness of interventions to reduce adolescent alcohol use in primary care settings. Recommendations from the World Health Organization, US Surgeon General and American Academy of Paediatrics advocate that more evidence is needed on the effectiveness of opportunistic screening and interventions for adolescents who consume alcohol^{14,15} and this population has been identified as a key target group for the reduction of alcohol

use and related harm^{16,17} in both English and Scottish alcohol strategies.

The identification of adolescents who consume alcohol at problematic levels is a key element in any screening and intervention strategy. To offer such interventions practitioners need access to screening tools that are high in both sensitivity and specificity and are quick and easy to apply at minimal cost. Biochemical markers of alcohol use such as Y-glutamyltransferase, aspartate aminotransferase, erythrocyte mean cell volume and percent carbohydrate deficit transferrin are impractical and of little use in this population and have been found to be inferior to short paper instruments in adult populations.18 The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT)¹⁹ is a 10-item self-completion instrument with established diagnostic properties for problematic alcohol use in adults that addresses three domains of alcohol-related problems; consumption, negative consequences and symptoms of dependence. AUDIT is one of the few screening instruments that specifically incorporates consumption into the scoring algorithm and may be particularly suitable for adolescents who are more likely to experience a range of alcoholrelated problems as a result of consumption rather than psychological consequences of alcohol use. Further, it may be the case that the three specific alcohol consumption questions, AUDIT-C, may be equally efficient as a brief screening instrument as the full AUDIT. Previous studies suggest that the AUDIT may be more useful than other brief screening instruments in adolescent populations, but there is less consensus regarding appropriate cut-off points for different severities of alcohol use²⁰⁻²⁵ and no previous research has compared the relative effectiveness of AUDIT versus AUDIT-C as opportunistic screening approaches for adolescent populations. Much of the prior research has aimed to compare the performance of a variety of different screening instruments^{21,26–} ²⁸ against more severe clinical alcohol use disorder criteria whereas adolescents are more likely to experience alcoholrelated difficulties at lower levels of consumption and this is in part due to the pattern of consumption in the form of heavy episodic alcohol use.²⁹ In addition, the majority of studies have been conducted in older adolescent populations^{20,22} and often involve college students, primary care or hospitalized participants, rather than an opportunistic sample and are limited in their generalizability to the wider adolescent population and particularly limited in their generalizability to the UK.

Our aim was to estimate and compare the sensitivity, specificity, and diagnostic odd ratio of the AUDIT and AUDIT-C in identifying at-risk alcohol use, monthly heavy episodic alcohol use, alcohol abuse and alcohol dependence in the context of an opportunistic screening programme for adolescents, aged between 10 and 17 years, attending emergency

Downloaded from https://academic.oup.com/jpubhealth/advance-article-abstract/doi/10.1093/pubmed/fdy049/4953708 by King's College London user on 27 April 2018

OPPORTUNISTIC SCREENING FOR ALCOHOL USE PROBLEMS IN ADOLESCENTS 3

departments (ED) in England. To be acceptable as a screening test in clinical practice we expected the sensitivity and specificity at a selected cut-point would exceed 0.70.

Methods

The study was conducted in accordance with ethical approval from the National Health Service Multi-Centre Research Ethics Committee (ref: 12/L0/0799) and was registered in an appropriate trial registry (ref: ISRCTN 45300218).

Design

An opportunistic cross-sectional survey conducted between December 2012 and May 2013 across 10 ED's in England, encompassing a mix of metropolitan urban and rural centres across the North East, Yorkshire and Humber, London and the South. Consecutive attendees, between the hours of 8 am and midnight were approached by trained researchers after the initial triage assessment.

Researcher assessment was conducted blind to the results of the screening measure and the order of presentation of all measures was randomized using random permuted blocks of random length and embodied within the electronic data collection tool, stratified by age and centre. All assessment instruments used a 3-month assessment time-frame.

Measures

Gold standard measures

To elicit the gold-standard measures of at-risk drinking and monthly heavy episodic alcohol use we used the Time-Line Follow Back -90 days (TLFB90). This is a reliable and valid method to ascertain the frequency and quantity of alcohol consumed in clinical and non-clinical populations for periods ranging from 1 to 365 days.³⁰ The method has established psychometric properties for adolescent populations³¹ and is conducted by a trained researcher and the 90-day version takes ~30 min to complete. The responses to the interview are converted to UK standard drinks and can be used as either continuous or categorical outcomes. At-risk drinking was defined as consuming three or more standard drinks, where a standard drink equates to 8 g of pure ethanol, in a single day in the past 90 days. Monthly heavy episodic alcohol consumption was defined as consuming six or more standard drinks in a single drinking episode in each month over the past 3 months.

MINI-KID has established validity and reliability in the identification of psychiatric diagnoses for children and adolescents.³² The alcohol use module consists of seven detailed

questions that diagnose both alcohol abuse and alcohol dependence in accordance with ICD-10 criteria.

Screening tools

The AUDIT¹⁹ is a 10-item self-completion questionnaire that measures the quantity and frequency of alcohol consumption, drinking behaviour, alcohol-related problems and the symptoms of alcohol dependence. Each item is scored 0–4 and summed to create an overall score with a maximum of 40. The instrument is widely used in adult populations and a cut-off score of 8 or more has high levels of sensitivity (92%) and specificity (94%) for at-risk drinking in adult populations.¹⁹ The AUDIT-C³³ consists of the three consumption items of AUDIT and has been validated as a short-screen in adults, AUDIT-C scores range from 0 to 12, with five or more being indicative of at-risk alcohol use.

Participant recruitment

To be included in the survey, participants had to be aged between their 10th and 18th birthday, alert and orientated and able to communicate in English sufficiently to complete the survey. Participants were excluded if they had a severe injury requiring immediate intervention, were grossly intoxicated, had a serious mental health presentation or if they, or their parent or guardian, refused to provide consent.

Participants were provided with the study information sheet and allowed to ask any questions prior to providing consent. Where a child was aged 16 years or less Gillick competency was assessed³⁴ by a member of the clinical staff in the ED, and where a participant was not found competent consent was sought from the parent or carer. If a parent or carer was present with the child, parent consent was sought in addition to child consent. The survey was conducted in a private area of the ED with a trained researcher who was available to answer any questions and provide appropriate assistance. The survey was anonymous and self-completed using an electronic tablet device with the exception of the time-line follow back interview (TLFB)³⁰ that was conducted by the researcher. At the end of the survey participants were thanked for their time and returned to the care of the ED, were provided with an age-appropriate alcohol awareness leaflet and given a £5 gift voucher for participating.

Statistical methods

We compiled and analysed the results using STATA14. The influence of potential covariates of age and gender, and clustering by ED, were incorporated into the analysis using the ROCREG function. We constructed receiver operator characteristic curves on the basis of all continuous values of the

4 JOURNAL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

test results for AUDIT and AUDIT-C compared with each of the gold-standards; at-risk drinking, monthly heavy episodic alcohol use, alcohol abuse and alcohol dependence. We estimated the sensitivity and specificity of each cut-off point and generated the diagnostic odds ratio and associated 95% confidence interval. The diagnostic odds ratio was used to estimate optimal cut-points and is a measure of effectiveness of a dichotomous classification that is the ratio of the odds of being positive if truly positive relative to the odds of being positive if truly negative. It has advantages over other methods of diagnostic test effectiveness in that it is less susceptible to statistical artefacts, a criticism of the Youden Index, and does not rely on the sample prevalence, making it more useful for comparison across different study samples.³⁵

Results

Overall 5781 participants were asked to participate in the survey of whom 5377 (93%) consented to participate across the 10 ED's. The mean age was 13.3 (SD 2.1) years with

similar proportions of male (53.7%) and female (46.3%) participants and the majority White (72.6%). Overall 2112 (39.3%) had consumed alcohol at some time in the past and 1378 (25.6%) had consumed alcohol in the past 3 months. Those who had consumed alcohol tended to be older (14.8 versus 12.3 years) and were more likely to be white (83.4 versus 65.6%) (Table 1).

Using the sample to estimate the prevalence of drinking behaviours in adolescents attending ED, the prevalence of at-risk drinking was 14.8% (95% CI: 13.9-15.8%). The prevalence of monthly heavy episodic alcohol use was 10.6% (9.8–11.4%), alcohol abuse 2.4% (2.0–2.8%) and alcohol dependence 1.2% (0.9–1.5%). In the sample of those who had consumed alcohol in the past 3 months the prevalence of these behaviours was significantly higher (Table 2).

A significant positive correlation was identified for AUDIT score with the total number of standard drinks consumed in the past 3 months (Spearman rho, r = 0.72, 95% CI: 0.71–0.73; P < 0.001) and a similar correlation identified for AUDIT-C score (r = 0.69, 95% CI: 0.68–0.70; P < 0.001). Screening properties of the questionnaire were tested

Table 1 Demographic variables in 5377 adolescent attendees overall and by drinking status

Variable	All attendees (n = 5377)	Drinkers (n = 2112)	Non-drinkers (n = 3265)
- Mean age (SD)	13.28 (2.07)	14.77 (1.64)	12.33 (1.74)
Age 10, <i>n</i> (%)	570 (10.6)	24 (1.1)	543 (16.8)
Age 11, <i>n</i> (%)	701 (13.0)	50 (2.4)	647 (20.0)
Age 12, <i>n</i> (%)	809 (15.0)	133 (6.3)	668 (20.6)
Age 13, <i>n</i> (%)	845 (15.7)	248 (11.7)	595 (18.4)
Age 14, <i>n</i> (%)	751 (14.0)	387 (18.3)	363 (11.2)
Age 15, <i>n</i> (%)	784 (14.6)	502 (23.8)	276 (8.5)
Age 16, <i>n</i> (%)	534 (9.9)	428 (20.3)	105 (3.2)
Age 17, <i>n</i> (%)	382 (7.1)	340 (16.1)	40 (1.2)
Male, n (%)	2886 (53.7)	1093 (51.8)	1793 (54.9)
Ethnicity, n (%)			
White	3726 (72.6)	1687 (83.4)	2039 (65.6)
Black	698 (13.6)	150 (7.4)	548 (17.6)
Chinese	4 (0.1)	1	3 (0.1)
Mixed	289 (5.6)	97 (4.8)	192 (6.2)
Asian	255 (5.0)	35 (1.7)	220 (7.1)
Other	144 (2.8)	45 (2.2)	99 (3.2)
Mode of arrival, n (%)			
Own means	3953 (74.0)	1667 (79.1)	2286 (70.6)
Ambulance	331 (6.2)	143 (6.8)	188 (5.8)
Police	2 (0.05)	2 (0.1)	0
Other	1059 (19.8)	295 (14.0)	764 (23.6)
Smoker, <i>n</i> (%)	481 (9.0)	455 (21.6)	26 (0.8)
Consumed alcohol in the past 3 months, n (%)	1378 (25.6)	1378 (64.9)	0

OPPORTUNISTIC SCREENING FOR ALCOHOL USE PROBLEMS IN ADOLESCENTS 5

Table 2 Alcohol-related variables for all participants and those who consumed alcohol in the past 3 months

Variable	<i>All participants</i> (n = <i>5377</i>)	Those who consumed alcohol in past 3 months (n = 1378)
Consumed alcohol in past 24 h, n (%)	115 (2.1)	115 (8.5)
Mean age in years (SD)	13.28 (2.07)	15.12 (1.51)
Mean age of first drink in years (SD)	12.74 (2.24)	12.90 (2.17)
Total alcohol consumed in past 3 months in standard units ^a (SD)	7.19 (39.47)	33.09 (79.28)
Hazardous alcohol consumption in past 3 months ^b , <i>n</i> (%)	796 (14.8)	796 (67.9)
Heavy episodic alcohol consumption in past 3 months ^c , n (%)	572 (10.6)	572 (48.8)
Alcohol abuse ^d , n (%)	127 (2.4)	127 (9.2)
Alcohol dependent ^d , n (%)	67 (1.2)	67 (5.0)
Mean AUDIT score (SD) (values can range from 0 to 40 with higher scores indicative of greater	1.18 (1.78)	4.83 (5.03)
problems)		
Mean AUDIT-C score (SD) (values can range from 0 to 12 with higher scores indicative of	0.75 (3.23)	2.98 (2.46)
greater problems)		

^aStandard unit equivalent to 8 g of ethanol.

^bHazardous consumption defined as drinking three or more standard units in a single day.

^cHeavy episodic consumption defined as drinking six or more standard units in a single drinking episode.

^dUsing ICD-10 criteria using MINI-KID.

against the gold standard criteria for at-risk drinking, heavy episodic alcohol consumption, alcohol abuse and alcohol dependence. Screening results for all cut-points were assessed and the results of those around the optimal cutpoint are reported in Table 3.

The optimum cut-off point for AUDIT in identifying either at-risk drinking, monthly heavy episodic drinking or alcohol abuse was 4 or more, which provided the optimal cut-point to provide acceptable sensitivity, specificity and diagnostic odds. An AUDIT-C score of 3 or more demonstrated almost identical diagnostic properties but with a significantly better sensitivity for at-risk drinking.

An AUDIT score of 7 or more provided a significantly more effective cut-point for alcohol dependence than any other cut-point and demonstrated significantly better diagnostic properties than an AUDIT-C score of 5 or more.

We assessed the potential influence of age, gender and ED on our findings and found these effects to minimal and not statistically significant from our main findings. The results without incorporation of these variables is therefore reported.

Discussion

Main findings of this study

A simple short three item self-completed screening instrument, the AUDIT-C, is overall more effective than the longer 10-item AUDIT in identifying adolescents who engage in at-risk of alcohol consumption, monthly heavy episodic alcohol use and fulfil ICD-10 criteria for alcohol abuse. Further the AUDIT with a cut-off score of 7 is more efficient than AUDIT-C in identifying adolescents with alcohol dependence. In addition, AUDIT-C and AUDIT are widely employed as screening tools for adults in clinical and nonclinical settings and these can be applied equally to adolescent populations with these lower cut-off scores. We conclude that AUDIT-C should be employed with this population with a cut-off score of 3 as a positive screen for at-risk drinking, monthly heavy episodic alcohol use and alcohol abuse. For those who score 5 or more on AUDIT-C we recommend the use of the additional 7 questions constituting the full AUDIT be administered. With those scoring 7 or more being clinically assessed for alcohol dependence.

What is already known on this topic

There is a body of evidence suggesting that interventions for alcohol using adolescents are effective and that they are more effective when targeted as secondary prevention strategies, i.e. at those already engaged in consuming alcohol.^{12,13} A critical first step in the delivery of interventions is employing opportunistic screening tools and the combination of effective screening tools and intervention strategies offers significant potential to reduce the burden of alcohol use on adolescents, health systems and wider society and further consideration should be given to the routine opportunistic

6 JOURNAL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

Outcome	Prevalence % (95% Cl)	AUC (95% Cl)	Sensitivity % (95% Cl)	Specificity % (95% Cl)	Diagnostic odd ratio (95% Cl)
At-risk/hazardous drinking	15 (14; 16)				
AUDIT					
≥3		0.81 (0.79; 0.94)	78 (75; 82)	94 (94; 95)	55 (47; 87)
≥4		0.81 (0.79; 0.94)	75 (72; 78)	98 (98; 99)	147 (126; 351)
≥5		0.84 (0.82; 0.87)	65 (61; 69)	98 (98; 99)	91 (77; 220)
AUDIT-C					
≥2		0.84 (0.82; 0.87)	91 (88; 93)	89 (87; 91)	81 (49; 134)
≥3		0.98 (0.97; 0.99)	89 (86; 91)	97 (96; 97)	261 (147; 242)
≥4		0.98 (0.97; 0.98)	72 (68; 77)	97 (96; 97)	83 (51; 108)
Monthly episodic use	10 (10; 11)				
AUDIT					
≥3		0.92 (0.90; 0.95)	80 (77; 82)	92 (89; 95)	46 (27; 86)
≥4		0.87 (0.84; 0.91)	78 (74; 81)	97 (97; 98)	114 (92; 109)
≥5			58 (54; 63)	98 (94; 99)	67 (18; 168)
AUDIT-C					
≥2			82 (79; 85)	89 (87; 90)	37 (25; 51)
≥3			76 (73; 80)	98 (97; 98)	155 (87; 196)
≥4			61 (57; 66)	99 (96; 99)	77 (32; 192)
Alcohol abuse	2 (2; 3)				
AUDIT					
≥3			94 (88; 97)	85 (82; 88)	88 (33; 237)
≥4			93 (87; 96)	88 (87; 89)	97 (44; 194)
≥5			83 (75; 88)	92 (91; 93)	56 (30; 97)
AUDIT-C					
≥2			91 (85; 95)	85 (84; 86)	57 (30; 116)
≥3			91 (85; 95)	90 (88; 91)	91 (42; 192)
≥4			65 (56; 73)	93 (92; 93)	25 (15; 36)
Alcohol dependent	1 (1;2)				
AUDIT					
≥6			96 (89; 99)	92 (90; 94)	276 (73; 1551)
≥7			96 (89; 99)	94 (95; 95)	376 (154; 1881)
≥8			91 (81; 96)	95 (95; 96)	192 (81; 576)
AUDIT-C					
≥4			85 (79; 88)	92 (91; 93)	65 (43; 97)
≥5			80 (67; 89)	95 (95; 95)	76 (39; 154)
≥6			67 (55; 77)	97 (96; 97)	65 (39; 108)

Table 3 Area under the receiver operator curve (AUC), sensitivity, specificity and diagnostic odd ratio of AUDIT and AUDIT-C cut-points for hazardous drinking, monthly episodic alcohol use, alcohol abuse and alcohol dependence for 5377 adolescent attendees at ED

implementation of screening strategies for adolescent populations.

What this study adds

Routine alcohol screening of adolescents should be considered across the UK National Health Service. This study demonstrates that the process can be simplified by using short screening tools already in use for adult populations. This requires appropriate training, resources and incentives for staff. Identifying those adolescents that may benefit from interventions to address alcohol use and associated multiple risk behaviours will help to reduce the burden of alcohol use

OPPORTUNISTIC SCREENING FOR ALCOHOL USE PROBLEMS IN ADOLESCENTS 7

across the health service and society. This has the potential to enhance the future health of the adolescent population well into adulthood.

Limitations of this study

Our study was conducted in ED and this could be seen as compromising the generalizability of the findings to other health settings. Yet adolescents are far less frequent attenders at primary care and the ED provides an opportunity to access this population and in turn provides the 'teachable moment', that is hypothesized to play a crucial role in effective behaviour change.³⁶ Further, we aimed to ensure generalizability of our sample to other ED's in the UK by including centres covering rural and urban areas and areas with the lowest and highest population prevalence of adolescent alcohol use and areas of high and low socio-economic status. In addition, our estimates of alcohol use problems compare well with national epidemiological surveys, that suggest 27% of adolescents consume alcohol versus 26% in our study, 9% have been drunk three or more times in the past 4 weeks compared with 11% of episodic drinkers in the past 3 months in our study.³⁷ We also recognize that those who scored negative on the screening tool and outcome assessments may have misreported their alcohol consumption and we took a variety of steps to ameliorate this by ensuring anonymity and confidentiality. Previous evidence would suggest this form of social desirability bias is limited.³⁸ This study was the first study of the screening instruments in a real-life health setting in the UK, one where the burden of alcohol use is a real concern.

Conflicts of interest

The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Acknowledgement

The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NHS, NIHR or Department of Health. We thank all young people who helped us design the survey and guided the research team on how to best present the survey to young people to maximize engagement. We also thank all those young people who took the time to complete the survey and all the staff in participating ED's.

Funding

This work was funded by the NIHR Programme Grants for Applied Research (Rp-PG-0609-10162). Colin Drummond is partly funded by the NIHR Biomedical Research Centre for Mental Health at South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and king's College London and partly funded by the NIHR Collaborations for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care South London at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.

Authors contributions

SC, PD, KD, e.g. EK, IM, PM, RM, DNB, RP, TP, IR, JS and CD contributed to the design of the programme of research. FA, SB, EL, CP, HR contribute to the ongoing data collection analysis and interpretation of the research. SC conducted the analysis reported in the article and wrote the initial draft. All authors have read and commented on subsequent drafts of the article.

References

- Rehm J, Room R, Graham K *et al.* The relationship of average volume of alcohol consumption and patterns of drinking to burden of disease: an overview. *Addiction* 2003;98:1209–28.
- 2 Rehm J, Room R, Monteiro M et al. Alcohol as a risk factor for global burden of disease. Eur Addict Res 2003;9:157–64.
- 3 Bellis M, Phillips-Howard P, Hughes K et al. Teenage drinking, alcohol availability and pricing: a cross-sectional study of risk and protective factors for alcohol-related harms in school children. BMC Public Health 2009;9:380.
- 4 Odgers CL, Caspi A, Nagin DS *et al.* Is it important to prevent early exposure to drugs and alcohol among adolescents? *Psychol Sci* 2008; 19:1037–44.
- 5 Guerri C, Pascual M. Mechanisms involved in the neurotoxic, cognitive, and neurobehavioral effects of alcohol consumption during adolescence. *Alcohol* 2010;44:15–26.
- 6 Squeglia LM, Jacobus J, Tapert SF. The influence of substance use on adolescent brain development. *Clin EEG Neurosci* 2009;40:31–8.
- 7 Danielsson AK, Wennberg P, Hibell B et al. Alcohol use, heavy episodic drinking and subsequent problems among adolescents in 23 European countries: does the prevention paradox apply? Addiction 2012;107:71–80.
- 8 NHS Digital. Smoking, Drinking and Drug Use Among Young People. London: HMSO, 2016.
- 9 Newbury-Birch D, Gilvarry E, McArdle P et al. The impact of alcohol consumption on young people: a review of reviews. Department of Children Schools and Families, 2009.
- 10 Donaldson L. Guidance on the Consumption of Alcohol by Children and Young People. London: Department of Health, 2009.
- 11 Conrod PJ, Castellanos N, Mackie C. Personality-targeted interventions delay the growth of adolescent drinking and binge drinking. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* 2008;49:181–90.
- 12 Tanner-Smith EE, Lipsey MW. Brief alcohol interventions for adolescents and young adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Subst Abuse Treat* 2015;51:1–18.

8 JOURNAL OF PUBLIC HEALTH

- 13 Patton R, Deluca P, Kaner E et al. Alcohol screening and brief intervention for adolescents: the how, what and where of reducing alcohol consumption and related harm among young people. *Alcohol Alcohol* 2014;49:207–12.
- 14 American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Substance Abuse. *Alcobol Use and Abuse.* Washington: Pediatrics AAo, 2001.
- 15 World Health Organisation. Orientation Programme on Adolescent Health for Healthcare Providers. Geneva: Organization WH, 2006.
- 16 UK Home Office. *The Government's Alcohol Strategy*. London: Office H, 2012.
- 17 Scottish Government. Changing Scotland's relationship with alcohol: a discussion paper on our strategic approach. Edinburgh, June 2008.
- 18 Coulton S, Drummond C, James D *et al.* Opportunistic screening for alcohol use disorders in primary care: comparative study. *Br Med J* 2006;**332**:511–7.
- 19 Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Babor TF et al. Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO Collaborative Project on early detection of persons with harmful alcohol consumption. Addiction 1993;88:791–804.
- 20 Aertgeerts B, Buntinx F, Bande-Knops J et al. The value of CAGE, CUGE, and AUDIT in screening for alcohol abuse and dependence among college freshmen. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2000;24:53–7.
- 21 Chung T, Colby S, Barnett N et al. Screening adolescents for problem drinking: performance of brief screens against DSM-IV alcohol diagnoses. *Centre Alcohol Addict Stud* 2000;61:579–87.
- 22 Demartini KS, Carey KB. Optimizing the use of the AUDIT for alcohol screening in college students. Psychol Assess 2012;24:954–63.
- 23 Kelly T, Donovan J, Kinnane J *et al.* A comparison of alcohol screening instruments among under-aged drinkers treated in emergency departments. *Alcohol Alcohol* 2002;**37**:444–50.
- 24 Knight J, Sherritt L, Harris S *et al.* Validity of brief alcohol screening tests among adolescents: a comparison of the AUDIT, POSIT, CAGE and CRAFFT. *Alcoholism* 2003;27:67–73.
- 25 Santis R, Garmendia ML, Acuna G et al. The Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT) as a screening instrument for adolescents. Drug Alcohol Depend 2009;103:155–8.
- 26 Knight JR, Sherritt L, Harris SK et al. Validity of brief alcohol screening tests among adolescents: a comparison of the AUDIT,

POSIT, CAGE, and CRAFFT. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2003;27: 67-73.

- 27 Kelly TM, Donovan JE, Kinnane JM et al. A comparison of alcohol screening instruments among under-aged drinkers treated in emergency departments. Alcohol Alcohol 2002;37:444–50.
- 28 Kelly TM, Donovan J, Chung T et al. Alcohol use disorders among emergency department-treated older adolescents: a new brief screen (RUFT-Cut) using the AUDIT, CAGE, CRAFFT, and RAPS-QF. Alcoholism 2004;28:746–53.
- 29 Donoghue K, Rose H, Boniface S *et al.* Alcohol consumption, earlyonset drinking, and health-related consequences in adolescents presenting at emergency departments in England. *J Adolesc Health* 2017; 60(4):438–46.
- 30 Sobell LC, Sobell B. Time-Line Follow Back: a technique for assessing self-reported alcohol consumption. In: Litten RZ, Allen P (eds). *Measuring Alcohol Consumption: Psychosocial and Biological Methods*. Totowa, NJ: Human Press, 1992,41–72.
- 31 Donohue B, Azrin N, Strada M et al. Psychometric evaluation of self- and collateral timeline follow-back reports of drug and alcohol use in a sample of drug-abusing and conduct-disordered adolescents and their parents. *Psychol Addict Behav* 2004;18:184–9.
- 32 Sheehan DV, Sheehan KH, Shytle RD *et al.* Reliability and validity of the Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview for Children and Adolescents (MINI-KID). *J Clin Psychiatry* 2010;71:313–26.
- 33 Bradley K, Debenedetti A, Volk R et al. AUDIT-C as a brief screen for alcohol misuse in primary care. Alcoholism 2007;31:1208–17 (10).
- 34 Hunter D, Pierscionek BK. Children, Gillick competency and consent for involvement in research. J Med Ethics 2007;33:659–62.
- 35 Glas AS, Lijmer JG, Prins MH *et al.* The diagnostic odds ratio: a single indicator of test performance. J Clin Epidemiol 2003;56: 1129–35.
- 36 Touquet R, Brown A. Alcohol misuse: positive response. Alcohol Health Work for every acute hospital saves money and reduces repeat attendances. *Emerg Med Aust* 2006;**18**:103–7.
- 37 Fuller E. Smoking, Drinking and Drug Use Among Young People in England. London: NHS Information Centre 2012, 2011.
- 38 Kypri K, Wilson A, Attia J et al. Social desirability bias in the reporting of alcohol consumption: a randomized trial. J Stud Alcohol Drugs 2016;77:526–31.

Reproduced from Donoghue *et al.*⁷⁴ © Kim Donoghue, Robert Patton, Thomas Phillips, Paolo Deluca, Colin Drummond. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 02.06.2014. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

JOURNAL OF MEDICAL INTERNET RESEARCH

Donoghue et al

<u>Review</u>

The Effectiveness of Electronic Screening and Brief Intervention for Reducing Levels of Alcohol Consumption: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Kim Donoghue, BSc (Hons), PhD; Robert Patton, BSc (Hons), MSc, PhD; Thomas Phillips, RMN, MSc; Paolo Deluca, PhD; Colin Drummond, MB ChB, MD, FRCPsych

Institute of Psychiatry, Addictions Department, King's College London, London, United Kingdom

Corresponding Author: Kim Donoghue, BSc (Hons), PhD Institute of Psychiatry Addictions Department King's College London Addiction Sciences Building 4 Windsor Walk London, SE5 8BB United Kingdom Phone: 44 207 848 0437 Fax: 44 207 848 0439 Email: kim.donghue@kcl.ac.uk

Abstract

Background: Electronic screening and brief intervention (eSBI) has been shown to reduce alcohol consumption, but its effectiveness over time has not been subject to meta-analysis.

Objective: The current study aims to conduct a systematic review and meta-analysis of the available literature to determine the effectiveness of eSBI over time in nontreatment-seeking hazardous/harmful drinkers.

Methods: A systematic review and meta-analysis of relevant studies identified through searching the electronic databases PsychINFO, Medline, and EMBASE in May 2013. Two members of the study team independently screened studies for inclusion criteria and extracted data. Studies reporting data that could be transformed into grams of ethanol per week were included in the meta-analysis. The mean difference in grams of ethanol per week between eSBI and control groups was weighted using the random-effects method based on the inverse-variance approach to control for differences in sample size between studies.

Results: There was a statistically significant mean difference in grams of ethanol consumed per week between those receiving an eSBI versus controls at up to 3 months (mean difference -32.74, 95% CI -56.80 to -8.68, z=2.67, P=.01), 3 to less than 6 months (mean difference -17.33, 95% CI -31.82 to -2.84, z=2.34, P=.02), and from 6 months to less than 12 months follow-up (mean difference -14.91, 95% CI -25.56 to -4.26, z=2.74, P=.01). No statistically significant difference was found at a follow-up period of 12 months or greater (mean difference -7.46, 95% CI -25.34 to 10.43, z=0.82, P=.41).

Conclusions: A significant reduction in weekly alcohol consumption between intervention and control conditions was demonstrated between 3 months and less than 12 months follow-up indicating eSBI is an effective intervention.

(J Med Internet Res 2014;16(6):e142) doi:10.2196/jmir.3193

KEYWORDS

alcohol drinking; intervention studies; Internet; computers; meta-analysis

Introduction

The hazardous and harmful use of alcohol is a global problem, contributing 4.6% of the total global burden of disease, with the highest rates reported in the European and American regions (17.3% and 14.2%, respectively) [1]. It is well documented that

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/

those with problem alcohol use seldom seek help [2]; this may be due to problems accessing treatment, or an unwillingness to do so, or failure of clinicians to identify their problem [3]. There is a large body of research to support the effectiveness of opportunistic screening and brief intervention (SBI) in reducing alcohol consumption and other alcohol-related outcomes in a

> J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.1 (page number not for citation purposes)



© Kim Donoghue, Robert Patton, Thomas Phillips, Paolo Deluca, Colin Drummond. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 02.06.2014.

number of health care settings, including primary care [4,5] and the emergency department [6,7]. A brief intervention typically comprises a single face-to-face session, ranging from 5-30 minutes in duration, and up to a maximum of 4 sessions aimed at providing information and advice that is designed to achieve a reduction in hazardous/harmful alcohol consumption [4]. Despite the effectiveness of SBI, there are a number of barriers to its widespread implementation in health care settings. Health care staff report that they lack the time and resources to carry out training and delivery of SBI in routine practice and that they lack the skills and knowledge necessary to do so [8,9].

The widespread use of computers, the Internet, and smartphones has led to the development of electronic systems to deliver SBI that can potentially address some of the barriers to implementation of traditional face-to-face SBI. Electronic SBI (eSBI) has the potential to offer greater flexibility and anonymity for the individual and reach a larger proportion of the in-need population. For both adults and adolescents, eSBI (computer-, Web-, and phone-based) can offer effective delivery of interventions in both educational and health care settings that may prove to be more acceptable than more traditional (face-to-face) approaches [10-12]. Also, eSBI can offer a more cost-effective alternative to face-to-face interventions. Previous studies have shown that 1 in 8 individuals respond to SBI; therefore, large numbers of people need to be screened to obtain a time-limited effect in reduction in alcohol consumption [4,5]. With the advent of mobile and e-technologies potentially increasing the population coverage of SBI, the potential cost of delivery can be reduced because the main cost is incurred during development of the intervention with limited additional costs associated with its delivery [13]. Evidence from recent systematic reviews has found eSBIs to be effective in reducing alcohol consumption [14,15]. However, these reviews did not address the effect of length of follow-up on alcohol outcomes.

Cunningham and colleagues [16,17] conducted a randomized controlled trial of the effectiveness of an Internet-based intervention for alcohol misuse. They found that at 3- and 6-month follow-ups, those who had received the intervention had a greater reduction in alcohol consumption compared to controls. However, at 12-month follow-up the beneficial effects of the intervention were no longer apparent.

The current study aims to conduct a systematic review and meta-analysis of the available literature to determine the effectiveness of eSBI over time in nontreatment-seeking hazardous/harmful drinkers.

Methods

Search Strategy

A systematic search of the literature was conducted to identify randomized controlled trials investigating the effectiveness of eSBI to reduce alcohol consumption. Relevant studies were identified through searching the electronic databases PsychINFO, Medline, and EMBASE in May 2013. The search strategy was adapted from the search terms used for the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guideline systematic review for the effectiveness of acamprosate/naltrexone [18], and the search terms used for the Cochrane systematic review for the effectiveness of SBI for alcohol misuse [4], combined with additional search terms specific to electronic interventions to ensure a comprehensive search of the available published literature. The search terms used for this review are listed in Table 1. No date or language restrictions were applied. In addition, the reference lists of relevant review articles and key papers were hand searched. Unpublished literature was considered to be beyond the scope of this review

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/

J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.2 (page number not for citation purposes)



Donoghue et al

Search term topic	Search terms
Terms for alcohol use	
	1. alcohol-related disorder.mp.
	2. alcohol drinking.mp.
	3. (alcohol and (use\$ or abuse or misuse or dependen\$ or drink\$ or intoxication\$ or disorder\$ or consumption)).mp.
	4. exp Alcoholism/ or (alcoholi\$).mp.
	5. ((hazard\$ or binge or heavy or harmful or risk\$) and drink\$).mp.
	6. 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5
	7. limit 6 to abstracts
	8. (drinker\$1 or (drink\$ adj2 use\$1) or ((alcohol\$ or drink\$) adj5 (binge\$ or disorder\$ or harm\$ or hazard\$ or heavy or high risk or intoxicat\$ or misus\$ or problem\$))). ti.ab.
	9. 7 or 8
Ferms for e-formats	
	10. exp Text Messaging/ or ((text-messag\$) or (SMS) or (short message service) or (text adj messag\$)).mp.
	11. ((phone adj application\$) or (phone adj app)).ti,ab,kw.
	12. ((social-network) or (social network) or (social-media) or (social-media)).ti,ab,kw.
	13. skype.ti,ab,kw.
	14. exp telemedicine/
	15. facebook.ti,ab,kw.
	16. ((personal adj digital adj assistant) or pda).ti,ab,kw.
	17. (surf\$ near4 internet\$).ti,ab,kw.
	18. (surf\$ near4 web\$).ti,ab,kw.
	19. (virtual adj reality).ti,ab,kw.
	20. Second life.ti,ab,kw.
	21. User-computer interface/
	22. (consumer adj health adj informatics\$).ti,ab,kw.
	23. ((e adj health) or e-health or (electronic adj health)).ti,ab,kw.
	24. (interactive adj ((health adj communicat\$) or televise\$ or video\$ or technolog\$ or multimedia)).ti,ab,kw.
	25. ((bulletin adj board\$) or bulletinboard\$ or messageboard\$ or (message adj board\$)).ti,ab,kw.
	26. (blog\$ or web-log\$ or weblog\$).ti,ab,kw.
	27. ((chat adj room\$) or chatroom\$).ti,ab,kw.
	28. (online or on-line).ti,ab,kw.
	29. exp internet/ or ((internet adj based) or internet-based).ti,ab,kw.
	30. ((web adj based) or web-based).ti,ab,kw.
	31. ((world adj wide adj web) or (world-wide-web) or WWW or (world-wide adj web) or (worldwide adj web) or website\$).ti,ab,kw.
	32. ((electronic adj mail) or email\$).ti,ab,kw.
	33. (((mobile or cellular or cell or smart) adj (phone\$ or telephone\$)) or smartphone).ti,ab,kw.
	34. ((CD adj ROM) or cd-rom or cdrom or (compact adj dis\$)).ti,ab,kw.
	35. (decision adj (tree\$ or aid\$)).ti,ab,kw.
	36. (Internet or (local adj area adj network)).ti,ab,kw.
	37. (computer\$ or microcomputer\$ or laptop).ti,ab,kw.
	38. exp Software-/
	39. exp Computer-Graphics/

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/



J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.3 (page number not for citation purposes) Search term topic

JOURNAL OF MEDICAL INTERNET RESEARCH

Search terms

	40. exp Public-Health-Informatics/
	41. exp Audiovisual-Aids/
	42. exp Decision-Support-Techniques/
	43. exp Medical Informatics/
	44. exp Computer-Systems/
	45. (or/10-44)
Brief interventions	
	46. alcohol reduction.mp.
	47. brief intervention.mp.
	48. early intervention.mp.
	49. minimal intervention.mp.
	50. alcohol therapy.mp.
	51. Harm Reduction/
	52. screening.mp.
	53. (counseling or counselling).mp.
	54. controlled drinking.mp.
	55. (brief counseling or brief counselling).mp.
	56. physician based intervention.mp.
	57. general practitioner intervention.mp.
	58. Secondary Prevention/
	59. general practitioner's advice.mp.
	60. brief physician-delivered counseling.mp.
	61. brief nurse-delivered counseling.mp.
	62. identification.mp.
	63. intervention.mp.
	64. or/46-63
Terms for randomized contra	olled trial
	65. exp clinical trial/ or (crossover procedure or double blind procedure or placebo\$ or randomization or random sample or single blind procedure).sh.
	66. exp clinical trial/ or cross-over studies/ or double-blind method/ or random allocation/ or randomized controlled trials as topic/ or single-blind method/
	67. exp clinical trial/ or (placebo or random sampling).sh.
	68. (clinical adj2 trial\$).tw.
	69. (crossover or cross over).tw.
	70. (((single\$ or doubl\$ or trebl\$ or tripl\$) adj5 blind\$) or mask\$ or dummy or singleblind\$ or doubleblind\$ or trebleblind\$ or tripleblind\$).tw.
	71. (placebo\$ or random\$).mp.
	72. (clinical trial\$ or controlled clinical trial\$ or random\$).pt. or treatment outcome\$.mp.
	73. animals/ not human\$.mp.
	74. animal\$/ not human\$/

75. (or/65-72) not (or/73-74)

76. and/9,45,64,75

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/



J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.4 (page number not for citation purposes)

Donoghue et al

Selection Criteria

The inclusion criteria for this review were as follows:

- Randomized controlled, parallel group trial comparing eSBI with a control condition (ie, care as usual, assessment only, nonintervention);
- 2. Participants were identified, through screening, as consuming alcohol to a hazardous level;
- 3. Measured alcohol reduction by independent reports of drinking quantity (eg, average consumption of alcohol per specified time period), including self-reports or reports from others of drinking frequency (eg, number of drinking occasions per specified time period), drinking intensity (eg, number of drinks per drinking day), or drinking within recommended limits (eg, official recommendations per specified time period), or levels of laboratory markers of reduced alcohol consumption, such as serum gamma-glutamyltransferase (GGT) or mean corpuscular volume (MCV); and
- 4. Trial arms had at least 10 participants.

We defined eSBI as an electronic intervention aimed at providing information and advice designed to achieve a reduction in hazardous/harmful alcohol consumption with no substantial face-to-face therapeutic component. SBI was defined as a brief intervention comprised of a single session, ranging from 5-45 minutes in duration, and up to a maximum of 4 sessions aimed at providing information and advice designed to achieve a reduction in hazardous/harmful alcohol consumption. Studies were not deemed eligible for inclusion if participants were alcohol dependent, mandated to complete eSBI, or a preselected specific group such as pregnant women. There were no restrictions on age.

Identification of Included Studies

After each search, references were downloaded to the electronic bibliographic management software EndNote and duplicates were removed. Relevant titles were first identified and then abstracts were screened against inclusion criteria. If insufficient information was available in the abstract, the full text was retrieved. Eligibility was confirmed by at least one other member of the review group. The methodological quality of each study was assessed using the Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN) validated checklist [19]. Each question in the checklist covers an aspect of research methodology and was rated as present, absent or "can't say" if inadequate information was available in the research article. An overall rating of quality was assigned to each article based on the checklist criteria:

- 1. High quality: Majority of criteria met with little risk of bias and conclusions unlikely to change by further research.
- 2. Adequate: Most of the criteria met with some risk of bias and conclusions may change in light of further research.
- 3. Low quality: Most criteria not met or significant flaws relating to key aspects of the study design and conclusions likely to change in light of future research.

Data Extraction

A Microsoft Word-based form was used to extract data from eligible research papers. Data extraction was conducted

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/

XSL·FO RenderX

independently by 2 members of the research team and consensus agreement reached by discussion between the 2 members if discrepancies arose. An intention-to-treat analysis was used wherever possible. If the study was a 3-arm trial, the control group sample size was divided by 2; if it was a 4-arm trial, it was divided by 3 to avoid double counting.

Data Analysis

For the continuous variable (grams ethanol consumed per week) the mean difference was weighted using the random-effects method based on the inverse-variance approach to control for differences in sample size between studies. Alcohol consumption data are often not normally distributed. Because of this, some studies reported the sample median and range/interquartile range (IQR) and not the mean and standard deviation (SD). If appropriate data were not available in the published research papers, to calculate an effect size (ie, the mean, SD, and sample size), authors were contacted to request the required data. If the authors were unable to provide this data, the mean and SD were imputed from the median and range using the method proposed by Hozo et al [20]. If only the median and the IQR were available, the median was taken as an estimate of the mean and the IQR was divided by 1.35 (the distance in SDs from the mean). If appropriate data to estimate an effect size could not be obtained or imputed, the trial was not included in the meta-analysis. Some of the studies included in the meta-analysis had more than one trial arm. The number of participants in the control arm was divided by 2 for a 3-arm trial and by 3 for a 4-arm trial to avoid double counting and undue weighting.

Alcohol consumption, reported as the number of standard drinks per week, was converted into grams of ethanol per week using the definition for a standard drink reported in the research article. If this was not reported, the established standard for the country in which the research took place was used [21]. If alcohol consumption was reported per month versus per week, it was adjusted by multiplying by 52/12, or multiplied by 7 if reported as grams per day [4].

To check for the consistency of effects across studies, Cochran Q was calculated to determine the presence of heterogeneity and the magnitude was measured using I^2 . The I^2 statistic was interpreted in the following way based on Higgins et al [22]: Research studies that produce statistically significant results may be more likely to be published than those with nonstatistically significant results, resulting in a "file-drawer" effect. Similarly, those studies that produce results in an opposite direction to that hypothesized and have a small sample size may be less likely to be published. This is referred to as publication bias and it was assessed using funnel plots and Egger's weighted regression method. A significant Egger's test indicates the possibility of the presence of publication bias.

The length of follow-up period can vary between individual studies and there may be more than one point of follow-up per study. Therefore, subgroup analysis was performed for up to 3 months, between 3 and less than 6 months, between 6 and less than 12 months, and 12 months or greater follow-up length postintervention.

J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.5 (page number not for citation purposes)

Results

Study Characteristics

A total of 23 studies were deemed eligible for inclusion in this systematic review [16,17,23-44] (Figure 1); Tables 2 and 3 present the study characteristics. Sufficient data was available to allow analysis of just one variable: grams per week of ethanol consumed. If sufficient data to calculate means and SDs for this outcome were not reported in the published article, authors were contacted. Data were provided by the authors for 3 studies [17,39,41]. Data on alcohol consumption that could be transformed into grams per week of ethanol were not collected in 2 studies [25,27] and insufficient data to calculate the weighted mean difference (WMD) in grams of ethanol per week were reported in 4 studies [23,28,29,42]. Therefore, a total of 17 studies were included in the meta-analysis (1 study was

published in 2 papers [16,17]. Most of these studies were conducted with student populations (13/17, 76%) and in the United States (10/17, 59%). All study interventions were either computer- or Web-based. The content of the interventions included an assessment followed by personalized and/or normative feedback. Control conditions generally consisted of an assessment with no further feedback, but 4 studies included general information on alcohol consumption for those in the control conditions [25,28,33,35]. There was some variation in the dose of the intervention with the reported time taken to complete the intervention ranging from less than 5 minutes [34] to 45 minutes [37]. The dose of exposure to the intervention could also be increased through repeated access during the study period [24] and/or a printed copy of the personalized feedback provided [26,31,36,38,40,43]. The attrition rate was highly variable between studies, ranging from 1% or 2% (eg, Hester et al [30]) up to more than 50% [42]

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/

XSL·FO RenderX J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.6 (page number not for citation purposes)

Donoghue et al

Study ID ^a	Male, n (%)	Mean age (SD)	Population	Recruitment
Araki et al, 2006 [23]	24 (100)		Japan, employees of a manufac- turing plant with available annual health check-up data	Not reported
eSBI (n=12)		44.3 (7.2)		
Control (n=12)		43.8 (7.3)		
Blankers et al, 2011 [24]			Netherlands, adult general popu- lation	Visitors to the Collaborating Substance Abuse Treatment (SATC) website
eSBI (n=68)	40 (58.8)	41.1 (9.6)		
Control (n=69)	35 (50.7)	43.7 (9.3)		
Boon et al, 2011 [25]	450 (100)		Netherlands, adults in the general population	Nationally representative online household survey
eSBI (n=230)		40.6 (15.2)		
Control (n=220)		40.3 (15.1)		
Butler et al, 2009 [26]			United States, undergraduate university students	Not reported
eSBI (n=30)	11 (36.7)	20.6 (1.48)		
Control (n=26)	9 (34.6)	20.4 (1.49)		
Cunningham et al, 2009 [16]; Cunningham et al, 2010 [17]			Canada, adults in the general population	Randomly selected from an on-going general population telephone survey
eSBI (n=92)	53 (57.6)	39.5 (13.5)		
Control (n=93)	45 (48.4)	40.8 (13.4)		
Cunningham et al, 2012 [27]	118 (52.5)	22.6 (12.2)	Canada, university students	Randomly selected using student email addresses
eSBI (n=211)				
Control (n=214)				
Ekman et al, 2011 [28]			Sweden, third-year university students	Email invitation to all third-year stu- dents
eSBI (n=330)	152 (46.1)	N (%):18-20=43 (13), 21-25=264 (80), ≥26=23 (7)		
Control (n=324)	120 (37.0)	N (%) : 18-20=49 (15), 21-25=233 (72), ≥26=29 (9)		
Hansen et al, 2012 [29]			Denmark, adults in the general population	Identified through the Danish Health Examination Survey, those identified as heavy drinkers were sent an email invitation to take part
eSBI PFI (n=476)	271 (56.9)	median=61		
eSBI PBA (n=450)	246 (54.7)	median=59		
Control (n=454)	244 (53.7)	median=60		
Hester et al, 2012 [30]			United States, university students	Identified through advertisements in the college newspaper and around the campus
Exp 1: eSBI (n=65)	41 (63.1)	20.5 (1.80)		
Exp 1: Control (n=79)	49 (62.0)	20.3 (1.63)		
Exp 2: eSBI (n=42)	23 (54.8)	20.0 (1.52)		
Exp 2: Control (n=40)	23 (57.5)	20.3 (2.09)		

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/



J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.7 (page number not for citation purposes)

Donoghue et al

Study ID ^a	Male, n (%)	Mean age (SD)	Population	Recruitment
Hester et al, 2005 [31]	32 (52.5)	Males=46.1 (13.8); females=45.2 (9.4)	United States, adult general pop- ulation	Identified through advertisements in the media
eSBI (n=35)				
Control (n=26)				
Kypri et al, 2009 [32]			Australia, random sample of un- dergraduate university students	Students were sent a letter by mail fol- lowed by an email containing a Web link to the study questionnaire; up to 4 email reminders were sent
eSBI=1251	687 (54.9)	19.7 (1.8)		
Control=1184	645 (54.5)	19.7 (1.8)		
Kypri et al, 2008 [33]			New Zealand, users of a universi- ty student health service	Those leaving the student health service reception desk were consecutively ap- proached and invited to participate
eSBI (n=138)	67 (48.6)	20.1		
Control (n=146)	70 (47.9)	20.1		
Kypri et al, 2013 [34]			New Zealand, Maori university students	Invited by email with up to 3 reminder emails
eSBI (n=939)	35.7	20.2 (1.9)		
Control (n=850)	33.2	20.1 (2.2)		
Kypri et al, 2004 [35]	52 (50.0)		New Zealand, users of a universi- ty student health service	Those checking into the reception of the student health service were invited to take part
eSBI (n=51)		19.9 (1.4)		
Control (n=53)		20.5 (1.8)		
Lewis et al, 2007 [36]		18.5 (2.04)	United States, university students enrolled in first-year orientation	All students enrolled for first-year ori- entation were invited to take part
eSBI specific (n=75)				
eSBI neutral (n=82)				
Control (n=88)				
Murphy et al, 2010 [37]		18.6 (1.2)	United States, university students	Students enrolled in introductory classes were invited to take part
eSBI (n=45)				
Control (n=42)				
Neighbors et al, 2004 [38]	104 (41.3)	18.5 (1.24)	United States, university students from psychology classes	Students attending psychology classes were invited to take part
eSBI (n=126)				
Control (n=126)				
Neighbors et al, 2010 [39]	208 (42.4)		United States, incoming universi- ty freshmen students	Incoming university freshmen were in- vited to complete a Web-based survey sent via email and post
eSBI GSF (n=163)				
eSBI GNSF(n=164)				
Control (n=163)				
Neumann et al, 2006 [40]			Germany, trauma center	Patients attending a trauma center were invited to take part after provision of initial care and resolution of significant pain
eSBI (n=561)	449 (80.0)	median=30		
Control (n=575)	449 (78.1)	median=31		

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/

XSL·FO

RenderX

J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.8 (page number not for citation purposes)

Donoghue et al

Study ID ^a	Male, n (%)	Mean age (SD)	Population	Recruitment
Palfai et al, 2011 [41]		18.6 (1.45)	United States, university students attending an introductory psychol- ogy class	Students attending an introductory psychology class were invited to take part
eSBI (n=56)				
Control (n=63)				
Spijkerman et al, 2010 [42]			Netherlands, volunteer members of an open access panel aged 15- 20	Registered members of an open access panel were invited to take part via email
eSBI NNF (n=192)	74 (38.5)	18.2 (1.55)		
eSBI NF (n=193)	82 (42.5)	18.1 (1.54)		
Control=190	69 (36.3)	18.1 (1.59)		
Wagener et al, 2012 [43]			United States, university students	Invited to participate via email using an online participant pool management system
eSBI (n=39)	18 (46.2)	20.3 (1.67)		
Control (n=37)	19 (51.4)	20.3 (1.49)		
Walters et al, 2009 [44]		19.8 (SD not report- ed)	United States, university students	University students invited via email, presentations, and posters at the university
eSBI (n=67)				
Control (n=69)				

^a eSBI: electronic screening and brief intervention; GNSF: gender-nonspecific; GSF: gender-specific; NF: intervention with normative feedback; NNF: intervention without normative feedback; PBA=personalized brief advice intervention; PFI=brief personalized feedback intervention.

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/

XSL·FO RenderX J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.9 (page number not for citation purposes)

Donoghue et al

Table 3. Character	istics of screening, experimental,	and control interventions, and nature and	timing of assessment	s.
Study ID	Screening cutoff ^a	eSBI details ^a	Control group	Dropouts at follow-up, n (%) ^a
Araki et al, 2006 [23]	Abnormal levels of gamma- glutamyl transpeptidase	Personalized feedback and advice sent via 2 emails 1 month apart; encouraged to ask questions via email	Assessment only	2 mo: (1 participant was not in- cluded in the analysis but the group that they were randomized to was not reported)
Blankers et al, 2011 [24]	AUDIT score ≥8 and reported drinking average 14 standard drinks per week	Access to an online self-help program based on motivational interviewing and cognitive behavioral therapy principles, suggested daily use for 4 weeks	Assessment only	3 mo: eSBI: 20 (29.4), control: 18 (26.1)
Boon et al, 2011	Exceeding Dutch guideline for low risk drinkers (>20 alcohol	Single, 20-min brief personalized feed- back session through website with the	Assessment and educational leaflet	1 mo: eSBI: 18 (7.8), control: 19
[]	units per week or > 5 alcohol units on a single occasion on at least 1 day/week)	opportunity to print the feedback	instructed to read the leaflet for 20 min and could print the material	6 mo: eSBI: 22 (9.6), control: 25 (11.4)
Butler et al, 2009 [26]	\geq 2 binge drinking occasions (\geq 5 drinks in 1 sitting for men and 4 or more for women) and 2 alcohol-related problems in the past 28 days Standard drink=14 g ethanol	Single, average 11-min session of com- puter-delivered personalized feedback and a paper copy to take home	Assessment only	4 w: eSBI: 9 (30.0), control: 4 (15.4)
Cunningham et al, 2009 [16] and	Score ≥4 on the AUDIT-C (standard drink=13.6 g ethanol)	Single, 10-min session completing Check Your Drinking online intervention of	Assessment and a list of possible	3 mo: eSBI=7 (7.6), control: 3 (3.2)
Cunningham et al, 2010 [17]		normative and personalized feedback	components to in- clude in an inter-	6 mo: eSBI: 7 (7.6), control: 8 (8.6)
			vention	12 mo: eSBI: 11 (12.0), control: 11 (11.8)
Cunningham et al, 2012 [27]	Score ≥4 on the AUDIT-C	Access to the Check Your Drinking University version online intervention of normative and personalized feedback; intervention could be accessed repeatedly	Assessment only	6 w: eSBI: 59 (28.0), control: 75 (35.0)
Ekman et al, 2011 [28]	(1) Weekly alcohol consump- tion >120 g ethanol (women)	Single session intervention of personal- ized normative feedback delivered via	Assessment and brief feedback con-	3 mo: eSBI: 125 (37.9), control: 113 (34.9)
	or 180 g ethanol (men) in a typical week in the past 3 months and/or (2) engaged with heavy episodic drinking defined as consuming \geq 48 g of ethanol (women) or \geq 60 g of ethanol (men) on \geq 2 occasions in the past month	email	sisting of 3 state- ments	6 mo: eSBI: 78 (24), control: 80 (24)
Hansen et al, 2012 [29]	Above recommended max drinking limit set by the Danish National Board of Health of 14	PFI: fully automated, Internet-based single session of brief personalized and normative feedback; PBA: fully automat-	Assessment only	6 mo: eSBI PFI: 186 (39.0), eSBI PBA: 171 (38.0), control: 150 (33.0)
	drinks/168 g ethanol for women or 21 drinks/252 g for men (standard drink=12 g ethanol)	ed, Internet-based single session of brief personalized feedback and advice		12 mo: eSBI PFI: 109 (22.9), eSBI PBA: 108 (24.0), control: 95 (20.9)
Hester et al, 2012 [30]	Met the National Institute for Alcohol and Alcohol Abuse	Self-guided College Drinkers Check-up, delivered online, single session taking	Assessment only	Exp 1 (1 mo): eSBI: 2 (3.1), control: 2.5)
	(2004) criteria for heavy episodic drinking of \geq 4 drinks	up to 35 min to complete; assessment, normative feedback, and advice		Exp 1 (12 mo): eSBI: 6 (9.2), control: 8 (10.1)
	drinks per occasion (wonten) of 25 drinks per occasion (men) at least once in past 2 weeks and an estimated peak blood alcohol concentration of 80 mg% or more (standard drink=14 g ethanol)			Exp 2 (1 mo): eSBI: 0 (0.0), control: 1 (2.5)

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/

XSL·FO **RenderX** J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.10 (page number not for citation purposes)

Donoghue et al

Study ID	Screening cutoff ^a	eSBI details ^a	Control group	Dropouts at follow-up, n (%) ^a
Hester et al, 2005 [31]	Score ≥8 AUDIT (standard drink=14 g ethanol)	Computer-based DCU, assessment, feedback, and decision-making modules; single session can take up to 90 min to complete with the option of printing the feedback	Assessment only	4 w: not reported
Kypri et al, 2009 [32]	Score ≥8 on AUDIT and ex- ceeding the Australian National Health and Medical Research Councils guideline for acute risk (defined as 4 standard drinks for women or 6 for men in a single occasion in the last 4 weeks); standard drink=10 g ethanol	Single online session of personalized feedback	Assessment only	1 mo: eSBI: 288 (23.0), control: 237 (20.0) 6 mo: eSBI: 442 (35.3), control: 420 (35.5)
Kypri et al, 2008 [33]	AUDIT score ≥8; standard drink=10 g ethanol	Single computer-delivered session of personalized and normative feedback taking a median 9.3 min to complete	Assessment and al- cohol facts leaflet	6 mo: eSBI: 22 (15.9), control: 22 (15.1) 12 mo: eSBI: 25 (18.1), control: 20 (13.7)
Kypri et al, 2013 [34]	Score ≥4 on AUDIT; standard drink=10 g ethanol	Single online session of personalized and normative feedback taking a median 4.3 min to complete	Assessment only	5 mo: eSBI: 207 (22.0), control: 170 (20.0)
Kypri et al, 2004 [35]	Score \geq 8 on AUDIT and con- suming >4 standard drinks for men or >6 for women on \geq 1 occasion in past 4 weeks (stan- dard drink=10 g ethanol)	Computer-delivered single session of personalized feedback	Assessment and al- cohol facts leaflet	6 w: eSBI: 9 (17.6), control: 12 (22.6) 6 mo: eSBI: 4 (7.8), control: 6 (11.3)
Lewis et al, 2007 [36]	$\geq 1 \text{ heavy episode } (\geq 4 \text{ standard} \\ drinks in 1 \text{ sitting for women} \\ and \geq 5 \text{ standard drinks in 1 sitting for men} \text{ in the previous} \\ month; \text{ standard drink=14 g} \\ ethanol$	eSBI specific: gender-specific Web- based personalized normative feedback; eSBI neutral: gender-neutral Web-based personalized normative feedback; feed- back was read on screen and participants were given printout to take home	Assessment only	5 mo: eSBI specific: 11 (14.7), eSBI neutral: 15 (18.3), control: 10 (11.4)
Murphy et al, 2010 [37]	\geq 2 heavy drinking episodes in the past month (described as \geq 4 standard drinks on 1 occasion for women and \geq 5 standard drinks for men) or \geq 1 heavy drinking episodes for minority students; standard drink=14 g ethanol	Interactive, Web-based intervention, E- CHUG (Electronic Check-up and Go), assessment and personalized feedback in a single session lasting up to 45 min with a brief comprehension test on com- pletion	Assessment only	1 mo: eSBI: 7 (15.6), control: 3 (7.1)
Neighbors et al, 2004 [38]	≥1 heavy drinking episode in the previous month (defined as 4 standard drinks in 1 sitting for women and 5 standard drinks for men); standard drink=14 g ethanol	Single computer-delivered session of personalized normative feedback present- ed on screen for 1 min plus a printout	Assessment only	3 mo: whole sample: 53 (21.0) 6 mo: whole sample: 45 (17.9)
Neighbors et al, 2010 [39]	≥5 drinks for men and ≥4 drinks for women on ≥1 occa- sions in the past month; stan- dard drink=14 g ethanol	eSBI GSF: single session delivered on- line giving personalized gender-specific feedback; eSBI GNSF: single session delivered online giving personalized gender-nonspecific feedback	Assessment and an attention test (facts about the universi- ty students were presented in the same format as the intervention)	6 mo: eSBI GSF: 10 (6.1), eSBI GNSF: 16 (9.8), control: 13 (8.0) 24 mo: eSBI GSF: 33 (20.2), eS- BI GNSF: 25 (15.2), control: 31 (19.0)
Neumann et al, 2006 [40]	AUDIT score ≥5	Single session of computer-generated feedback and a printout to take home	Assessment only	6 mo: eSBI:=213 (37.9), control: 207 (36.0) 12 mo: eSBI: 252 (44.9), control: 224 (39.0)

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/

XSL·FO RenderX J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.11 (page number not for citation purposes)

Study ID	Screening cutoff ^a	eSBI details ^a	Control group	Dropouts at follow-up, n (%) ^a
Palfai et al, 2011 [41]	Hazardous drinkers who either (1) consumed alcohol in the past month and scored ≥ 8 on AUDIT or (2) reported ≥ 2 heavy drinking episodes (de- fined as ≥ 5 drinks for men or ≥ 4 drinks for women in the past month; standard drink=14 g ethanol)	Single computer-delivered session of personalized, normative, and gender- specific feedback	Assessment and health guidelines for sleep and con- sumption of fruit and vegetables	1 mo: whole sample: 0 (0.0)
Spijkerman et al, 2010 [42]	Age 15-16 y: engage in binge drinking at least once a month; age 17-20 y: engaged in binge drinking ≥ 1 /week; binge drink- ing defined as drinking ≥ 4 alco- holic drinks for women or ≥ 6 for men on 1 occasion; standard drink=10 g ethanol	eSBI NNF: single online session of per- sonalized feedback tailored to age and gender, took ~15 min to complete; eSBI NF: single online session of personalized normative gender- and age-specific feedback, took ~15 min to complete	Assessment only	1 mo: eSBI NNF: 92 (47.9), eSBI NF: 93 (48.2), control: 68 (35.8)) 3 mo: eSBI NNF: 106 (55.2), eSBI NF: 104 (53.9), control: 87 (45.8)
Wagener et al, 2012 [43]	≥1 heavy drinking session (≥5 drinks on 1 occasion for men or ≥4 for women), drinking ≥20 drinks/month on average and experiencing negative conse- quences of that use in the last month (standard drink=14 g ethanol)	Single session using of computer-deliv- ered assessment personalized feedback using an interactive program (DRAFT- CS), took ~45 min to complete; partici- pants were given printout of their feed- back	Assessment only	10 w: eSBI: 2 (5.1), control: 3 (8.1)
Walters et al, 2009 [44]	Reported \geq 1 heavy drinking session in the past 2 weeks de- fined as \geq 5 standard drinks for men and \geq 4 standard drinks for women (standard drink=14 g ethanol)	eSBI: single session of personalized feedback delivered through the online Check-Up to Go	Assessment only	3 mo: eSBI: 9 (13.4), control: 6 (8.7) 6 mo: eSBI: 13 (19.4), control: 8 (11.6)

^a eSBI: electronic screening and brief intervention, AUDIT: Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test, PFI: brief personalized feedback intervention, PBA: personalized brief advice intervention, DCU: Drinkers Check Up, GSF: gender-specific, GNSF: gender-nonspecific, NNF: intervention without normative feedback, NF: intervention with normative feedback, FBO: feedback only, DRAFT-CS: Drinking Assessment and Feedback Tool for College Students.

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/

XSL·FO RenderX J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.12 (page number not for citation purposes)

Donoghue et al

Figure 1. Flow diagram of study selection and inclusion.



Grams of Ethanol per Week

Nine studies included data for a follow-up period of up to 3 months (mean 1.06 months, SD 0.18), 6 studies with a follow-up period between 3 and less than 6 months (mean 3.86 months, SD 1.07), 8 studies with a follow-up period between 6 and less than 12 months (all included studies had a follow-up period of 6 months), and 5 studies included data for a follow-up period greater than 12 months (mean 16 months, SD 6.20) (Figure 2). There was a statistically significant difference in pooled mean difference in grams of ethanol per week consumed between those who received the eSBI and controls for follow-up period subgroups up to 3 months, between 3 and less than 6 months, and between 6 and less than 12 months (Table 4). This difference

represents a significantly lower mean number of grams of ethanol consumed per week at follow-up by those in the eSBI group compared to controls. There was no statistically significant difference between groups in pooled mean difference in grams of ethanol per week for long-term follow-up. The greatest difference was found at less than 3 months follow-up, which decreased with length of follow-up (Figure 3).

There was statistically significant and moderate heterogeneity between studies included at less than 3 months follow-up. Heterogeneity was not statistically significant for any of the other follow-up groups. Egger's test was not statistically significant for all follow-up periods, indicating an absence of publication bias.

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/ XSL•FO

RenderX

J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.13 (page number not for citation purposes)

Donoghue et al

 Table 4. Results of meta-analysis including significance test and heterogeneity statistics.

Follow-up period	Sample size, n		Mean di significa	fference ance test	Heterogeneit	y statistic		
	Experimental	Control	z	Р	Q	df	Р	I^2
<3 months	1305	1307	2.67	.01	17.19	8	.03	53.5%
3-6 months	1211	811	2.34	.02	8.62	6	.20	30.4%
6-12 months	1921	1751	2.74	.01	10.91	8	.21	26.7%
≥ 12 months	899	816	0.82	.41	8.49	5	.13	41.1%

Figure 2. Forest plot for weighted mean difference (WMD) in grams of ethanol per week at follow-up between those in the eSBI group and controls.

Up tp 3 months -71.12 (-106.06, -36.18) 3.09 Hester 2005 -71.12 (-106.06, -36.18) 3.09 Hester _exp1 2012 -38.04 (-79.1), 25.11) 1.20 Kypi 2004 -30.00 (-28.02, -11.98) 10.54 Murphy 2010 -38.04 (-23.03, 65.03) 0.24 Pala 2011 -42.04 (-113.74, 28.08) 0.38 Vagener 2011 -42.04 (-113.74, 28.08) 0.38 Subtotal (-equared = 53.5%, p = 0.028) -32.74 (-66.09, -3.91) 0.72 Between 3 and less than 6 months -35.00 (-166.09, -3.91) 0.72 Blankers 2011 -5.44 (-43.33, 33.05) 2.66 Curningham 2009 -42.70 (-79.96, -5.44) 2.80 Neighbora 2004 -42.70 (-79.96, -5.44) 2.80 Valters, FB 2009 -10.06 (-33.68, 9.79) 1.02 Subtotal (-lequared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) -17.33 (-31.62, -2.84) 2.41.3 Neighbora 2004 -5.44 (-43.15, 32.27) 2.75 Kypi 2009 -2.000 (-28.89, -10.11) 9.85 Neighbora 2050 -3.50 (-10.18, -4.28) 2.55 Neighbora 2050 -4.18 -7.11.19 (-78.33, 56.33) 1.01 Subtotal	Study ID	WMD (95% CI)	% Weight
Butler 2009 Hester 2005 Hester exp1 2012 Hester exp2 2012 Kyp1 2004 Kyp1 2004 Hyph 2000 Palial 2011 Wagener 2011 Subtotal (Lequared = 53.5%, p = 0.028) Between 3 and less than 6 months Blankers 2011 Curningham 2009 Kyp1 2014 Hyph 2000 Hypi 2013 Lewis GN 2007 Hypi 2004 Hypi 2010 Palial 2011 Wagener 2011 Subtotal (Lequared = 53.5%, p = 0.028) Hypi 2014 Hypi 2009 Hypi 2019 Hypi 2019	Up tp 3 months		
Hester 2005 Hester _scp2 2012 Hester _scp2 2012 Kypn 2004 Kypn 2009 Murphy 2010 Pafai 2011 Wagener 2011 Subtotal (I-squared = 53.5%, p = 0.028) Between 3 and less than 6 months Blankers 2011 Curningham 2009 Kypn 2010 Lewis, GS 2007 Lewis, GS 2007 Walgener 4 - 10.00 (146.09, -3.91) Curningham 2009 Walgener 5 - 5.44 Hester _scp2 2012 Kypn 2004 Hester _scp2 2012 Curningham 2009 Walgener 2011 Subtotal (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.028) Etween 6 and less than 12 months Curningham 2009 Kypn 2004 Kypn 2004 Kypn 2004 Kypn 2004 Curningham 2009 Walgener 5 - 5.44 Hester _scp2 2004 Subtotal (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) Curningham 2009 Kypn 2010 Hester _scp2 2004 Walgener 5 - 5.44 Hester _scp2 2004 Subtotal (I-squared = 20.4%, p = 0.196) Curningham 2009 Kypn 2004 Kypn 2004 Kypn 2004 Kypn 2006 Curningham 2009 Kypn 2004 Kypn 2006 Kypn 2004 Hester _scp2 2004 Subtotal (I-squared = 20.4%, p = 0.196) Curningham 2009 Kypn 2004 Kypn 2004 Kypn 2006 Kypn 2004 Hester _scp2 2004 Subtotal (I-squared = 20.7%, p = 0.207) Curningham 2009 Curningham 2009 Kypn 2004 Kypn 2006 Kypn 2004 Kypn 2006 Curningham 2009 Curningham 2009 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Neighbors_GS	Butler 2009	-71.12 (-106.06, -36.18)	3.09
Hester_exp1 2012 Hester_exp1 2012 Kyp1 2004 Hypr 2006 Hypr 2010 Pafia 2011 Wagener 2011 Subtotal (lequared = 53.5%, p = 0.026) Lewis_63 2007 Between 3 and less than 6 months Blankers 2011 Curningham 2009 Kyp1 2004 Hypr 2007 Lewis_63 2007 Lewis_63 2007 Hester_exp1 2013 Between 6 and less than 12 months Curningham 2009 Kyp1 2004 Walters_FB 2006 Subtotal (lequared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) Lewis_63 2007 Hester_exp1 2008 Kyp1 2008 K	Hester 2005	-139.16 (-273.95, -4.37)	0.27
Hester exp2 2012 Kypri 2004 Kypri 2009 Murphy 2010 Pafial 2011 Wagener 2011 Subtotal (Isquared = 53.5%, p = 0.028) Between 3 and less than 6 months Blankers 2011 Cunningham 2009 Walters FB 2009 Subtotal (Isquared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) Between 6 and less than 12 months Cunningham 2009 Walters FB 2009 Subtotal (Isquared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) Righbors 2004 Kypri 2008 Cunningham 2009 Walters FB 2009 Subtotal (Isquared = 56.7%, p = 0.278) Figure 6 and less than 12 months Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2008 Kypri 2008 Cunningham 2009 Walters FB 2009 Subtotal (Isquared = 50.7%, p = 0.278) Figure 6 and less than 12 months Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2008 Kypri 2008 Kypri 2009 Cunningham 2009 Walters FB 2009 Subtotal (Isquared = 56.7%, p = 0.277) Figure 6 and less than 12 months Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2008 Kypri 2008 Kypri 2009 Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2008 Kypri 2009 Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2008 Kypri 2009 Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2008 Kypri 2009 Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2009 Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2008 Kypri 2009 Cunningham 2009 Cunningham 2009 Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2008 Kypri 2009 Cunningham 2010 Hester exp1 2012 Cunningham 2010	Hester_exp1 2012	-36.40 (-97.91, 25.11)	1.20
Kypi 2004 -10.00 (73.90, 53.90) 1.12 Kypi 2009 -20.00 (73.90, 53.90) 10.54 Murphy 2010 -20.00 (74.30, 53.90) 10.54 Patia 2011 -42.84 (13.17, 42.80) 0.93 Subtolal (Isquared = 53.5%, p = 0.028) -31.81 (-60.57, 24.25) 2.78 Edware 3 and less than 6 months Blankers 2011 -85.00 (-166.09, -3.91) 0.72 Cunningham 2009 -5.44 (-43.93, 33.05) 2.66 -2.82 Kypi 2013 -85.00 (-166.09, -3.91) 0.72 -2.80 Lewis, GN 2007 -36.56 (-7.84, 0.66) 2.82 -2.80 Valters, FB 2009 -42.70 (-79.96, 5.44) 2.80 -2.80 Valters, FB 2009 -11.00 (-31.82, -2.84) 24.13 -17.33 (-31.82, -2.84) 24.13 Cunningham 2009 -5.44 (-43.15, 32.27) 2.75 5.90 (-57.89, -9.22) 4.16 Kypri 2004 -5.80 (-168.08) 2.86 -2.80 -2.80 (-2.80, -10.11) -1.90 (-78.85, -8.53) 1.91 Valters, FB 2009 -2.80 (-2.80, -10.11) -2.80 (-2.80, -10.11) 9.20 (-11.8, 68.98) 2.85 <t< td=""><td>Hester_exp2 2012</td><td>-138.60 (-280.86, 3.66)</td><td>0.24</td></t<>	Hester_exp2 2012	-138.60 (-280.86, 3.66)	0.24
Kypi 2009 -20.00 (28.02, -11.98) 10.54 Murphy 2010 -42.84 (-113.74, 28.06) 0.93 Patai 2011 -42.84 (-113.74, 28.06) 0.93 Wagner 2011 -32.74 (-56.80, -8.68) 20.69 Subtolal (Isquared = 53.5%, p = 0.028) -32.74 (-56.80, -8.68) 20.69 - - -32.74 (-56.80, -8.68) 20.69 - - - - - Cunningham 2009 Kypi 2013 - - - - Lewis, GS 2007 -	Kypri 2004	-10.00 (-73.90, 53.90)	1.12
Murphy 2010 -42.84 (-1137, 42.06) 0.93 Pafai 2011 -13.16 (-50.57, 24.25) 2.78 Wagener 2011 -13.16 (-50.57, 24.25) 2.78 Subtotal (I-squared = 53.5%, p = 0.028) -3274 (-56.80, -8.68) 20.69 Between 3 and less than 6 months -35.00 (-166.09, -3.91) 0.72 Bahkers 2011 -95.00 (-166.09, -3.91) 0.72 Cunningham 2009 -5.44 (-43.93, 33.06) 2.66 Kypi 2013 -96.54 (-73.44, 0.56) 2.82 Lewis GN 2007 -36.54 (-73.44, 0.56) 2.82 Lewis GS 2007 -42.70 (-79.96, -5.44) 2.80 Walters, FB 2009 -11.44 (-45.63, 87.91) 1.04 Subtotal (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) -17.33 (-31.82, -2.84) 24.13 Cunningham 2009 -5.44 (-43.15, 32.27) 2.75 Kypri 2004 -5.44 (-43.15, -9.22) 4.16 Kypri 2004 -5.44 (-43.15, -9.22) 4.16 Kypri 2004 -5.44 (-11.78, 68.80) 2.85 Neighbors, GNS 2010 -2.000 (-32.89, -10.11) 9.85 Neighbors, GNS 2010 -2.000 (-58.25, 10.11) 9.85 Neighbors, GNS 2010 -2.82<	Kypri 2009 🔶	-20.00 (-28.02, -11.98)	10.54
Pafai 2011 Wagener 2011 Wagener 2011 Subtotal (I-squared = 53.5%, p = 0.028) Between 3 and less than 6 months Blankers 2011 Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2013 Lewis, GN 2007 Lewis, GN 2007 Vallers, FB 2009 Subtotal (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) Between 6 and less than 12 months Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2004 Walters, FB 2009 Subtotal (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) Between 6 and less than 12 months Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2006 Kypri 2007 Concile (aska, 2, 4, 13 Concile (aska, 2, 4, 14, 15, 32, 27) Concile (aska, 2, 4, 16, 16, 68) Concile (aska, 2, 4, 17, 17, 3) Between an 2006 Concile (aska, 2, 4, 17, 17, 3) Concile (aska, 2, 4, 18, 2, 2) Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207) - Corrall (I-squared = 40.4%, p = 0.112) - Corrall (I-squared = 40.4%, p = 0.012) - Corrall (I-s	Murphy 2010	-42.84 (-113.74, 28.06)	0.93
Wagener 2011 64.40 (33.23, 182.03) 0.51 Subtotal (I-squared = 53.5%, p = 0.028) -32.74 (56.80, -8.68) 20.69 Between 3 and less than 6 months -32.74 (56.80, -8.68) 20.69 Bankers 2011 -95.00 (-166.09, -3.91) 0.72 Cunningham 2009 -5.44 (-43.93, 33.05) 2.66 Kypi 2013 -96.54 (-73.84, 0.56) 2.82 Lewis_GS 2007 -42.70 (79.96, 5.44) 2.80 Neighbors 2004 -10.08 (-19.29) 3.95 Valters FB 2009 21.14 (-45.58, 7.91) 1.04 Subtotal (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) -17.33 (-31.82, -2.84) 24.13 . -20.00 (-29.89, -10.11) 9.85 Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207) -3.65 (-5.27, 10.73) 3.60 Neighbors_GNS 2010 -20.20 (-25.21, 10.73) 3.60 Neighbors_GNS 2010 -20.00 (-35.55.3) 1.01 Neighbors_GNS 2010 -36.54 (-42.55, 4.26) 35.35 Neighbors_GNS 2010 -20.27 (-5.64, 4.26) 35.35 Neighbors_GNS 2010 -20.00 (-35.20, 15.26) 3.06 Neighbors_GNS 2010 -36.54 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 Kypi 2008 </td <td>Palfai 2011</td> <td>-13.16 (-50.57, 24.25)</td> <td>2.78</td>	Palfai 2011	-13.16 (-50.57, 24.25)	2.78
Subtotal (I-squared = 53.5%, p = 0.028) Between 3 and less than 6 months Blankers 2011 Cunningham 2009 Walters FB 2009 Subtotal (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) Between 6 and less than 12 months Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2008 Kypri 2008 Cunsingham 2009 Cutod (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) Between 6 and less than 12 months Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2008 Kypri 2008 Cutod (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) Cunsingham 2009 Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207) Greater than 12 months Cunningham 2010 Hester_sFB 2009 Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207) Greater than 12 months Cunningham 2010 Hester_sCB 2010 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Not Cural (I-squared = 40.4%, p = 0.131) - - - - - - - - - - - - -	Wagener 2011	64.40 (-33.23, 162.03)	0.51
ebween 3 and less than 6 months Blankers 2011 Cunningham 2009 Kypir 2013 Lewis_GS 2007 Neighbors 2004 Walters_FB 2009 Subtotal (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) Lewis_GS 2007 Kypir 2004 Kypir 2004 Kypir 2004 Kypir 2004 Kypir 2006 Kypir 2006 Neighbors_GS 2010 Neighbors_GS 2010 Neuramn 2006 Yopri 2008 Neighbors_GS 2010 Neurama 2006 Neighbors_GS 2010 Neurama 2006 Neurama 2006 Notreati (I-squared = 40.4%, p = 0.012) NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis Notreati (I-squared = 40.4%, p = 0.012) NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis Notreati (I-squared = 40.4%, p = 0.012) NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis Notreati (I-squared = 40.4%, p = 0.012)	Subtotal (I-squared = 53.5%, p = 0.028)	-32.74 (-56.80, -8.68)	20.69
Blankers 2011 Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2013 Lewis_GS 2007 Walters_FB 2009 Subtotal (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) Etween 6 and less than 12 months Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2004 Kypri 2004 Kypri 2004 Kypri 2004 Neighbors_GS 2010 Neighbors_GS 2010 NoTE: Weights are from random effects analysis -281 0 NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis -281 0 Cunningham 200 Construction Constructio	Between 3 and less than 6 months		
Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2013 Lewis_GN 2007 Lewis_GS 2007 Neighbors 2004 Valters_FB 2009 21.14 (45.83, 87.91) -10.08 (-39.45, 19.29) 21.14 (45.83, 87.91) -10.08 (-39.45, 19.29) 21.14 (45.83, 87.91) -0.08 (-39.45, 19.29) 21.14 (-45.83, 87.91) -0.00 (-52.08, 70.9) 1.62 Kypri 2004 Kypri 2009 -5.44 (-43.15, 32.27) 2.75 Kypri 2004 Kypri 2008 -3.75 (-65.78, -9.22) 4.16 Kypri 2008 -20.00 (-29.89, -10.11) 9.85 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Nulters_FB 2009 -11.90 (-79.63, 55.83) 1.01 -21.00 (-38.53, -3.47) -0 -21.00 (-38.53, -3.47) -0 -21.00 (-38.52, -1.29) -1.35 (-34.54, 37.24) 2.97 Hester_exp1 2012 Kypri 2018 -20.00 (-55.26, 15.26) 3.05 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Neighbors_GNS 2010 NoTE: Weights are from random effects analysis 	Blankers 2011	-85.00 (-166.09, -3.91)	0.72
Kypi 2013 -10.00 (-19.16, -0.84) 10.12 Lewis_GN 2007 -36.54 (-73.64, 0.56) 2.82 Neighbors 2004 -10.08 (-39.45, 19.29) 3.95 Walters_FB 2009 21.14 (-45.63, 87.91) 1.04 Subtotal (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) -17.33 (-31.82, -2.84) 24.13 . - - - Cunningham 2009 -5.44 (-43.15, 32.27) 2.75 Kypri 2004 -5.44 (-43.15, 32.27) 2.75 Kypri 2009 -5.44 (-43.15, 32.27) 2.75 Kypri 2009 -5.44 (-43.15, 32.27) 2.75 Neighbors_2004 -37.50 (-65.78, -9.22) 4.16 Kypri 2009 -20.00 (-28.9, -10.11) 9.85 Neighbors_GNS 2010 29.40 (-10.18, 68.98) 2.55 Neighbors_GNS 2010 3.64 (-33.52, 40.80) 2.81 Neumann 2006 -21.00 (-38.53, -3.47) 7.00 Walters_FB 2009 -11.90 (-79.63, 55.83) 1.01 Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207) -19.00 (-38.53, -3.47) 7.00 Walters_FB 2009 -11.90 (-79.63, 55.83) 1.01 Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207) -19.0 (-38.53, -3.47) </td <td>Cunningham 2009</td> <td>-5.44 (-43.93, 33.05)</td> <td>2.66</td>	Cunningham 2009	-5.44 (-43.93, 33.05)	2.66
Lewis_GN 2007 Lewis_GS 2007 Weighbors 2004 Walters_FB 2009 Subtatal (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) Between 6 and less than 12 months Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2008 Kypri 2008 Neighbors 2004 House (1-3, 2, 2, 2, 4) Cunningham 2009 Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2008 Neighbors 2004 Notes: FB 2009 Greater than 12 months Cunningham 2010 Hester, expl 2010 Notes: MS 2010 Network 2010 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Neighbors_GS 2010 Neighbors_GS 2010 Neighbors_GS 2010 Neighbors_GS 2010 Neighbors_GS 2010 Neighbors_GS 2010 North: Weights are from random effects analysis -281	Kypri 2013 🔶	-10.00 (-19.16, -0.84)	10.12
Lewis GS 2007 Neighbors 2004 Valters_FB 2009 Subtotal (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) Between 6 and less than 12 months Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2004 Kypri 2004 Kypri 2008 Neighbors_GS 2010 Neighbors_GS 2010 Neighbors_GS 2010 Netwarm 2009 Greater than 12 months Cunningham 2010 Hester_exp1 2012 Kypri 2008 Neighbors_GS 2010 Neighbors_GS 2010 Norther Weights are from random effects analysis -281 0 0 NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis -281 0 -281 0 -281 0 -281 -281 0 -281 -28	Lewis_GN 2007	-36.54 (-73.64, 0.56)	2.82
Neighbors 2004 -10.08 (-39.45, 19.29) 3.95 Walters_FB 2009 21.14 (-45.63, 87.91) 1.04 Subtotal (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) -17.33 (-31.82, -2.84) 24.13 . Between 6 and less than 12 months -5.44 (-43.15, 32.27) 2.75 Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2004 15.00 (-37.09, 67.09) 1.62 Kypri 2008 -37.50 (-65.78, -9.22) 4.16 Kypri 2009 -20.07 (-26.217, 10.73) 3.60 Neighbors 2004 -20.75 (-26.217, 10.73) 3.60 Neighbors 2004 -20.70 (-26.217, 10.73) 3.60 Neighbors 2004 -20.10 (-38.53, -3.47) 7.00 Valters_FB 2009 -21.00 (-38.53, -3.47) 7.00 Valters_FB 2009 -21.00 (-38.53, -3.47) 7.00 Valters_FB 2009 -21.00 (-38.53, -3.47) 7.00 Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207) -14.91 (-25.56, -4.26) 35.35 . Greater than 12 months -20.27 (-51.66.05) 2.85 Cunningham 2010 1.35 (-34.54, 37.24) 2.97 Hester_exp1 2012 -53.20 (-102.18, -4.22) 1.80 Neighbors_GNS 2010 0.98 (-32.27, 74.23)	Lewis_GS 2007	-42.70 (-79.96, -5.44)	2.80
Walters_FB 2009 21.14 (45.63, 87.91) 1.04 Subtotal (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) -17.33 (31.82, -2.84) 24.13 Between 6 and less than 12 months -5.44 (43.15, 32.27) 2.75 Kypri 2004 15.00 (-37.09, 67.09) 1.62 Kypri 2008 -37.50 (-65.78, -9.22) 4.16 Neighbors_GNS 2010 -37.50 (-65.78, -9.22) 4.16 Neighbors_GNS 2010 29.40 (-10.18, 68.98) 2.55 Neighbors_GS 2010 29.40 (-10.18, 68.98) 2.55 Neighbors_GS 2010 3.64 (-33.52, 40.80) 2.81 Neumann 2006 -21.00 (-38.53, -3.47) 7.00 Walters_FB 2009 -11.90 (-79.63, 55.83) 1.01 Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207) -14.91 (-25.56, -4.26) 3.53.5 . -20.01 (-29.27, -53.20 (-102.18, -4.22)) 1.80 Kypri 2008 -20.00 (-35.26, 15.26) 3.05 Neighbors_GNS 2010 0.98 (-32.27, 34.23) 3.32 Neumann 2006 -14.00 (-35.20, 7.20) 5.85 Neighbors_GNS 2010 0.98 (-32.27, 34.23) 3.32 Neumann 2006 -14.00 (-35.20, 7.20) 5.85 Neighbors_GNS 2010 <td>Neighbors 2004</td> <td>-10.08 (-39.45, 19.29)</td> <td>3.95</td>	Neighbors 2004	-10.08 (-39.45, 19.29)	3.95
Subtotal (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.196) Between 6 and less than 12 months Cunningham 2009 Kypi 2004 Kypi 2004 Kypi 2009 Neighbors 2004 Neighbors 2010 Neighbors GS 2010 Nulters FB 2009 Cunningham 2010 Hester_exp1 2012 Kypi 2008 Neighbors_GS 2010 Neighbors_GS 2010 Note: Weights are from random effects analysis -221 O Note: Weights are from random effects analysis -221 O Careater than 12 months Cunningham 2010 Hester_exp1 2012 -221 O Note: Weights are from random effects analysis -221 O Note: Weights are from random effects analysis -221 O Careater than 12 months Cunningham 2006 -221 O Careater than 12 months Cunningham 2010 -221 O Careater than 12 months Cunningham 2010 -221 Careater than 22 months	Walters_FB 2009	21.14 (-45.63, 87.91)	1.04
. . Between 6 and less than 12 months	Subtotal (I-squared = 30.4%, p = 0.196)	-17.33 (-31.82, -2.84)	24.13
Cunningham 2009 Kypri 2004 Kypri 2008 Kypri 2008 Kypri 2009 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Neumann 2006 Cunningham 2010 Hester_exp1 2012 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Norther weights are from random effects analysis Neighbors_GNS 2010 NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis -281 -281 -281 -281 -281 -281 -281 -281 -544 (43.15, 32.27) -5.44 (-43.15, 32.27) -7.54 (-43.15, 32.27) -7.55 -7.54 (-43.15, 32.27) -7.54 (-25.34, 10.43) -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) -7.46 (-25.70, -9.48) -7.46 (-25.7	Between 6 and less than 12 months		
Kypri 2004 15.00 (-37.09, 67.09) 1.62 Kypri 2008 -37.50 (-65.78, -9.22) 4.16 Kypri 2009 -20.00 (-29.89, -10.11) 9.85 Neighbors 2004 -20.72 (-52.17, 10.73) 3.60 Neighbors 2010 29.40 (-10.18, 68.98) 2.55 Neighbors GS 2010 3.64 (-33.52, 40.80) 2.81 Neumann 2006 -21.00 (-38.53, -3.47) 7.00 Walters FB 2009 -11.90 (-79.63, 55.83) 1.01 Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207) -14.91 (-25.56, -4.26) 35.35 . Greater than 12 months -53.20 (-102.18, -4.22) 1.80 Cunningham 2010 1.35 (-34.54, 37.24) 2.97 Hester_exp1 2012 -53.20 (-102.18, -4.22) 1.80 Kypi 2008 -20.00 (-55.26, 15.26) 3.05 Neighbors_GNS 2010 29.22 (-7.61, 66.05) 2.85 Neighbors_GS 2010 0.98 (-32.27, 34.23) 3.32 Neumann 2006 -14.00 (-35.20, 7.20) 5.85 Subtotal (I-squared = 41.1%, p = 0.131) -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 . -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 -7.46 (-25.70, -9.48) 100.00	Cunningham 2009	-5.44 (-43.15, 32.27)	2.75
Kypri 2008 -37.50 (-65.78, -9.22) 4.16 Kypri 2009 -20.00 (-29.89, -10.11) 9.85 Neighbors_GNS 2010 -20.72 (-52.17, 10.73) 3.60 Neighbors_GS 2010 29.40 (-10.18, 68.98) 2.55 Neighbors_GS 2010 3.64 (-33.52, 40.80) 2.81 Neumann 2006 -21.00 (-38.53, -3.47) 7.00 Walters_FB 2009 -11.90 (-79.63, 55.83) 1.01 Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207) -14.91 (-25.56, -4.26) 35.35 . - - - Greater than 12 months - - - Cunningham 2010 1.35 (-34.54, 37.24) 2.97 Hester_exp1 2012 -53.20 (-102.18, -4.22) 1.80 Kypri 2008 -20.00 (-55.26, 15.26) 3.05 Neighbors_GNS 2010 29.22 (-7.61, 66.05) 2.85 Neighbors_GS 2010 0.98 (-32.27, 34.23) 3.32 Neumann 2006 -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 . -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 . -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 . -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 . <td< td=""><td>Kypri 2004</td><td>15.00 (-37.09, 67.09)</td><td>1.62</td></td<>	Kypri 2004	15.00 (-37.09, 67.09)	1.62
Kypri 2009 -20.00 (-29.89, -10.11) 9.85 Neighbors 2004 -20.72 (-52.17, 10.73) 3.60 Neighbors_GS 2010 29.40 (-10.18, 68.98) 2.55 Neumann 2006 -21.00 (-38.53, -3.47) 7.00 Walters_FB 2009 -11.90 (-79.63, 55.83) 1.01 Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207) -14.91 (-25.56, -4.26) 35.35 . - - - Greater than 12 months - - - Cunningham 2010 1.35 (-34.54, 37.24) 2.97 Hester_exp1 2012 -53.20 (-102.18, -4.22) 1.80 Kypri 2008 -20.00 (-55.26, 15.26) 3.05 Neighbors_GNS 2010 29.22 (-7.61, 66.05) 2.85 Neighbors_GNS 2010 0.98 (-32.27, 34.23) 3.32 Neumann 2006 -14.00 (-35.20, 7.20) 5.85 Subtotal (I-squared = 41.1%, p = 0.131) -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 . -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 . -281 0 281	Kypri 2008	-37.50 (-65.78, -9.22)	4.16
Neighbors 2004 -20.72 (-52.17, 10.73) 3.60 Neighbors_GNS 2010 29.40 (-10.18, 68.98) 2.55 Neighbors_GS 2010 3.64 (-33.52, 40.80) 2.81 Neumann 2006 -21.79 (-79.63, 55.83) 1.01 Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207) -11.90 (-79.63, 55.83) 1.01 Greater than 12 months -14.91 (-25.56, -4.26) 35.35 Cunningham 2010 -53.20 (-102.18, -4.22) 1.80 Kypri 2008 -20.00 (-35.26, 15.26) 3.06 Neighbors_GNS 2010 29.22 (-7.61, 66.05) 2.85 Neighbors_GNS 2010 29.22 (-7.61, 66.05) 2.85 Neighbors_GNS 2010 -20.01 (-35.20, 7.20) 5.85 Neighbors_GNS 2010 -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 - -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 - -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 - -7.46 (-25.70, -9.48) 100.00	Kypri 2009 🔶	-20.00 (-29.89, -10.11)	9.85
Neighbors_GNS 2010 29.40 (-10.18, 68.98) 2.55 Neighbors_GS 2010 3.64 (-33.52, 40.80) 2.81 Neumann 2006 -21.00 (-38.53, -3.47) 7.00 Walters_FB 2009 -11.90 (-7.963, 55.83) 1.01 Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207) -14.91 (-25.56, -4.26) 35.35 . Greater than 12 months -53.20 (-102.18, -4.22) 1.80 Cunningham 2010 1.35 (-34.54, 37.24) 2.97 Hester_exp1 2012 -53.20 (-102.18, -4.22) 1.80 Kypri 2008 -20.00 (-55.26, 15.26) 3.05 Neighbors_GNS 2010 0.98 (-32.27, 34.23) 3.32 Neumann 2006 -14.00 (-35.20, 7.20) 5.85 Subtotal (I-squared = 41.1%, p = 0.131) -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 . -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 . -16.59 (-23.70, -9.48) 100.00 -16.59 (-23.70, -9.48) 100.00	Neighbors 2004	-20.72 (-52.17, 10.73)	3.60
Neighbors_GS 2010 3.64 (-33.52, 40.80) 2.81 Neumann 2006 -21.00 (-38.53, -3.47) 7.00 Walters_FB 2009 -11.90 (-79.63, 55.83) 1.01 Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207) -14.91 (-25.56, -4.26) 35.35 Greater than 12 months . . . Cunningham 2010 1.35 (-34.54, 37.24) 2.97 Hester_exp1 2012 . .53.20 (-102.18, -4.22) 1.80 Kypri 2008 .20.00 (-55.26, 15.26) 3.05 Neighbors_GNS 2010 0.98 (-32.27, 34.23) 3.32 Neumann 2006 Subtotal (I-squared = 41.1%, p = 0.131) Overall (I-squared = 40.4%, p = 0.012) Neighbors_GN 2010	Neighbors_GNS 2010	29.40 (-10.18, 68.98)	2.55
Neumann 2006 -21.00 (-38.53, -3.47) 7.00 Walters_FB 2009 -11.90 (-79.63, 55.83) 1.01 Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207) -14.91 (-25.56, -4.26) 35.35 Greater than 12 months 1.35 (-34.54, 37.24) 2.97 Hester_exp1 2012 -53.20 (-102.18, -4.22) 1.80 Kypri 2008 -20.00 (-55.26, 15.26) 3.05 Neighbors_GNS 2010 29.22 (-7.61, 66.05) 2.85 Neighbors_GS 2010 0.98 (-32.27, 34.23) 3.32 Neumann 2006 -14.00 (-35.20, 7.20) 5.85 Subtotal (I-squared = 41.1%, p = 0.131) -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 . -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 . -7.46 (-25.37, -9.48) 100.00 NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis -281 0 281	Neighbors_GS 2010	3.64 (-33.52, 40.80)	2.81
Walters_FB 2009 -11.90 (-79.63, 55.83) 1.01 Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207) -14.91 (-25.56, -4.26) 35.35 Greater than 12 months 1.35 (-34.54, 37.24) 2.97 Hester_exp1 2012 -53.20 (-102.18, -4.22) 1.80 Kypri 2008 -20.00 (-55.26, 15.26) 3.05 Neighbors_GS 2010 29.22 (-7.61, 66.05) 2.85 Neighbors_GS 2010 0.98 (-32.27, 34.23) 3.32 Neumann 2006 -14.00 (-35.20, 7.20) 5.85 Subtotal (I-squared = 41.1%, p = 0.131) -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 Overall (I-squared = 40.4%, p = 0.012) 	Neumann 2006	-21.00 (-38.53, -3.47)	7.00
Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207) Greater than 12 months Cunningham 2010 Hester_exp1 2012 Kypri 2008 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Neumann 2006 Subtotal (I-squared = 40.4%, p = 0.131) -281 -281 -281 -281 -281 -281 -14.91 (-25.56, -4.26) 35.35 -14.91 (-25.56, -4.26) 35.35 -2.97 -2.97 -3.20 (-102.18, -4.22) 1.80 -2.97 -3.20 (-5.2.6, 15.26) 3.05 -2.85 -3.05 -2.85 -3.05 -2.85 -2	Walters_FB 2009	-11.90 (-79.63, 55.83)	1.01
Greater than 12 months 1.35 (-34.54, 37.24) 2.97 Gunningham 2010 -53.20 (-102.18, -4.22) 1.80 Hester_exp1 2012 -53.20 (-102.18, -4.22) 1.80 Kypri 2008 -20.00 (-55.26, 15.26) 3.05 Neighbors_GNS 2010 0.98 (-32.27, 34.23) 3.32 Neumann 2006 -14.00 (-35.20, 7.20) 5.85 Subtotal (I-squared = 41.1%, p = 0.131) -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 . -7.46 (-25.37, 0, -9.48) 100.00 NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis -16.59 (-23.70, -9.48) 100.00	Subtotal (I-squared = 26.7%, p = 0.207)	-14.91 (-25.56, -4.26)	35.35
Cunningham 2010 1.35 (-34.54, 37.24) 2.97 Hester_exp1 2012 -53.20 (-102.18, -4.22) 1.80 Kypi 2008 -20.00 (-55.26, 15.26) 3.05 Neighbors_GNS 2010 29.22 (-7.61, 66.05) 2.85 Neighbors_GS 2010 0.98 (-32.27, 34.23) 3.32 Neumann 2006 -14.00 (-35.20, 7.20) 5.85 Subtotal (I-squared = 41.1%, p = 0.131) -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 Overall (I-squared = 40.4%, p = 0.012) -16.59 (-23.70, -9.48) 100.00 NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis -281 0 281	Greater than 12 months		
Hester_exp1 2012 Kypri 2008 Neighbors_GNS 2010 Neumann 2006 Subtotal (I-squared = 40.4%, p = 0.012) NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis -281 -281 -281 -53.20 (-102.18, -4.22) -53.20 (-102.18, -4.22) -30.05 29.22 (-7.61, 66.05) 2.85 -0.98 (-32.27, 34.23) -3.32 -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 100.00	Cunningham 2010	1.35 (-34.54, 37.24)	2.97
Kypri 2008 -20.00 (-55.26, 15.26) 3.05 Neighbors_GNS 2010 29.22 (-7.61, 66.05) 2.85 Neighbors_GS 2010 0.98 (-32.27, 34.23) 3.32 Neumann 2006 -14.00 (-35.20, 7.20) 5.85 Subtotal (I-squared = 41.1%, p = 0.131) -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 Overall (I-squared = 40.4%, p = 0.012) -16.59 (-23.70, -9.48) 100.00 NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis -281 0 281	Hester_exp1 2012	-53.20 (-102.18, -4.22)	1.80
Neighbors_GNS 2010 29.22 (-7.61, 66.05) 2.85 Neighbors_GS 2010 0.98 (-32.27, 34.23) 3.32 Neumann 2006 -14.00 (-35.20, 7.20) 5.85 Subtotal (I-squared = 41.1%, p = 0.131) -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 . -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 . -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 . -7.46 (-25.70, -9.48) 100.00 NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis -	Kypri 2008	-20.00 (-55.26, 15.26)	3.05
Neighbors_GS 2010 0.98 (-32.27, 34.23) 3.32 Neumann 2006 -14.00 (-35.20, 7.20) 5.85 Subtotal (I-squared = 41.1%, p = 0.131) -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 Overall (I-squared = 40.4%, p = 0.012) -16.59 (-23.70, -9.48) 100.00 NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis -281 0 281	Neighbors_GNS 2010	29.22 (-7.61, 66.05)	2.85
Neumann 2006 -14.00 (-35.20, 7.20) 5.85 Subtotal (I-squared = 41.1%, p = 0.131) -7.46 (-25.34, 10.43) 19.83 Overall (I-squared = 40.4%, p = 0.012) -16.59 (-23.70, -9.48) 100.00 NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis -10.20 -281	Neighbors_GS 2010	0.98 (-32.27, 34.23)	3.32
Subtotal (I-squared = 41.1%, p = 0.131) Overall (I-squared = 40.4%, p = 0.012) NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis -281 0 281	Neumann 2006	-14.00 (-35.20, 7.20)	5.85
. . <td>Subtotal (I-squared = 41.1%, p = 0.131)</td> <td>-7.46 (-25.34, 10.43)</td> <td>19.83</td>	Subtotal (I-squared = 41.1%, p = 0.131)	-7.46 (-25.34, 10.43)	19.83
NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis	Overall (I-squared = 40.4%, p = 0.012)	-16.59 (-23.70, -9.48)	100.00
I I I -281 0 281	NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis		
	-281 0	I 281	

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/



J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.14 (page number not for citation purposes)

Donoghue et al

Figure 3. Mean difference in grams of ethanol per week at follow-up postintervention with 95% confidence intervals.



Sensitivity Analysis

Participants in the intervention arm of the study conducted by Blankers et al [34] had access to the online self-help intervention at any time, but it was suggested that they access it daily during a 4-week period. This methodology is different from other studies included in this review in that the other studies allowed participants access to the electronic intervention for a single session. Therefore, sensitivity analysis was conducted to assess the impact of this study on the overall mean difference in consumption of alcohol between 3 and less than 6 months. Removal of the Blankers et al [34] study from the meta-analysis had little effect on the mean difference in grams of alcohol consumed per week for those in the intervention groups compared to controls (mean difference -13.40, 95% CI -23.94 to 2.85).

The length of the intervention in the study conducted by Hester et al [31] was on average 90 minutes; this is longer than the definition of brief intervention for eligibility of inclusion in this systematic review and meta-analysis. However, because the intervention was completed in 1 session it was decided that a sensitivity analysis would be conducted to explore the impact of this study on the pooled mean difference in alcohol consumption at up to 3 months. Removal of the study conducted by Hester et al [31] had minimal impact on the pooled mean difference in grams of alcohol consumed per week for those in the intervention group compared to controls (mean difference -29.53, 95% CI -52.50 to 6.56).

Risk of Bias

The quality of the evidence reviewed was considered to be acceptable with most studies included in this review assessed as being adequate in terms of their methodological quality.

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/

XSL·FO RenderX

Three studies were considered to be of high methodological quality [24,32,34]. The addition of future research may have an impact on the conclusions of the review and meta-analysis.

Discussion

The results of this systematic review and meta-analysis suggest that eSBI is effective in reducing alcohol consumption in the follow-up postintervention period of less than 3 months, between 3 months and less than 6 months, and between 6 months and less than 12 months, but not in the longer term follow-up period of 12 months or longer. The overall mean difference in grams of ethanol per week consumed between those in the intervention and controls groups was 16.59 (Figure 2), which is equivalent to 2 standard drinks in the United Kingdom (1 standard drink=8 g ethanol). This difference is somewhat smaller compared to a previous review, which found an overall mean difference of 25.88 g of ethanol per week [14]. The current review did not include studies of treatment seeking populations or those in which individuals were randomized regardless of their drinking status at baseline; this may account for some of the variation in mean difference in alcohol consumption. Furthermore, there may have been a variation in the length of follow-up for studies included in the current research and Khadjesari et al's [14] meta-analysis. The inclusion of more studies with a shorter follow-up length may have resulted in an inflated overall mean difference in alcohol consumption between controls and those who received the intervention.

The pattern of results found here are in-line with the results of Cunningham et al [16,17]. They reported significantly lower levels of weekly alcohol consumption in those who received a Web-based brief intervention compared to controls at 3 and 6 months, but not at 12-month follow-up. Cunningham et al

> J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.15 (page number not for citation purposes)

[16,17] is the only eSBI study included in this systematic review and meta-analysis to follow up participants over the 3 time points: 3-, 6-, and 12-month follow-ups. Meta-analysis allowed for replication of their results with a much larger sample size. The magnitude of the effect in this study reduced with increasing length of the follow-up period, from nearly 4 standard drinks at a follow-up point of less than 3 months to less than 1 standard drink at a longer duration of follow-up of 12 months or greater, indicating a decline in the effectiveness of eSBI to significantly reduce alcohol consumption. All the data included in this review were from studies using a single eSBI session, although the option of returning to the eSBI was available for one study [23] and a printout of personalized feedback was generally offered (see Table 3). Neighbors et al [39] found no compelling evidence to suggest that multiple doses of electronic personalized brief advice, administered every 6 months for 2 years, was more effective than a single one-off intervention.

There was a variation in the extent of eSBI delivered between studies included in this review with some interventions taking substantially longer to complete and one study encouraged daily use of their online self-help program [24]. It is possible that more extensive interventions will have a greater impact on alcohol consumption. However, a recent large cluster randomized controlled study of face-to-face SBI in primary care found no difference in effectiveness between an information leaflet, 5 minutes of structured brief advice, or 20 minutes of brief lifestyle counseling on proportion of individuals with a negative AUDIT score (<8) at 6- and 12-month follow-ups [5]. Furthermore, a meta-analysis of face-to-face SBI found that although the reduction in alcohol consumption (grams of ethanol per week) was greater for more substantial interventions (including those that were longer in duration and administered in more than one session) compared to less intensive interventions, the difference was not statistically significant [4]. To date there has been no comparable studies for eSBI.

A large attrition rate (up to 55%) has been noted in some of the eSBI studies included in this review. High attrition rates are common in electronic interventions for nontreatment-seeking individuals and reasons for this are likely to be complex and varied [45]. Attrition will have an obvious impact on the validity of results obtained and introduce bias, for example, those more committed to reducing their alcohol intake may remain in the trial and inflate positive alcohol outcomes. This has led to research into ways of reducing attrition using incentives. Khadjesari et al [46] investigated whether attrition could be improved in their study of a Web-based intervention (Down Your Drink) for reducing alcohol consumption by incentivizing study completion. Participants were randomized to receive no incentive, a £5 Amazon voucher, £5 donation to Cancer Research, or entry into a £250 prize draw. There was no significant difference in response rate between any of the study arms. A second study by Khadjesari et al [46] randomized participants to receive a higher value incentive of £10 Amazon voucher or no incentive. This resulted in a 9% difference in response rate between the 2 groups, suggesting that appropriate incentivization can reduce participant attrition. However, some caution is required when considering the use of incentives to reduce attrition in online interventions. In the previous study,

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/

XSL·FO RenderX incentives were given on completion of the intervention and follow-up, rather than on sign-up to the intervention; this prevented individuals signing up who were only doing so for the incentive not the potential benefits of the research. Further exploration of the mechanism of action of incentives is required in eSBI, socioeconomic status, cultural factors, and reasons for attrition may all influence how effective incentives are at improving attrition in research [45].

Seventeen studies were included in the meta-analysis and most of these took place in the United States and with student populations. Binge drinking among young adult and student populations continues to be a concern. In the United Kingdom, 45% of males and 46% of females aged 16-24 years drink more than twice the recommended amount of alcohol (3-4 units for males and 2-3 units for females) in a single session in the previous week [47]. Binge drinking can increase the risk of behaviors that are illegal, violent, or risky (eg, unprotected sex) [48,30,48]. Binge drinking at university may also lead to long-term problems with physical and mental health [48]. This may help to explain why the majority of studies included in this systematic review and meta-analysis were conducted with student populations. Furthermore, the population of a university is generally large with up-to-date information technology facilities, which would be ideal for the implementation of an eSBI. A culture of binge drinking is evident among student populations; the pattern of drinking is likely to be somewhat different to the general population. Because of the limited number of relevant eSBI trials available, further analysis to investigate the impact of population on the effectiveness of eSBI is needed. Therefore, the generalizability of the current findings for the general population is not known.

The studies included in this meta-analysis also varied in the length, content, and theoretical basis of the intervention. Although almost all the included studies incorporated an element of personalized feedback as part of the intervention, there remains variation in both the mechanism and the context of how this was delivered. Further investigation into the effective components of these interventions was not possible and this should form an area for future research.

A comprehensive search strategy was used to identify relevant published randomized controlled trials for inclusion in this review and meta-analysis. However, it is possible that some trials may have been missed because unpublished research was not sought although an Egger's test suggested that no publication bias was present.

The results of this systematic review and meta-analysis demonstrate significant reductions in weekly alcohol consumption between intervention and control conditions at a follow-up point of less than 3 months, between 3 and 6 months, and between 6 and 12 months; as such, eSBI should be judged an effective intervention, a recent review of effective interventions targeting adolescent populations adds further support for the use of Web-/smartphone-based technology [49]. Advantages inherent to eSBI, such as reduced cost of implementation and wider accessibility compared to conventional face-to-face SBI, should also be considered. However, because of a lack of consistency in reporting of

J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.16 (page number not for citation purposes)
Donoghue et al

alcohol consumption outcome measures, this review could only report on grams of ethanol consumed per week. A greater consensus in the reporting of outcome measures and more uniform reporting of the content and theoretical basis of eSBI would result in the ability to make more robust conclusions regarding the effectiveness of eSBI in reducing alcohol consumption and alcohol-related harms in the longer term.

Acknowledgments

This study presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Programme Grants for Applied Research (RP-PG-0609-10162). Colin Drummond is partly funded by the NIHR Biomedical Research Centre for Mental Health at South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London and partly funded by the NIHR Collaborations for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care South London at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. Thomas Phillips is funded by a NIHR Clinical Doctoral Research Fellowship. The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR, or the Department of Health.

Conflicts of Interest

None declared.

References

- Rehm J, Mathers C, Popova S, Thavorncharoensap M, Teerawattananon Y, Patra J. Global burden of disease and injury and economic cost attributable to alcohol use and alcohol-use disorders. Lancet 2009 Jun 27;373(9682):2223-2233. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60746-7] [Medline: 19560604]
- 2. Cunningham JA, Breslin FC. Only one in three people with alcohol abuse or dependence ever seek treatment. Addict Behav 2004 Jan;29(1):221-223. [Medline: 14667433]
- Drummond C, Oyefeso A, Phillips T, Cheeta S, Deluca P, Perryman K, et al. Alcohol needs assessment research project (ANARP): the 2004 national alcohol needs assessment for England. London: Department of Health; 2005. URL: <u>http://www.alcohollearningcentre.org.uk/_library/Resources/ALC/OtherOrganisation/Alcohol_needs_assessment_research_project.pdf</u> [accessed 2013-12-08] [WebCite Cache ID 6LifhxBwW]
- Kaner EF, Beyer F, Dickinson HO, Pienaar E, Campbell F, Schlesinger C, et al. Effectiveness of brief alcohol interventions in primary care populations. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2007(2):CD004148 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD004148.pub3] [Medline: 17443541]
- Kaner E, Bland M, Cassidy P, Coulton S, Dale V, Deluca P, et al. Effectiveness of screening and brief alcohol intervention in primary care (SIPS trial): pragmatic cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2013;346:e8501 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23303891]
- Crawford MJ, Patton R, Touquet R, Drummond C, Byford S, Barrett B, et al. Screening and referral for brief intervention of alcohol-misusing patients in an emergency department: a pragmatic randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2004;364(9442):1334-1339. [doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)17190-0] [Medline: 15474136]
- D'Onofrio G, Degutis LC. Preventive care in the emergency department: screening and brief intervention for alcohol problems in the emergency department: a systematic review. Acad Emerg Med 2002 Jun;9(6):627-638. [Medline: <u>12045080</u>]
- Nilsen P. Brief alcohol intervention--where to from here? Challenges remain for research and practice. Addiction 2010 Jun;105(6):954-959. [doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2009.02779.x] [Medline: 20121717]
- Wilson GB, Lock CA, Heather N, Cassidy P, Christie MM, Kaner EF. Intervention against excessive alcohol consumption in primary health care: a survey of GPs' attitudes and practices in England 10 years on. Alcohol Alcohol 2011;46(5):570-577 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/alcalc/agr067] [Medline: 21690169]
- Bewick BM, Trusler K, Barkham M, Hill AJ, Cahill J, Mulhern B. The effectiveness of web-based interventions designed to decrease alcohol consumption--a systematic review. Prev Med 2008 Jul;47(1):17-26. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ypmed.2008.01.005</u>] [Medline: <u>18302970</u>]
- Champion KE, Newton NC, Barrett EL, Teesson M. A systematic review of school-based alcohol and other drug prevention programs facilitated by computers or the internet. Drug Alcohol Rev 2013 Mar;32(2):115-123. [doi: 10.1111/j.1465-3362.2012.00517.x] [Medline: 23039085]
- Newton AS, Dong K, Mabood N, Ata N, Ali S, Gokiert R, et al. Brief emergency department interventions for youth who use alcohol and other drugs: a systematic review. Pediatr Emerg Care 2013 May;29(5):673-684. [doi: 10.1097/PEC.0b013e31828ed325] [Medline: 23640153]
- Linke S, Murray E, Butler C, Wallace P. Internet-based interactive health intervention for the promotion of sensible drinking: patterns of use and potential impact on members of the general public. J Med Internet Res 2007;9(2):e10 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.9.2.e10] [Medline: 17513281]
- Khadjesari Z, Murray E, Hewitt C, Hartley S, Godfrey C. Can stand-alone computer-based interventions reduce alcohol consumption? A systematic review. Addiction 2011 Feb;106(2):267-282. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.03214.x</u>] [Medline: <u>21083832</u>]

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/

J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.17 (page number not for citation purposes)

XSL·FO RenderX

Donoghue et al

- Rooke S, Thorsteinsson E, Karpin A, Copeland J, Allsop D. Computer-delivered interventions for alcohol and tobacco use: a meta-analysis. Addiction 2010 Aug;105(8):1381-1390. [doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.02975.x] [Medline: 20528806]
 Cunningham JA, Wild TC, Cordingley J, van Mierlo T, Humphreys K, A randomized controlled trial of an internet-based
- Cunningham JA, Wild TC, Cordingley J, van Mierlo T, Humphreys K. A randomized controlled trial of an internet-based intervention for alcohol abusers. Addiction 2009 Dec;104(12):2023-2032 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2009.02726.x] [Medline: 19922569]
- Cunningham JA, Wild TC, Cordingley J, Van Mierlo T, Humphreys K. Twelve-month follow-up results from a randomized controlled trial of a brief personalized feedback intervention for problem drinkers. Alcohol Alcohol 2010;45(3):258-262 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/alcalc/agq009] [Medline: 20150170]
- 18. National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health. Alcohol Use Disorders: The NICE Guideline on the Diagnosis, Assessment and Management of Harmful Drinking and Alcohol Dependence (NICE Clinical Guidelines). Leicester and London: The British Psychological Society and the Royal College of Psychiatrists; 2011.
- SIGN. Critical appraisal: notes and checklists URL: <u>http://www.sign.ac.uk/methodology/checklists.html</u> [accessed 2013-12-09] [WebCite Cache ID 6LjcEfhx8]
- Hozo SP, Djulbegovic B, Hozo I. Estimating the mean and variance from the median, range, and the size of a sample. BMC Med Res Methodol 2005;5:13 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-5-13] [Medline: 15840177]
- 21. International Center for Alcohol Policies. Standard drinks URL: <u>http://www.icap.org/policyissues/drinkingguidelines/</u> standarddrinks/tabid/126/default.aspx [accessed 2013-12-08] [WebCite Cache ID 6Lii3IZo5]
- Higgins J, Green S. The Cochrane Collaboration.: The Cochrane Collaboration; 2011. Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions 5.1.0 URL: <u>http://handbook.cochrane.org/</u> [accessed 2014-05-20] [WebCite Cache ID 6PiBcKDDk]
- Araki I, Hashimoto H, Kono K, Matsuki H, Yano E. Controlled trial of worksite health education through face-to-face counseling vs. e-mail on drinking behavior modification. J Occup Health 2006 Jul;48(4):239-245 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 16902267]
- Blankers M, Koeter MW, Schippers GM. Internet therapy versus internet self-help versus no treatment for problematic alcohol use: A randomized controlled trial. J Consult Clin Psychol 2011 Jun;79(3):330-341. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0023498</u>] [Medline: <u>21534652</u>]
- Boon B, Risselada A, Huiberts A, Riper H, Smit F. Curbing alcohol use in male adults through computer generated personalized advice: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(2):e43 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2196/jmir.1695</u>] [Medline: <u>21719412</u>]
- Butler LH, Correia CJ. Brief alcohol intervention with college student drinkers: face-to-face versus computerized feedback. Psychol Addict Behav 2009 Mar;23(1):163-167. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0014892</u>] [Medline: <u>19290702</u>]
- Cunningham JA, Hendershot CS, Murphy M, Neighbors C. Pragmatic randomized controlled trial of providing access to a brief personalized alcohol feedback intervention in university students. Addict Sci Clin Pract 2012;7(1):21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1940-0640-7-21] [Medline: 23185985]
- Ekman DS, Andersson A, Nilsen P, Ståhlbrandt H, Johansson AL, Bendtsen P. Electronic screening and brief intervention for risky drinking in Swedish university students--a randomized controlled trial. Addict Behav 2011 Jun;36(6):654-659. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.addbeh.2011.01.015</u>] [Medline: <u>21316157</u>]
- Hansen AB, Becker U, Nielsen AS, Grønbæk M, Tolstrup JS, Thygesen LC. Internet-based brief personalized feedback intervention in a non-treatment-seeking population of adult heavy drinkers: a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(4):e98 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1883] [Medline: 22846542]
- Hester RK, Delaney HD, Campbell W. The college drinker's check-up: outcomes of two randomized clinical trials of a computer-delivered intervention. Psychol Addict Behav 2012 Mar;26(1):1-12 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0024753] [Medline: 21823769]
- Hester RK, Squires DD, Delaney HD. The Drinker's Check-up: 12-month outcomes of a controlled clinical trial of a stand-alone software program for problem drinkers. J Subst Abuse Treat 2005 Mar;28(2):159-169. [doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2004.12.002] [Medline: 15780546]
- Kypri K, Hallett J, Howat P, McManus A, Maycock B, Bowe S, et al. Randomized controlled trial of proactive web-based alcohol screening and brief intervention for university students. Arch Intern Med 2009 Sep 14;169(16):1508-1514. [doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2009.249] [Medline: <u>19752409</u>]
- Kypri K, Langley JD, Saunders JB, Cashell-Smith ML, Herbison P. Randomized controlled trial of web-based alcohol screening and brief intervention in primary care. Arch Intern Med 2008 Mar 10;168(5):530-536. [doi: 10.1001/archinternmed.2007.109] [Medline: 18332300]
- Kypri K, McCambridge J, Vater T, Bowe SJ, Saunders JB, Cunningham JA, et al. Web-based alcohol intervention for Māori university students: double-blind, multi-site randomized controlled trial. Addiction 2013 Feb;108(2):331-338 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2012.04067.x] [Medline: 22925046]
- Kypri K, Saunders JB, Williams SM, McGee RO, Langley JD, Cashell-Smith ML, et al. Web-based screening and brief intervention for hazardous drinking: a double-blind randomized controlled trial. Addiction 2004 Nov;99(11):1410-1417. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1360-0443.2004.00847.x</u>] [Medline: <u>15500594</u>]

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/

XSL·FO RenderX J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.18 (page number not for citation purposes)

```
Donoghue et al
```

- Lewis MA, Neighbors C, Oster-Aaland L, Kirkeby BS, Larimer ME. Indicated prevention for incoming freshmen: personalized normative feedback and high-risk drinking. Addict Behav 2007 Nov;32(11):2495-2508 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2007.06.019] [Medline: 17658695]
- Murphy JG, Dennhardt AA, Skidmore JR, Martens MP, McDevitt-Murphy ME. Computerized versus motivational interviewing alcohol interventions: impact on discrepancy, motivation, and drinking. Psychol Addict Behav 2010 Dec;24(4):628-639. [doi: 10.1037/a0021347] [Medline: 21198224]
- Neighbors C, Larimer ME, Lewis MA. Targeting misperceptions of descriptive drinking norms: efficacy of a computer-delivered personalized normative feedback intervention. J Consult Clin Psychol 2004 Jun;72(3):434-447. [doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.72.3.434] [Medline: 15279527]
- Neighbors C, Lewis MA, Atkins DC, Jensen MM, Walter T, Fossos N, et al. Efficacy of web-based personalized normative feedback: a two-year randomized controlled trial. J Consult Clin Psychol 2010 Dec;78(6):898-911. [doi: <u>10.1037/a0020766</u>] [Medline: <u>20873892</u>]
- Neumann T, Neuner B, Weiss-Gerlach E, Tønnesen H, Gentilello LM, Wernecke KD, et al. The effect of computerized tailored brief advice on at-risk drinking in subcritically injured trauma patients. J Trauma 2006 Oct;61(4):805-814. [doi: 10.1097/01.ta.0000196399.29893.52] [Medline: 17033544]
- 41. Palfai TP, Zisserson R, Saitz R. Using personalized feedback to reduce alcohol use among hazardous drinking college students: the moderating effect of alcohol-related negative consequences. Addict Behav 2011 May;36(5):539-542. [doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2011.01.005] [Medline: 21295919]
- 42. Spijkerman R, Roek MA, Vermulst A, Lemmers L, Huiberts A, Engels RC. Effectiveness of a web-based brief alcohol intervention and added value of normative feedback in reducing underage drinking: a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2010;12(5):e65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1465] [Medline: 21169172]
- Wagener TL, Leffingwell TR, Mignogna J, Mignogna MR, Weaver CC, Cooney NJ, et al. Randomized trial comparing computer-delivered and face-to-face personalized feedback interventions for high-risk drinking among college students. J Subst Abuse Treat 2012 Sep;43(2):260-267. [doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2011.11.001] [Medline: 22197301]
- Walters ST, Vader AM, Harris TR, Field CA, Jouriles EN. Dismantling motivational interviewing and feedback for college drinkers: a randomized clinical trial. J Consult Clin Psychol 2009 Feb;77(1):64-73 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0014472] [Medline: 19170454]
- 45. Linke S, Brown A, Wallace P. Down your drink: a web-based intervention for people with excessive alcohol consumption. Alcohol Alcohol 2004;39(1):29-32 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 14691071]
- 46. Khadjesari Z, Murray E, Kalaitzaki E, White IR, McCambridge J, Thompson SG, et al. Impact and costs of incentives to reduce attrition in online trials: two randomized controlled trials. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(1):e26 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1523] [Medline: 21371988]
- 47. Health and Social care Information Centre. Statistics on Alcohol: England 2013 URL: <u>http://www.hscic.gov.uk/catalogue/</u> PUB10932/alc-eng-2013-rep.pdf [accessed 2014-05-20]
- Bewick BM, West R, Gill J, O'May F, Mulhern B, Barkham M, et al. Providing web-based feedback and social norms information to reduce student alcohol intake: a multisite investigation. J Med Internet Res 2010;12(5):e59 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1461] [Medline: 21169171]
- 49. Patton R, Deluca P, Kaner E, Newbury-Birch D, Phillips T, Drummond C. Alcohol screening and brief intervention for adolescents: the how, what and where of reducing alcohol consumption and related harm among young people. Alcohol Alcohol 2014;49(2):207-212 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/alcalc/agt165] [Medline: 24232178]

Abbreviations

AUDIT: Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test eSBI: electronic screening and brief intervention MCV: mean corpuscular volume NIHR: National Institute for Health Research SBI: screening and brief intervention SIGN: Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network

http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/

XSL·FO RenderX J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.19 (page number not for citation purposes)

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 19.12.13; peer-reviewed by P Wallace, P Bendtsen; comments to author 11.02.14; revised version received 26.03.14; accepted 28.04.14; published 02.06.14 <u>Please cite as:</u> Donoghue K, Patton R, Phillips T, Deluca P, Drummond C The Effectiveness of Electronic Screening and Brief Intervention for Reducing Levels of Alcohol Consumption: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis J Med Internet Res 2014; 16(6):e142 URL: http://www.jmir.org/2014/6/e142/ doi:10.2196/jmir.3103 PMID:24892426

©Kim Donoghue, Robert Patton, Thomas Phillips, Paolo Deluca, Colin Drummond. Originally published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research (http://www.jmir.org), 02.06.2014. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in the Journal of Medical Internet Research, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://www.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



J Med Internet Res 2014 | vol. 16 | iss. 6 | e142 | p.20 (page number not for citation purposes) Reproduced from Donoghue *et al.*⁶² © 2016 Society for Adolescent Health and Medicine. All rights reserved. Reprinted from Journal of Adolescent Health, vol. 60, Donoghue K, Rose H, Boniface S, Deluca P, Coulton S, Alam MF, *et al.* Alcohol consumption, early-onset drinking, and health-related consequences in adolescents presenting at emergency departments in England pp. 438–446, 2017, with permission from Elsevier.

Journal of Adolescent Health 60 (2017) 438-446



Original article

Alcohol Consumption, Early-Onset Drinking, and Health-Related Consequences in Adolescents Presenting at Emergency Departments in England



Kim Donoghue, Ph.D.^{a,*}, Hannah Rose^a, Sadie Boniface, Ph.D.^a, Paolo Deluca, Ph.D.^a, Simon Coulton, M.Sc.^b, Mohammed Fasihul Alam, Ph.D.^c, Eilish Gilvarry, F.R.C.Psych.^d, Eileen Kaner, Ph.D.^e, Ellen Lynch, Ph.D.^e, Ian Maconochie, Ph.D.^f, Paul McArdle, F.R.C.Psych.^g, Ruth McGovern, Ph.D.^e, Dorothy Newbury-Birch, Ph.D.^h, Robert Patton, Ph.D.ⁱ, Ceri J. Phillips, Ph.D.^j, Thomas Phillips, M.Sc.^{a,k}, Ian Russell, D.Sc.¹, John Strang, M.D.^a, and Colin Drummond, M.D.^a

^a National Addiction Centre, Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, London, United Kingdom

- ^b Centre for Health Services Studies, University of Kent, Canterbury, Kent, United Kingdom
- ^c Public Health Department, College of Health Sciences, Qatar University, Doha, Qatar
- ^d Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust, Newcastle, United Kingdom ^e Institute of Health and Society, Newcastle University, Newcastle, United Kingdom
- ^fPaediatric Emergency Medicine, Imperial College London, United Kingdom
- ^g Health Economics and Policy Research Unit, University of South Wales, Pontypridd, United Kingdom
- ^h School of Health and Social Care, Teesside University, Middlesbrough, United Kingdom
- ¹School of Psychology, University of Surrey, Guildford, United Kingdom
- ^j Swansea Centre for Health Economics, College of Human and Health Sciences, Swansea University, Swansea, United Kingdom
- ^k Humber NHS Foundation Trust, Willerby, United Kingdom
- ¹Swansea University Medical School, Swansea, United Kingdom

Article history: Received May 3, 2016; Accepted November 16, 2016 Keywords: Alcohol use; Social functioning; Adolescents; Emergency department; Health

ABSTRACT

Purpose: Globally, alcohol use is the leading cause of ill health and life years lost in adolescents, although its clinical impact is often overlooked, particularly in England where most research is based in schools. This study aims to examine the prevalence of alcohol consumption and the association between alcohol consumption and age of onset with health and social consequences among adolescents presenting to emergency departments (EDs).

IMPLICATIONS AND CONTRIBUTION

Alcohol consumption and earlier onset of drinking are associated with poorer health and social functioning. The emergency

Disclaimer: The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR, or the Department of Health.

* Address correspondence to: Kim Donoghue, Ph.D., Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology and Neuroscience, King's College London, National Addictions Centre, Addictions Department, Addiction Sciences Building, 4 Windsor Walk, London SE5 8BB, United Kingdom.

E-mail address: kim.donoghue@kcl.ac.uk (K. Donoghue).

1054-139X/ \otimes 2016 Society for Adolescent Health and Medicine. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.11.017

Conflicts of Interest: J.S. is a research and clinician who has worked with a range of types of treatment and rehabilitation service-providers. J.S. is supported by the National Institute for Health Research (MHR) Biomedical Research Centre for Mental Health at South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London. He has also worked with a range of governmental and nongovernmental organizations and with pharmaceutical companies to seek to identify new or improved treatments from whom he and his employer (King's College London) have received honoraria, travel costs, and/or consultancy payments. This includes work with, during past 3 years, Martindale, Reckitt-Benckiser/Indivior, MundiPharma, Braeburn/MedPace and trial medication supply from iGen. His employer (King's College London) has registered intellectual property on a novel buccal naloxone formulation, and he has also been named in a patent registration by a pharma company as inventor of a concentrated nasal naloxone spray. (For a fuller account, see J.S.'s Web page at http://www.kla.cu.kl/ioppn/depts/addictions/people/hod.aspx.) C.D. is partly funded by the NIHR Biomedical Research Centre for Mental Health at South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London and partly funded by the NIHR Collaborations for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care South London at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. T.P. is funded by an NIHR Clinical Doctoral Research Fellowship. H.R. is in receipt of the PhD studentships from the Society for the Study of Addiction and Alcohol Research und XI. is a research and NIHR School of Public Health Research as part of Fuse, a UKCRC Centre of Excellence in Translation Public Health Research. The other authors have no conflicts of interest to report.

Methods: Consecutive attenders (n = 5,576) aged 10–17 years at 10 EDs were included. Information was collected on general health and functioning, quality of life, alcohol use, and alcohol-related health and social consequences.

Results: Nearly 40% of adolescents reported the consumption of alcohol that was more than a sip in their lifetime. Age of the first alcohol consumption before the age of 15 years was associated with tobacco use (p < .001), lower quality of life (p = .003), and evidence of an alcohol use disorder (p = .002). It was also associated with general social functioning (problems with conduct p = .001 and hyperactivity p = .001) and alcohol-related health and social consequences (accident p = .046, problems with a parent p = .017, school p = .0117, or police p = .012).

Conclusions: Rates of alcohol consumption in adolescents presenting to the ED were similar to those reported in schools in England and globally. Associations of alcohol consumption and earlier onset of drinking with poorer health and social functioning were observed. The ED can offer an opportunity for the identification of hazardous alcohol use in adolescents.

© 2016 Society for Adolescent Health and Medicine. All rights reserved.

Adolescence is a critical period of development during which, the initiation and continuing use of alcohol may have detrimental consequences for the young person [1]. Several adverse health and social consequences of alcohol use in young people are widely reported in research and health policy including an increase in depressive feelings, increased sexual risk taking, lower educational performance, difficulties in maintaining relationships with peers and friends, and an increased vulnerability to becoming a victim of crime [2]. The European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs (ESPAD) in 40 countries reported at least 70% of students aged 15-16 years having had alcohol in their lifetime [3]. A survey conducted in schools in England of adolescents aged 11-15 years found that 38% of those aged 11-15 years had consumed alcohol in their lifetime [4]. Worldwide, alcohol is the largest single risk factor for incident Disability-Adjusted Life-Years (7%) in adolescents aged 10-24 years [5]. Although it is difficult to establish causality of alcohol use in adolescents and social and behavioral problems, several studies have shown earlier consumption is associated with alcohol-related problems in later life [6-12]. A recent review recommended further research to establish the value of later onset in drinking when establishing drinking guidelines in adolescence [13].

Previous research examining the association between alcohol use and health and social consequences in adolescents has generally taken place in the context of the school in England, but the accuracy of this picture may be incomplete owing to the absence of those most vulnerable, who may be missed by school surveys through truancy or sickness at the time of the survey [14]. The current research aims to examine the prevalence of alcohol consumption and the association between alcohol consumption and age of onset of alcohol consumption with health and social consequences among adolescents presenting at hospital emergency departments (EDs) in England.

Methods

Participants

This research forms part of the SIPS (Screening and Intervention Programme for Sensible Drinking) Junior research program [15]. Data collection took place between December 18, 2012, and May 31, 2015. Participants were aged between their 10th and 18th birthdays attending 1 of 10 participating EDs across England: North East, Yorkshire and Humber, and London. The participating EDs were geographically spread across England covering both rural and urban populations. To be eligible for inclusion in the research, the participant had to be alert and orientated and able to speak sufficient English to complete the research assessments. Participants were not eligible for inclusion if they had a severe injury, were suffering from a serious mental health problem, and were grossly intoxicated; this was determined by ED staff. Participants were also not eligible to take part if they, their parent, or guardian were unable or unwilling to provide informed consent to take part. The present study included the data for those participants reporting that they had consumed any alcohol in their lifetime. The study received ethical approval from National Health Service Research Ethics Committee London-Camden and Islington 12/LO/0799, ISRCTN: 45300218.

Procedure

After clearance by ED staff, a researcher approached consecutive ED attenders meeting the study criteria between 8 A.M. and midnight. All potential participants, and their parents or guardians where applicable, were given written information about the study and informed that the information disclosed to researchers about the use of alcohol would be kept confidential and not passed to the parent or guardian or ED staff without prior consent of the participant. For those participants aged <16 years and unaccompanied by a parent or guardian, Gillick competencies were assessed by a member of ED staff when taking informed consent for participation [16]. Those participants aged 16 or 17 years provided informed consent for themselves.

Participants completed the study questionnaires independently in a private area of the ED; the researcher was available in case clarification of questions or help with the iPad was required. The study data were anonymized and collected using an electronic tablet device, with the exception of the timeline followback questionnaires, which were manually completed with the researcher. A £5 gift voucher was given to all participants to thank them for their time. All young people participating in the study were also given age-appropriate material containing information on alcohol and local services or help lines providing further support.

department offers an opportunity for the identification of hazardous alcohol use in adolescents.

124

K. Donoghue et al. / Journal of Adolescent Health 60 (2017) 438-446

Measures

Supplementary Figure 1 illustrates the flow of research questions. Demographics including age, gender, and ethnicity were collected for all participants as was information on general health behaviors and lifestyle including tobacco smoking. Health-related quality of life was assessed using the Kidscreen [17], a 10-item generic health-related quality-of-life measure with established validity and reliability in this population. Behavioral and emotional functioning was measured using the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire [18,19] (SDQ). In addition, several questions related to age-appropriate service use including questions on previous use of health and social services, school attendance, and contact with criminal justice were asked.

Among participants who reported any alcohol consumption, the age of the first consumption in years was recorded using a single question [How old were you when you had your first drink of alcohol (beer, cider, alcopops wine etc)?], and further questions on whether they had used alcohol in the past 3 months and the past 24 hours were asked (see Supplementary Figure 1). In addition, all participants who had ever drunk alcohol were asked question 19 ("experienced alcohol intoxication in their lifetime?") and question 21 ("personal experience of alcohol?") of the ESPAD [3]. Further questions were included to assess the feasibility of conducting a future alcohol intervention study [15] including whether the participant would like further information or advice about alcohol and whether they would be willing to participate in an intervention and follow up study if offered.

Those participants who indicated that they had consumed alcohol that was "more than a sip" in the past 3 months were asked additional alcohol-specific questions. Hazardous alcohol use and alcohol abuse and dependence were assessed using the three-item Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test [20] (AUDIT-C) and the alcohol section of the Mini International Neuropsychiatric Interview for Children and Adolescents [21] (MINIKID). Quantity of alcohol consumed in the past 90 days was derived from the Timeline Follow-Back Form 90 [22] (TLFB) and converted to standard units where 1 unit was the equivalent of 8 g of pure ethanol. The AUDIT has been validated in adolescent populations in the ED in the United States [23,24]. As part of the current program of research, the shorter, 3-question AUDIT-C was validated with a cutoff of 3. The TLFB has been validated for use in this population [25-27]. Perceived consequences (physical fight, accident/injury, severe problem with parents, severe problem with friends, performing poorly at school, victimized by robbery or theft, trouble with the police, hospitalized or admitted to the emergency department, engaged in sexual intercourse with no condom, engaged in sexual intercourse that was regretted the next day) of alcohol consumption were assessed by ESPAD question 22 "Because of your own alcohol use, how often during the last 12 months have you experienced the following?" (Supplementary Table 1).

Statistical analyses

Logistic regression was used to examine the relationship between demographics (age, gender, and ethnicity) and measures of health and social functioning as predicted variables and whether a participant had consumed alcohol in the previous 3 months as a predictor variable. Logistic, linear, or multinomial regression analysis was undertaken to explore the relationship between alcohol consumption in the previous 90 days and



Figure 1. Percentage of participants who have had a drink of alcohol that was more than a sip in their life by current age.

psychological and social problems. Age, gender, and ethnicity were included in the analysis with total alcohol consumed (in standard UK units) in the previous 90 days as the predictor variable. Alcohol consumption was transformed taking the natural logarithms to ameliorate its non-normal distribution. The scores for the SDQ were transformed into a categorical scale (normal, borderline, and abnormal) using the original threeband categorization cutoffs. Alcohol-related consequences (measured using ESPAD), tobacco use, MINIKID diagnosis, SDQ domains, and quality of life (measured using the Kidscreen) were included as predicted variables. There is a reciprocal relationship between alcohol and behavioral and emotional functioning, whereby alcohol may result in problems with functioning or problems with functioning may lead to alcohol use. This relationship is difficult to disentangle. To demonstrate this, linear regression analyses were performed with alcohol consumption as the predicted variable and SDO, Kidscreen, and tobacco use as individual predictors taking into consideration age, gender, and ethnicity. The results of these analyses are presented in Supplementary Table 2.

Regression analysis was also used to explore the relationship between age of the first drink of alcohol and psychological and social problems in participants aged 16 or 17 years. Current UK drinking guidelines recommend an alcohol-free childhood and that young people choosing to consume alcohol should not do so until age 15 years, not exceeding adult daily unit recommendations, not drink more than once a week [28]. To reflect these guidelines, only those aged 16 or 17 years were included in the analysis of time of onset of alcohol consumption. Consumption in the previous 90 days (transformed by taking the logarithms), gender, and ethnicity were covariates in the analysis with age of the first alcohol consumption (two categories, aged <15 and >15 years) as the predictor variable. Those variables that showed a relationship that was significant at the 20% level were included as predicted variables.

Results

A total of 5,376 participants consented to take part in the research. Of these, 2,112 (39.5%) reported having had a drink of alcohol that was more than a sip in their lifetime; Figure 1 presents a breakdown by age. The mean age of those who took part in the research was 13 years (SD 2.07); proportions of males and

K. Donoghue et al. / Journal of Adolescent Health 60 (2017) 438-446

Table 1

Overview of study sample and regression analysis to explore the relationship between demographics and measures of general health and social functioning and the consumption of alcohol in the previous 3 months

	Whole sample (N = 5,376)	No alcohol in the past 3 months (N = 3,960)	Consumed alcohol in the past 3 months $(N = 1,374)$	Odds of having consumed alcohol in the past 3 months
Age, mean (SD)	13.28 (2.074)	12.65 (1.850)	15.12 (1.511)	OR = 2.147, <i>p</i> <.001, 95% CI = 2.050–2.248
Gender, n (%) ^a				
Male	2,869 (53.8)	2,183 (55.1)	686 (49.9)	k
Female	2,465 (46.2)	1,777 (44.9)	688 (50.1)	OR = 1.232, p = .001, 95% CI = 1.090–1.393
Ethnicity, n (%) ^b				
Other	1,396 (27.4)	1,215 (32.1)	181 (13.8)	k
White	3,699 (72.6)	2,565 (67.9)	1,134 (86.2)	OR = 2.968, <i>p</i> < .001, 95% CI = 2.501–3.521
Tobacco, n (%) ^c				
No	4,846 (91.1)	3,843 (97.36)	1,003 (73.2)	ĸ
Yes	476 (8.9)	108 (2.7)	368 (26.8)	OR = 13.056, <i>p</i> < .001, 95% CI = 10.420–16.357
Emotion scale, n (%) ^{d,j}				
Normal	4,556 (86.9)	3,442 (87.4)	1,114 (85.6)	ĸ
Borderline	284 (5.4)	211 (5.4)	73 (5.6)	OR = 1.069, p = .634, 95% CI = .812–1.407
Abnormal	400 (7.6)	285 (7.2)	115 (8.8)	OR = 1.247, p = .057, 95% CI = .994–1.56
Conduct scale, n (%) ^{e,j}				
Normal	1,404 (78.6)	3,082 (78.7)	1,022 (78.3)	k
Borderline	519 (9.9)	382 (9.8)	137 (10.5)	OR = 1.082, p = .459, 95% CI = .879–1.331
Abnormal	600 (11.5)	453 (11.6)	147 (11.3)	OR = .979, p = .831, 95% CI = .802–1.194
Hyperactivity scale, n (%) ^{f,j}				
Normal	3,919 (74.9)	2,941 (74.9)	978 (75.2)	k
Borderline	495 (9.5)	380 (9.7)	115 (8.8)	OR = .910, p = .403, 95% CI = .730–1.135
Abnormal	815 (15.6)	608 (15.5)	207 (15.9)	OR = 1.024, p = .790, 95% CI = .861–1.218
Peer scale, n (%) ^{g,j}				
Normal	4,471 (85.5)	3,393 (86.4)	1,078 (82.7)	k
Borderline	584 (11.2)	413 (10.5)	171 (13.1)	OR = .303, p = .007, 95% CI = 1.077–1.577
Abnormal	175 (3.3)	121 (3.1)	54 (4.1)	OR = 1.405, p = .042, 95% CI = 1.012–1.950
Prosocial scale, n (%) ^{h,j}				
Normal	4,704 (89.6)	3,639 (92.3)	1,065 (81.5)	k
Borderline	328 (6.2)	204 (5.2)	124 (9.5)	OR = 2.077, <i>p</i> < .001, 95% CI = 1.6452.623
Abnormal	218 (4.2)	101 (2.6)	117 (9.0)	OR = 3.958, <i>p</i> < .001, 95% CI = 3.007–5.210
Quality of life, mean (SD) ⁱ	42.92 (5.32)	43.58 (5.03)	40.92 (5.66)	OR = .906, $p < .001$, 95% Cl = .894–.918

Number of participants with missing data. CI = confidence interval: OR = odds ratio.

a 1.

^b 245.

° 25.

^d 112.

^e 129.

^f 124.

^g 122.

^h 102.

ⁱ 25.

Derived from the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire.

^k Reference group.

females were roughly even, but a greater proportion of participants were white compared to other ethnicities (Table 1).

A total of 1,374 (25.6% of the whole sample) reported drinking more than a sip of alcohol in the previous 3 months. The average age of the first alcoholic drink was 12.9 (standard deviation = 2.19), ranging from 5 to 17 years of age (17 was the upper limit for inclusion in this study). Alcohol consumption in the previous 3 months was associated with older age, being female, white, and having smoked tobacco. In addition, those who had consumed alcohol within the previous 3 months were more likely to report a lower quality of life and to have peer and social problems. Supplementary Table 1 presents the descriptive data on demographics, general social functioning, and quality of life for those who had consumed alcohol in the previous 3 months.

The results of the regression analysis found that total alcohol consumed in the previous 90-day period was associated with tobacco use, lower quality of life, poorer general social functioning (conduct and hyperactivity), and ESPAD questions on health and social problems (Table 2).

Further regression analysis investigated the association between age of the first alcohol consumption and psychological and social problems. Only participants aged 16 or 17 years who had consumed alcohol in the past 3 months were included in this analysis (10% of the total study sample, 44% of those who had consumed alcohol in the past 3 months). Variables that did not show an association with alcohol use were excluded from the analysis. Supplementary Table 3 gives an overview of the subsample.

Table 3 presents the results of the regression analysis. Consumption of alcohol before the age of 15 years was associated with an increased risk of a number of health and social problems. These included a greater risk of smoking tobacco and a diagnosis of an alcohol use disorder as indicated by the MINIKIDS. Consumption of alcohol before the age of 15 years was also

441

K. Donoghue et al. / Journal of Adolescent Health 60 (2017) 438–446

Table 2

Regression analysis for the association between alcohol consumption (timeline follow-back) and psychological and social problems

Variable	β	Odds ratio	р	95% Confidence interval
Tobacco ^a				
No	0	1.0		
Yes	.640	1.897	<.001	1.670, 2.155
Emotion ^{b,d}				
Normal	0	1.0		
Borderline	015	.893	.985	.787, 1.231
Abnormal	.057	1.059	.523	.889, 1.261
Conduct ^{b,d}				
Normal	0	1.0		
Borderline	.235	1.265	.005	1.074, 1.490
Abnormal	.270	1.309	.001	1.115, 1.538
Hyperactivity	0	1.0		
Normal	0	1.102	065	000 1 413
Abaarmal	.107	1.182	.065	.990, 1.412
ADHOITHAI Door ^{b,d}	.195	1.212	.006	1.057, 1.591
Normal	0	1.0		
Borderline	003	1.003	971	866 1 167
Abnormal	158	1 171	213	913 1 501
Prosocial ^{b,d}	.150	1.171	.215	.515, 1.501
Normal	0	1.0		
Borderline	.087	1.091	.332	.915, 1.300
Abnormal	.076	1.079	.404	.902. 1.291
Ouality of life ^{c,e}	537		<.001	802,271
Alcohol measures				
AUDIT-C ^a				
Score <3		1.0		
Score ≥ 3	0047	.954	.505	.830, 1.096
MINIKID ^a				
No diagnosis	0	1.0		
Diagnosis	1.049	2.855	<.001	2.388, 3.414
Physical fight ^{a,t}				
No	0	1.0		
Yes	.880	2.410	<.001	1.998, 2.907
Accident				
No	0	1.0		1 707 0 070
Yes	.709	2.032	<.001	1./3/, 2.3/8
No	0	1.0		
No	024	2.510	< 001	2 0 2 0 2 1 1 2
Serious problem with friends ^{a,f}	.524	2.519	5.001	2.055, 5.112
No	0	10		
Yes	633	1.883	< 001	1 601 2 214
Performed poorly at school ^{a,f}	.055	1.005		1.001, 2.211
No	0			
Yes	.625	1.869	<.001	1.520, 2.298
Victimized by robbery or theft ^{a,f}				
No	0	1.0		
Yes	.576	1.778	<.001	1.493, 2.118
Trouble with the police ^{a,f}				
No	0	1.0		
Yes	.850	2.340	<.001	1.877, 2.918
Emergency admission ^{a,r}				
No	0	1.0		
Yes	.765	2.150	<.001	1.765, 2.618
Engaged in sexual intercourse w	ith no condom"."	1.0		
NO	0	1.0	< 001	1 022 2 624
Yes Engaged in convertintersectory	./8/	2.197	<.001	1.833, 2.634
No	na regretteu it the next day	10		
Ves	781	2 183	< 001	1 803 2 644
100		2.103	.501	1000, 20011

After adjusting for age, gender and ethnicity as covariates. p Values given in bold were statistically significant at the 5% level. OR = odds ratio.

^a Logistic regression.

^a Logistic regression.
 ^b Multinomial regression.
 ^c Linear regression.
 ^d Derived from the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire.

^e Kidscreen.

^f European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs.

K. Donoghue et al. / Journal of Adolescent Health 60 (2017) 438-446

Table 3

Regression analysis of whether age of alcohol onset was <15 years on psychological and social problems—in respondents aged 16 and 17 years

Variable	β	Odds ratio	р	95% Confidence interval	
Tobacco ^a					
No	0	1.0			
Yes	1.039	2.827	<.001	1.861-4.295	
Conduct ^{b,d}					
Normal	0	1.0			
Borderline	.944	2.569	.014	1.209-5.461	
Abnormal	1.523	4.588	.001	1.841-11.433	
Hyperactivity ^{b,d}					
Normal	0	1.0			
Borderline	.359	1.431	.322	.704-2.910	
Abnormal	.977	2.657	.001	1.462-4.830	
Quality of life ^{c,e}	1 591		.003	562-2 620	
MINIKID ^a	1001				
No diagnosis	0	10			
Diagnosis	~ 903	2 467	002	1 379-4 414	
Physical fight ^{a,f}	.505	2.107	.002	1.575 1.111	
No	0	1.0			
Vec	683	1.0	073	938-4 174	
Accident ^{a,f}	.000	1.373	.075	.958-4.174	
No	0	1.0			
No	0 E01	1.0	046	1 010 2 222	
fes	.591	1.807	.040	1.010-5.252	
Serious problem with parents	0	1.0			
NO No.	1 500	1.0	017	1 202 15 420	
Yes	1.500	4.483	.017	1.303-15.426	
Serious problem with friends.	0	1.0			
No	0	1.0			
Yes	.089	1.093	./68	.606-1.972	
Performed poorly at school ^{a,}					
No	0	1.0			
Yes	1.332	3.789	.017	1.266-11.344	
Victimized by robbery or theft ^{a,1}					
No	0	1.0			
Yes	.280	1.324	.434	.655–2.673	
Trouble with the police ^{a,t}					
No	0	1.0			
Yes	2.605	13.526	.012	1.785-102.481	
Hospitalized or admitted to an emergency room ^{a,f}					
No	0	1.0			
Yes	.389	1.475	.350	.653-3.335	
Engaged in sexual intercourse with no condom ^{a,f}					
No	0	1.0			
Yes	.550	1.733	.074	.949-3.166	
Engaged in sexual intercourse and regretted it the next day ^{0,f}					
No	0	1.0			
Yes	.434	1.543	.210	.783-3.043	

After adjusting for gender, ethnicity and alcohol consumption (timeline follow-back) as covariates.

p Values given in bold were statistically significant at the 5% level.

^a Logistic regression.

^b Multinomial regression.

^c Linear regression.
 ^d Derived from the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire.

^e Kidscreen.

^f European School Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs.

associated with a greater risk of experiencing conduct and hyperactivity problems and more alcohol-related social problems including having an accident, problems with a parent, school problems, and experiencing problems with the police.

Discussion

Nearly 40% of the adolescents presenting to the ED in England reported that they had had a drink of alcohol that was more than a sip in their lifetime. Rates of consumption increased considerably with age raging from just 4% for those aged 10 to 90% for those aged 17 years. Comparable rates of lifetime alcohol consumption have been found in school surveys. A recent survey conducted in schools in England reported that 38% of those aged 11—15 years had consumed alcohol in their lifetime; the present study found a lifetime consumption rate of 34% among those of the same age [4]. In older adolescents (aged 15—16 years), the ESPAD study reported an average lifetime consumption rate across 40 countries of 70%; in the same age group, this study found a lifetime alcohol consumption rate of 71%.

Among adolescents who had consumed alcohol in the past 3 months, 15.8% of drinkers screened positive for harmful alcohol use (three or more on the AUDIT-C) and 15% screening positive for alcohol abuse or dependence (using MINIKID). The prevalence of a diagnosis of alcohol abuse or dependence was considerably higher among participants who started drinking before the age of 15 years, with almost 1 in 3 meeting the criteria for alcohol abuse or dependence. Participants were less

K. Donoghue et al. / Journal of Adolescent Health 60 (2017) 438-446

likely to report parent and school problems compared to young drinkers in the ESPAD 2011 survey of school pupils in Europe [3]. However, they were more likely to have reported experiencing an accident or injury, been a victim of robbery or theft, or been hospitalized or admitted to an emergency room as a result of their own alcohol consumption. It is possible that at least in part these risk behaviors reflect the underlying "behavioral disinhibition" reported to characterize young people who use substances [29]. This may lead to young people being at a greater risk of alcohol use and a series of other risk behaviors.

Regression analysis (Table 3) showed that higher alcohol consumption in the past 90 days (from the TLFB) was associated with increased odds of all the negative consequences of alcohol consumption studied (from ESPAD). Heavier drinking was also associated with smoking, worse quality of life, and conduct and hyperactivity problems on the SDQ, as well as alcohol use disorders and alcohol abuse. Earlier onset of drinking (under 15 years) was associated with increased odds of 4 of the 10 ESPAD alcohol consequences studied, as well as smoking, worse quality of life, and conduct and hyperactivity problems on the SDQ, and also alcohol use disorders and alcohol abuse (Table 3). This study clearly shows an association between earlier alcohol consumption and harm in adolescents, but it remains to be established whether this persists into adulthood [9]. A large birth cohort study found that around half of the adolescents studied who were exposed to drugs or alcohol before the age of 15 years had no history of conduct disorder, but they were still at an increased risk of behavioral and social problems in adulthood [10]. Although the results of the present study do not establish causality, effective interventions to reduce alcohol consumption in this population could potentially mitigate the negative consequences related to alcohol that are experienced from a young age in this group.

It is difficult to establish the direction of causality relationship between alcohol consumption and emotional and behavioral functioning, with little consensus being reached in the literature [10,11]. We investigated this association with two sets of linear regressions: one with alcohol consumption as the predicted variable and one with consumption as the predictor. Similar results were found for both analyses (Supplementary Table 2). The relatively high rates of self-report "abnormal" hyperactivity and conduct problems, which are related to behavioral disinhibition and seen as developmental symptoms that generally appear early in life, and their continuing predictive power in regression analyses would tend to support the view that these young people had differed from their peers before drinking alcohol. The adolescent manifestation of behavioral disinhibition depends on environmental factors such as high or low availability of alcohol and other substances. However, the odds ratios (ORs) associated with hyperactivity and conduct problems were relatively weak compared to the predictive power of most of the ESPAD social and behavioral "consequences" of alcohol. This suggests that even among a group at generally high risk for social and behavioral problems, early alcohol use and greater alcohol consumption add considerably to risk.

This is the first study to investigate the prevalence of alcohol consumption and the relationship with emotional and behavioral problems and alcohol-related harms in adolescents presenting to the ED in England. The strengths of this study include the large sample size, the wide age range of non-alcohol treatment-seeking adolescents studied, and the broad spread of study across 10 EDs across England. Fieldwork took place over several months every day of the week and from 8 A.M. to midnight, so our findings are a good indication of the prevalence of alcohol use disorders in this population. Most of the evidence on alcohol screening and brief intervention in young people comes from a school setting and older adolescents. However, as this study identified a high prevalence of alcohol use disorders in adolescents attending EDs, we suggest this setting is a relevant one for research on alcohol screening in young people. The questionnaire asked participants about a comprehensive range of alcohol measures (TLFB, Beverage Specific Quantities and Frequencies, AUDIT, MINIKIDS, and the ESPAD questions on intoxication), which will be explored fully in a separate article. Use of technology to collect data was successful in this study, and it is known that technology shows promise as a tool to deliver interventions [30].

This study does have some limitations. Those with a severe injury or mental health problem were excluded from participating due to ethical reasons. The association between alcohol and severe injury and mental health problems has been well established; therefore, excluding these participants may have introduced bias. Many of the measures used (such as TLFB) were initially developed for adults, although some have also been validated for use in this population (e.g., the TLFB) [21,25-27]. Some of the questions about alcohol consequences (e.g., ESPAD) are usually asked about the past 12 months; however, in the present study, these questions were only asked of participants who drank alcohol in the past 3 months. Some of the outcomes measured may have been experienced among less recent drinkers (or nondrinkers), and these may not have been captured, especially as at a young age, drinking patterns are often infrequent or irregular [31]. This suggests that questions routinely used to measure drinking in young people may not be sufficiently detailed. Data on those eligible participants who declined to take part were not collected; this is a potential source of bias that was not investigated. Finally, for some of the less common outcomes studied, there was a small sample size in some subgroups and resulting ORs should be interpreted with caution (e.g., the OR of 13.5 for early onset and involvement with the police).

It is possible that the self-completion nature of the survey and the study setting may have biased our estimates. There is evidence to suggest that self-reported measures of alcohol consumption are reliable with importance placed on factors such as privacy, confidentiality, and completion of questionnaires electronically [32-34]. Focus groups were held with members of a national youth organization to explore young people's views of answering questions about alcohol in the ED. Anonymous selfcompletion of the questionnaires on an electronic tablet device was perceived as highly confidential and secure by the members of the national youth organization. To minimize bias in the current research, study questionnaires were self-completed using an electronic tablet device in a private area of the ED, and confidentiality was assured. A further limitation of the current research may be the potential recall bias for the age of the first alcohol use, this variable only asked for adolescents to recall the first time they had a drink of alcohol. Forward telescoping may occur where participants recall the age of the first consumption closer to their current age, and this is more common in infrequent drinkers [35]. There is some debate in the literature regarding the importance of "sips" of alcohol [35]; however, a recent study called for greater importance to be placed on "sips'

K. Donoghue et al. / Journal of Adolescent Health 60 (2017) 438-446

when considering the association between alcohol consumption and health and social consequences [36].

Current UK drinking guidelines recommend an alcohol-free childhood and that young people choosing to consume alcohol should not do so until age \geq 15 years, and if they drink, it should not exceed adult recommendations and should not drink more than one occasion per week [28]. Our study supports this but also shows a similar prevalence of hazardous drinking among participants who started drinking at age \geq 15 years (Supplementary Table 3); therefore, the risks of drinking are not restricted to those with an early onset. Future studies should explore how the risks associated with drinking alcohol vary by age of onset in more detail.

A high prevalence of alcohol use disorders among adolescents presenting at EDs in England was identified in this study. Associations between alcohol consumption and earlier onset of drinking and negative consequences of drinking (as measured by the ESPAD questions) and poorer health and functioning were also observed. This study found ED waiting rooms a source of willing research participants, and this context may also represent a teachable moment to change young people's behavior using either face-to-face or electronic interventions [31,37,38]. The ED also has a high level of staff expertise who are well placed to initiate safeguarding procedures where required and who provide a good point of onward referral to specialist services. The possibility of conducting alcohol screening among adolescents presenting at the ED in England should be investigated, and the potential for providing interventions to help reduce alcohol consumption in this population and setting established [15,39].

Acknowledgments

This study presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Programme Grants for Applied Research (RP-PG-0609-10162).

Supplementary Data

Supplementary data related to this article can be found at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2016.11.017.

References

- [1] Degenhardt L, Chiu WT, Sampson N, et al. Toward a global view of alcohol, tobacco, cannabis, and cocaine use: Findings from the WHO World mental health surveys. Plos Med 2008;7:e141.
- Newbury-Birch D, Gilvarry E, McArdle P, et al. Impact of alcohol con-sumption on young people: A review of reviews. Department for Children, Schools and Families; 2009. DCSF-RR067.
- [3] Hibell B, Guttormsson U, Ahstom S, et al. European school survey Project on alcohol and other drugs; substance Use among students in 36 European countries (ESPAD). 2011. Available at: http://www.ias.org.uk/uploads/pdf/ Used action and an another action and action action and action acti Underage%20drinking%20docs/The 2011 ESPAD Report FULL 2012 10 9.pdf. Accessed January 3, 2017.
- [4] Health and Social Care Information Centre. Smoking, drinking and drug use among young people in England in 2014. Available at: http://www.hscid uk/catalogue/PUB17879/smok-drin-drug-youn-peop-eng-2014-rep.pdf. Accessed January 3, 2017.
- [5] Gore FM, Bloem PJN, Patton GC, et al. Global burden of disease in young people aged 10-24: A systematic analysis. Lancet 2011;377:2093–102.
 [6] Baird AA, Gruber SA, Fein DA, et al. Functional magnetic resonance imaging
- of facial affect recognition in children and adolescents. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 1999;38:195—9.
- Grant BF, Stinson FS, Harford TC. Age at onset of alcohol use and DSM-IV alcohol abuse and dependence: A 12-year follow-up, J Subst Abuse 2001; 13:493-504.

- [8] DeWit DJ, Adalf EM, Offord DR, Ogborne AC. Age at first alcohol use: A risk factor for the development of alcohol disorders. Am J Psychiatry 2000;5 745-50
- Hingson RW, Hingson RW, Edwards EM, et al. Age of drinking onset and [9] injuries, motor vehicle crashes, and physical fights after drinking and when not drinking. Alcohol Clinl Exp Res 2009;33:783–90.
- Guttmannova K, Bailey JA, Hill KG, et al. Sensitive periods for adolescent [10] alcohol use initiation: Predicting the lifetime occurrence and chronicity of alcohol problems in adulthood. J Stud Alcohol Drugs 2011;72:221-31.
- Odgers CL, Caspi A, Nagin DS, et al. Is it important to prevent early expo-sure to drugs and alcohol among adolescents? Psychol Sci 2008;19: [11] 1037-44.
- [12] Armstrong TD, Costello EJ. Community studies on adolescent substance use, abuse, or dependence and psychiatric comorbidity. J Consult Clin Psych 2002;70:1224–39.
- [13] Maimaris W, McCambridge J. Age of first drinking and adult alcohol Problems: Systematic review of prospective cohort studies. J Epidemiol Community Health 2014;68:268–74.
- [14] Newbury-Birch D. Scott S. O'Donnell A, et al. A pilot feasibility cluster randomised controlled trial of screening and brief alcohol intervention to prevent hazardous drinking in young people aged 14 15 years in a high school setting (SIPS JR-HIGH). Pub Health Res 2014:2:6.
- [15] Deluca P, Coulton S, Alam MF, et al. Linked randomised controlled trials of
- [15] Deluca P, Coulton S, Alam MF, et al. Linked randomised controlled thats of face-to-face and electronic brief intervention methods to prevent alcohol related harm in young people aged 14–17 years presenting to Emergency Departments (SIPS junior). BMC Pub Health 2015;15:345.
 [16] Gillick v West Norfolk & Wisbech Area Health Authority [1985] UKHL 7 (October 17, 1985) from the British and Irish Legal Information Institute (BAILII) website. http://www.bailii.org/uk/cases/UKHL/1985/7 html. Accessed Lanuary 3 2017. .html. Accessed January 3, 2017.
- Ravens-Sieberer U, Erhart M, Rajmil L, et al. Reliability, construct and cri-terion validity of the KIDSCREEN-10 score: A short measure for children and adolescents' well-being and health-related quality of life. Qual Life Res 2010:10:1487-500.
- [18] Goodman R, Scott S. Comparing the strengths and difficulties questionnaire and the Child Behavior Checklist: Is small beautiful? J Abnorm Child Psych 1999;27:17–24.
- [19] Muris P, Meesters C, Eijkelenboom A, Vincken M. The self-report version of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: Its psychometric properties in 8-to 13-year-old non-clinical children. Br J Clin Psychol 2004;43:437–48.
- Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Babor TF, et al. Development of the alcohol use disorders identification test (AUDIT). WHO collaborative project on early [20] detection of persons with harmful alcohol consumption-II. Addiction 1993; 88:791-804
- [21] Sheehan DV, Sheehan KH, Shytle RD, et al. Reliability and validity of the mini international neuropsychiatric interview for children and adolescents (MINI-KID). J Clin Psychiatry 2010;71:313—26.
- [22] Sobell L, Sobell M. Time-line follow back: A technique for assessing self-reported alcohol consumption. In: Litten R, Allen J, eds. Measuring Alcohol Consumption: Psychosocial and Biological Methods. New York: Humana Press; 1992:41–72.
- [23] Chung T, Colby SM, Barnett NP, et al. Screening adolescents for problem drinking: Performance of brief screens against DSM-IV alcohol diagnos Stud Alcohol 2000;61:579–87.
- Kelly TM, Donovan JE, Kinnane JM, Taylor DM. A comparison of alcohol screening instruments among under-aged drinkers treated in Emergency Departments. Alcohol Alcohol 2002;37:444–50. Barrett H, Slesnick N, Brody JL, et al. Treatment outcomes for adolescent substance abuse at 4-and 7-month assessments. J Consult Clin Psych 2001; Consol 42. [24]
- [25] 69:802-13
- [26] Brown SA, Tapert SF, Tate SR, Abrantes AM. The role of alcohol in adolescent relapse and outcome. J Psychoactive Drugs 2000;32:107–15. [27] Donohue B, Azrin NH, Strada MJ, et al. Psychometric evaluation of self-and
- collateral timeline follow-back reports of drug and alcohol use in a sample of drug-abusing and conduct-disordered adolescents and their parents. Psychol Addict Behav 2004;18:184–9.
- [28] Donaldson L. Guidance on Consumption of alcohol by children and young people. 2009. Available at: http://www.cph.org.uk/wp-content/uploads 2013/09/Guidance-on-the-consumption-of-alcohol-by-children-and-young people.pdf. Accessed January 3, 2017.
- [29] Young SE, Friedman NP, Miyake A, et al. Behavioural disinhibition—liability for externalising spectrum disorders and its genetic an environmental relation to response inhibition across adolescence. J Abn Psychol 2009;118:
- [30] Donoghue K, Patton R, Phillips T, et al. The effectiveness of electronic screening and brief intervention for reducing levels of alcohol consumption: A systematic review and meta-analysis. | Med Internet Res 2014;16:e142.
- Patton R, DeLuca P, Kaner E, et al. Alcohol screening and brief intervention [31] for adolescents: The how, what and where of reducing alcohol consump-tion and related harm among young people. Alcohol Alcohol 2014;49: 7-12

K. Donoghue et al. / Journal of Adolescent Health 60 (2017) 438-446

- [32] Donovan JE, Leech SL, Zucker RA, et al. Really underage drinkers: Alcohol use among elementary students. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 2004;28: 341 - 9
- [36] Jackson KM, Colby SM, Barnett PB, Abar CC. Prevalence and correlates of sipping alcohol in a prospective middle school sample. Psychol Addict Behav 2015;29:766–78. [37] Williams S, Touquet R, Patton R. The half-life of the "teachable moment" for
- [33] Smith GT, McCarthy DM, Goldman MS. Self-reported drinking and alcohol-[35] Shifti Gr, McCatthy DM, Godmin MS. Self-Ported dimining and acohor-related problems among adolescents: Dimensionality and validity over 24 months. J Stud Alcohol 1995;56:383–94.
 [34] Babor TF, Stephens RS, Marlatt GA. Verbal report methods in clinical research on alcoholism: Response bias and its minimization. J Stud Alcohol 1097;48:410–24.
- 1987;48:410-24.
- [35] Kuntsche E, Rossow I, Engels R, Kuntsche S. Is "age at first drink" a useful concept in alcohol research and prevention? We doubt that. Addiction 2016;111:957-65.
- alcohol misusing patients in the emergency department. Drug Alcohol Depen 2005;77:205–8. [38]
- Yuma-Guerrero PJ, Lawson KA, Velasquez MM, et al. Screening, brief intervention and referral for alcohol use in adolescents: A systematic re-
- [39] Cunningham RC, Chermack ST, Ehrlich SF, et al. Alcohol interventions among underage drinkers in the ED: A randomized controlled trial. Pediatrics 2015;136:e783-9.

Reproduced from Patton et al.¹⁰² © The Author 2013. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the Medical Council on Alcohol. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact journals.permissions@oup.com.

Alcohol and Alcoholism Vol. 49, No. 2, pp. 207-212, 2014 Advance Access Publication 13 November 2013

doi: 10.1093/alcalc/agt165

Alcohol Screening and Brief Intervention for Adolescents: The How, What and Where of Reducing Alcohol Consumption and Related Harm Among Young People

Robert Patton^{1,*}, Paolo Deluca¹, Eileen Kaner², Dorothy Newbury-Birch², Thomas Phillips^{1,3} and Colin Drummond¹

¹Addictions Department, National Addiction Centre, Institute of Psychiatry, King's College London, 4 Windsor Walk, London SE5 8BB, UK, ²Institute of Health and Society, Newcastle University, Newcastle NE2 4AX, UK and ³Humber NHS Foundation Trust, Willerby, UK *Corresponding author: Addictions Department, National Addiction Centre, Institute of Psychiatry, King's College London, 4 Windsor Walk, London SE5 8BB, UK

Abstract — Aim: The aim of the study was to explore the evidence base on alcohol screening and brief intervention for adolescents to determine age appropriate screening tools, effective brief interventions and appropriate locations to undertake these activities. Methods: A review of existing reviews (2003–2013) and a systematic review of recent research not included in earlier reviews. Results: The CRAFFT and AUDIT tools are recommended for identification of 'at risk' adolescents. Motivational interventions delivered over one or more sessions and based in health care or educational settings are effective at reducing levels of consumption and alcohol-related harm. Conclusion: Further research to develop age appropriate screening tools needs to be undertaken. Screening and brief intervention activity should be undertaken in settings where young people are likely to present; further assessment at such venues as paediatric emergency departments, sexual health clinics and youth offending teams should be evaluated. The use of electronic (web/smart-phone based) screening and intervention shows promise and should also be the focus of future research.

INTRODUCTION

Alcohol is a major global threat to public health (Ofori-Adjei et al., 2007). The World Health Organization (WHO) reports that alcohol consumption is related to 3.2% of mortality worldwide (Rehm et al., 2003), while in Europe alcohol accounted for 6.5% of deaths and 11.6% of disability adjusted life years in 2004 (Rehm et al., 2009). Although the main burden of chronic alcohol-related disease is in adults, its foundations often lie in adolescence (Bellis et al., 2009). The latest ESPAD survey of alcohol use among 14-15-year olds in 36 European countries found that 87% reported lifetime alcohol use, with 57% consuming alcohol on one or more occasion in the previous month (Hibell et al., 2011). ESPAD found considerable variation in the levels of youth alcohol consumption between countries, with adolescents in the UK and Nordic countries drinking three times more than in Southern and Eastern Europe. Rates of youth alcohol use are lower in the USA than in Europe, with 70% of 18-year olds reporting lifetime alcohol use, and 33% in the preceding month (Johnston et al., 2011). While the proportion of young people in England aged 11-15 years who reported that they have drunk alcohol decreased from 62 to 45% between 1988 and 2011, the mean amount consumed approximately doubled (from 6.4 to 10.4 units of alcohol per week) between 1994 and 2011 (Fuller, 2012). In England there has been a rapid increase in regular alcohol consumption during school-aged years, with 1% of 11 years reporting weekly alcohol consumption compared with 28% of those aged 15 years of age (Fuller, 2012). Adolescents in the UK are now among the heaviest drinkers in Europe (Hibbell et al., 2009).

Alcohol consumption and related harm increase steeply from the ages of 12-20 years (NHS Information Centre, 2008). In early adolescence alcohol use and alcohol use disorders (AUDs-alcohol abuse/harmful alcohol use and alcohol dependence) are relatively uncommon. But, alcohol has a disproportionately adverse effect on younger adolescents, for example, possibly predisposing them to damage the developing brain (Zeigler et al., 2005), to develop alcohol dependence

in later life (Dawson et al., 2008; Hingson and Zha, 2009) and increasing risk of disability (Sidorchuk et al., 2012). In middle adolescence (ages 15-17 years) binge drinking (single occasion consumption leading to intoxication) emerges. Binge drinking is associated with increased risk of unprotected/ regretted sexual activity (Windle and Windle, 2004; Hibbell et al., 2009, 2011), criminal and disorderly behaviour (Department of Health, 2007; Hibbell et al., 2009), suicide and deliberate self-harm (McCloud et al., 2004), injury (Hibbell et al., 2009), drink driving or allowing oneself to be carried by a drink driver (Bukstein and Kaminer, 1994), alcohol poisoning (Rehm et al., 2003) and accidental death (Thunstrom, 1988).

A review of national guidelines on consumption to limit alcohol-related harms (Furtwaengler and de Visser, 2013) found a lack of consensus between countries. Several nations had no official guidance on levels of consumption; others had a wide variety of definitions of a 'standard drink' (ranging from 8 g ethanol to 14 g). Actual guidance provided ranged from 20 to 56 g/day for males and 10 to 42 g/day for females. There are no specific guidelines for alcohol consumption among young people. In 2009 the Chief Medical Officer (CMO) for England provided recommendations (Donaldson, 2009) on alcohol consumption for young people based on an evidence review (Newbury-Birch et al., 2009). The CMO advises that children should abstain before age 15 years and also suggests 15 to 17-year olds should not consume alcohol, but if they do drink, it should be no more than 3-4 units (24-32 g) and 2-3 units (16-24 g) per week in males and females, respectively, on an occasional basis.

Over the past 15 years the WHO, the US Surgeon General, the American Medical Association, and the American Academy of Paediatrics have called for practitioners to carry out screening and brief interventions (SBI) for adolescent drinkers (Elster and Kuznets, 1994; Committee on Substance Abuse, 2001; World Health Organisation, 2006; NIAAA, 2007). The alcohol strategies in both England and Scotland identify adolescents as a key target group in which to reduce alcohol consumption and related harm (Department of Health,

© The Author 2013. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the Medical Council on Alcohol. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs licence (http://creativecommons org/icenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/), which permits non-commercial reproduction and distribution of the work, in any medium, provided the original work is not altered or transformed in any way, and that the work is properly cited. For commercial re-use, please contact journals.permissions@oup.com findings as an earlier meta-analysis by Carey *et al.* (2012) that compared e-BI with more traditional face-to-face (F2F) delivery of interventions concluded that F2F is superior (Carey *et al.*, 2012).

BIs based on one or two sessions of motivational interviewing (MI) that lasted between 20 and 45 min have been studies in an adolescent population (Monti et al., 1999, 2007; Peterson et al., 2006; D'Amico et al., 2008; Schaus et al., 2009). Delivery of these interventions was carried out by a range of trained professionals including physicians, nurse practitioners, psychologists, addiction clinicians and youth workers. One trial tested a more intensive programme of four MI sessions during a 1-month period (Bailey et al., 2004). Two studies used information technology to deliver BI, one involving the use of an audio programme in primary care clinics (Boekeloo et al., 2004) and the other an interactive computer programme in a minor injury unit (Maio et al., 2005). The length of follow-up ranged from 2 to 12 months. Overall, the loss to final follow-up evaluations was low (0-20%), although D'Amico et al. (2008) reported that 34% of their study population were lost to follow-up. MI is more effective when delivered across a series of sessions, rather than as a one-off intervention; the 2012 review by Carney and Myers (2012) included nine studies of MI in adolescent populations, concluding that individual interventions across multiple sessions had the strongest effect.

There have been several reviews of more intensive psychosocial interventions for adolescent AUDs (Williams and Chang, 2000; Deas and Thomas, 2001; Hser et al., 2001; Perepletchikova et al., 2008; Deas and Clark, 2009). Interventions have included behavioural and cognitivebehavioural therapies, motivational enhancement therapy (MET), contingency management and 12-step approaches (based on the principles of Alcoholics Anonymous). Family based interventions such as Multi Systemic Therapy and Multi Dimensional Family Therapy have been recommended by NICE for alcohol misusing adolescents with more complex needs (NICE, 2011); however, these are beyond the scope of this review. Interpretation of this literature is complicated because most studies examine comorbid drug and AUDs rather than AUD alone, and a wide age range from 12 to 18 years, and sometimes up to 25 years. Of these psychosocial approaches, MET shows promise as a treatment intervention for AUD in adolescents (Marlatt et al., 1998; Kaminer and Burleson, 1999; Dennis et al., 2004; McCambridge and Strang, 2004). MET has yet to be studied as a more intensive intervention in the context of a stepped care approach.

WHERE IS THE BEST PLACE TO DELIVER THESE INTERVENTIONS?

A systematic review of brief alcohol interventions in young people attending health settings identified eight randomized controlled trials between 1999 and 2008 (Jackson et al., 2009). Seven were based in the USA (Monti et al., 1999; Boekeloo et al., 2004; Spirito et al., 2004; Maio et al., 2005; Peterson et al., 2006; D'Amico et al., 2008), and one in Australia (Bailey et al., 2004). Subsequently, a further trial based in a US student health centre was published in 2009 (Schaus et al., 2009). Study population sizes range from 34 to 655, and ages ranged from 12 to 24 years. Three trials targeted socioeconomically disadvantaged groups where drug and alcohol misuse were more prevalent (Bailey et al., 2004; Peterson et al., 2006; D'Amico et al., 2008). Four trials were based in ED in order to maximize the 'teachable moment' (Williams et al., 2005) in which the connection between alcohol consumption and its adverse consequences can be more readily highlighted (Monti et al., 1999, 2007; Spirito et al., 2004; Maio et al., 2005). Two studies recruited adolescents in a primary care setting during routine general checkups (Boekeloo et al., 2004; D'Amico et al, 2008) and one in a university health centre (Schaus et al., 2009). The remaining trials targeted homeless youth (Peterson et al., 2006) and those attending a youth centre that delivered health services (Bailey et al., 2004). An earlier review of BIs in health settings (Jackson et al., 2009) was based on eight Randomised Controlled Trials (RCTs) (mostly MI focused) conducted between 1999 and 2008, of which five reported positive effects upon consumption and related harms.

Opportunistic alcohol screening and brief intervention in emergency departments (ED) have shown efficacy in adolescents (Monti et al., 1999, 2007; Spirito et al., 2004), with evidence of cost effectiveness in adults (Barrett et al., 2006). One systematic review has explored BI delivered in ED settings (Yuma-Guerrero et al., 2012). Of the seven RCTs identified, six of these employed a MI based intervention, and of these, half demonstrated significant reductions in alcohol consumption and consequences for the MI groups. Six of the seven studies reported positive treatment effects in all arms of the trials. To date no trials have been undertaken in paediatric ED settings; however, one programme of research is currently underway (SIPS Junior). The effectiveness of MI for this population had been previously reported by Wachtel and Staniford (2010) in a general review of effective interventions for adolescents (Wachtel and Staniford, 2010).

Study	Focus	Population	Intervention	Conclusion
Gmel et al. (2012)	Schools based	5633 pupils 13–16 years	MI based	Intervention was ineffective
Winters et al. (2012)	Schools based	315 pupils 12–18 years	MI based	Intervention groups had significant reduction in alcohol use
Segatto et al. (2011)	ED based	175 patients 16–25 years	MI based	No significant differences in outcomes between groups. All groups reduced consumption
Walton <i>et al.</i> (2010)	ED based	726 patients 14–18 years	e-BI vs. therapist delivered BI (both MI based)	Both active interventions reduced alcohol consequences
Bernstein et al. (2010)	ED based	853 patients 14–21 years	MI based vs. information only	Significant increase in attempts to stop drinking in MI group. Consumption reduced in both groups.

209

Patton et al.

Most studies of schools based interventions have focused upon primary prevention aimed at children prior to the onset of alcohol use, and are therefore beyond the scope of this review. Two published RCTs describe the effect of MI on children identified as current alcohol users; both report significant impact on alcohol use (Winters and Leitten, 2007; Winters et al., 2012). Gmel et al. (2012) reported borderline significant effects for MI on reduced levels of consumption, concluding that the intervention was ineffective. These findings should be interpreted with caution, however, as a recent critical review (Pape, 2009) reminds us to question the reliability of published reports of effectiveness in this setting. Calabria et al. (2011) reviewed interventions delivered outside of educational settings but were unable to identify any one approach that demonstrated superior impact.

DISCUSSION

With 12% of 11–15 year olds drinking weekly (Fuller, 2012) and at least in the UK a fall in the age of onset of many alcohol-related harms such as alcohol liver disease (NCEPOD, 2013) there is a need to develop public health measures to tackle adolescent drinking. Recent systematic reviews (NICE, 2007, 2010) have not identified validated screening instruments that could be easily introduced across settings to accurately detect alcohol misuse use in younger adolescents (10-14 years old), who are more vulnerable to alcohol-related harms. In the absence of sensitive instruments to detect alcohol misuse in this age group, there is a risk of defining alcohol misuse in young people through the incidence of gross intoxication or hospital admissions due to alcohol poisoning, which might miss a proportion who could potentially benefit from alcohol intervention.

Greater accuracy in determining the level of need for alcohol misuse in adolescence will support the broader implementation of public health measures at a national and local level, as well as identify those individuals who may benefit from specific interventions. Screening methods that are sensitive to the developmental stage of the adolescent should be tested to maximize opportunities for intervention. Alcohol screening has been mostly studied in older adolescents and young adults of college age (18-24 years). Therefore the validity of alcohol screening methods in younger adolescents is unclear. Questionnaires such as the AUDIT may be too lengthy (10 items) to incorporate into busy settings pointing to the need for briefer tools for use in routine clinical practice.

Increasing engagement in screening particularly with younger adolescents might result from using computer screening and interviewing adolescents confidentially, separately from parents (Ford et al., 1997; Gregor et al., 2003). Screening is perhaps the most important element of SBI-reactivity to assessment has an impact upon outcome and screening itself may be the briefest of BIs-and yet no single screening instrument has been identified that reliably determines a young person's risk status. It is likely that no single cut-off on any screening instrument will suit the broad age range encompassed by adolescence, and that lower thresholds for AUDs for younger age groups will be required. Research to develop to refine existing tools by establishing concordance with Time Line Follow Back data should be a priority.

Most of the published research on brief alcohol interventions for adolescents has been set in mainly acute medical and ED or educational settings. Other care interfaces (such as sexual health clinics, adolescent mental health services or Youth Offending Teams) should be considered as potential settings for both identification of AUDs and the delivery of BIs.

Based upon the reviews to date and the RCTs undertaken from 2010 onwards, MI/MET approaches appear to be associated with reductions in alcohol consumption and related harms, with health settings proving to be a promising location for such programmes. e-BIs (computer, web and phone based) offer both effective and cost effective delivery of interventions across settings that may prove to be more acceptable to the target population than more traditional (F2F) approaches, yet the most effective mechanism for e-BI is less apparent-the utilization of 'smart-phone' technology may add both function and credibility to interventions; however, their usefulness in this context remains untested, with several clinical trials currently underway.

This brief review of reviews and recent RCTs suggests that despite an increasing interest in applying screening and brief interventions to an adolescent population, there are no clear indications of which target population, setting, screening tool or intervention approach can be recommended. The relationship between age, alcohol consumption and harm is complex and further research is required in order to establish guidelines for consumption and thresholds of harm for different age groups.

Funding - Funding to pay the Open Access publication charges for this article was provided by Kings College Londor

Conflict of interest statement. None declared.

REFERENCES

- Bailey KA, Baker AL, Webster RA et al. (2004) Pilot randomized controlled trial of a brief alcohol intervention group for adolescents. Drug Alcohol Rev 23:157-66.
- Barrett B, Byford S, Crawford M et al. (2006) Cost-effectiveness of screening and referral to an alcohol health worker in alcohol misusing patients attending an accident and emergency department: a decision-making approach. *Drug Alcohol Depend* **81**:47–54. Bellis MA, Phillips-Howard PA, Hughes K *et al.* (2009) Teenage drinking, alcohol availability and pricing: a cross-sectional study
- of risk and protective factors for alcohol-related harms in school children. BMC Public Health 9:380.
- Bernstein J, Heeren T, Edward E et al. (2010) A brief motivational interview in a pediatric emergency department, plus 10-day tele-phone follow-up, increases attempts to quit drinking among youth and young adults who screen positive for problematic drinking. Acad Emerg Med 17:890–902
- Boekeloo BO, Jerry J, Lee-Ougo WI et al. (2004) Randomized trial of brief office-based interventions to reduce adolescent alcohol
- use. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* **158**:635–42. Bukstein O, Kaminer Y. (1994) The nosology of adolescent substance-abuse. *Am J Addict* **3**:1–13.
- Calabria B, Shakeshaft AP, Havard A. (2011) A systematic and methodological review of interventions for young people experiencing alcohol-related harm. *Addiction* **106**:1406–18.
- Carey KB, Henson JA, Carey MP et al. (2007) Which heavy drinking college students benefit from a brief motivational intervention? J Consult Clin Psychol 75:663-9
- Carey KB, Scott-Sheldon LA, Elliott JC et al. (2012) Face-to-face versus computer-delivered alcohol interventions for college

Patton et al.

2007; Scottish Government, 2013). However, while there has been an increase in SBI activity in relation to adults presenting to health care providers, adolescents remain a neglected group.

BRIEF INTERVENTION FOR ADOLESCENTS

The term brief intervention (BI) encompasses a range of therapeutic processes from advice to extended counselling, and typically is delivered in short sessions on one or more occasions. A number of trials focusing upon young people (aged 12-21) have reported significant positive effects of BI on a range of alcohol consumption measures (Monti et al., 1999, 2007; Bailey et al., 2004; Schaus et al., 2009; Bernstein et al., 2010; Walton et al., 2010). Walton et al. (2010) noted that BI reduced alcohol-related harms, and Bernstein et al. (2010) found significant reductions in alcohol consumption compared with 'information only' controls. Bailey et al. (2004) found that BI participants showed increased readiness to reduce alcohol consumption, an initial reduction in alcohol consumption, and an improvement in knowledge regarding alcohol and related problems compared with the control condition. Researchers from the USA have also reported reductions in blood alcohol concentration, number of drinks per week and risk-taking behaviour (Schaus et al., 2009). Monti et al. (1999) concluded that BI subjects were less likely to drink and drive or experience alcohol-related injury than controls, although both treatment groups significantly reduced their alcohol consumption. A subsequent trial conducted by the same research group (Monti et al., 2007) reported that alcohol consumption was also significantly decreased in both BI and control groups. Spirito et al. (2004) found a significant reduction in alcohol consumption at follow-up in both BI and control groups. However, adolescents who screened positive for alcohol problems at baseline reported more changes after BI than controls. Three trials reported null effects after BI (Maio et al., 2005; Peterson et al., 2006; D'Amico et al., 2008). One trial that used an audio-taped programme with 12 to 17-year-old adolescents (Boekeloo et al., 2004) reported an increase in alcohol use and binge drinking among BI subjects, although it should be noted that in this age group one would expect increase in uptake of drinking, so this does not necessarily represent an adverse effect, but rather potentially a lack of effect. There has been a lack of consensus regarding the most effective components of effective interventions. Therefore we conducted a brief review of reviews (and recent trials) to identify screening methods, types and settings for interventions applied to adolescent populations that are effective in reducing alcohol consumption and related harms.

METHOD

We conducted a review of reviews based upon publications from 2003 to 2013. A search of electronic databases (PubMed, Web of Science) was undertaken using the terms <alcohol>, <intervention> and <adolescent>. Search terms were expanded to include variations on these themes, and review papers were identified and summarized (Carey *et al.*, 2007; Deas, 2008; Lemstra *et al.*, 2010; Wachtel and Staniford, 2010; Calabria *et al.*, 2011; Jackson *et al.*, 2011; Carney and Myers, 2012; Haug *et al.*, 2012; Mitchell *et al.*, 2013; Yuma-Guerrero *et al.*, 2012; Champion *et al.*, 2013; Newton *et al.*, 2013; Pilowsky and Wu, 2013). We defined adolescent as aged 10–21 years. Any studies of alcohol screening and brief intervention for adolescents that were not included in any of the published systematic reviews were identified and included in this review (Bernstein *et al.*, 2010; Walton *et al.*, 2010; Segatto *et al.*, 2011; Gmel *et al.*, 2012; Winters *et al.*, 2012) (Table 1). Studies that focused upon primary prevention of alcohol use were excluded from this review.

HOW TO IDENTIFY ADOLESCENTS WHO DRINK

Various alcohol screening methods have been developed in the USA but have not been evaluated in the UK. Pilowsky and Wu (2013) reviewed screening instruments used in primary care settings, concluding that the CRAFFT had the most consistent data to support its use for older adolescents (15-18 years) in this setting; however, research comparing brief screening methods with more in-depth measures (such as the Time Line Follow Back) was limited. An earlier systematic review of alcohol screening and brief interventions in young people across a wider range of settings for both adolescents (age 10-17 years) and adults (aged over 18 years), conducted for the English National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) (Jackson et al., 2009), reviewed 51 studies of alcohol screening. Questionnaires were found to perform better than blood markers or breath alcohol concentration in all age groups. In adolescents, the AUDIT questionnaire (Saunders et al., 1993) was found to have greater sensitivity and specificity than other questionnaires (including CAGE, TWEAK, CRAFFT, RAPS4-QF, FAST, RUFT-Cut and POSIT). AUDIT sensitivities for adolescents range from 54 to 87% and specificities from 65 to 97% (Clark and Moss, 2010): the majority of the findings were at the lower end of the range of sensitivity and specificity and are therefore suboptimal for effective screening. Electronic or computerized screening is becoming more widely used and has proved to be an effective and acceptable method of identifying 'at risk' adolescents (Pilowsky and Wu, 2013).

Several shortcomings of existing alcohol screening methods for adolescents have been identified (Clark and Moss, 2010). Existing approaches do not sufficiently take account of age and developmental stage of adolescents. Any alcohol consumption may be of concern in younger adolescents, whereas identification of AUDs is more relevant in the older adolescent.

WHAT INTERVENTIONS ARE EFFECTIVE?

A number of reviews on effective interventions for adolescents identified as being in need of help or advice about their drinking have now been published; the most recent of these have focused upon the use of internet, computer and mobile phone technologies, collectively referred to as electronic brief interventions (e-BIs). These reviews present limited evidence that e-BI significantly reduces alcohol consumption compared with minimal or no intervention controls (Champion *et al.*, 2013; Mitchell *et al.*, 2013; Newton *et al.*, 2013). However some caution should be exercised when interpreting these

Alcohol screening and brief intervention for adolescents

drinkers: a meta-analytic review, 1998 to 2010. Clin Psychol Rev **32**:690–703.

- Carney T, Myers B. (2012) Effectiveness of early interventions for substance-using adolescents: findings from a systematic review and meta-analysis. Subst Abuse Treat Prev Policy 7:25
- Champion KE, Newton NC, Barrett EL et al. (2013) A systematic review of school-based alcohol and other drug prevention programs facilitated by computers or the Internet. Drug Alcohol Rev 32:115-23.
- Clark DB, Moss HB. (2010) Providing alcohol-related screening and brief interventions to adolescents through health care systems: obstacles and solutions. PLOS Med 7:e1000214
- Committee on Substance Abuse. (2001) Alcohol use and abuse: a pediatric concern. *Pediatrics* **108**:185–9.
- D'Amico E, Miles JNV, Stern SA et al. (2008) Brief motivational interviewing for teens at risk of substance use consequences: a randomized pilot study in a primary care clinic. J Subst Abuse Treat 35:53-61.
- Dawson DA, Goldstein RB, Chou SP *et al.* (2008) Age at first drink and the first incidence of adult-onset DSM-IV alcohol use disorders. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 32:2149-60.
- Deas D. (2008) Evidence-based treatments for alcohol use disorders in adolescents. Pediatrics 121:S348-54.
- Deas D, Clark A. (2009) Current state of treatment for alcohol and other drug use disorders in adolescents. Alcohol Res Health 32:76-82
- Deas D, Thomas SE. (2001) An overview of controlled studies of adolescent substance abuse treatment. Am J Addict 10:178-89
- Dennis M, Godley SH, Diamond et al. (2004) The Cannabis Youth Treatment (CYT) Study: main findings from two randomized trials. *J Subst Abuse Treat* **27**:197–213.
- Department of Health. (2007) Safe. Sensible. Social. The Next Steps in the National Alcohol Strategy. London: Department of Health.
- Donaldson L. (2009) Guidance on the Consumption of Alcohol by
- Children and Young People. London: Department of Health. Elster A, Kuznets N. (1994) American Medical Association Guidelines for Adolescent Preventative Services (GAPS): Recommendation & Rationale. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins.
- Ford CA, Millstein SG, HalpernFelsher BL et al. (1997) Influence of physician confidentiality assurances on adolescents' willingness to disclose information and seek future health care-a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 278:1029-34.
- Fuller E. (2012) Smoking, Drinking and Drug Use Among Young People in England in 2011. London: NHS Information Centre for Health and Social Care.
- Furtwaengler NA, de Visser RO. (2013) Lack of international consensus in low-risk drinking guidelines. Drug Alcohol Rev 32:11-8
- Gmel G, Venzin V, Marmet K et al. (2012) A quasi-randomized group trial of a brief alcohol intervention on risky single occasion drinking among secondary school students. Int J Public Health 57:935
- Gregor MA, Shope JT, Blow FC et al. (2003) Feasibility of using an interactive laptop program in the emergency department to prevent alcohol misuse among adolescents. Ann Emerg Med **42**:276-84.
- Haug S, Sannemann J, Meyer C et al. (2012) Internet and mobile phone interventions to decrease alcohol consumption and to support smoking cessation in adolescents: a review. Gesundheitswesen 74:160-77.
- Hibbell B, Guttormsson U, Ahlstrom S et al. (2009) The 2007 ESPAD Report: Substance Use among Students in 35 European Countries. Stockholm: European Schools Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs.
- Hibell B, Guttormsson U, Ahlstrom S et al. (2011) Substance Use Among Students in 36 European countries. Stockholm: European Schools Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs. Hingson RW, Zha W. (2009) Age of drinking onset, alcohol use dis-
- orders, frequent heavy drinking, and unintentionally injuring oneself and others after drinking. *Pediatrics* **123**:1477–84.
- Hser YI, Grella CE, Hubbard RL et al. (2001) An evaluation of drug treatments for adolescents in 4 US cities. Arch Gen Psychiatry 58.689-95
- Jackson R, Johnson M, Campbell F et al. (2009) Screening and Brief Interventions for Prevention and Early Identification of Alcohol

Use Disorders in Adults and Young People. University of Sheffield. ScHARR Public Health Collaborating Centre

- Jackson C, Geddes R, Haw S et al. (2011) A systematic review of interventions to prevent or reduce substance use and sexual risk behaviour in young people. J Epidemiol Community Health 65: A427
- Johnston LD, O'Malley PM, Bachman JG et al. (2011) Monitoring the Future National Results on Adolescent Drug Use: Overview of Key Findings. Institute for Social Research. University of Michigan.
- Kaminer Y, Burleson JA. (1999) Psychotherapies for adolescent substance abusers: 15-month follow-up of a pilot study. Am J Addict 8:114-9
- Lemstra M, Bennett N, Nannapaneni U et al. (2010) A systematic review of school-based marijuana and alcohol prevention pro-grams targeting adolescents aged 10–15. Addict Res Theory ĭ8·84–96
- Maio RF, Shope JT, Blow FC et al. (2005) A randomized controlled trial of an emergency department-based interactive computer program to prevent alcohol misuse among injured adolescents. Ann Emerg Med 45:420-9.
- Marlatt GA, Baer JS, Kivlahan DR et al. (1998) Screening and brief Mariat OA, baci 35, Riviatian OB, et al. (1996) Sectoring and one interview of the sector of the sect
- tions of drug-related risk and harm among young people: results from a multi-site cluster randomized trial. *Addiction* **99**:39–52.
- McCloud A, Barnaby B, Omu N et al. (2004) Relationship between alcohol use disorders and suicidality in a psychiatric population— in-patient prevalence study. Br J Psychiatry 184:439–45.
 Mitchell SG, Gryczynski J, O'Grady KE et al. (2013) SBIRT for ado-lescent drug and alcohol use: current status and future directions.
- J Subst Abuse Treat **44**:463–72
- Monti PM, Colby SM, Barnett NP et al. (1999) Brief intervention for harm reduction with alcohol-positive older adolescents in a hos pital emergency department. J Consult Clin Psychol 67:989–94. Monti PM, Barnett NP, Colby SM et al. (2007) Motivational inter-
- viewing versus feedback only in emergency care for young adult problem drinking. Addiction 102:1234-43.
- NCEPOD. (2013) Measuring the Units: A Review of Patients Who Died with Alcohol-Related Liver Disease. London: NCEPOD. Newbury-Birch D, Gilvarry E, McArdle P et al. (2009) Impact of
- Alcohol Consumption on Young People. London: DCSF. Newton AS, Dong K, Mabood N *et al.* (2013) Brief emergency
- department interventions for youth who use alcohol and other drugs: a systematic review. Pediatr Emerg Care 29:673-84
- NHS Information Centre. (2008) Statistics on Alcohol: England 2008. London.
- NIAAA. (2007) The Surgeon Generals Call to Prevent and Reduce Underage Drinking. Rockville, MD: Office of the Surgeon General
- NICE. (2007) PH4: Interventions to Reduce Substance Misuse Among Vulnerable Young People. London. NICE. (2010) Alcohol Use Disorder: Preventing the Development of
- Hazardous and Harmful Drinking. London.
- NICE. (2011) Alcohol Dependence and Harmful Alcohol Use (CG115). London.
- Ofori-Adjei D, Casswell S, Drummond DC. (2007) World Health Organisation Expert Committee on Problems Related to Alcohol Consumption, Second Report, Geneva.
- Pape H. (2009) School-based programmes that seem to work: useful research on substance use prevention or suspicious stories of success? *Nordisk Alkohol Nark* **26**:521–35.
- Perepletchikova F, Krystal JH, Kaufman J. (2008) Practitioner review: adolescent alcohol use disorders: assessment and treat-ment issues. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* **49**:1131–54. Peterson PL, Baer JS, Wells EA *et al.* (2006) Short-term effects
- of a brief motivational intervention to reduce alcohol and drug among homeless adolescents. Psychol Addict Behav 20:254–64
- Pilowsky DJ, Wu LT. (2013) Screening instruments for substance use and brief interventions targeting adolescents in primary care: a literature review. *Addict Behav* **38**:2146–53.

Reproduced from Deluca *et al.*¹²⁴ © Deluca *et al.*; licensee BioMed Central. 2015. This article is published under license to BioMed Central Ltd. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly credited. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

Deluca et al. BMC Public Health (2015) 15:345 DOI 10.1186/s12889-015-1679-4

STUDY PROTOCOL



Open Access

Linked randomised controlled trials of face-to-face and electronic brief intervention methods to prevent alcohol related harm in young people aged 14–17 years presenting to Emergency Departments (SIPS junior)

Paolo Deluca¹, Simon Coulton^{2*}, M Fasihul Alam³, David Cohen⁴, Kim Donoghue¹, Eilish Gilvarry⁵, Eileen Kaner⁶, Ian Maconochie⁷, Paul McArdle⁵, Ruth McGovern⁶, Dorothy Newbury-Birch⁸, Robert Patton⁹, Ceri Phillips³, Thomas Phillips^{10,1}, Ian Russell¹¹, John Strang¹ and Colin Drummond¹

Abstract

Background: Alcohol is a major global threat to public health. Although the main burden of chronic alcohol-related disease is in adults, its foundations often lie in adolescence. Alcohol consumption and related harm increase steeply from the age of 12 until 20 years. Several trials focusing upon young people have reported significant positive effects of brief interventions on a range of alcohol consumption outcomes. A recent review of reviews also suggests that electronic brief interventions (eBIs) using internet and smartphone technologies may markedly reduce alcohol consumption compared with minimal or no intervention controls.

Interventions that target non-drinking youth are known to delay the onset of drinking behaviours. Web based alcohol interventions for adolescents also demonstrate significantly greater reductions in consumption and harm among 'high-risk' drinkers; however changes in risk status at follow-up for non-drinkers or low-risk drinkers have not been assessed in controlled trials of brief alcohol interventions.

Design and methods: The study design comprises two linked randomised controlled trials to evaluate the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of two intervention strategies compared with screening alone. One trial will focus on high-risk adolescent drinkers attending Emergency Departments (Eds) and the other will focus on those identified as low-risk drinkers or abstinent from alcohol but attending the same ED.

Our primary (null) hypothesis is similar for both trials: Personalised Feedback and Brief Advice (PFBA) and Personalised Feedback plus electronic Brief Intervention (eBI) are no more effective than screening alone in alcohol consumed at 12 months after randomisation as measured by the Time-Line Follow-Back 28-day version. Our secondary (null) hypothesis relating to economics states that PFBA and eBI are no more cost-effective than screening alone. In total 1,500 participants will be recruited into the trials, 750 high-risk drinkers and 750 low-risk drinkers or abstainers. Participants will be randomised with equal probability, stratified by centre, to either a screening only control group or one of the two interventions: single session of PFBA or eBI. All participants will be eligible to receive treatment as usual in addition to any trial intervention. Individual participants will be followed up at 6 and 12 months after randomisation.

(Continued on next page)

* Correspondence: S.Coulton@kent.ac.uk ²Centre for Health Services Studies, University of Kent, Canterbury, UK Full list of author information is available at the end of the article



© 2015 Deluca et al.; licensee BioMed Central. This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly credited. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated. (Continued from previous page)

Discussion: The protocol represents an ambitious innovative programme of work addressing alcohol use in the adolescent population.

Trial registration: ISRCTN45300218. Registered 5th July 2014.

Keywords: Adolescents, SBI, eBI, Emergency Department

Background

Alcohol is a major global threat to public health [1]. Although the main burden of chronic alcohol-related disease is in adults, its foundations often lie in adolescence [2]. A recent survey of alcohol use among 14-15 year olds across 36 European countries found that 87% reported lifetime alcohol use, with 57% consuming alcohol on one or more occasion in the previous month [3]. While the proportion of young people in England aged 11-15 years who reported that they have drunk alcohol decreased from 62% to 45% between 1988 and 2011, the mean amount consumed approximately doubled (from 6.4 to 10.4 units of alcohol per week) between 1994 and 2011 [4]. In England there is a rapid increase in alcohol consumption during school years, with 1% of those aged 11 years reporting weekly alcohol consumption compared with 28% of those aged 15 years [4]. Adolescents in the UK are now amongst the heaviest drinkers in Europe [5].

Alcohol consumption and related harm increase steeply from the age of 12 until 20 years [6]. In middle adolescence (ages 15–17 years) binge drinking (single occasion consumption leading to intoxication) often emerges. Binge drinking is associated with increased risk of unprotected or regretted sexual activity [3,5,7], criminal and disorderly behaviour [5,8], suicide and deliberate self-harm [9], injury [5], drink-driving or allowing oneself to be carried by a drinking driver [10], alcohol poisoning [11] and accidental death [12].

Over the past 15 years the World Health Organisation (WHO), the US Surgeon General, the American Medical Association, and the American Academy of Paediatrics have called for practitioners to carry out screening and brief interventions (SBI) for adolescent drinkers [13-16]. The alcohol strategies in both England and Scotland identify adolescents as a key target group in whom to reduce alcohol consumption and related harm [8,17]. However, while there has been an increase in SBI activity in relation to adults presenting to health care providers, adolescents remain a neglected group.

The term Brief Intervention (BI) encompasses a range of therapeutic processes from advice to extended counselling, and typically is delivered in short sessions on one or more occasion. A number of trials focusing upon young people (aged 12 - 21) have reported significant positive effects of brief interventions on a range of alcohol consumption measures [18-23]. Our recent review of reviews suggests that internet and smartphone delivered BIs (eBI) can significantly reduce alcohol consumption compared with minimal or no intervention controls, and have the added advantage of being more acceptable and easier to implement than more traditional face-to-face interventions [24,25]. Our recently completed study of the prevalence of risky drinking among an adolescent population (aged 10-17 years) found that about 1 in 4 young people presenting to Emergency Departments (EDs) were consuming three or more drinks on one or more occasion over the preceding month, and that this level of consumption was associated with increased physical, social and educational adverse consequences. We also observed a steep transition in drinking prevalence between 13 and 16 years of age.

Several school-based interventions that target nondrinking youths have been found to delay the onset of drinking behaviours [26] and a recent study of adolescents found lower rates of substance misuse initiation among those exposed to a web-based intervention [27]. Web-based alcohol interventions for adolescents also demonstrated significantly greater reductions in consumption and harm among 'high-risk' drinkers [28]; however changes in risk status at follow up for non-drinkers or low-risk drinkers have not been assessed in any well controlled trials of BI. Therefore our proposed work will assess both primary outcomes (delayed onset) and secondary outcomes (reduction of consumption and associated harms in those already drinking at a high level) among a population of adolescents.

Recruitment of both 'high-risk' and 'low-risk' drinkers will have the additional benefit of addressing a major concern among both young people and parents that participation in a trial of this nature may suggest that the participant is drinking at a level that warrants concern and intervention. Young people interviewed as part of this process indicated that they would prefer to take part in a trial if there was no implication that they had an "alcohol problem" and were assured that information about their drinking would not be disclosed to parents or healthcare staff.

Thus we shall conduct two linked trials that will include both high-risk and low-risk drinkers and abstainers, informing them that the study seeks to prevent alcoholrelated harm in young people. In addition embedded within the proposed study is an internal feasibility study conducted prior to proceeding to the main trial.

Objectives of the study

Two linked randomised controlled trials will be conducted. Both trials will evaluate the effectiveness and costeffectiveness of BI intervention strategies compared with screening alone. One trial will focus on high-risk adolescent drinkers attending Emergency Departments and the other will focus on those identified as low-risk or abstinent from alcohol. In both trials our primary outcome measure will be quantity of alcohol consumed at 12 months after randomisation.

Secondary objectives for each study include:

- To identify key predictors of recruitment to the trials.
- To explore the process of treatment through key psychological constructs that may lead to further refinement of the proposed interventions.
- To identify prognostic factors that improve outcome.
- To explore interactions between participant factors, setting factors, treatment allocation and outcomes.

Our primary (null) hypothesis is similar for both trials: Personalised Feedback and Brief Advice (PFBA) and Personalised Feedback plus electronic Brief Intervention (eBI) are no more effective than screening alone in reducing alcohol consumed at 12 months after randomisation measured by the Time-Line Follow-Back 28-day version. Our secondary (null) hypothesis relating to economics states that PFBA and eBI are no more cost-effective than screening alone.

Methods

The linked trials have been granted ethical approval by the National Research Ethics Service London – Fulham (ref: 14/LO/0721). The linked trials comply with the Declaration of Helsinki and Good Clinical Practice. Full flow diagrams for the studies are shown in Figure 1.

Both trials begin with a randomised internal pilot study to check that the process of recruitment, screening and intervention is effective and does not adversely affect the ED environment. If that pilot is successful, two linked prospective individually randomised controlled trials will be conducted using a similar design, measures and interventions with 6 and 12 months follow up.

Study settings and participants

The trial will be carried out in 10 EDs across three regions of England: North East, Yorkshire and Humberside, and London. Data collection will be carried out from 10 am to 10 pm seven days per week over a six-month period. During these hours of screening consecutive ED attenders between their 14th and 18th birthdays who meet the inclusion criteria but none of the exclusion criteria will be approached by a researcher and invited to participate in the study once cleared by ED staff to do so.

Eligibility criteria

Inclusion and exclusion criteria have been chosen to maintain a balance between ensuring the sample is representative of the ED population whilst able to engage with both the relevant interventions and follow up.

Inclusion criteria for participants: aged between 14 and 17 years; alert and orientated; able to speak English sufficiently well to complete the research assessment; resident within 20 miles of the ED; able and willing to provide informed consent to screening, intervention and follow-up; if under 16 years, are 'Gillick competent' or have a parent or guardian able and willing to provide informed consent; and own a smartphone or alternatively having access to the internet at home.

Exclusion criteria for participants: severe injury; suffering from serious mental health problem; gross intoxication; specialist services involved because of social or psychological



needs; receiving treatment for an alcohol or substance use disorder within the past 6 months; or current participation in other alcohol-related research.

Those who meet the inclusion criteria, fail no exclusion criterion, and score 3 or more on the screening questionnaire – Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test: Consumption (AUDIT-C) – are eligible for the high-risk study; those who score less are eligible for the low-risk study.

Consent procedure

The study will be introduced to patients, and their parents or guardians if they are aged less than 16 years, as a study about alcohol, lifestyle and health with the focus on preventing alcohol-related harm in all young people attending ED irrespective of their alcohol consumption. Patients attending ED without their parent or guardian will also be approached to take part if ED staff have confirmed that they are 'Gillick competent'.

The study will be first introduced by ED staff and then explained in more detail by research staff orally and in writing using the Patient Information Sheet (PIS). If the patient is under the age of 16 years and accompanied by a parent or guardian, the parent or guardian will also receive the PIS. Patients, and parents or guardians if applicable, will have up to 4 hours to ask any questions about the study and to decide whether or not to take part. To obtain the most valid selfreport data patients will be told as part of the informed consent procedure that their answers, including alcohol consumption, will not be disclosed to their parent or guardian or the ED staff without their consent.

If patients agree to participate, informed consent will be collected using an electronic device (iPad) overseen by a research assistant who will also introduce and deliver the allocated intervention to each patient in a private area of the ED. Consent to participate will include permission to give the patient's data and contact details to the research staff, and provide the research team with access to the patient's ED records, and to participate in follow up 6 and 12 months after recruitment.

Screening and baseline assessment

After consent has been given, by parent or guardian if appropriate, the participant will complete a screening and baseline assessment. All participants scoring 3 or more on the AUDIT-C questionnaire (high-risk drinkers) will be randomised between three groups – two intervention groups and the control group receiving screening alone. Of those scoring less than 3 on the AUDIT-C (low-risk drinkers or abstainers) one in three will be randomly selected to continue with the study and then randomised between three analogous groups. Participants who score less than 3 but are not selected for the study will be

thanked for their participation, given a $\pounds 5$ voucher and returned to the care of ED staff.

The screening and baseline assessment includes demographic information and contact details, health and lifestyle questions, the AUDIT-C [29], questions 19, 21 and 22 from the European School survey Project on Alcohol and other Drugs (ESPAD) [5], the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire [30], the EQ-5D-5 L [31], and a short service use questionnaire [32]. This takes approximately 10 minutes to complete.

To simplify and enhance data collection we have developed an electronic interface which will only show relevant questions to participants. To maximise completion rates this interface uses an attractive graphic interface. Participants can skip questions or withdraw consent at any stage of the process. All of the instruments have been designed and validated for those aged 14 to 17. The screening and baseline assessment will be conducted by trained researchers with experience of working with adolescents; all researchers will have completed enhanced Disclosure and Barring Service checks in advance. All information given by participants will be treated in confidence.

In total 1,500 participants will be recruited into the trials, 750 high-risk alcohol users and 750 low-risk alcohol users. Participants will be randomized with equal probability, stratified by centre, between a screening only control group and one of the two interventions – a single session of facetoface Personalised Feedback and Brief Advice (PFBA) or Personalised Feedback plus a smartphone or web-based brief intervention (eBI). All participants will be eligible to receive treatment as usual in addition to any trial intervention.

Planned interventions

Screening only group – Treatment as Usual

After completing the baseline assessment, participants in the screening arm will be thanked for their participation, reminded that a member of the research team will contact them in six and twelve months time to conduct a follow-up interview, and returned to the care of ED staff for usual care.

Personalised Feedback and Brief Advice (PFBA)

The PFBA intervention is structured brief advice that will take approximately 5 minutes to deliver. It is based upon an advice leaflet adapted for the target age group in this study from the SIPS Brief Advice About Alcohol Risk intervention [33,34]. It will be conveyed orally to the participant, and tailored to their risk status – high or low. The advice will cover recommended levels of alcohol consumption for young people; summarise the screening results and their meaning; provide normative comparison information on prevalence rates of high and low risk drinking in young people; summarise the risks of drinking

and highlight the benefits of stopping or reducing alcohol consumption; outline strategies that they might employ to help stop or reduce alcohol consumption; and highlight goals they might wish to consider; indicate where to obtain further help if they are unsuccessful or need more support. The participant will receive a copy of the leaflet, which includes additional information about alcohol intoxication, alcohol poisoning, and alcohol and the law.

Personalised Feedback plus a smartphone or web based brief intervention (eBI)

The eBI smartphone intervention is an offline capable mobile web application that work on a variety of platforms but has been optimised for recent iPhone and Android phones. It has been developed using the concept of gamification so users can navigate, explore, learn facts and figures about alcohol, receive personalised feedback and set goals in an engaging format. Its content will adapt to provide the most pertinent information and advice for high-risk or low-risk drinkers. Games components within the web application will support high-risk drinkers to reduce or stop their alcohol consumption, and low-risk users to maintain abstinence or low risk drinking.

For participants without access to a smartphone but with access to the internet through other computerised devices, access to a web based version of the application will be provided with appropriate instructions on its use.

All participants after receiving their allocated intervention (including the screening only group) will be thanked for their participation, reminded that a member of the research team will contact them in six and twelve months time to conduct a follow-up interview, receive a £5 voucher and returned to the care of ED staff.

Fidelity

To assess the fidelity of the delivery of the interventions to the norm we shall record a random sample of 20% of the interventions delivered by each researcher using the iPad application. The resulting audio files will not contain personal identifiable data and will be stored separately from the patient data.

Follow up assessments

All participants will be followed up at 6 months after randomisation with a brief set of questions and then at 12 months for a full assessment. Follow up interviews will be conducted over the telephone, face to face or electronically via web survey, as preferred by the participant – by research assistants trained in the administration of the assessment tools and blinded to the group allocation of the participants. Letters of thanks will be sent to participants after each follow up stage. On completion of each followup interview participants will receive a gift token for £5 in recognition of their participation.

Outcome measures

Primary outcome measure

Total alcohol consumed in standard UK units (1 unit = 8 g ethanol) over the 28 days before the 12-month followup, assessed using the Timeline Follow Back interview 28-day version (TLFB28) will be our primary outcome measure. TLFB28 is an established valid and reliable method of ascertaining alcohol consumption in adolescent populations over a reference period ranging from 7 to 365 days [35].

Secondary outcome measures

The TLFB28 will also provide secondary outcomes of percentage of days abstinent, drinks per drinking day, and number of days of heavy episodic alcohol use. Participants will also be asked questions about alcohol use over their lifetimes and the past year, and the consequences of alcohol consumption using questions 19, 21, and 22 from the ESPAD study [5] at baseline. Hazardous alcohol use will be assessed using the extended AUDIT-C questionnaire [29] at baseline and after 6 and 12 months. General health and functioning will be measured using the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire [30] at baseline and 12 months. We shall also ask about service use including previous use of health and social services, school attendance and contact with criminal justice; and health utility (EQ-5D-5 L; 31) at baseline, 6 and 12 months.

Process outcome measures

Expectancy will be measured using the ESPAD Question 21 [5] at baseline and 12 months after randomisation. Adherence to the eBI intervention will be assessed by monitoring remotely either when the smartphone device is connected to the internet, or else access to the web application. To assess treatment fidelity a random sample of treatment sessions will be audio-recorded, stratified by researcher, intervention, risk group and centre. These will be assessed for fidelity to behavioural change components using a behaviour rating scale employed in previous studies of alcohol brief intervention. Assessment will be conducted by two independent expert clinician assessors and analysed to take account of agreement between them.

Economic outcome measures

The primary outcome measure for the economic evaluation in the trial will be the quality adjusted life year (QALY) as assessed by the EQ-5D-5 L [31]. The secondary economic outcome measure will be alcohol consumption – derived from the TLFB28 for the high-risk group and from the maintainence of low-risk consumption for the low-risk group. The study will also collect data on the costs of the interventions and on the use of NHS, social care, criminal justice and other resources over 12 months follow-up

Page 6 of 8

period, using a bespoke version of the Client Service Receipt Inventory (CSRI).

Analysis

Sample size calculation

For both studies the sample size addresses the effect of interventions on the primary outcome measure – alcohol consumption at 12 months after randomisation. To detect the 'clinically important' effect size of 0.3 (that previously used for adults) with a significance level of 5% and statistical power of 80% when using a two-sided continuitycorrected test will require 175 in each of the 3 groups, yielding a target of 525 analysable participants in each of the two trials.

Predicting that follow-up at 12 months will be 70% we need to randomise 750 high-risk drinkers and 750 low-risk drinkers. Based on the estimated prevalence of 24.2% for high-risk drinking (namely AUDIT-C \geq 3) from our earlier survey and a consent rate of 60%, we would need to approach 5165 potential participants over the recruitment period. Of these our survey predicts that 2,350 will be low-risk drinkers consenting to the study. Therefore we shall initially sample one third of these to participate in the study; and we shall adjust this ratio if necessary.

To assess fidelity we plan to record a random sample of 20% of allocations, stratified by researcher, intervention, risk group, and centre. This will provide a total sample of 300 - 50 in each of the six intervention groups across for high and low risks.

Statistical analysis

We shall review our basic design at the end of the internal pilot study, when we have recruited 100 participants, to assess recruitment, consenting and adherence. We shall study the impact of the research on observed screening and prevalence rates to confirm our design, especially the number of centres needed in the main trial.

The outcomes for both studies will be analysed in a similar manner. The primary analysis will be by treatment allocated using a two-sided 5% significance level. Analysis and results will be presented in accordance with the CONSORT guidelines. The primary outcome is total units of alcohol consumed in the 28-days before the 12month follow-up. After checking the distributional assumption of normality, and transforming the data if necessary, we shall conduct multivariate analysis of covariance adjusting for baseline AUDIT-C score, age, gender and centre to estimate the magnitude of differences between groups. Analysis will be presented as mean differences between groups with 95% confidence intervals. Multiple imputation will be employed with sensitivity analysis to adjust for missing data. Secondary outcomes will be analysed in a similar manner.

Analysis will also model the relationship between prerandomisation factors and observed outcomes, including whether positive or negative at 12 months according to AUDIT-C. This will take the form of a linear or logistic regression including interaction terms for allocated group. These models will also assess the effect of adherence and fidelity of interventions on observed outcomes.

Cost-effectiveness analysis

The clinical effectiveness analysis will be complemented by an economic evaluation that will estimate the costeffectiveness of each intervention versus screening alone. Alcohol use disorders and associated problems generate high costs in health care and in society more widely, including costs to the criminal justice and social care systems. The incremental cost effectiveness of the two interventions versus screening will thus be assessed from a societal perspective that will account for resource savings beyond the NHS.

The costs of screening and of delivering the two interventions will be estimated by prospectively monitoring resource inputs to each arm of the trial, including training, valued using standard methods [36]. Effects on NHS and non-NHS costs will be estimated from information gathered on patient contact with primary care, secondary care, specialist health services, social services and criminal justice. These will be assessed retrospectively using the CSRI tool. Service use will be valued using local costs where possible supplemented by national sources and information from previous alcohol studies [34,37,38].

Cost effectiveness will be assessed in terms of the incremental net health benefit (NHB), which converts costs and Quality Adjusted Life Years (QALYs) gained, as estimated from EQ-5D-5 L scores and UK population utility values, into a single monetary value. Differences in QALYs will be estimated from the 'area under the utility curve'. Both one-way and multi-way sensitivity analyses will be carried out to explore our basic assumptions. Non-parametric bootstrapping will be used to investigate joint uncertainty in costs and effects via cost effectiveness acceptability curves.

Three secondary analyses will be undertaken. The first will adopt a narrower NHS perspective including only costs and savings relating to the NHS and personal social services. This will us to compare the NHB with other interventions assessed using the narrower perspective recommended by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) for the economic evaluation of NHS interventions. The second will compare total societal costs with decreased alcohol consumption for the high-risk group. The third will compare total societal costs with the proportion of the low-risk group maintaining moderate alcohol use. Deluca et al. BMC Public Health (2015) 15:345

Qualitative analysis

To explore acceptability of trial tools and processes to young people presenting at emergency departments we shall use semi-structured interviews to study: issues relating to consent by young people aged 14-17 years; alcohol screening; the baseline questionnaire and the burden on emergency care; and young person experiences of intervention delivery. A purposive sample of participants will be selected from the pool of participants in the two linked trials for interviews about the experience and acceptability of receiving the interventions. The sampling will cover the key variables of interest including: gender; ethnicity; age; level of alcohol use; area of the country (North East, Yorkshire and Humber or London), allocated intervention and whether it was delivered. To achieve this, a sample of at least 20 young people is likely to be required. However, recruitment will continue until data saturation is deemed to have been achieved, that is no new issues or themes are arising in the interviews.

A participant information leaflet explaining the qualitative study will be sent to a sample of young people who provided consent to be contacted for interview and, when appropriate, their parents. The young people will be invited to attend a one-to-one semi-structured interview. The interviews will be conducted in a venue that is appropriate, taking consideration of confidentiality, risk assessment, participant convenience and comfort. The purpose of the interview will be explained orally to the participant before arranging interview time and date. Interviews will be audio-recorded and transcribed to support data analysis. Though the topic guide will be produced before the start of interviews, and state the aims and objectives of the study, emergent issues will be explored as they arise.

Data will be subjected to framework analysis, which is appropriate for qualitative health research with objectives linked to quantitative investigation. This analytic strategy is characterised by an approach more deductive than inductive, in which analysis is structured around given themes so findings have detailed relevance to applied research questions. Based on interview notes and review of the interview recordings, important or recurrent themes in interviewees' responses will be identified. These will be combined with a list of key themes of research interest derived from the aims and objectives of the study. All transcripts will be repeatedly read and coded within this framework of prior headings. Data coded under each heading will be reviewed to produce a detailed description, and revised through the course of analysis to take account of all material under that heading. Finally the descriptions of headings within the framework will be compared and the relationships between them elaborated to provide a consistent interpretation of the dataset as a whole. Analysis will continue throughout the process of data collection, and will be discussed within the subgroup of the research team tasked with managing the qualitative study. This analytic process will assist in the identification of emerging themes and enhance credibility of the thematic framework and interpretation.

Discussion

This protocol represents an innovative and ambitious programme of work evaluating the use of novel interventions to address alcohol use in adolescent populations. The study addresses both effectiveness and cost-effectiveness and is designed to provide evidence of what works in reducing at-risk drinking in this population in addition to how to reduce the progression from low to high risk drinking.

Ethics and confidentiality

The study has been granted ethical approval by the National Research Ethics Service London – Fulham (Ref num 14/ LO/0721). There are no anticipated risks in relation to either treatment. There is no documented evidence of adverse events arising from any of the proposed interventions.

All trial data will be identified using a unique trial identification number. No personally identifiable information will be held beyond the final 12-month follow up. Analytical datasets will not contain any patient identifiable information. Anonymised data will be retained for a period of 60 months.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Authors' contributions

CD is chief investigator for the study. The study was conceived and designed in collaboration with a number of co-investigators with specific responsibilities for the ongoing conduct of the study; SC IR provide methodological design and quantitative analysis, PD DNB TP trial management and co-ordination, DC CP FA health economics, EG PM IM JS clinical experience, EK RM qualitative research. KD and RP are research workers involved in the ongoing conduct of the study. PD and SC wrote the first draft of the manuscript and all authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Authors' information

Paolo Deluca and Simon Coulton are joint authors.

Funding

This is a summary of independent research funded by a National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Programme Grant for Applied Research (RP-PG-0609-10162). The views expressed are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health. Colin Drummond is partly funded by the NIHR Specialist Biomedical Research Centre for Mental Health at South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust and King's College London and partly funded by the NIHR Collaboration for Leadership in Applied Health Research and Care South London at King's College Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. Thomas Phillips is funded by a NIHR-CNO Clinical Doctoral Research Fellowship.

Author details

¹Institute of Psychiatry, Psychology & Neuroscience, King's College London, London, UK. ²Centre for Health Services Studies, University of Kent, Canterbury, UK. ³Swansea Centre for Health Economics, College of Human and Health Sciences, Swansea University, Swansea, Wales, UK. ⁴Health Economics and Policy Research Unit, University of South Wales, Pontypridd, UK. ⁵Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust, Newcastle, UK. ⁶Institute of Health and Society, Newcastle University, Newcastle, UK. ⁷Paediatric Emergency Medicine, Imperial College, London, UK. ⁸School of Health and Social Care, Teesside University, Middlesbrough, UK. ⁹School of Psychology, University of Surrey, Guildford, UK. ¹⁰Humber NHS Foundation Trust, Willerby, UK. ¹¹College of Medicine, Swansea University, Swansea, Wales, UK.

Received: 17 March 2015 Accepted: 25 March 2015 Published online: 10 April 2015

References

- Ofori-Adjei D, Casswell S, Drummond DC. World Health Organisation Expert Committee on Problems Related to Alcohol Consumption, Second Report. Geneva: World Health Organisation; 2007.
- Bellis MA, Phillips-Howard PA, Hughes K, Hughes S, Cook PA, Morleo M, et al. Teenage drinking, alcohol availability and pricing: a cross-sectional study of risk and protective factors for alcohol-related harms in school children. BMC Public Health. 2009;9:380.
- Hibell B, Guttormsson U, Ahlstrom S, Balakireva O, Bjarnason T, Kokkevi A, et al. Substance use among students in 36 European countries. Stockholm: The Swedish Council for Information on Alcohol and Other Crugs (CAN); 2011.
- Fuller E. Smoking, Drinking and drug use among young people in England in 2011. London: NHS Information Centre; 2012.
- Hibbell B, Guttormsson U, Ahlstrom S, Balakireva O, Bjarnason T, Kokkevi A. The 2007 ESPAD Report: Substance Use among Students in 35 European Countries. Stockholm: European Schools Survey Project on Alcohol and Other Drugs. Stockholm: European Schools Survey of Alcohol and Other Drugs; 2009.
- NHS Information Centre. Statistics on Alcohol: England 2008. London: NHS Information Centre; 2008.
- Windle M, Windle RC. Alcohol consumption and its consequences among adolescents and young adults. Recent Developments in Alcoholism, Volume 17. Alcohol Problems in Adolescents and Young Adults. 2004;17:67–83.
- 8. UK Home Office. The Government's Alcohol Strategy, Home Office, 2012. London.
- McCloud A, Barnaby B, Omu N, Drummond C, Aboud A. Relationship between alcohol use disorders and suicidality in a psychiatric population – In-patient prevalence study. Br J Psychiatry. 2004;184:439–45.
- Bukstein O, Kaminer Y. The Nosology of Adolescent Substance-Abuse. Am J Addict. 1994;3:1–13.
- 11. Rehm J, Room R, Monteiro M, Gmel G, Graham K, Rehn N, et al. Alcohol as a risk factor for global burden of disease. Eur Addict Res. 2003;9:157–64.
- Thunstrom M. The Alcohol Intoxicated Child and Its Prognosis. Acta Paediatr Scand. 1988;77:3–9.
- Elster, AB and Kuznets, NJ. American Medical Association Guidelines for Adolescent Preventative Services: Reccomendation & Rationale. Baltimore. Wilkins & Wilkins; 1994.
- American Academy of Pedicatrics Committee on Substance Abuse. Alcohol use and abuse. 2001. American Academy of Pedicatrics Committee on Substance Abuse.
- Department of Health and Human Services. The Surgeon Generals call to prevent and reduce underage drinking. 2007. Department of Health and Human Services.
- 16. World Health Organisation. Orientation programme on adolescent health for health care providers. Geneva. World Health: Organisation; 2006.
- Scottish Government. Changing Scotland's relationship with alcohol: A framework for action. Edinburgh. Scottish: Government; 2013.
- Monti PM, Colby SM, Barnett NP, Spirito A, Rohsenow DJ, Myers M, et al. Brief intervention for harm reduction with alcohol-positive older adolescents in a hospital emergency department. J Consult Clin Psychol. 1999;67:989–94.
- Bailey KA, Baker AL, Webster RA, Lewin TJ. Pilot randomized controlled trial of a brief alcohol intervention group for adolescents. Drug Alcohol Rev. 2004;23:157–66.
- Monti PM, Barnett NP, Colby SM, Gwaltney CJ, Spirito A, Rohsenow DJ, et al. Motivational interviewing versus feedback only in emergency care for young adult problem drinking. Addiction. 2007;102:1234–43.
- Schaus JF, Sole ML, McCoy TP, Mullett N, O'Brien MC. Alcohol screening and brief intervention in a College Student Health Center: a randomized controlled trial. J Stud Alcohol Drugs. 2009;16:131–41.

- Walton MA, Chermack ST, Shope JT, Bingham CR, Zimmerman MA, Blow FC, et al. Effects of a Brief Intervention for Reducing Violence and Alcohol Misuse Among Adolescents A Randomized Controlled Trial. JAMA. 2010;304:527–35.
- Bernstein J, Heeren T, Edward E, Dorfman D, Bliss C, Winter M, et al. A Brief Motivational Interview in a Pediatric Emergency Department, Plus 10-day Telephone Follow-up, Increases Attempts to Quit Drinking Among Youth and Young Adults Who Screen Positive for Problematic Drinking. Acad Emerg Med. 2010;17:890–902.
- Patton R, Deluca P, Phillips T, Kaner E, Newbury-Birch D, Drummond C. Alcohol screening & brief intervention for adolescents: The how, what and where of reducing alcohol consumption and related harm among young people. Alcohol Alcohol. 2014;49(2):207–12. doi:10.1093/alcalc/agt165.
- Donoghue K, Patton R, Phillips T, Deluca P, Drummond C. The effectiveness of electronic Screening and Brief Intervention (eSBI) for reducing levels of alcohol consumption. A Systematic review and meta-analysis. J Internet Med Res. 2014;16(6):e142. DOI:10.2196/jmir.3193.
- Conrod PJ, Castellanos N, Mackie C. Personality-targeted interventions delay the growth of adolescent drinking and binge drinking. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. 2008;49:181–90. doi:10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01826.x.
- Walton MA, Resko S, Barry KL, Chermack ST, Zucker RA, Zimmerman MA, et al. A randomized controlled trial testing the efficacy of a brief cannabis universal prevention program among adolescents in primary care. Addiction. 2014;109:786–97. doi:10.1111/add.12469.
- Doumas DM, Andersen LL. Reducing Alcohol Use in First-Year University Students: Evaluation of a Web-Based Personalized Feedback Program. J College Counseling. 2009;12:18–32. doi:10.1002/j.2161-1882.2009.tb00037.x.
- Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Babor TF, de la Funete JR, Grant M. Development of the Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT): WHO collaborative project on early detection of persons with harmful alcohol consumption–II. Addiction. 1993;88(6):791–804.
- Goodman R, Meltzer H, Bailey V. The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: A pilot study on the validity of the self-report version. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 1998;7:125–30.
- 31. EuroQol Group. EQ-5D-5 L. The Netherlands: Rotterdam; 2013.
- Chisolm D, Knapp M, Knudsen H, Amaddeo F, Gaite L, Van Wijgaarden B. Client Socio-Demographic and Service Receipt Inventory - European Version: development of an instrument for international research. Br J Psychiatry. 2000;177:s28–33.
- Coulton S, Bland M, Cassidy P, Crawford M, Deluca P, Drummond C, et al. Screening and brief interventions for hazardous alcohol use in accident and emergency departments: a randomised controlled trial protocol. BMC Health Serv Res. 2009;9:114.
- Drummond C, Deluca P, Coulton S, Bland M, Cassidy P, Crawford M, et al. The effectiveness of alcohol screening and brief intervention in emergency departments: a multicentre pragmatic cluster randomized controlled trial. PLoS One. 2014;9(6):e99463. 10.1371/journal.pone.0099463.
- Sobell LC, Sobell MB. Alcohol Timeline Followback Users' Manual. Toronto, Canada: Addiction Research Foundation; 1995.
- Drummond M, O'Brien B, Stoddart G, Torrance G. Methods for the economic evaluation of health care programmes. 2nd ed. Oxford UK: OUP; 2005.
- Drummond C, Coulton S, James D, Godfrey C, Rollnick S, Baxter J, et al. Pilot study of the effectiveness and cost effectiveness of stepped care ntervention for alcohol use disorders in primary care. Br J Psychiatry. 2009;195:448–56.
- Coulton S, Watson J, Bland M, Drummond C, Kaner É, Godfrey C, et al. The effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of opportunistic screening and stepped care interventions for older hazardous alcohol users in primary care (AESOPS) - a randomised control trial protocol. BMC Health Serv Res. 2008;8:129.

EME HS&DR HTA PGfAR PHR

Part of the NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

This report presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR). The views expressed are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NHS, the NIHR or the Department of Health and Social Care

Published by the NIHR Journals Library